Thesis

Jorge Ivan Castillo-Quan, M.D., M.Sc.

PhD in Genetics, Neuroscience and Biogerontology

Institute of Healthy Ageing Institute of Neurology University College London

Gower Street, London. 26th of September 2014.

Declaration

I confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm this has been indicated in the thesis.

Jorge Ivan Castillo Quan



Jorge Ivan Castillo-Quan, M.D., M.Sc.

PhD Committee:

Prof. Dame Linda Partridge, DBE, FRS, FMedSci Prof. John Hardy, FRS, FMedSci Prof. David Rubinsztein, FMedSci

Funded by:







"As I give thought to the matter, I find four causes for the apparent misery of old age; first, it withdraws us from active accomplishments; second, it renders the body less powerful; third, it deprives us of almost all forms of enjoyment; fourth, it stands not far from death."

Marcus Tullius Cicero

I dedicate this work to my beautiful family: my father Jorge Ivan Castillo Riverol, my mother Ana Maria Quan Hulse, and my sister Stacey Marie Castillo Quan

You are my strong fortress and inspiration.

I would also like to dedicate this work to the pillars of our family

My great grandparents: Fabian Castillot Bartola Castillot (76 years) Marcelo Riverolt (92 years) Franscisca Riverolt (94 years) Alfonso Quant (73 years) Estella Quant (101 years) Ernesto Hulset (72 years) Dionicia Hulset (92 yeas)

My grandparents:

Romeo Castillo (76 years) Herlinda Castillo (76 years) Ignacio Quan (80 years) Norma Quan (75 years)

> Age brought you wisdom and gave me the opportunity to share special moments with you (though not with all). I appreciate your genes, but overall I am thankful for your love and support.

To my extensive family and friends.

Acknowledgements

First of all I would like to thank my mentors Linda Partridge and John Hardy for their support and guidance. It was a definite pleasure to learn from you. You are great examples of what I would like to achieve in the future. I also thank my tertiary supervisor David Rubinsztein for his comments during my upgrade.

Both my master's work and the one presented here would have not been possible without the trust, guidance and support of Ivana Bjedov Thanks for taking a chance on me and showing me the road to become a great scientist. I truly admire you and I hope we can work together again in the near future.

To my dearest friend Kerni Kinghorn who was always there for me to guide me, assist me and keep me grounded and focused. I truly enjoyed your mentorship and support.

To my three masters students who gave me the chance to supervise them: Li Li, Michelle Briffa and Michael Shannack. It was great fun to have you around Thank you for your hard work and dedication.

Thanks to Dobril Ivanov, Helena Cocheme and Fernando Bartolome Robledo for helping me when I need it the most. You are true stars.

A special thank you to my PhD examiners Prof. Ralf Stanewsky and Prof. Aurelio Teleman for reading and improving the thesis with your comments, suggestions and corrections.

Thanks to my office mates (past and present) Yila de la Guardia, Sahar Emran, Lucia Bettedi, Cassandra Coburn, lain Rogers, Peter Rennert, Elly Tyler, Grahamme Fisher, Oyinkan Sofola-Adesakin, Fiona Kerr, Jennifer Tullet and Ann Gilliat. It was a great pleasure to share laughter, stress and frustration, but overall the good times.

Thanks to the extensive family at the Institute of Healthy Ageing (past and present): Filipe Cabreiro, Anna Tillmann, Nathan Woodling, Andrea Foley, Nazif Alic, Matthew Piper, Cathy Slack, Hrovje Augustin, Pedro Martinezt, Sara Valentini, Giovanna Vinti, Caroline Araiz, Carolina Soto Palma, Teresa Niccoli, Ekin Bolukbasi, David Gems, Charalampos Rallis, Dan Ackerman, Jenny Regan, James Catterson, Melissa Cabecinha, Mobina Khericha, Jelle Zandveld, Irma Feist, Jennifer Addcott, Marcia Merrick, Arj Rajasingam, Pirkko Salmiheimo, Mumtaz Ahmad, Caroline Reuter, John Davies, Matt Hoddinott, Michael Wright, Julie Black, Adam Dobson, Mingyao Yang, Xiaoli He, Alexandre Benedetto, Catherine Au, Marina Ezcurra, Lazaros Foukas, Daniel Pearce and Eugene Schuster. Fly pushing, molecular lab work, lunch, all those cakes and desserts, and Christmas parties were special because of you. Thanks!

My Mexican Family in London has played an important part in keeping me sane Thanks to Anaily Castellanos Valderrama, Gabriela Gonzalez Blancarte, Lucia Magis Weinberg, Sofia Collignon, Santiago Suarez, David Perez Espada, Pilar Astorga, Vanessa Sousa and Isabel Lopez Estrada. And to all my Mates from Goodenough College: Rodrigo Tones, Ennio Fermi, Andres Neira, Ricardo Silva, Tommer Marcus, Marcela Delgado, Veronica Porro, Angela Quintero, Omar Quesada, Rodrigo Aguilar, Nara Lara, Pavi Rallapalli and Matko Bosnjak. Thanks for all the amazing times together.

Last but not least to all my friends in and out of London, especially to Naveen Kishore, Yasmine Asi, Maria Megalogeni, Panagiotis Kassavetis and Emmanouil Konstantinidis.

Contents

Abstract	
List of figures	
List of tables	10
Abbreviations	
Chapter 1 Introduction: Genetics and Pharmacology of Ageing	
1.1 Gerontology: socioeconomic and biologic principles	
1 1 1 Epidemiological data of human longevity	23
1.1.2 Ageing in Biology and Medicine	
1.1.3 Measurements of Ageing	
1.1.4 Ageing in model organisms including <i>Drosophila</i>	
1.2 Biology of Ageing: the origins of the ageing process	
1.2.1 Evolutionary Theories of Ageing	
1.2.2 Mechanistic Theories of Ageing	
1.3 Molecular Basis of the Ageing Process	
1.3.1 Dysfunctional molecular fidelity as a driver of ageing	
1.3.2 Mitochondria' Dysfunction and Mitohormesis	
1.3.3 Dietary Restriction and the Nutrient Sensing Network	45
1.4 Diseases of ageing a problem of an ageing population	60
1.4.1 Geriatric medicine: common problems of old-age	60
1.4.2 Neurodegeneration and Alzheimer's disease	61
1.5 Treating ageing?	62
1.5.1 Healthy ageing: how to achieve it?	62
1.5.2 In pursuit of the DR mimetic	63
1.5.3 Drugs to improve ageing	65
1.6 Thesis Outline.	69
1.6.1 Is lithium a DR mimetic (Chapter 3)?	70
1.6.2 What are the mechanisms of lithium to promote healthy ageing (Chapter 4)?	71
1.6.3 Is GSK-3 involved in lithium's ability to extend lifespan (Chapter 5)?	72
1.6.4 What drives neurodegeneration in Drosophila neurons expressing A131_42 (Chapter 6)?	
Chapter 2 Canaral methodology	72
21 Dresenhild malaneagetary strains and constice	
2.1 White Dahomev (w ^{pah})	
2.1.2 White 1118 (w ¹¹¹⁸)	
2.1.3 Backcrossing	
2.1.4 GAL4-UAS system	
2.1.5 Gene-switch system	
2.2 Drosophila food medium	
2.2.1 Sugar-yeast medium (SY)	
2.2.2 Grape juice medium	/6 76
2.2.4 Dietary restriction (DR) regime	
2.3 Fly husbandry and culturing	
2.3.1 Male and female separation	76
2.3.2 Virgin collection	
2.4 Drosonhila handling and survival	
2.4.1 Lifespan assav	77
2.4.2 Stress assavs	
2.5 Behavioural investigations	
2.5.1 Feeding assay	
	-

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration	
2.5.2 Fecundity assay	78
2.5.3 Climbing assay (negative geotaxis)	
2.6 Drugs and other chemicals	79
2.6.1 Mifepristone (RU486)	79
2.6.2 Paraquat	
2.6.3 Hydrogen Peroxide (H202)	80
2.6.4 Chloroquine	80
2.6.5 Phenobarbital	80
2.6.6 DDT	
2.7 Biochemistry and molecular biology methods	
2.7.1 Triglyceride assay (TAG)	
2.7.2 DNA extraction and Single-Fly Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)	81
2.7.3 Gel electrophoresis	82
2.7.4 Quantitative Real Time PCR (qRT-PCR)	82
2.7.5 Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)	
2.7.6 Western blotting	
2.7.7 Protein Quantification	83
Chapter 2 Dharmagelogy of Lithium for Against a DD mimetic?	Q1
31 Abstract	04 Q/
	04
3.2 Introduction	84
3.2.1 The use of drugs in the ageing-field	85
3.2.2 Lithium as a therapeutic agent	
3.2.3 Pharmacology of lithium	87
3.2.4 Is lithium a potential drug for anti-ageing interventions?	89
3.3 Methodology and experimental design	90
3.3.1 Drosophila strains	90
3.3.2 Dietary restriction	90
3.3.3 Lithium preparation and delivery	
3.3.4 Rapamycin preparation and delivery	
3 3 5 Immunoblot analyses	
3.4 Results	
3.4.1 Lithium modulated lifespan in a dose-dependent manner	92
3.4.2 Lithium extended lifespan independent of sex, genetic background and fecundity	93
3.4.3 Lithium ameliorated age-related locomotor decline	
3.4.4 Lithium reduced triglyceride levels and sensitised against starvation	
3.4.5 Lithium extended lifespan beyond dietary restriction	
3.4.6 Lithium did not alter mTOR activity	
3.4.7 Lithium did not require the transcription factor dFOXO to extend litespan	
3.4.8 Lithium further extended lifespan of an insulin mutant and has additive effects with rapam	ycın 102
3.4.9 Lithium blocked the effect of rapamycin to increase triglycerides	
3.4.10Lathium extended litespan when supplemented late in lite	
3.4.11 Lithium extended lifespan when ted for a brief period	106
5.5 Discussion	108
3.5.1 Lithium is a pro-longevity drug	
3.5.2 Lithium extends litespan when administered late in life or briefly in early adulthood	
3.5.3 Lithium regulates metabolism and the response to starvation	
5.5.4 Lithium is unlikely to be a DK mimetic	
5.5.5 Litnium and Kapamycin: a polypill?	
Chapter 4 Genome-wide -OMICS of lithium for ageing identifying a molec	nılar

Chapter 4 Genome-wide -OMICS of lithium for ageing: identifying a molecular mechanism 118

4.1 Abstract	
4.2 Introduction: pharmacogenetics and pharmacogenomics	119
4.2.1 The molecular targets of lithium: the use of microarrays	
4.2.2 The use of transcriptomics in ageing	
4.2.3 Transcriptional response to lithium in yeast, C. elegans and Drosophila	
4.2.4 Stress and ageing: longevity and resilience	
4.2.5 Hormesis: from toxicology to longevity	
4.3 Methodology and experimental design	127

4.3.1 Gene-expression microarrays	127
4.3.2 Polysome-profile microarrays	127
4.3.3 Gene-Ontology (Catmap analysis)	128
4.3.4 Mitochondria' Isolation	128
4.3.5 Mitochondria' Physiology Measurements	128
4 3 6 Immunoblotting	
	130
4/1 Lithium and IIS/EONO do not share a transcriptional response	130
4.4.2 Transprintional response from lithium did not everlap with the transprintional response of fl	130
4.4.2 Transcipulonal response from futurin die not overap with the transcipulonal response of in	120
4.42 T + 1.4 f = 1.4 f	134
4.4.5 The transcriptional response of chcC/ NRF-2 over-expression overlaps with that from lithium.	134
4.4.4 Lithium activates the cncU/NRF-2 pathway	136
4.4.5 Lithium modifies survival in the presence of different stressors	136
4.4.6 Transcriptomic and translatomic response of lithium showed enrichment for mitochondria	
complex-1	139
4.4.7 Lithium uncouples mitochondrial complex-1, but does not alter its oxygen consumption	140
4.5 Discussion	141
4.5.1 Lithium elicits a transcriptional signature of detoxification	141
4.5.2 Mitochondria' respiratory chain complex I was down-regulated in flies treated with lithium	143
4.5.3 Does lithium induce a hormesis response? Is it a hormetin?	
hapter 5 GSK-3 in ageing and neurodegeneration	146
5.1 Abstract	146
5.2 Introduction	147
5.2 Introduction	1/7
5.2.2 Decembrian of CCV 2 and its inhibition by lithium	140
5.2.2 Regulation of OSR-5 and its infibition by futfulli	149 150
5.2.5 The role of GSK-5 in ageing	150
5.2.4 Lithium and the inositol depletion hypothesis.	152
5.2.5 Alzheimer's disease: clinical and pathological principles	153
5.2.6 Drosophila models of Alzheimer's disease	157
5.3 Methodology and experimental design	159
5.3.1 Drosophila strains	159
5 3 2 Immunoblotting	159
5.3.3 Myo-Inositol supplementation	159
5.4 Results	160
5.4.1 Lithium inhibited shappy across a wide range of concentrations	160
5.4.2 Different sharow transgenes modified tau phosphorylation levels	160
5.4.3 Sharov transgenes that increased tau phosphorylation reduced lifespan	100
5.4.4 Early or late onset over every section of charger reduced liference	102 163
5.4.5 Shacey PNA: extended lifespan and protected accient paraguat	105 164
5.4.5 Shaggy-KNAA extended mespan and protected against paraquat	104
5.4.0 Genetic manipulations of snaggy did not consistently after hypoxia, armadillo and the 115	1.45
pathways	165
5.4. / Lithium partially rescued from the detrimental effects of shaggy over-expression	168
5.4.8 Lithium treatment and shaggy-RNAi were epistatic for litespan	168
5.4.9 Lithium and myo-inositol were epistatic for lifespan	169
5.4.10IMPase-RNAi extended lifespan	171
-	sion172
5.4.11IIS or mTOR down-regulation rescued the deleterious lifespan effects of shaggy over-express	01011172
5.4.11IIS or mTOR down-regulation rescued the deleterious lifespan effects of shaggy over-express 5.4.12 Genetic manipulation of shaggy did not modulate age-related locomotor decline	175
 5.4.11IIS or mTOR down-regulation rescued the deleterious lifespan effects of shaggy over-express 5.4.12 Genetic manipulation of shaggy did not modulate age-related locomotor decline 5.4.13 Over-expression of shaggy did not alter feeding behaviour or fecundity 	175 176
 5.4.11IIS or mTOR down-regulation rescued the deleterious lifespan effects of shaggy over-expres 5.4.12 Genetic manipulation of shaggy did not modulate age-related locomotor decline 5.4.13 Over-expression of shaggy did not alter feeding behaviour or fecundity 5.4.14 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons, but not in gut/fat body extended lifespan 	175 176 178
 5.4.11IIS or mTOR down-regulation rescued the deleterious lifespan effects of shaggy over-expres 5.4.12 Genetic manipulation of shaggy did not modulate age-related locomotor decline 5.4.13 Over-expression of shaggy did not alter feeding behaviour or fecundity 5.4.14 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons, but not in gut/fat body extended lifespan 5.4.15 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons protected against age-related locomotor decline 	175 176 178 180
 5.4.11IIS or mTOR down-regulation rescued the deleterious lifespan effects of shaggy over-expres 5.4.12 Genetic manipulation of shaggy did not modulate age-related locomotor decline 5.4.13 Over-expression of shaggy did not alter feeding behaviour or fecundity 5.4.14 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons, but not in gut/fat body extended lifespan 5.4.15 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons protected against age-related locomotor decline 5.4.16 Lithium treatment and neuronal over-expression of shaggy were additive for lifespan 	175 176 178 180 181
 5.4.11IIS or mTOR down-regulation rescued the deleterious lifespan effects of shaggy over-expres 5.4.12 Genetic manipulation of shaggy did not modulate age-related locomotor decline 5.4.13 Over-expression of shaggy did not alter feeding behaviour or fecundity 5.4.14 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons, but not in gut/fat body extended lifespan 5.4.15 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons protected against age-related locomotor decline 5.4.16 Lithium treatment and neuronal over-expression of shaggy were additive for lifespan 5.4.17 Over-expression of a kinase dead shaggy did not affect lifespan when expressed ubiquitously 	175 176 178 180 181
 5.4.11IIS or mTOR down-regulation rescued the deleterious lifespan effects of shaggy over-express 5.4.12 Genetic manipulation of shaggy did not modulate age-related locomotor decline 5.4.13 Over-expression of shaggy did not alter feeding behaviour or fecundity 5.4.14 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons, but not in gut/fat body extended lifespan 5.4.15 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons protected against age-related locomotor decline 5.4.16 Lithium treatment and neuronal over-expression of shaggy were additive for lifespan 5.4.17 Over-expression of a kinase dead shaggy did not affect lifespan when expressed ubiquitously in neurons 	175 176 178 180 181 v or 183
 5.4.11IIS or mTOR down-regulation rescued the deleterious lifespan effects of shaggy over-express 5.4.12 Genetic manipulation of shaggy did not modulate age-related locomotor decline 5.4.13 Over-expression of shaggy did not alter feeding behaviour or fecundity 5.4.14 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons, but not in gut/fat body extended lifespan 5.4.15 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons protected against age-related locomotor decline 5.4.16 Lithium treatment and neuronal over-expression of shaggy were additive for lifespan 5.4.17 Over-expression of a kinase dead shaggy did not affect lifespan of flice expression of a kinase dead shaggy did not affect lifespan of flice expression of \$4.18 utility over-expression additively extended lifespan of flice expression \$4.13 over-expression additively extended lifespan of flice expression \$4.13 over-expression additively extended lifespan \$4.13 over-expression \$4.18 utility over-expression additively extended lifespan \$4.13 over-expression \$4.18 utility over-express	175 176 178 180 181 7 or 183 184
 5.4.11IIS or mTOR down-regulation rescued the deleterious lifespan effects of shaggy over-expres 5.4.12 Genetic manipulation of shaggy did not modulate age-related locomotor decline 5.4.13 Over-expression of shaggy did not alter feeding behaviour or fecundity 5.4.14 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons, but not in gut/fat body extended lifespan 5.4.15 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons protected against age-related locomotor decline 5.4.16 Lithium treatment and neuronal over-expression of shaggy were additive for lifespan 5.4.17 Over-expression of a kinase dead shaggy did not affect lifespan when expressed ubiquitously in neurons 5.4.18 Lithium and shaggy over-expression additively extended lifespan of flies expressing A131_42 	175 176 178 180 181 y or 183 184
 5.4.11IIS or mTOR down-regulation rescued the deleterious lifespan effects of shaggy over-expres 5.4.12 Genetic manipulation of shaggy did not modulate age-related locomotor decline 5.4.13 Over-expression of shaggy did not alter feeding behaviour or fecundity 5.4.14 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons, but not in gut/fat body extended lifespan 5.4.15 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons protected against age-related locomotor decline 5.4.16 Lithium treatment and neuronal over-expression of shaggy were additive for lifespan 5.4.17 Over-expression of a kinase dead shaggy did not affect lifespan when expressed ubiquitously in neurons 5.4.18 Lithium and shaggy over-expression additively extended lifespan of flies expressing A13_{1_42} 5.4.19 Lithium and shaggy over-expression additively improved locomotor function of flies expressing A13_{1_42} 	175 176 178 180 181 7 or 183 184
 5.4.11IIS or mTOR down-regulation rescued the deleterious lifespan effects of shaggy over-expres 5.4.12 Genetic manipulation of shaggy did not modulate age-related locomotor decline 5.4.13 Over-expression of shaggy did not alter feeding behaviour or fecundity 5.4.14 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons, but not in gut/fat body extended lifespan 5.4.15 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons protected against age-related locomotor decline 5.4.16 Lithium treatment and neuronal over-expression of shaggy were additive for lifespan 5.4.17 Over-expression of a kinase dead shaggy did not affect lifespan when expressed ubiquitously in neurons 5.4.18 Lithium and shaggy over-expression additively extended lifespan of flies expressing A131_42 5.4.19 Lithium and shaggy over-expression additively improved locomotor function of flies expressing Ap1_2185 	175 176 178 180 181 v or 183 184
 5.4.11IIS or mTOR down-regulation rescued the deleterious lifespan effects of shaggy over-expres 5.4.12 Genetic manipulation of shaggy did not modulate age-related locomotor decline 5.4.13 Over-expression of shaggy did not alter feeding behaviour or fecundity 5.4.14 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons, but not in gut/fat body extended lifespan 5.4.15 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons protected against age-related locomotor decline 5.4.16 Lithium treatment and neuronal over-expression of shaggy were additive for lifespan 5.4.17 Over-expression of a kinase dead shaggy did not affect lifespan when expressed ubiquitously in neurons 5.4.18 Lithium and shaggy over-expression additively extended lifespan of flies expressing A13_{1_42} 5.4.19 Lithium and shaggy over-expression additively improved locomotor function of flies expressing Ap1_2185 5.5 Discussion 	175 176 178 180 181 vor 183 184
 5.4.11IIS or mTOR down-regulation rescued the deleterious lifespan effects of shaggy over-expres 5.4.12 Genetic manipulation of shaggy did not modulate age-related locomotor decline 5.4.13 Over-expression of shaggy did not alter feeding behaviour or fecundity 5.4.14 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons, but not in gut/fat body extended lifespan 5.4.15 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons protected against age-related locomotor decline 5.4.16 Lithium treatment and neuronal over-expression of shaggy were additive for lifespan 5.4.17 Over-expression of a kinase dead shaggy did not affect lifespan when expressed ubiquitously in neurons 5.4.18 Lithium and shaggy over-expression additively extended lifespan of flies expressing A131_42 5.4.19 Lithium and shaggy over-expression additively improved locomotor function of flies expressing Ap1_£185 5.5 Discussion 5.5.1 Shaggy/GSK-3 regulates ageing in <i>Drosophila</i>. 	175 176 178 180 181 vor 183 184

5.5.3 Shaggy regulates ageing in a tissue-specific manner	
5.5.4 Shaggy and lithium modulate neurodegeneration: overlapping mechanisms?	
5.5.5 GSK-3/NRF2 pathway: is there a connection?	
5.5.6 Circadian clocks in ageing: the role of lithium and GSK-3	
Chapter 6 The anorexic and stressed fly neurodegeneration in an Alzhe	imer's
Drosonhila model	105
61 Abstract	175
6.2. Introduction	195
6.2.1 The role of oxidative stress in Alzheimer's disease	196
6.2.2 Age-related anorexia in flies and humans	
6.3 Methodology and experimental design	
6.3.1 ATP measurement	
6.3.2 Paraquat injections	
6.3.3 Essential amino acids supplementation	
6.3.4 Holidic medium	
635 Immunoblotting	
6.4 Results	201
6.4.1 A13 _{1_42} elicited a transcriptionally response enriched for oxidative stress and metabolism	
6.4.2 A131_42 protected against H202 and paraquat when delivered orally	
6.4.3 Flies expressing A13 _{1_42} showed acceleration of age-related anorexia	
6.4.4 A13 _{1_42} sensitized flies against injected PQ	205
$6.4.5 / 4_{142}$ -induced anorexia did not modify sensitivity to xenobiotics	
6.4.6 A13 _{1_42} repressed genes involved in oxidative and xenobiotic stress	
6.4.7 Chronic expression of A13 _{1_42} correlated with starvation resistance	
6.4.8 /4142—induced starvation resistance was secondary to a nutrition deficiency	
6.4.9 Reduced feeding behaviour lead to impaired lipid metabolism	
6.4.10 Supplementation of EAA partially restored the lipid profile	
6.4.11 Supplementation of EAA increased the lifespan of flies expressing A131_42.	
$6.4.12/4_{142}$ and starvation share a common transcriptional response	
6.5 Discussion.	
6.5.1 Anorexia is the earliest sign of neurodegeneration due to $A13_{1_{42}}$	218
$6.5.2 \text{ A0}_{1_{42}}$ -expressing thes are nutritionally deprived and lived longer when supplemented with	EAA219
$6.5.3 / 4_{142}$ -induced anorexia altered the response to orally-delivered toxins: implications for d	rug
5.5.4 A12 induced starration register as through alterations in linid metabolism	220
6.5.4 AT 51_42 induced starvation resistance through alterations in lipid metabolism	
0.5.5 What underlies the benavioural and metabolic alterations induced by A151-42?	
Chapter 7 Final thoughts: drugs in ageing and age-related diseases	223
7.1 General conclusions: treating ageing	
7.2 Lithium and GSK-3 in ageing and neurodegeneration: an integrative perspective	225
7.3 Are drugs the way forward in the ageing field?	

References 228

Appendix 258

Abstract

Genetic manipulations and dietary restriction in model organisms have proven that lifespan extension is achievable. Moreover these same interventions can protect against age-related diseases and improve general healthiness. Therefore, current efforts are being put forward to identify drugs that mimic healthy lifespan. Lithium has been documented to be able to extend the lifespan of the worm Caenorhabditis elegans, reduce mortality in Drosophila and a recent report has suggested that lithium concentrations in drinking water correlate with reduced mortality for all causes in a human population. The main objective of the project presented here was to determine the antiageing properties of lithium using the fruit fly and to determine the mechanism by which lithium exerts its broad health benefits and anti-ageing properties. My results showed that lithium extended lifespan independent of sex and genetic background. Lithium treated flies were also resistant to multiple stressors and showed reduced triglyceride levels. Lithium did not modify fecundity and it further extended lifespan of DR flies. The pro-longevity effects seemed to also be independent of the nutrient sensing network as it could further extend lifespan of flies with reduced signalling though the insulin/IGF-1 and the mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) network. I performed transcriptional and translational microarrays in lithium treated flies and found out that lithium upregulated a transcriptional response to stress regulated by the transcription factor cap'n'collar/NRF-2 and down-regulated functional categories implicated in mitochondrial complex I. By performing epistasis experiments I found out that lithium and shaggy, the fly homologue of GSK-3, regulate ageing by acting in the same molecular pathway. However, shaggy seemed to modulate ageing in a tissue-specific manner The combination of lithium and genetic manipulations of shaggy revealed a very complex regulation of ageing and neurodegeneration.

I also explored the nature of neurodegeneration induced by over-expression of $A13_{1_{42}}$ and found out that some of the changes induced by $A13_{142}$ impact general physiology and not only neurons. For example, our results suggest that altered metabolism is a prominent feature of the toxicity of Ar3 1-42 in *Drosophila*.

List of figures

Chapter 1

l
1
5
L
2
1
3
3
)
Ĺ
7
3
)

Chapter 2

ure 2.1 Gene Switch expression system75
are 2.1 Gene Switch expression system75

Chapter 3

Figure 5.1 Concentration of lithium in numans and <i>Drosophua</i>
Figure 3.2 Lithium increases lifespan of w ^{pah} female flies
Figure 3.3. Lithium affected lifespan in a dose-dependent manner
Figure 3.4 Lithium and sodium chloride are tested for longevity in the w^{1118} genetic
background
Figure 3.5 Lifespan response to higher doses of LiC1 and NaC1 using w ¹¹¹⁸ female and
male flies94
Figure 3.6 Effect of lithium of female fecundity
Figure 3.7 Lithium protected against age-related locomotor decline
Figure 3.8 Metabolic effects of lithium in carbohydrate and lipid stores, and the response
to starvation
Figure 3.9 Effect of lithium on triglyceride levels and starvation in w1118 flies
Figure 3.10 Median and maximal lifespan effect of lithium tested on four different yeast
concentrations 100
Figure 3.11 Lithium modulation of mTOR activity 102
Figure 3.13 Lithium interaction with IIS and mTOR down-regulation for lifespan103
Figure 3.14 Lithium and rapamycin interaction to modulate triglyceride levels and
starvation response 104
Figure 3.15 Late-onset lithium treatment
Figure 3.16. Switch-off lithium experiments

Chapter 4

Figure 4.1 Comparative analyses of the transcriptional response of IIS down-regulation
and lithium treatment 131
Figure 4.2 Comparative analyses of genes regulated by low IIS in a dfoxo null background
and lithium
Figure 4.3 Comparative analyses of HR96 over-expression and lithium treatment 133
Figure 4.4 Comparative analyses of the transcriptional signature of cncC overexpression
and lithium
Figure 4.5 Lithium activated the detoxification transcription factor CncC
Figure 4.6 Lithium pre-treatment protected against xenobiotic and oxidative stress 137
Figure 4.7 Comparison of genes and functional categories regulated by lithium at the
transcription and translational level
Figure 4.8 Overlapping functional GO categories modulated by lithium at the
transcriptional and translational level
Figure 4.9 Lithium reduced the respiration control ratio (RCR) of mitochondrial complex 1

Chapter 5

Figure 5.1 Schematic representation of the wnt/I3-catenin pathway
Figure 5.2 Sites of GSK-3 inhibition
Figure 5.3 Inositol phosphate pathway 152
Figure 5.4 Percentage changes in mortality for the major killer diseases between 2000 and
2010 from data from the National Center for Health Statistics, USA 154
Figure 5.5 Amyloid precursor processing and the formation of A131-42 155
Figure 5.6 Amyloid cascade hypothesis as proposed by John Hardy and Denis Selkoe . 156
Figure 5.7 Lithium increased the inhibitory Ser9 phosphorylation of shaggy/GSK-3 160
Figure 5.8 In vivo phosphorylation of tau by several transgenes of shaggy 161
Figure 5.9 Lifespan of GSK-3 UAS lines that increased tau phosphorylation 162
Figure 5.10 Late-onset over-expression of shaggy shortens lifespan
Figure 5.11 RNAi-mediated knockdown extended lifespan and protected against paraquat.
Figure 5.12 mRNA expression levels of gene targets of pathways reported to interact with
GSK-3167
Figure 5.13 Lithium rescued from the lifespan shortening effect of sgg over-expression.
Figure 5.14 Lithium and RNAi against shaggy were epistatic for lifespan extension 168
Figure 5.15 Lithium and myo-inositol treatment were epistatic for lifespan 170
Figure 5.16 Lithium did not induce autophagy and extended lifespan of an autophagy-
Gencient mutant
Figure 5.17 KINAI against two putative genes with intrase activity extended inespan 1/2
Figure 5.18 Interaction of shagey lavels did not import and related becometer dealing 175
Figure 5.19 Modulation of snaggy levels did not impact age-related locomotor decline 1/6
Figure 5.20 Feeding benaviour in files over-expressing snaggy
Figure 5.21 Fecundity in short-lived files over-expressing snaggy
Figure 5.22 Survival of these over-expressing snaggy transgenes with increased kinase
Eigen 5.22 Climbing a bility of flips are a supervise share are in a supervise and 190
Figure 5.25 Children and the over-expressing snaggy in neurons
Figure 5.24 Survival analyses of files over-expressing snaggy in neurons and lithium
treatment

Figure 5.25 Survival analyses of flies expressing a kinase dead mutant of shaggy.	
Figure 5.26 Over-expression of the S9A mutant in flies expressing Af31_42 improv	es
lifespan and climbing and is additive to lithium treatment	

Figure 5.27 Proposed mechanism of action for lithium in ageing and stress-resistance ... 191

Chapter 6

List of tables

Table 1 Landmarks papers in the Biology of Ageing by number of citations	85
Table 2. Functional categories enriched in lithium treated Drosophila heads accordin	ng to
DAVID. Taken from (Kasuya et al., 2009)	124
Table 3. Enriched GO categories in fly heads expressing A01-42.	201

Publications arising from this thesis

Abbreviations

4E-BP	Eukaryotic initiation 4E binding protein
(3IRK0	(3-cells insulin receptor knockout
A01-42	Amyloid beta 1-42
actGS	Actin-GeneSwitch
atg	Autophagy related gene
AD	Alzheimer's disease
Akt	see PKB
AL	Autophagic-lysosomal
AMP/ATP A	Adenosine monophosphatase/Adenosine triphosphatase
AMPK	AMP-activated protein kinase
APOE	Apolipoprotein E
BPD	Bipolar disorder
CncC	Cap'n'collar C
CNS	Central nervous system
daGS	Daughterless-GeneSwitch
DN	Dominant negative
DR	Dietary restriction
EAAs	Essential amino acids
elF	Eukaryotic initiation factor
elavGS	Embryonic lethal abnormal vision-GeneSwitch
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunoabsorbent assay
ER	Endoplastic reticulum
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
FIRKO	Fat insulin receptor knock out (white adipose tissue)
FOXO	FOrkhead boX subgroup 0 transcription factor
GCN2	General control-non depressible 2
GH	Growth hormone
GSK-3	Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3
H202	Hydrogen peroxide
HD	Huntington's disease
HDL	High density lipoprotein
HIF-1a	Hypoxia inducible factor la
HSP	Heat shock protein
IGF	Insulin-like Growth Factor
IGFBP	IGF binding protein
IIS	Insulin/IGF-1 signalling
ILPs	Insulin-like peptides
IMPase	Inosito1-1(or 4)-monophastase
InR	Insulin receptor
IPP	Inositol-1,4 biphosphate 1-phosphatase
IRS	Insulin receptor substrate
KD	Kinase dead
	Microtubule associated proteinA 1A/1B-light chain 3
LCI	Lithium chloride
LIRKO	Liver insulin receptor knockout

LKB1	Liver kinase B1
Μ	Molar
MIRKO	muscle insulin receptor knockout
mL	mililitre
mM	milimolar
MNCs	Median neurosecretory cells
mTOR	mechanistic Target of Rapamycin
mTORC1	mTOR complex 1
mTORC2	mTOR complex 2
NaC1	Sodium chloride
NIRKO	Neuronal insulin receptor knockout
NRF-2	Nuclear factor erythroid-related factor 2
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PD	Parkinson's disease
ארוע	Phosphoinositide-dependent kinase-1
$PCC 1_{0}$	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma co-activator 1-alpha
DI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-OH Kinase
PKR	Protein kinase B or Akt
DN	Proteostasis Network
	Paraquat
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homologue
PCP	Paspiratory control ratio
RCK	Respiratory control ratio
	RiboNucleic Acid interference
	Real Time quantitative PCR
	Reactive ovvgen species
RUS	Mifepristone
RU/RU486	S6 kinase
SOK	Substitution of Serine 9 to Alanine
S9A	Substitution of Serine 9 to Clutamic acid
S9E	
SEM	Standard error of the mean
Sgg	Shaggy
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
SY	Sugar/yeast
TBST	Tris-buffered saline with Tween 20
TF-EB	Transcription Factor-EB
Tris	Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane
TSC	Tuberous Scierosis Complex
UAS	Upstream activating sequence
UN	United Nations
UPR	Unfolded protein response
UPS	Ubiquitin proteasomal system
vLDL	Very low density lipoprotein
_w 1118	White 1118 flies
wDah	White Dahomey flies

Chapter 1 Introduction: Genetics and Pharmacology of Ageing

"No scientist is admired for failing in the attempt to solve problems that lie beyond his competence. The most he can hope for is the kindly contempt earned by the Utopian politician. If politics is the art of the possible, research is surely the art of the soluble. Both are immensely practical-minded affairs." Peter B. Medawar'

Ageing is a universal deleterious trait. Even when lifespan differences across taxa can vary by as much as 1,000,000 fold, an increase in mortality and decrease in fecundity with age is observable (Kirkwood and Austad, 2000). These deleterious traits are used by evolutionary biology to define ageing (Partridge and Barton, 1993). However, it should be mentioned that it is apparent that some organisms show negligible senescence, which represents the minor changes in mortality over extended periods of time documented in some organisms (Finch, 2009). An example of this negligible senescence was reported after a 4 year follow up study that described that the Hydra did not show age-related mortality or reproduction decline (Martinez, 1998). However, most organisms seem to age, this is particularly evident when organisms are taken from the wild and studied under laboratory conditions (Hayflick, 2000a). This might suggest that ageing can be a laboratory artefact of comfort and perhaps unique to humans. From an evolutionary perspective ageing in the wild is rare given that most organisms seem to succumb to external hazards like temperature changes, famine, predation, etc., before the establishment of functional decline (Comfort, 1961; Hayflick, 2000a; Kirkwood and Austad, 2000). These arguments have their origin, as I will describe bellow, in the seminal discussions by Peter Medawar and Alex Comfort, both scientist at University College London (Nussey et al., 2013).

"Whether animals *can*, or cannot, reveal an innate deterioration is almost literally a domestic problem; the *fact* is that under the exactions of natural life they do not do so.

¹ Quote taken from (Medawar, 1999).

They simply do not live that long." Peter Medawar (italics in original).²

However, a recent evaluation of long-term field studies, indeed showed evidence that senescence is encountered in nature (Nussey et al., 2013). The universality of ageing has made it interesting-enough that its field of study ranges from philosophy to sociology to biology and even economics. The study of the biology of ageing or biogerontology is fairly recent, at least the part of the field experimentally testing the mechanisms underlying the ageing process. Even more recent is the field of interventional biogerontology where ageing researchers actively explore for ways to improve health at older ages and prolong lifespan in model organisms (Partridge, 2010). However, the pursuit of youthfulness is not new, my mentor Linda Partridge often exemplifies this by reminding us of Robert Boyle's to-do list (Figure 1.1). Robert Boyle wrote a list of things he hoped could be achieved through scientific research and at the very top of his wish list he wrote "The Prolongation of Life" and "The Recovery of Youth" (Henderson, 2010).



Figure 1.1. Robert Boyle, FRS wrote this to-do list. The first two items read as follow: The Prolongation of Life (1st line) and, The Recovery of Youth, or at least some of the Marks of it, as new Teeth, new Hair colour'd as in youth (2nd and 3rd lines). For the complete list and transcript see (Henderson, 2010)

In the reminder of this chapter I will explore what is ageing, or at least how different trains of thought have defined it, and most importantly, I will also describe the mechanisms thought to underlie the ageing process, i.e., how do we age. These types of questions have transformed biology, not only because of what we think and get to know

 2 Quote extracted from (Nussey et al., 2013). $_{\mathcal{V}t}$, CtL,

-

2

21

4

about life, but also because of what we, as a species, have been able to achieve with this knowledge. Simple questions are usually the beginning of great discoveries. For example, Schriidinger's book 'What is life?' has been credited by both Francis Crick and James Watson, co-discoverer's of the structure of DNA, as an inspiration for embarking on the quest that finalised (our should instead say 'started') in the description of the DNA structure, opening a new era in the field of molecular biology (Watson, 2000). Although Schriidinger's exploration of the idea of genetic flow of information was not novel, even at its time, it inspired some of the greatest minds to engage in the quest of the identification of the DNA architecture (Schrodinger, 1967). The discovery of DNA has also inspired and transformed other fields. The relevance of genetic information and signalling mechanisms became central for neuroscience, especially for the fields of learning and memory, when it was discovered that signalling events between neurons and the synthesis of proteins is central for the reinforcement of synaptic communication (Kandel, 2006). The concept of signalling events is now central to the understanding of biological mechanisms governing the ageing process. These signalling pathways (particularly the nutrient-sensing network, discussed later in this chapter) were identified following the discovery of single genes capable of modifying lifespan and healthspan (Kenyon, 2010; Partridge, 2010). Genetics and signalling pathways regulating gene expression have become central to the study of the biology of ageing, not only in model organisms where I carry out my research, but also in human populations, especially those that have been fortunate to live through advancedage.

1.1 Gerontology: socioeconomic and biologic principles

Gerontology refers to the integral study of ageing, is a broad specialty as it covers social, psychological and biological aspects of ageing. Gerontology should not be confused with geriatrics, which refers to a sub-specialty of Internal and Family Medicine that focuses on medical aspects (mainly pathologies) of older people (Fillit et al., 2010). In the context of this dissertation, I will only consider ageing in its biological terms; however it is important to note that ageing can also be studied from other perspectives. Human ageing is multidimensional, as it comprises not only its biology, but also psychological and social aspects. These broader aspects of gerontology keep the research we do in biogerontology oriented towards its biomedical implications.

As I will describe in the next section, life expectancy has been increasing steadily since the second half of the last century in most parts of the world; this has occurred with no intervention of biogerontology. However, it has uncovered that alongside the great achievement of longer lifespans, our older populations are experiencing the devastating effects of age-related diseases. This has made the idea of living longer not only unattractive to most people, but perhaps even thoughtless 'selfish' and irresponsible. Though biogerontologists have been able to prolong lifespan of model organisms (as Boyle wished), there is no clear evidence to suggest that this will translate into increased lifespan in humans. Moreover, most if not all research in model organisms has shown that interventions that extend lifespan in the laboratory also significantly extend healthspan, as measured by their increased locomotor capacity, resistance to environmental stressors and to ageing-related diseases. The goal of biogerontology is first and foremost to promote healthspan during ageing. We do not aim to extend the decrepit moribund period of life. However, extending healthspan is likely to increase lifespan as interventions identified in model organisms suggest (Hayflick, 2000a; Juengst et al., 2003).

Although the ethical implications of ageing research escape the scope of this dissertation, it is of great relevance to realise that our research has direct implication to human health. This not only obliges us towards careful scientific practice, but to also be wary of the perception of our findings by the general public. This does not mean that scientific findings in biogerontology (or in any field) should be kept from the general public, but to be cautious of not overindulging our findings in the aim of securing funding or attracting media attention. Our responsibility as scientists should not end with the publication of our results, but we should be accountable for making sure that the public is aware of our results and its implications first-hand. Is not easy to translate research from model organisms like yeast and flies to humans, but it has become apparent in recent years that the mass media easily makes careless correlations, potentially damaging the perception of our field (Le Bourg, 2000; Juengst et al., 2003). We should be aiming to avoid miscommunication between the scientific finding and the general public.

1.1.1 Epidemiological data of human longevity

For most part of our history (99.9% of it) our average life expectancy has fluctuated between 20 and 30 years of age, based on estimations from skeletal remains (Hayflick, 2000a; Klein, 2000). However, just in the first 70 years of the last century, life expectancy

increased by 27 years, and the remainder of the century saw a 6-year increase (Hayflick, 2000a). This has had two major consequences, first the 'greying' of our population and, second, uncovering the consequences of chronic diseases like diabetes, cancer and Alzheimer's disease (Hayflick, 2000b).



1950 1955 1960 1965 1970 1975 1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050

Figure 1.2 World population by age group according to the UN, 2009. Taken from (Bloom et al., 2011)

The world's population is estimated to be above 7 billion (Bloom, 2011; Lee, 2011). Approximations of population growth do not seem to favour a significant deceleration in the future (Figure 1.2). The Division of the Department of Economic and Social Affairs of the United Nations (UN) estimates the world population will reach 9.3 billion in 2050 and 10.1 billion in 2100 (Bloom, 2011). Importantly, almost the entire population growth (97%) between now and 2050 will occur in the less developed regions of the world, with 38% taking place in the least developed countries. The two most populated countries by this time will be India and China, with estimated populations of 1.69 and 1.30 billion respectively.

According to the UN Population Division currently 800 million people are over the age of 60 years and comprise 11% of the world's population. By 2050 this percentage will double to 22%, meaning 2 billion people worldwide will be over the age of 60 years (Bloom, 2011). By 2050 Japan, currently housing one of world's oldest populations (31% being over the age of 60 years) and with the greatest life expectancy (83 years), will drop out of the top ten of most populated countries. However, by 2050 42% of the Japanese population will be over the age of 60 years (Bloom, 2011; Sanderson and Scherbov, 2005).

Increased population ageing is influenced by three main events: migration, increased life expectancy, and decreased birth rate. However, two important epidemiological events from the 20th century also account for the world's current longevity. First, the so-called epidemiological transition resulted in the reduction of early death due to improved perinatal care, vaccination and control of infectious diseases through antibiotics (Manton, 2010; Timiras, 2003). The second event comprised the reduction in deaths due to age-related diseases, this has been more progressive (having started in the 1970s to 1980s), but has had a clear impact on mortality at older ages (Timiras, 2003). The greatest reduction in mortality has been in diseases such as ischemic heart disease and stroke, especially in developed countries such as the United States of America (Alzheimer's Association, 2012).

In spite of the morbidity compression, the prevalence of ageing diseases, as the population continues to grow, has increased. Diseases of old age have become a central issue of public health in developed countries (Figure 1.3). Moreover, as developing economies transition to economical stability they encounter the worst of the two worlds, the diseases of the developing world (increased at-birth mortality, infections, etc.) and also the diseases of ageing from the established economies.



Figure 1.3 Ageing and Disease. (A) Incidence of cardiovascular disease in England, 2006; (B) Prevalence of dementia in countries from the European Union, 2006; (C) Age-specific mortality rate per 100,000 population, UK. Taken from (Niccoli and Partridge, 2012)

Thus, understanding of the biological principles that govern the ageing process should become an integral part of the public health effort to tackle the increasing burden of ageing related pathologies.

1.1.2 Ageing in Biology and Medicine

Ageing is a stochastic process that occurs after reproduction maturity and is the consequence of the diminished capacity of organisms to maintain molecular fidelity. The reduced capacity of the organism to sustain homeostasis often leads to age-related pathologies. Hence, the ageing process, or the decline in homeostatic capacity, is the major risk factor for chronic age-related diseases. The ensuing increase in systemic molecular disorder ends up in death (Hayflick, 2000a). Hayflick has suggested that no one actually dies of the diseases found in their death certificates. This is likely to be accurate since if a patient was admitted to hospital for renal failure secondary to diabetes mellitus, and in the course of treatment developed hyperkalaemia (high levels of circulating potassium) with hypocalcaemia (low circulating levels of calcium), the patient would probably die of cardiac arrest secondary to cardiac arrhythmia. In the death certificate the medic validating cause of death would probably write in order of appearance (suggesting the order of progression from primary to immediate cause of death): type II diabetes mellitus, endstage renal failure secondary to diabetic nephropathy, cardiac arrhythmia secondary to electrolyte imbalance and cardiopulmonary arrest. In this scenario neither the primary cause of the disease (the origin of the insulin resistance), nor the ultimate dysfunction that led to cardiac arrest would be properly diagnosed. Our understanding of the molecular mechanisms behind disease and cause of death need to improve dramatically. Hayflick has emphasized that even if we were to fmd cures for three of the major killers of our time (namely cardiovascular disease, cancer and stroke), we would only increase life expectancy by about 15 years. And then we would probably find out what is the ultimate cause of death when no disease is present, i.e., what leads to death when the capacity of the organism to cope with molecular disorder ceases (Hayflick, 2000a).

In spite of the efforts of many biogerontologist to classify ageing as a disease, as a health care professional, I have not encountered convincing arguments. Gems argues that ageing should be considered as a disease or syndrome because it is characterised by a broad-spectrum of age-related pathologies that lead to death. Additionally he argues that

no one dies of ageing (Gems, 2014). Even for those that age 'gracefully' functional decline

is imminent. Hence, ageing is associated with deterioration and therefore is undesirable. In the same vein is the consideration that this decline should be treated, thus enabling the concept of anti-ageing medicine (Gems, 2014). One cannot "treat" any other thing that is not a disease. Although treating ageing sounds rather logical, I wonder if the train of thought followed by Gems would hold when analysed from the perspective of developmental biology and embryology. Alterations during development also cause syndromes and disease, most of which lead to death due to severity. The main difference between diseases during ageing and development is that during the former functional decline allows for a broad spectrum and greater incidence of pathology than during development in which the system is trying to maximise fitness.

Treatments for diseases are regulated by agencies that approve and regulate their use. As of now, anti-ageing products are not regulated and are classified as supplements, unless they are actual treatments for disease that have been repurposed. If ageing was to be considered a disease, then all anti-ageing interventions would be under the scrutiny of appropriate agencies ensuring efficacy and safety (Juengst et al., 2003). This in my opinion calls action into changing the regulation of products with nutritional relevance (this would not only include supplements, but also junk food and drinks). I consider that what needs to change is our view of interventions to regulate the ageing process and general health instead of the classification of ageing per se. Focusing into health preservation and prevention of disease would probably lead to a better regulation of any product with either harmful or beneficial effects for health. Medicine as a field needs to transition more efficiently into disease prevention. This transition would stimulate a reorganisation of the medical community and the way health during ageing is assessed. The ageing process would not only be an aspect of geriatric medicine, but of general medical practice and family physicians. Geriatricians would, however, continue to be the specialists in treating the diseases of ageing.

The clear overlap between biogerontology and geriatrics should require constant communication between geriatricians and gerontologists. In one-way or another some knowledge should be shared. Geriatricians are required to understand the basics of the ageing process and its social and psychological implications, while biogerontologists should keep in mind that retardation of the ageing process in model organisms is rather pointless unless these interventions, from an evolutionary point of view, are applicable to human health (Fillit et al., 2010).

1.1.3 Measurements of Ageing

Our understanding of the biological processes that govern ageing has rapidly advanced in the last 30 years. This can be attributed to three main events. Firstly, the use of simple organisms in the laboratory has unveiled signalling and molecular pathways that are translatable to mammalian systems, confirming evolutionary conservation. Secondly, the field has successfully adapted methods for genetic manipulation in model organisms, and also methods to interrogate the genome, proteome and metabolome are gradually being integrated into biogerontology both for ageing research in model organisms and human ageing. This is allowing us to understand the changes that occur during ageing and the molecular basis of interventions that potentially retard the process (Soltow et al., 2010). Third, we now understand better how ageing affects function during ageing. However, this is perhaps the point that requires further experimentation and development. We need to determine clear biomarkers of ageing (Fontana et al., 2014). Furthermore, although we can measure relatively easily lifespan in yeast, worms, flies and mice, we do not completely understand cause of death, especially in invertebrates. Research into the events leading to death should unravel some insight as to how ageing culminates and the point of no return in the adaptive process.

Several concepts are, however, indispensable for the study of ageing and should be introduced. Demographical parameters like mortality, birth rate and fertility shape several important aspects of human ageing and specifically population ageing. For the purpose of this dissertation only life expectancy is considered as it can be regarded as quasiequivalent of survival curves, which are a key form of ageing assessment in *Drosophila*. Life expectancy refers to the total years remaining at the moment at which the study is being conducted, i.e., the average number of years a person is expected to live (Hayflick, 2000a; Timiras, 2003). Life expectancy has been increasing linearly for over 165 years, and there is no indication that we are approaching the limit of human lifespan (Christensen et al., 2009; Oeppen and Vaupel, 2002). This steady-state increase in life expectancy, has led to the suggestion that most babies born since 2000 will celebrate their 100th birthday if born in countries with a long history of longevity (Christensen et al., 2009). Of course the increase in life expectancy has been accompanied by an increase in diseases of old-age (Bloom, 2011; Christensen et al., 2009). The presence of disease is termed morbidity which regularly leads to increased mortality i.e., deaths.

Lifespan can be defined as the duration of life of an individual or organism in a particular environment and/or under specific circumstances (Timiras, 2003). For the

purpose of this dissertation lifespan will be defined as a measure of the duration of life of a group of flies under certain pharmacologic and/or genetic manipulations. The easiest and most direct way to assess treatments that increase longevity is to measure if an intervention (environmental or pharmacological), genetic manipulation (gene mutation, over-expression or down-regulation) or background (genetic strain or cytoplasmic background, the latter referring to the *Wolbachia* status of flies) can prolong the survival of a group of flies subjected to the treatment in question (Partridge et al., 2011). For the purpose of assessing pro-longevity success, median and maximum lifespan are often measured (as in the following chapters). Median lifespan corresponds to the time at which 50% of the population remains alive. On the other hand, maximum lifespan corresponds to the time at which the last 10% of the population remains alive (Mair and Dillin, 2008).

1.1.4 Ageing in model organisms including Drosophila

Evolutionary-less complex organisms like C. elegans and Drosophila offer several advantages for the study of ageing because of their relative short lifespan, knowledge of their complete genomes and their well characterized biology. However, in order for ageing in these species to be relevant for mammals, and especially to humans, interventions to specific cellular pathways have to be evolutionary conserved (Partridge, 2001). All model organisms have advantages and disadvantages for the study of ageing and ageing-related diseases. For example, yeast cells are incredibly cheap, easily manipulated genetically, show age-associated changes in cellular organelles, and can be studied for their chronological and replicative lifespan. While the chronological lifespan refers to their capacity to maintain vitality (integrity of the cell wall or capacity to form a colony) in a non-dividing state, their replicative lifespan refers to the number of times they can divide, which has been calculated to be a mean of between 20 to 30 generations (Blagosklonny and Hall, 2009; Denoth Lippuner et al., 2014). However, the lack of complex interaction derived of multi-cellularity is a major disadvantage of yeast cells. Hormonal regulation of ageing cannot be studied as they lack the appropriate signalling pathways (Alic and Partridge, 2011). In contrast, the nematode worm Caenorhabditis elegans is still cheap, amenable to genetic manipulation and with a relatively short life cycle (adult mean lifespan is between 2 to 3 weeks at 25° C), yet it possesses complex organised tissues.

Additionally, C. elegans is transparent which allows examination of their internal structures. However, as a 'Drosophilisr the trait I wish flies had was the ability to survive freezing/thawing. C. elegans can be stored at -80°C, which coupled to their relatively short lifespans makes them an interesting model for ageing research. Another interesting feature of C. elegans is the simplicity and efficiency of RNA interference for knocking down gene expression. Worms fed genetically transformed bacteria expressing double stranded RNA (dsRNA) complimentary to the gene of interest show very good knock-downs. This makes C. elegans a very powerful genetic tool for genetic screens. Moreover, C. elegans shares 40% of its genetic code with humans. However, amongst others I highlight two disadvantages of using C. elegans as a model organism. First, there are no females, most worms in a given population are hermaphrodites, whit a very low percentage of males (0.05%), which complicates the study of sex-specific effects. Second, though they posses a semi-organised nervous system (with precisely 302 neurons), there is no brain-like organisation, which limits their use and interpretation for the study of the CNS and diseases within this structure (Finch and Ruvkun, 2001; Fire, 2007; Hull and Timmons, 2004; Markaki and Tavernarakis, 2010; Vanfleteren and Braeckman, 1999; Walker et al., 2005).

In the case of mammalian models, the preferred system has been the mouse since it has a shorter lifespan in comparison to primates (3 years on average for mice and over 30 years in the case of rhesus monkeys), and genetic tools are more readily available. Though ageing studies in non-human primates have been instrumental to further our understanding of the relationship between diet and ageing (Colman et al., 2009, 2014; Mattison et al., 2012; Roth et al., 2004). In general mammalian models are difficult to maintain, very expensive and their life cycles make ageing research practically unrealistic for a doctoral dissertation. Preparation for studies in these animals requires careful examination and sample size estimation, as the cost of keeping them is often a limiting factor for big sample sizes. However, ageing studies in mammalian models are required to prove evolutionary conservation of interventions tested in less complex organisms (Swindell, 2012; Weindruch et al., 1986; Yuan et al., 2011).

1.1.4.1 Drosophila: a brief historical perspective

Drosophila has been a key model organism for the study of genetic inheritance, development, behaviour, disease and aging. Early in the 1900s William Ernest Castle

introduced the used of Drosophila melanogaster as a genetic tool at Harvard University. Castle influenced many others to incorporate Drosophila in their research as a viable model organism. It was only after the experiments carried out by Thomas Hunt Morgan and his students at Columbia University in New York that Drosophila acquired certain popularity in genetics. Morgan discovered in 1910 the sex-linked white eye mutation. This seminal discovery is still used in the day-to-day handling of flies as a genetic marker. It is important to notice that the white gene encodes for red, which is the wild type eve colour. Morgan's team not only paved the way for the use of Drosophila as a genetic tool, but also made important contributions to the general field of genetics. For example, Morgan's student Calvin Bridges proved the chromosome theory of inheritance, Alfred Sturtevant generated the first chromosome map as an undergraduate student, and Herman Muller demonstrated the mutagenicity of X rays. After an intense era of genetics research at the beginning of the 19th century, Drosophila genetics was overshadowed by the use of viruses and bacteria until early in the 1970's when attention shifted to the control of development and behaviour in more complex organisms. Ever since Drosophila has remained instrumental for the understanding of complex processes like behaviour, ageing and disease (Hartwell et al., 2011; Kenney and Borisy, 2009; Kohler, 1993; Stephenson, 2013).

1.1.4.2 Drosophila melanogaster: natural history and genetics

Figure 1.4 Drosophila life cycle. Fertilised females can store sperm in storage organs called spermatheca and seminal receptacle. They fertilise their eggs just before laying the embryo. The embryo completes its development within 24 hours and 'hatches' as a first instar larvae and progresses up to third instar in a process called molting. During these phases the main larval functions are eating and growing. Molting is controlled by the hormone ecdysone. Just before pupariation third instar larvae usually crawl up the sides of their housing bottles and undergo metamorphosis inside the protective pupal case. During this four-day period most larval tissues are replaced to adult-like tissues. After flies emerge from their pupa their wings expand, their exoskeleton hardens and becomes pigmented. Taken from (Hartwell et al., 2011).



The genus Drosophila of the family Drosophilidae is made up of over 900 species, which inhabit almost every corner of the world, except for the coldest tundras and the driest deserts. Drosophila, particularly D. melanogaster has been called the great hitchhiker among Drosophilas. It seems that wherever we have gone (we being the greatest travellers among primates), Drosophila has followed us (Kohler, 1993). For example, I have taken our Dahomey (see Chapter 2 for more details about our wpah flies) flies to Uganda and Tanzania in an attempt to introduce the use of *Drosophila* in biomedical research in Africa. Students attending our courses have then taken them back to their universities across the continent (Yusuf et al., 2014). Interestingly our $w^{p}a^{h}$ flies are originally from Dahomey (today Republic of Benin) in West Africa. It can be said that these flies are returning home. Recently Drosophila has even gone to space and there is great interest as to how the anti-gravity environment changes their physiology, including for example cardiac function and ageing (Anthony et al., 1996; Marco et al., 1996, 2003). The name Drosophila means, "dew lover" as a moist temperate climate offers the best conditions for their survival. Although they are called fruit flies, they should be instead called yeast flies, as this is their preferred food source. D. melanogaster is often found in decaying vegetation or fruits that support yeast colonies (Kohler, 1993). At 25°C their developmental life cycle is approximately 10 days from egg to adult fly (Figure 1.4). Under laboratory conditions Drosophila can live between two to three months. Female flies liver longer than male flies.



Drosophila has an haploid genome with four chromosomes numbered 1 to 4 (Figure 1.5). Chromosome 1 is the acrocentric X chromosome, while the other chromosomes (2 to 4) are autosomes (2 and 3 are metacentric, while 4 is acrocentric and is

only about 2% of the major autosomes). Unlike in mammals sex is determined by the ratio of X chromosomes to the number of autosomes. Additionally, each cell decides whether to be male or female. The Y chromosome is required for male fertility but is not involved in sex determination. By convention the Y chromosome is not given a number. The Y chromosome is almost entirely heterocromatin and it probably only carries genes involved in the physiology of male germ line (seven or eight genes). Chromosomes 2, 3 and the X chromosome possess large blocks (a quarter of the length of the chromosome) of heterochromatin near their centromere (Hartwell et al., 2011).

The *Drosophila* genome is about 5% the size of the human genome and it contains approximately 13, 600 genes (Adams et al., 2000). Besides the fact that the entire genome has been sequenced *Drosophila* shares approximately 60% of its genetic code with humans and it has been identified that 75% of genes related to human disease have a counterpart in flies, making them an attractive tool to model human diseases (Chien et al., 2002; Reiter and Bier, 2002; Reiter et al., 2001). Additionally several genetic tools like the GAL4/UAS gene expression system (see Chapter 2 for a detailed description) have made *Drosophila* extremely amenable to genetic manipulation. Its low cost, rapid turnover, and complex behaviour have made it an ideal model for the study of ageing and disease (Lessing and Bonini, 2009; Muqit and Feany, 2002; Reiter, 2005; Whitworth et al., 2006).

1.2 Biology of Ageing: the origins of the ageing process

When one considers the triumph of the developmental and growth processes that lead to reproductive fitness it becomes rather remarkable that organisms fail to mainly maintain in good shape the integrity of cells and tissues. This was in so many words a thought that the prominent evolutionary biologist George Williams had about the ageing process. In the context of the great energetic and programmed nature of development it does seem surprising that organisms are incapable of repair and preservation (Kirkwood, 2005). This has led to numerous currents of thought that have speculated why nature has allowed such a decline. There are a number of biological and evolutionary theories that attempt to explain the origins and causes of ageing (Medvedev, 1990). It is likely that components of these theories might contribute in varying degrees to the explanation behind the ageing process (Jin, 2010). These theories can be categorised into evolutionary, molecular and cellular theories of ageing (Weinert and Timiras, 2003). In the context of this dissertation

the molecular and cellular theories are categorised as 'mechanistic' theories of ageing. The latter attempt to explain what causes ageing, i.e. how do we age, while the evolutionary theories try to explain the origin of the ageing process, why ageing exists.

1.2.1 Evolutionary Theories of Ageing

Some of the theories proposed to explain the origin of the ageing process have the unforgiving flaw of assuming that ageing already exists. For example, the altruistic theory of ageing proposes that ageing exists for the benefit of the species. According to this theory ageing gets rid of older individuals that would consume resources of the young ones, those that would contribute to the fitness of the population. By removing the old and decrepit that do not contribute to the continuation of the species, nature makes way to the young and fit ones (Kirkwood and Austad, 2000). However, fitness decline is secondary to ageing, if ageing did not exist then the old ones would still be able to contribute to the perpetuation of the species. Therefore, the assumption that ageing exists does not help to explain why ageing exists. Moreover, a recent theory of ageing has proposed that longer lifespans in the post-reproductive period in women, are determinants of the successful reproduction and survival of their offspring and also of the survival of their grandchildren (Hawkes and Smith, 2009; Landenperd et al., 2004). This has been called the "grandmother theory of ageing". While the validity of this theory is contested, it does not explain why do we age, it might merely hint as to why we live as long as we do, if anything.



Figure 1.6 The force of natural selection declines with age. Mutations arising during childhood before the onset of reproductive fitness are under strong natural selection. Mutations whose phenotypes manifest after sexual maturity are under less selection pressure. Therefore, late-acting mutations

are allowed to pass on to the next generation. Taken from (Rose, 1999).

Perhaps the greatest contribution to the understanding of the evolution of ageing came from the seminal observation that as individuals age, the force of natural selection diminishes (Figure 1.6). John Burdon Sanderson (J.B.S.) Haldane made this observation when studying the age of onset of genetic diseases, particularly Huntington's disease (HD) (Haldane, 1941). The question here was, why disease-causing genes have not been removed by natural selection if they are deleterious to the species? However, as Haldane described, diseases that present later in life are under less selection than those that present early in life. An example commonly given is the comparative prevalence of progeroid syndromes (low prevalence), which present fairly early in life, and the prevalence of HD (higher prevalence than progerias), which presents later in life. Patients with progeria show manifestations of the disease very early in life, limiting their reproductive capacity. On the other hand, most forms of HD onset after the genes have been passed to the next generation, perpetuating the existence of the disease (Rose, 1999). Thus, Haldane hypothesised that ageing occurs as the result of late-acting deleterious mutations. These mutations would be under low or no natural selection (Haldane, 1941). Where do these mutations come from?

Peter Medawar rightly discussed that mutations are always happening in populations, most of these mutations will have no or little impact on development and reproductive fitness. However, if they did affect these traits they would be removed from the population by not allowing them to pass on to the next generation. Mutations that do not affect traits that manifest before reproductive capacity and success are achieved will persist. As these mutations, which are not under natural selection, continue to accumulate, they will become prominent in the population. Medawar proposed that the accumulation of late-acting deleterious mutations over the evolutionary history of populations has resulted in what we call now ageing (Medawar, 1957). Earlier such effects would have not been manifested, as predation and other external hazards would have not allowed for the functional decline and manifestation of these mutations to occur. However, as organisms have learnt to eliminate or control their environment the consequences of the accumulation of late-acting mutations have become very apparent. This theory is called the mutation accumulation theory of ageing.

George Williams took a complementary approach to that of Medawar. However, Williams focused on mutations that would be favoured by evolution because of their contribution to reproductive fitness, rather than in the accumulation of late-acting

deleterious mutations (Kirkwood and Austad, 2000; Weinert and Timiras, 2003). Williams
proposed that mutations that would ensure reproductive capacity will be favoured by natural selection even if they pose a disadvantage later in life (Williams, 1957). As natural selection drives perpetuation of the species, these mutations would remain in the population allowing the appearance of ageing (ageing being the negative side effect) (Weinert and Timiras, 2003; Williams, 1957). Williams's proposal is called the antagonistic pleiotropic theory of ageing to highlight the dual early benefit and later negative effect of such mutations. Thomas Kirkwood proposed a specific case of antagonisict pleiotropy in a theory that has focused on the disposable soma. Kirkwood assumes that resources are limited and given a choice organisms should allocate those resources in either somatic maintenance or reproduction. When resources are plentiful natural selection will favour reproduction and energy will be invested in the germ line. However, when resources become limiting, nature will favour somatic maintenance until resources become available after which investment in reproduction will resume. Kirkwood's interpretation of the antagonistic pleiotropy theory of ageing proposes that ageing arises because of the sacrifice of somatic maintenance in favour of reproduction. As limited resources are allocated to repair the accumulation of cellular and molecular damage, the soma becomes disposable and senesces (Kirkwood, 2000, 2005; Kirkwood and Austad, 2000). Two problems arise from this theory however. Firstly, it only explains why we live up to a certain age and secondly its principle contribution has been to describe why long-lived mutants show compromised reproduction (Weinert and Timiras, 2003). However, reduced fecundity and longevity have been recently uncoupled (Grandison et al., 2009a).

More recently Mikhail Blagosklonny has proposed another variation of the antagonistic pleiotropy theory of ageing. In contrast to Kirkwood who assumes that ageing is driven by the accumulation of unrepaired damage (Kirkwood, 2005; Kirkwood and Austad, 2000), Blagosklonny has discussed that ageing arises from the continuation of developmental programmes (Blagosklonny, 2008). Blagoskonny's theory brings centre stage the knowledge we have of how certain pathways regulate ageing to the origins of the ageing process. His theory has been called the hyperfunction theory of ageing to highlight that the driving force behind ageing is the perpetuation of processes started during development (Blagosklonny, 2013a; Gems and De la Guardia, 2013; Gems and Partridge, 2013). During development, genetic pathways in charge of biomass synthesis and accumulation are set up, however as the organism ages these programmes are not switched

off and they will continue operating, in a way they hyperfunction as their main purpose

was not to drive ageing. Blagosklonny's theory is, in a way, centred in the mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway (Blagosklonny, 2008, 2013b, 2013c). As I will discuss later, this pathway is very important for development and growth as it promotes protein synthesis and prevents degradation (Jacinto and Hall, 2003; Jia et al., 2004; Wei et al., 2013). In *Drosophila* for example, down-regulation of this pathway reduces reproductive capacity, but it extends lifespan (Bjedov et al., 2010). Hence it highlights the nature of pleiotropic functions of known cellular processes. Blagosklonny also tackles the idea that ageing is programmed. The biogerontology community has long discussed the possibility that certain genes function is to drive the ageing process, hence the existence of a programme (Austad, 2004). Such genes have not been found yet. By moving the drivers of ageing to developmental programmes, Blagosklonny proposes that ageing is not programmed but quasi-programmed. Ageing is not encoded in our genomes, but it happens because processes controlled during development do not have an off switch (Blagosklonny, 2008, 2012b).

1.2.2 Mechanistic Theories of Ageing

Many theories as to how we age have been proposed. Most of these theories have in common the generation of damage. For example, the error catastrophe theory of ageing proposes that the accumulation of defects arising in the regulation of transcription and translation lead to a catastrophic error that ultimately limits vitality. Similarly, it has been proposed that accumulation and changes in protein structures impairs cellular function ultimately limiting tissue and organism physiology (Weinert and Timiras, 2003). This theory features prominently in the collapse of proteostasis seen in many neurodegenerative diseases like HD, Alzheimer and Parkisnon's disease. I will discuss proteostasis and ageing in the subsequent section.

The most prominent and also the most debatable proposed reason for ageing is damage accumulation, secondary to free radicals. The free radical theory of ageing proposes that highly reactive free radicals are generated from oxidative metabolism, resulting in damage to different macromolecules (Weinert and Timiras, 2003). This theory has been regarded as the most promising explanation for the ageing process. However, very recently there has been a surge of conflicting data showing that damage accumulation does not have to be prevented to retard ageing, and that in some cases generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) correlate with increased healthy ageing. Indeed generation of ROS is sometimes necessary for lifespan extension in invertebrates (Doonan et al., 2008; Blagosklonny, 2008). I will discuss the role of ROS and stress resistance in subsequent sections.

Recently nine hallmarks of ageing were described that account for processes that are thought to drive the ageing process, adaptive responses to damage accumulation, and the hallmarks that translate into phenotypes (Figure 1.7) (Lopez-Otin et al., 2013). According to the primary hallmarks the processes that drive the ageing process are genomic instability, telomere attrition, epigenetic alterations and loss of proteostasis. I will discuss these hallmarks in more detail in the subsequent section. These hallmarks were defined in an attempt to provide a framework to conduct research and target the scientific effort. This approach followed from the one taken by the cancer biology community (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000, 2011). Targeted research into the regulation and interconnectivity of these hallmarks should provide a clearer picture as to why we age, what are the processes regulating the ageing process and how to target them to improve lifespan and healthspan (Lopez-Otin et al., 2013).

Our understanding of the processes driving ageing is still in its infancy. Therefore, it is quite remarkable that in spite of lacking an absolute explanation of why and how we age, we have been able to successfully intervene in the ageing process. Recent data has shown that, as with all biological processes, our genes play a significant role. The importance of the success of these interventions, beyond their pro-longevity effects, resides in the theoretical insight they provide to explain the origin and drivers of ageing.

Figure 1.7 The nine hallmarks of ageing. These hallmarks highlight process that cause damage and should drive the ageing process, cellular and organismal processes that respond to damage accumulation and the hallmarks that are likely to drive the manifestation of ageing. Taken from (Lopez-Otin et al., 2013).



1.3 Molecular Basis of the Ageing Process

1.3.1 Dysfunctional molecular fidelity as a driver of ageing

Proper relay of information is instrumental for appropriate cellular function. Being able to suitably dictate functions from the nucleus to specific cellular compartments ensures survival at the cellular level. In turn, the nucleus should be able to adapt to the cellular needs that cells encounter in the ever-changing environment by appropriately activating or silencing its vast genomic code. Dysfunctional adaptive capacity renders cells, tissues and entire organisms unfit for survival. Additionally, as time passes and the adaptive capacity declines, damage accumulates (Garinis et al., 2008; Hoeijmakers, 2009; van de Ven et al., 2007).

No cellular compartment is void of the deleterious effects of damage, whether inflicted by intrinsic or extrinsic factors. Yet repair mechanisms are normally capable of dealing with damage. The relay system that allows information to flow from genes to proteins, and the genome itself, are prone to damage accumulation. Damage to the genome is a universal feature of ageing (it can be of several kinds including point mutations, chromosomal rearrangements, shortening of telomeres, translocations, etc.) and when the repair systems are overwhelmed phenotypes of accelerated ageing manifest (Hoeijmakers, 2009). For example, Werner syndrome is a progeroid syndrome that arises from mutations in the WRN ATP-dependent helicase, important in DNA metabolism. Cells lacking WRN are defective in DNA repair, particularly double-strand breaks. They also present telomere attrition and senescence (limited replication capacity due to cellular arrest). Patients carrying mutation in WRN start manifesting alterations between 10 and 20 years of age. The phenotypes include early greying and hair loss, bilateral cataracts, osteoporosis, atherosclerosis and neoplasm among others. Other diseases like Cockayne syndrome, tricothiodystrophy and ataxia telangiectasia also lead to progeroid phenotypes. All of these diseases are linked to deficient DNA repair, highlighting the relevance of appropriate DNA repair in survival and ageing (Burtner and Kennedy, 2010; Hoeijmakers, 2009). Moreover, it was recently shown that preservation of genomic integrity by ensuring faithful chromosomal segregation extends lifespan in mice and protect against cancer (Baker et al., 2013).

Another important part of cellular repair is the maintenance of telomeres. Telomere attrition is a hallmark of ageing as extensive work has shown that telomeres shorten upon each cellular division (Bernardes de Jesus and Blasco, 2013). Cancer cells have overcome

this problem by over-expressing telomerase enzyme to extend chromosome ends. Though telomere-shortening correlates with ageing there had always been concern about the therapeutic value of over-expressing enzymes preventing telomere attrition as this could potentially lead to cancer. However, it was recently demonstrated that telomerase activation can delay ageing and, importantly, this was achieved without increasing cancer incidence in mutant mice (Bernardes de Jesus et al., 2012). Overall, these examples clearly demonstrate the relevance of DNA damage prevention (or its repair) and genome integrity for ageing. Furthermore, the fine balance between stem cell maintenance and tumor suppression should be cautiously considered (Serrano and Blasco, 2007).

Protein homeostasis or proteostasis referrers to the adequate balance between synthesis, folding, trafficking and secretion, and degradation of proteins (Labbadia and Morimoto, 2014; Morimoto and Cuervo, 2014). All cells are equipped with a set of exquisitely regulated processes for protein quality control and organelle surveillance called the proteostasis network (PN) (Labbadia and Morimoto, 2014; Shore and Ruvkun, 2013; Taylor and Dillin, 2011). The PN includes control of protein translation, molecular chaperones, the ubiquitin-proteasomal system (UPS) and the autophagy-lysosomal (AL) system. These processes, which also include the ones regulating protein trafficking and secretion, are coupled with an array of stress-regulated pathways that ensure appropriate response under physiological and, more importantly, under pathologic conditions (Labbadia and Morimoto, 2014; Taylor et al., 2014). Proteostasis and the regulation of the PN are a hallmark of ageing because when proteolysis is dampened lifespan is shortened, while stimulation either genetically or pharmacologically extends lifespan. Every major lifespan-extending intervention has at least one proteostatic process downstream. Unfortunately with age the rate of damage accumulation increases, this can be ascertained by the amount of accumulated damaged cells and by the rate of mistakes in folding and appropriate quality surveyance performed. Proteostasis collapse is likely to be an early event during ageing (Labbadia and Morimoto, 2014; LOpez-Otin et al., 2013).

Protein synthesis is a tightly regulated process consisting of three phases. In the initiation phase the mRNA is recruited to the ribosome by a host of translation initiation factors (particularly from the groups of eukaryotic initiation factor 4 (eIF4) and eIF2) that will interact with the mRNA and the ribosome. During the elongation phase the mRNA is translated into a newly synthesised protein, after which it is released from the ribosome in the termination phase (Browne and Proud, 2002; Scheper et al., 2006). Protein translation has been shown to be under the control of the growth and nutrient-sensing network (see

below) and required for lifespan extension under dietary restriction. Interestingly, though interventions to target the initiation phase of translation are the most widely studied for pathology and longevity, activity of the elongation phase is inversely related with translation fidelity (Browne and Proud, 2002). It has been calculated that approximately 15% of translated proteins in Escherichia coli will contain amino acid mis-incorporations (Drummond and Wilke, 2009; Ogle and Ramakrishnan, 2005; Parker, 1989). Mistranslated proteins are likely to be aberrantly folded and aggregate. This will be particularly toxic for post mitotic long-lived cells like neurons. Hence, interventions to reduce protein translation could be beneficial for ageing and disease (Proud, 2002; Sherman and Qian, 2013; Taylor and Dillin, 2011). During the conversion of genes to proteins, numerous enzymes involved in replication, transcription, translation and folding are involved in safeguarding the fidelity of the information. When this information is corrupt, cells opt to either correct the problem, or, when the error or damage surpasses the repair capacity, target for degradation (Ben-Gedalya and Cohen, 2012; Taylor and Dillin, 2011). Even under physiological conditions, proteins are constantly being synthesised and destroyed. This is a continuous process, and although it could be conceived as energetically costly, it minimizes damage to proteins in the hazardous environment of the intracellular compartment (Martinez-Vicente et al., 2005; Wong and Cuervo, 2010). Mis-folding and protein accumulation have detrimental consequences for cell physiology and this is clearly manifested in aggregation-prone neurodegenerative diseases like Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease (Ben-Gedalya and Cohen, 2012; Wong and Cuervo, 2010).

After protein synthesis, the newly synthesised peptide requires adequate conformational integrity to function properly. For this the protein will require to fold to obtain its appropriate three-dimensional structure (sometimes quaternary) assisted by molecular chaperones which will prevent mis-folding (Valastyan and Lindquist, 2014). Proteins can start the folding process at the same time as they are synthesised (co-translational folding), others are folded in the cytoplasm and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (Dobson, 2004; Wolff et al., 2014). Co-translational folding is assisted by a subset of heat shock proteins (HSP40 and HSP70). Mis-folded and potentially toxic proteins are assisted by HSP104 for disassembly, refolding and potential aggregation into less toxic species (Taylor and Dillin, 2011; Wolff et al., 2014). These and other HSPs are under the transcriptional regulation of the heat shock factor-1 (HSF1). Several of them are transcriptionally up-regulated under conditions of reduced signalling through the nutrient sensing network and can extend lifespan when over-expressed in worms and flies (Hsu et

al., 2003; Morley and Morimoto, 2004; Morrow et al., 2004; Murphy et al., 2003; Tower, 2009).

To safeguard the proteome the PN is coupled with several stress responses including the heat shock response, the ER unfolded protein response (UPR) and the mitochondrial UPR (UPR^{mt}) (Labbadia and Morimoto, 2014; Taylor et al., 2014). During ageing the appropriate induction of these stress-response pathways is dampened making them driving forces of proteostasis collapse (Haigis and Yankner, 2010; Taylor et al., 2014).

In spite of the processes ensuring molecular fidelity, some proteins escape quality control or accumulate damage over time. To minimise the toxic effects of aggregated proteins, cells use the UPS and AL system for degradation. Old and damaged proteins are marked and targeted by molecular chaperones for degradation by the proteasome. This process in comparison to degradation by autophagy is highly selective as proteins are tagged by E3-ligase-mediated ubiquitylation of which those with lysine residue 48 (K48)-linked polyubiquitin are directed to the proteasome (Labbadia and Morimoto, 2014; Taylor and Dillin, 2011). Proteasomal function downstream of the growth factors and nutrient sensing regulate lifespan in yeast and worms (Carrano et al., 2009; Kruegel et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2011; Vilchez et al., 2012).

Alternatively cells can make use of autophagy for a less targeted degradation process. Autophagy can refer to the bulk engulfing of cellular material called macroautophagy, a more targeted approach called chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA) and microautophagy. (Cuervo, 2008; Levine and Kroemer, 2008; Martinez-Vicente et al., 2005). When I use the term autophagy I will be referring to macroautophagy as this is the most studied form of autophagy in biogerontology. Autophagy refers to the self-eating process that uses the lysosome for degradation of proteins, cellular organelles and even pathogens (Choi et al., 2013; Kroemer et al., 2010). Autophagy ensures survival under starvation conditions as it recycles cellular material within the cells to allow continual cellular function. The evolutionary conservation of the machinery controlling the process is exquisite and denotes the relevance of the process across taxa. Just after birth mammals require appropriate autophagy function for survival, inability to induce autophagy during the first few hours of life limits lifespan (Efeyan et al., 2012). The function and induction capacity of autophagy declines with age, yet the underlying mechanism is poorly understood (Cuervo, 2008). In Drosophila loss of the autophagy gene atg7, required for autophagy induction, reduces lifespan, sensitises against starvation and the redox cycler

paraquat, leads to accumulation of ubiquitylated proteins and impairs locomotor ability (Juhdsz et al., 2007). Similarly, in mammals, loss of atg7 in neurons reduces median lifespan of mice to below 10 weeks (lifespan can be up to 3 years), leads to the accumulation of polyubiquitylated proteins, cell death in cerebral cortex and cerebellum and the concomitant behavioural defects of neurodegeneration (Komatsu et al., 2006). A similar scenario is also observed in mice deficient for atg5 in neurons (Hara et al., 2006).

Autophagy is regulated by the nutrient sensor mTOR and also by mTOR independent mechanisms (Ravikumar et al., 2010). As I will discuss later autophagy seems to be an important process downstream of many genetic and environmental interventions that increase healthy ageing (Cuervo, 2008; Vellai et al., 2009). For example, dietary restriction (DR), the most successful intervention to delay ageing across taxa, is thought to confer its benefits, partly through induction of autophagy (Bergamini et al., 2003; Cavallini et al., 2001).

1.3.2 Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Mitohormesis

As mentioned earlier, one of the proposed players driving ageing is the accumulation of oxidative modifications by free radicals or ROS. The damage accumulated by ROS was thought to be an initiating event leading to cellular senescence and aging (Harman, 1956; Muller et al., 2007). This view has been changing in recent years as the evidence against the free radical theory of ageing mounts up (Blagosklonny, 2008; Doonan et al., 2008; Gems and De la Guardia, 2013; Hekimi et al., 2011; Kawagishi and Finkel, 2014; Ristow, 2014; Stuart et al., 2014). Studies in model organisms have shown that lifespan extension can co-exist with damage accumulation (or without reducing damage), reduction in damage and stress-resistance can be uncoupled from lifespan extension and that toxin-induced mitochondrial stress (with ROS generators) can extend lifespan (Cabreiro et al., 2011; Doonan et al., 2008; Frankowski et al., 2013; Van Raamsdonk and Hekimi, 2009; Schmeisser et al., 2013a; Valentini et al., 2012; Yang and Hekimi, 2010).

Dysfunctional mitochondria are regarded as pathogenic markers of several clinical entities including neurodegenerative diseases (Schapira, 2008; Schapira and Gegg, 2011). For example, inhibition of mitochondrial complex I in dopaminergic neurons leads to parkinsonism in humans and rodents (Schapira, 2010). The knowledge of toxin-induced complex I inhibition has often been used to generate non-protein aggregation Parkinsonian models in flies and rodents (Bayersdorfer et al., 2010; Blesa et al., 2012). In contrast, it has

been reported that mild reductions of the function of several of the mitochondria' respiratory complexes (I, III, IV and ATPase) in worms and flies extends lifespan and protects against paraquat-induced oxidative stress (Copeland et al., 2009; Dillin et al., 2002; Lapointe and Hekimi, 2008; Lapointe et al., 2012). Moreover, a recent report showed that the degree of mito-nuclear imbalance determines the longevity phenotype (Houtkooper et al., 2013). The role of the mitochondria in ageing is continuously being explored. Recently it was identified that over-expression of the mitochondrial biogenesis transcription factor peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma co-activator 1-alpha (PGC-1a), particularly in the gut stem cells of *Drosophila*, resulted in extended lifespan, preservation of the function of the mitochondria' respiratory chain and the gut microarchitecture integrity (Rera et al., 2011). Altered function or activity of PGC-1a has been implicated in a plethora of age-related diseases including diabetes, obesity, Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease (Castillo-Quan, 2011, 2012; Robinson et al., 2013).

These rather contrasting, and sometimes conflicting, results showing that reduced function of mitochondria' components leads to disease in some cases and healthy lifespan extension in others, can perhaps be reconciled in terms of degree and appropriate stress response. When cells encounter a stressful situation, for example reduced mitochondria' respiration, they are able to mount up a stress response. Either the degree or duration of the stressful situation regulates the stress response. When the stress is low or brief and cells are capable of activating repair processes, survival is ensured. However, if the stress is to strong or last for longer than what the energetic capacity of the organism allows, or the cell is unable to appropriately respond it will die. It can be proposed that, for example, the observed mitochondrial complex I inhibition in PD patients, and in long lived organisms vary in duration and intensity, and this influences the capacity of cells and organisms to appropriately respond to this stressful event. However, we are still far from understanding the role of mitochondria in ageing.

Genetic or pharmacological manipulations of the respiratory chain are thought to induce oxidative stress and UPR^{mt} (Houtkooper et al., 2013; Schmeisser et al., 2013a, 2013b; Yang and Hekimi, 2010). The stress caused by the abnormal mitochondria activates an oxidative and xenobiotic response transcriptionally orchestrated by SKN-1 in worms, cap'n'collar (cnc) in flies and the nuclear factor erythroid-2 related factor (NRF)-2 in mammals (Mattson, 2008a; Rattan, 2001). Induction of a small amount of stress has been associated with lifespan extension in several reports. The underlying mechanisms

seem to be the up-regulation of cellular repair processes. Stress-response pathways increase lifespan perhaps by re-allocating energy resources in somatic maintenance, i.e., investing in the control of molecular fidelity.

The lifespan and healthspan benefits derived from sublethal exposure to toxins or stressors have been called hormesis (Calabrese, 2013; Gems and Partridge, 2008; Lithgow, 2001; Mattson, 2008b). Hormesis (a term taken from toxicology) refers to the biphasic response observed during the study of drugs and compounds. In pharmacology and toxicology small amounts of a toxin will provide a stimulatory or beneficial effect, while increasing the concentration will lead to inhibition or, in the case of ageing, lifespan reduction (Calabrese et al., 2007; Rattan, 2004; Ristow, 2014; Ristow and Schmeisser, 2011). To date several toxins have been tested for their ability to modulate lifespan in model organisms and lower doses confer benefits while high doses become progressively detrimental (Schmeisser et al., 2013a; Yang and Hekimi, 2010). The hormetic response is not limited to toxins. For example, the positive effects of food restriction are thought to elicit a stress-adaptive mechanism that increases cellular maintenance and repair (Masoro, 2007; Schmeisser et al., 2013b; Schulz et al., 2007). Similarly, gradual adaptation to heat stress can confer longevity in worms, and resistance to a subsequent heat shock (Epel and Lithgow, 2014; Lithgow, 2001). The underlying mechanism could be the progressive upregulation of defence processes that are then already in place for protection when challenged with a stronger stressor (priming). The hormetic response can also account for the positive lifespan effects of phytochemical and compounds isolated from plants (including fruits and vegetables). Plants also respond to their environment by up-regulating stress-response mechanisms. Molecules produced during the stress-phase are thought to induce a hormetic response in the organisms consuming the plant. This is xenohormesis (Goldberg et al., 2010; Howitz and Sinclair, 2008; Surh, 2011); while when the stressorsignal is induced within the mitochondria is called mitohormesis (Ristow, 2014; Ristow and Zarse, 2010; Yun and Finkel, 2014).

1.3.3 Dietary Restriction and the Nutrient Sensing Network

1.3.3.1 Dietary restriction (DR)

To date DR is the most successful environmental intervention to extend lifespan in organisms ranging from yeast to mammals (Fontana et al., 2010; Piper and Partridge, 2007). First observed in rodents at the beginning of last century (McCay et al., 1935;

Osborne et al., 1917), DR has shown extraordinary evolutionary conservation. Different forms of DR can prolong healthy lifespan from the unicellular yeast to non-human primates and have even shown to improve health in humans (Fontana et al., 2010).

DR is still ill-defined, but it generally refers to the reduction of food intake without malnourishment (Katewa and Kapahi, 2010; Piper and Partridge, 2007). DR protocols include caloric restriction where total caloric intake per day is modulated irrespective of the source of calories (lipids, carbohydrates or proteins). In spite of its wide use in the literature, nowadays we understand that certain components of the diet impose greater effects on survival and longevity than others, revealing the complex nature of the interaction of diet with ageing (Piper et al., 2005, 2011). Moreover, multiple DR protocols exist in different species making it virtually impossible to compare studies that report lifespan extension employing completely different approaches even when using the same species. For example, DR in C. elegans can be performed by dilution of the bacteria in which it is co-cultured, eliminating the bacteria alltogether (axenic liquid media which contains nutrients, but lacks E. coli), or by mutations that affect the neuromuscular regulation of pharyngeal pumping (anorexia-induced DR), etc. It is worth mentioning that different DR regimes have varying degrees of impact on fecundity, metabolism and lifespan (Mair and Dillin, 2008; Piper and Bartke, 2008). While anorexia-induced DR by mutations in the *eat2* gene extend median lifespan by 46%, axenic media extends lifespan by up to 85% (the biggest DR effect in C. elegans) (Mair and Dillin, 2008). Unless different *eat2* mutant alelles with different degrees of pharyngeal pumping are used, these two examples of DR protocols in C. elegans only allows for DR to be tested as a discrete rather than a continous variable. Using DR as a continous variable is very important and informative when assessing the molecular mechanisms of DR (the interaction of a particular gene with the diet) or the effect of a compound (a potential DR-mimetic). In rodents, though the effects of DR can be studied as a continuos variable (different values of caloric restriction, days of of intermittent fasting, etc), only one DR regime is usually employed (Cerqueira and Kowaltowski, 2010; Longo and Mattson, 2014). Using only one DR regime against the ad libitum condition complicates the analysis of the interaction of DR with other interventions.

DR studies in *Drosophila* are performed a bit differently than in rodents and *C*. *elegans*. Instead of reducing the food provided, the diet is manipulated by dilution or reduction of specific components and then provided *ad libitum* (Bass et al., 2007; Tatar et al., 2014). *Drosophila* diet used in ageing studies is usually comprised of a carbohydrate

source (usually sucrose) and yeast as a source of amino acids, vitamins, minerals, cholesterol, and essential fatty acids held together by the combination of water and agar (Bass et al., 2007; Skorupa et al., 2008). Some studies also add cornmeal and dextrose to the diet (Min et al., 2008; Zid et al., 2009). In Drosophila it has been shown that modifying the carbohydrate content or the amount of water in the diet has minimal effects on lifespan, comparatively to the effects conferred by modifying the yeast component of the medium (Grandison et al., 2009b; Mair et al., 2005; Piper et al., 2010; Skorupa et al., 2008). Therefore, to evaluate food restriction as a continuous variable, the yeast component is modified from 0-200 grams (or more) per litre keeping the carbohydrate component constant. At least 4 to 5 yeast concentrations are tested. Lifespan increases gradually up to a maximum after which further increases in the yeast concentration become detrimental for lifespan. Plotting the median or maximum lifespan values always depicts a tent-shaped curve. The yeast concentration that confers the biggest lifespan extension is considered the optimal and therefore the DR condition. Values on either side of the DR condition limit lifespan by either malnourishment (left hand side of the DR tent) or over-nourishment (right hand side) (Bass et al., 2007; Grandison et al., 2009b; Metaxakis and Partridge, 2013). When a molecular target is being tested as a mechanism for lifespan extension under DR, the interaction of the different dietary regimes with the gene/intervention of interest reveals whether the non-dietary intervention acts in the same molecular pathway. In a hypothetical scenario where the effect of over-expressing the transcription factor involved in lysosomal biogenesis (transcription factor EB (TF-EB) or mitochondrial biogenesis PGC-1 a were tested as the molecular mechanism for lifespan extension under DR, one of the three scenarios can occur. First, a true DR mechanism would show a right-shifted DR tent, where the lifespan benefits would only be observed at the higher end of the yeast concentration (Figure 1.8A). Given that the intervention is already maximised for lifespan, food restriction would not be able to further extend lifespan and is likely to reduce it. Second, the intervention is able to increase lifespan under conditions maximised for DR, but to a minimum extent in comparison to the effect under over-nourishment (Figure 1.8B). Perhaps in this scenario the intervention tested and DR have converged molecularly, but not enough to right-shift the tent. Thirdly, the intervention in question would extend lifespan irrespective of the food condition tested (Figure 1.8C). This would be an unlikely molecular mechanism of DR as the effects seem additive (Mair and Dillin, 2008).



As we uncover the effects of specific nutrients, targeted protocols for evaluting interactions of non-dietary interventions will emerge. So far, we have known for a while that within proteins, certain amino acids regulate lifespan with greater effects (Grandison et al., 2009a; Piper et al., 2014). Methionine restriction extends lifespan of yeast (Johnson and Johnson, 2014; Ruckenstuhl et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2013), flies (Grandison et al., 2009a; Lee et al., 2014), mice (Miller et al., 2005), and rats (Orentreich et al., 1993). Moreover, methionine restriction in yeast cells, and mouse and human fibroblasts has been reported to confer resistance to several cytotoxic stressors (Johnson and Johnson, 2014). In mice, methionine restrcition leads to reduced body weight, improved glucose and lipid metabolism, increased expression of the starvation hormone fibroblast growth factor-21 (FGF-21) (in blood and hepatocytes), PGC-la and the branch of the UPR that responds to aminoacids (GCN-2-eIF2a) (Ables et al., 2012; Lees et al., 2014). The authors speculated that the reduction in circulating methionine could drive the expression of FGF-21 downstream of PGC-1 a and GCN-2 (general control non-derepresible 2) (Lees et al., 2014). Interestingly, over-expression of FGF-21 in hepatocytes (which increases circulating levels by 5-10 fold) increased median lifespan of male and female mice by

36%. The authors identified that over-expression of FGF-21 reduced the risk of death by 65% in males and 88% in females (Zhang et al., 2012). Interestingly, these animals did not show compensatory over-feeding as elicited by methione restriction (Lees et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2012). Additionally methione restricted mice show reduced circulating levels of insulin, IGF-1 and thyroid hormone (Miller et al., 2005).

The widespread health benefits of DR have encouraged biogerontologists to try and understand the molecular mechanisms behind the effects of DR. Research of the pathways responsive to dietary macromolecules, carbohydrates and proteins have unveiled that ageing is plastic, evolutionary conserved and can be targeted pharmacologically (Fontana et al., 2010; Kenyon, 2010).

1.3.3.2 Insulin/IGF-1 signalling pathway in ageing

Two nutrient signalling pathways have been implicated in the ageing process. The first evidence of the role of the insulin signalling pathway in ageing came from a mutagenic study performed in *C. elegans* by Klass showing the fundamental principle that lifespan can be modified genetically (Klass, 1983). Gary Ruvkun's group found that the long-lived mutation induced in Klass's experiments was in a gene which encodes for the worm phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase (PI3K), *age-1* (Finch and Ruvkun, 2001; Johnson, 2013). Several other groups extended the work to show that down-regulation of the insulin/IGF-1 signalling (IIS) pathway extended lifespan (Finch and Ruvkun, 2001; Kenyon, 2006, 2011).

In this section I will describe the components of the IIS pathway in *C. elegans*, *Drosophila* and mammals. Interestingly, hormonal regulation between these organisms is highly conserved (Figure 1.9). I will also do this by describing the components of the pathway from ligand(s) to nucleus highlighting functions those that have been shown to regulate ageing.



Figure 1.9 Hormonal regulation is highly conserved between *C. elegans, Drosophila* and mice. These cartoons show the high degree of evolutionary conservation between (a) C. *elegans*, (b) *Drosophila* and (c) mice for the components of the IIS pathway. Taken from (Partridge and Gems, 2002).

Ligands

C. elegans has -40 insulin-like peptides expressed primarily in neurons, though a few are also expressed in the intestine (Figure 1.10). Some of these insulin-like molecules act as agonists of the worm insulin receptor daf2, while others act as antagonists (Kaletsky and Murphy, 2010). Given the different functional nature of these signals it is not entirely surprising that they are differentially regulated at the transcriptional level in response to reduced IIS signal. Ins-7, one of these peptides, is repressed in animals lacking daf2; when ins-7 is knocked down by RNAi, worms are significantly long-lived in comparison to their respective controls (Murphy et al., 2003). Drosophila has 8 insulin-like peptides (dILPs). In adult physiology and the regulation of ageing, the most important ones seem to be dILPs 2, 3 and 5 synthesised in the median-neurosecretory cells (MNCs) in the fly brain, and dILP 6 produced in the fat body (the fly equivalent of the liver/adipose tissue). Ablation of the MNCs, or genetic deletion of dILPs 2, 3 and 5 extend lifespan in Drosophila (Broughton et al., 2008, 2005; Griinke et al., 2010). On the other hand, overexpression of dilp6 in the fat body extends lifespan (Bai et al., 2012). In mammals, insulin is produced by pancreatic I3-cells, whereas Insulin-like Growth Factor-1 (IGF1) and 2 are mainly produced in the liver, but synthesized in almost all tissues (Kaplan and Cohen, 2007). It is important to note that IGFs are synthesized in the liver in response to Growth Hormone (GH) released from the pituitary gland in the brain. Reducing the level of GH or the elements that regulate its production, and the IGFs show some overlap to promote

longevity (Bartke, 2008; Brown-Borg et al., 1996) and show similar phenotypical characteristics (Bartke et al., 2013). Reduced levels of insulin (hypoinsulinemia) lead to high glucose levels, which clinically translates into type I diabetes mellitus, commonly due to autoimmune destruction of the insulin producing 0-pancreatic cells. On the other hand, type II diabetes follows peripheral insulin resistance with a compensatory hypertrophy of (3 cells to synthesize more insulin and lead to hyperinsulinemia (Castillo-Quan et al., 2010). Both ends of this spectrum, lower or higher circulating levels of insulin, are pathological. Therefore, speculations lurked over the relevance of the finding in invertebrates that reducing insulin signalling *per se* could extend healthy lifespan (see below).



Figure 1.10 IIS pathway in C. *elegans* **and** *Drosophila.* (a) shows a schematic diagram of the IIS pathway in *C. elegans.* The *Drosophila* IIS pathway is shown in (b). Please note the lack of the transcription factor FOXO in the fly diagram that should be immediately downstream of Akt (as DAF-16 in the worm). At the time this diagram was produced the requirement of FOXO for lifespan extension under IIS down-regulation in the fly had not been shown experimentally. Taken from (Partridge and Gems, 2002).

Ligand levels can be regulated at several different stages, such as their synthesis, post-translational processing, secretion, or binding to partner proteins, which can modulate their circulation or bioavailability in the systemic environment. IGFs circulate bound to IGF binding proteins (IFGBP) of which 6 have been identified. IGFBPs protect IGFs from degradation and also compete with them for the IGF receptors (IGFR) (Kaplan and Cohen,



2007). Since IGFBPs can potentially down-regulate the IGF signalling pathway, overexpressing them could lead to lifespan extension. For instance, increased expression of the dILP-binding protein ImpL2, a homologue of IGFBP7, extends lifespan in *Drosophila* by reducing signalling through dILP2 and dILP5 (Alic et al., 2011a). No mammalian study has described the effects of loss or over-expression of any of these IIS binding partners on the ageing process. However, mammalian IFGBPs are subject to protease degradation. Pregnancy-associated plasma protein A (PAPP-A), is a metalloproteinase involved in IGFBPs degradation, in particular of IGFBP4. Loss of PAPP-A leads to a 38% lifespan extension of both male (33%) and female (41%) mice (Conover and Bale, 2007).

Receptor

Next the ligand binds to the insulin/IGF receptor at the plasma membrane surface. Whereas the invertebrate model organisms have an abundance of different insulin-like ligands, both *C. elegans* and *Drosophila* have only a single receptor (DAF-2 in worms and dInR in flies; Figure 1.10). The situation in mammals is more complex with multiple receptors existing, including the insulin receptor (IR; spliced in two isoforms), IGF receptors (IGF-1R and IGF-2R), and heterodimers IR-IGF-1R. Furthermore, insulin can bind and activate the heterodimers and the IGF-1R, though the affinity is 100 and 1000-fold weaker, respectively (Buck and Mulvihill, 2011; Jensen and De Meyts, 2009).

In the context of ageing, many long-lived models act at the level of the insulin/IGF receptor. Indeed, the first systematic description of lifespan extension due to a single gene mutation was a worm *daf-2* mutant (Kenyon et al., 1993). Subsequently, it was shown that a dInR mutant allele with reduced kinase activity showed increased lifespan (Tatar et al., 2001). Our group later showed that over-expression of a dominant-negative form of dInR makes flies long-lived (Ikeya et al., 2009). In mice, IR and IGF-1R are necessary for early development and growth. Mice lacking either of them die 4 days postnatal, or at birth, respectively (Accili et al., 1996; Liu et al., 1993). Given this it was surprising when the first long-lived IIS mammalian mutant described to be long-lived was a heterozygous null IGF-1R KO mice that lives 26% longer than controls when both sexes are pooled; 33% longer for females and 16% for males (Holzenberger et al., 2003), although subsequent work at San Antonio by Arlan Richardson's team largely failed to confirm this (Bokov et al., 2011) Almost simultaneously it was published that mice lacking the insulin receptor in adipose tissue (FIRKO) show extended lifespan, reduced insulin levels, and resistance to age-related loss of glucose homeostasis and diet-induced obesity (Bliiher et al., 2003).

Binding of the ligand to its receptor induces autophosphorylation and subsequent recruitment and phosphorylation of its substrate.

Tissue-specific effects of HS down-regulation

It is very interesting that the FIRKO mice are currently, the only tissue-specific deletion of the IR shown to be long-lived. Other IR tissue-specific KOs like liver (LIRKO), muscle (MIRKO) and neuron-specific (NIRKO) develop insulin resistance and/or diabetes along with several other metabolic alterations; even I3-pancreatic cell-specific IR-KO mice ((3IRKO) develop metabolic alterations making them unlikely to be long-lived (Bruning, 2000; Briining et al., 1998; Kulkarni et al., 1999; Michael et al., 2000). This tissue specificity is also highlighted by the fact that mice lacking IGF-1R specifically in the (3-pancreatic cells also develop insulin resistance (Kulkarni et al., 2002), while mice heterozygous for the IGF-1R in the central nervous system live longer (Kappeler et al., 2008).

Intracellular cascade

The first component of the intracellular IIS cascade is the insulin receptor substrate (IRS), which interacts with the activated insulin receptor and relays the signal to other proteins to convey the message to the nucleus. Unlike mammals that posses three or four IRS proteins, *Drosophila* only has one IRS called *chico* (small in Spanish for the phenotype they produced when missing). In flies, autophosphorylation of the dInR recruits CHICO and the adaptor SH2B Lnk protein to relay the signal downstream. Female flies carrying a deletion for the IRS *chico* live 48% longer, while the lifespan extension in males is of only 13% (Clancy et al., 2001). Flies lacking Lnk show a more modest yet robust lifespan extension. Lifespan extension by most *Drosophila* insulin mutants is greater in females (and dependent on the cytoplasmic endosymbiont Wolbachia), but the longevity effect of Lnk is not only independent of sex, but also of genetic and cytoplasmic background (Ikeya et al., 2009; Partridge et al., 2005; Slack et al., 2010). The chico and dInR with reduced kinase activity were the first long-lived mutants reported for Drosophila (Clancy et al., 2001; Tatar et al., 2001). Human's possess two widely expressed IRS proteins, IRS1 and IRS2 (also the most studied ones); IRS4 expression is limited to the thymus, brain, kidneys and I3-cells. Rodents on the other hand also express IRS3 in the adipose tissue (White, 2002). In mice, global Irs1^{-/-} null mutants show an extended lifespan. Females are long-lived relative to controls by 32%, while males are

16% longer lived than controls (Selman et al., 2008a, 2011). Importantly, long-lived female IRS1 null mice show delayed onset of ageing pathologies including osteoporosis, cataracts, ulcerative dermatitis, as well as preservation of glucose homeostasis, immunity (T cells), and motor function. Unlike Irs1-/- mice, global Irs2-/- null mice are short-lived (Selman et al., 2008a). The main difference between mice lacking IRS1 or IRS2 might stem from the deficient downstream signalling in the Irs2-/- null mice which show reduced phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase (PI3K) activation, which leads to overt diabetes, while Irs1-/- mice develop insulin resistance, but no diabetes (Selman et al., 2008a; Withers et al., 1998). Tissue-specific complexity is also revealed at this level where brain-specific knockout of IRS2 has been reported to extend murine lifespan (Taguchi et al., 2007), though this result has been challenged (Selman et al., 2008b). In light of insufficient PI3K activation leading to shorter lifespan its surprising that the lifespan of flies lacking chico is greater in homozygous (48%) than in heterozygotes (36%) (Clancy et al., 2001). However, unlike in mammals, the dInR has an additional 400 amino acids at the C-terminus which allows direct communication between dInR and PI3K (Teleman, 2010). In flies, overexpression of a dominant negative version of the catalytic subunit Dp110 of dPI3K extends lifespan (Slack et al., 2011). Similarly heterozygous inactivation of the p110a of PI3K extends murine lifespan (Foukas et al., 2006).

PI3K activation leads to the production of phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-triphosphate (PIP3) from phosphatidylinositol-4,5-biphosphate (PIP2), which in turn allows the translocation and activation of Akt (Fayard et al., 2005; Manning and Cantley, 2007). This process is antagonised by the phosphatase PTEN that dephosphorylates lipids produced by PI3K (Manning and Cantley, 2007). Given that PI3K production is essential to activate the downstream player Akt, inhibition of IIS through PTEN seems as a straightforward intervention to extend healthy ageing. In C. elegans the lifespan extension by inactivation of the insulin receptor daf-2 is dependent on appropriate function of the homologue of PTEN daf-18. Loss of function of *daf-18* abolishes the lifespan extension by *daf-2* mutants. Importantly, the inactivation of PTEN leads to reduced lifespan, which corresponds with increased IIS signalling being detrimental (Mihaylova et al., 1999). In flies, over-expression of PTEN leads to lifespan extension (Hwangbo et al., 2004). Recently it was shown that mice carrying extra genomic copies of PTEN are long-lived independent of the protection against cancer; males live 12% and females 16% longer than controls. Furthermore these mice are protected against insulin resistance, steatosis and other markers of metabolic imbalance (Ortega-Molina et al., 2012).

PIP3 production recruits Akt (also referred to as protein kinase B; PKB) and its activators (PDK1 and mTORC2) to the cell membrane where it gets phosphorylated and in turn activated. Akt is a serine/threonine protein kinase, central to cellular proliferation, metabolism and apoptosis. Akt regulates cell survival and metabolism by regulating many downstream targets (Fayard et al., 2005; Manning and Cantley, 2007). In C. elegans RNAi-mediated knockdown of Akt extends lifespan (Hamilton et al., 2005). C. elegans Akt functions solely to inhibit the nuclear translocation and transcription regulation of the transcription factor FOXO/daf-16 (Kenyon et al., 1993; Lin et al., 2001). Mutants for Akt have not been shown to be long-lived in Drosophila (Clancy et al., 2001) and experimental evidence in mice is lacking. In Drosophila and mammals, Akt regulates many downstream players involved in metabolism, fecundity, stress-response and survival, among others (Manning and Cantley, 2007; Teleman, 2010). Amongst the downstream Akt targets, the transcription factor FOXO is considered a key player (Giannakou et al., 2007; Slack et al., 2011). The longevity effect of IIS down-regulation requires the FOXO C. elegans homologue daf-16 (Kenyon et al., 1993; Kwon et al., 2010). Similarly in flies, lifespan extension by genetic manipulations that reduce IIS signalling is abolished in flies lacking dFOXO (Slack et al., 2011). Furthermore, daf-16/dFOXO is required for regular survival as these mutants are shorter lived than controls (Kenyon et al., 1993; Slack et al., 2011). Although most interventions to extend healthy ageing in worms and flies do so by genetic interventions in the whole organism, daf-16/dFOXO seems to be required only in some tissues, where it is likely to act non-cell autonomously, although over-expression in the whole worm can extend lifespan (Kwon et al., 2010). Worms lacking daf-16 abrogate the lifespan extension of *daf-2* mutants, but restoring the expression of *daf-16* only in the intestine increased lifespan by 50-60%, in comparison to the 5-20% lifespan increase when daf-16 was expressed only in neurons. This suggest that the expression of daf-16 in the worm intestine is sufficient to significantly extend lifespan, yet one or more tissues should act in concert (Libina et al., 2003). Correspondingly, in Drosophila over-expression of *dFOXO* in the adult intestine and fat body (similar to the adipose tissue and liver in mammals) extends lifespan (Giannakou et al., 2004; Hwangbo et al., 2004). Given its role in promoting the health benefits and longevity of IIS down-regulation, much attention has focused in identifying downstream targets.

Nuclear targets/response

In order to better understand the mechanisms of IIS-mediated lifespan extension, recent studies have focused on elucidating the downstream targets of FOXO/daf-16, which has emerged as a master regulator of numerous other transcription factors, therefore explaining the complexity of IIS (Alic et al., 2011b, 2014a; Schuster et al., 2010).

Numerous studies have reported transcriptional signatures for long-lived animals. Pinpointing a specific gene responsible for the lifespan extension is quite difficult and it seems that no individual gene is sufficient to abrogate or reproduce the lifespan extension of reduced IIS (Murphy et al., 2003).

1.3.3.3 Mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) in ageing

The IIS pathway is to carbohydrates and growth factors, what the mTOR pathway is to amino acids and proteins. The mTOR pathway was first identified in yeast and then in mammals (Heitman et al., 1991; Sabatini et al., 1994). mTOR is present in two complexes, mTORC1 and mTORC2 (Figure 1.11) (Wullschleger et al., 2006). Common to both complexes are the mTOR protein, DEP domain containing mTOR-interacting protein (DEPTOR) and mammalian lethal with SEC13 protein 8 (mLST8), which seems to be dispensable for mTORC1, but necessary for complex integrity and catalytic activity of mTORC2 (Guertin and Sabatini, 2009; Kim et al., 2013). mTORC1 is formed, in addition, by regulatory associated protein of mTOR (Raptor) and Akt/PKB substrate 40 kDa (PRAS40). Raptor is central for the function of mTORC1 as it acts as a scaffold for recruiting substrates and it also phosphorylates downstream effectors. It is a primary site for the regulation of mTORC1. Both DEPTOR and PRAS40 are substrates and suppressors of mTORC1 (Guertin and Sabatini, 2009; Kim et al., 2013; Wullschleger et al., 2006). mTORC2 is not usually considered relevant in nutrient sensing, though is necessary for the phosphorylation and activation of Akt downstream of the insulin receptor and other growth factors (Guertin and Sabatini, 2009). mTORC2 consists of Raptor-independent companion of mTOR (Rictor), mSIN1 (MAPKAP1) and Protor (PRR5) (Kim et al., 2013). mTORC2 seems to be relevant for actin polymerization and cell spreading (Loewith et al., 2002; Wullschleger et al., 2006). mTORC1 is sensitive to inhibition by rapamycin, while mTORC2 is not, though it can be inhibited under prolonged exposure to rapamycin in certain cell types (Sarbassov et al., 2006; Zeng et al., 2007).

Figure 1.11 The mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) presents in two complexes. mTORC1 and mTORC2 are integrated by different components and regulate diverse molecular processes. Taken from (Wullschleger et al., 2006).



mTOR is a hub for the integration of multiple signals from within and outside the cell (Figure 1.12). It receives information from growth factors through PI3K/Akt and also through the Ras-MAPK pathway (Jewell and Guan, 2013; Kim et al., 2013; Mendoza et al., 2011). Akt phosphorylates (at five sites) and inhibits the GTPase activating protein (GAP) function of tuberous sclerosis complex 2 (TSC2). TSC2 is part of a triple protein complex (TSC-TBC complex, which I will refer to as TSC complex) integrated by TSC1, TSC2 and Tre2-Bub2-Cdc16 (TBC)1 domain family member 7 (TBC1D7), upstream of mTOR (Crino et al., 2006; Dibble et al., 2012). Both TSC1 and TBC1D7 stabilize the complex, while TSC2 has GAP properties, though it has also been speculated that TBC1D7 could have GAP activity (Dibble et al., 2012). Active TSC2 inhibits the function of mTOR by acting on the Ras-homologue expressed in brain (Rheb). TSC2 stimulates the transition of active GTP-bound Rheb to the inactive GDP-bound state. Hence the GAP function of the TSC complex inhibits Rheb which results in mTOR inhibition (Crino et al., 2006). Under conditions of low stimulation by growth signals the TSC complex resides at the lysosome in close proximity to lysosomal-residing Rheb (kept here through a Cterminal farnesyl group which anchors it to the lysosomal membrane) and mTORC1. Akt phosphorylation of TSC2 redistributes the complex away from the lysosome then allowing activation of mTORC1 (Menon et al., 2014). A similar mechanism seems to regulate the inhibition of mTORC1 in the absence of amino acids (Demetriades et al., 2014).



Figure 1.12 mTOR integrates multiple signals from inside an outside the cell. mTORC1 integrates many diverse signals some of which converge at the TSC2 complex. Taken from (Ma and Blenis, 2009).

The TSC complex integrates multiple signals. For example, besides the inhibition of the complex after IIS stimulation through Akt, TSC2 is also inhibited through the Ras-Erk pathway through phosphorylation directly by Erk and, indirectly, through p90 ribosomal S6 kinase (RSK), downstream of Erk (Mendoza et al., 2011; Shaw and Cantley, 2006). This allows independent activation of mTOR by PI3K/Akt and Ras-Erk. Additionally other signalling kinases like GSK-3 can also modulate mTOR signalling. GSK-3 also phosphorylates TSC2, but in turn this phosphorylation activates the GAP activity of the complex, hence inhibiting signalling through mTOR. It is important to note that this activating phosphorylation is dependent on a priming phosphorylation by 5' AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) (Inoki et al., 2006). Both Erk and GSK-3 can modulate mTOR independent of the TSC complex. Erkl and Erk2 interact and directly phosphorylate Raptor (Carriere et al., 2011). GSK-3 can directly phosphorylate p70 S6 kinase (S6K) regulating its function (Carriere et al., 2011). Akt can also phosphorylate PRAS40 blocking its inhibitory mTOR regulation (Sancak et al., 2007). Given the central role of mTOR in the integration of multiple cellular inputs, the stratified interaction with other signalling pathways is not surprising.

Though amino acid sensing is a primary function of mTOR it is the least understood process regulating it (Dibble and Manning, 2013; Kim et al., 2013). Downstream of mTORC1, regulated by amino acids, growth factors or stressors, are S6K, eIF4E binding protein (4E-BP), atgl/ULK, the transcription factor EB (TF-EB), amongst others.

The rate-limiting step for translation initiation is the recruitment of the small ribosomal unit the 5' end of mRNA. For this to occur eIF4E, eIF4G and eIF4A form the eIF4F complex. During conditions of poor stimulation by growth factors or nutrients mTORC1 is poorly activated which results in hypophosphorylated 4E-BP which binds tightly to eIF4E not allowing its interaction with the other members of the eIF4F complex. Stimulation and activation of mTORC 1 kinase activity leads to phosphorylation of 4E-BP resulting in its dissociation from eIF4E which is then is free to interact with the mRNA and recruits eIF4G and eIF4A to initiate translation (Ma and Blenis, 2009; Tee and Blenis, 2005).

Additionally, active S6K or RSK can phosphorylate eIF4B, which is then recruited to the translation pre-initiation complex to increase the RNA helicase activity of eIF4A. Some mRNAs, particularly those involved in growth and proliferation, contain secondary structures in their 5' untranslated regions (UTR), inhibiting the efficient scanning of the start initiation codon. The recruitment of eIF4B to the pre-initiation site (stimulated by S6K) increases the efficiency of eIF4A to unwind the secondary structures allowing their proper translation (Ma and Blenis, 2009).

Evolutionary conserved from yeast to humans, regulation of longevity by mTOR inhibition has attracted scientific and popular interest (Johnson et al., 2013; Laplante and Sabatini, 2012; Stipp, 2012). Genetic modulation of several of the components of the mTOR pathway extend lifespan from yeast to mammals (Kapahi et al., 2004; Lamming et al., 2012; Pyo et al., 2013; Selman et al., 2009; Simonsen et al., 2008). mTOR is regulated by several cellular and environmental cues, including amino acids and growth-related factors (Bjedov and Partridge, 2011; Wullschleger et al., 2006). mTOR signals through two complexes, one of which is sensitive to rapamycin. mTORC1 regulates the activity of its downstream effectors S6K and 4E-BP. Activation of mTORC1 phosphorylates and activates S6K, while it inhibits 4E-BP also through phosphorylation. Both of these proteins are involved in the regulation of protein translation (Bjedov and Partridge, 2011; Chauvin et al., 2014; Thoreen et al., 2012). Specifically targeting protein translation (independent of mTOR) by manipulating key proteins involved in the regulation of protein synthesis has also been shown to extend lifespan in worms (Curran and Ruvkun, 2007; Hansen et al.,

regulation, inhibition of mTOR is associated with broad health benefits. KO of the downstream player S6K1 extends lifespan of female mice and protects them against agerelated locomotor decline, loss of bone mass and gluco-metabolic alterations (Selman et al., 2009).

Another output of mTOR is the regulation of autophagy, the self-eating process by which cells replenish nutrients under starvation conditions (Cuervo, 2008; Madeo et al., 2010; Rubinsztein et al., 2011). Under conditions of mTOR activation, degradation through the proteasome is favoured over autophagy (Zhang et al., 2014). Down-regulation of mTOR is not necessarily linked to inactivation of the proteasome, but it activates autophagy. Activation of autophagy has been reported to extend lifespan in both *Drosophila* and mice (Pyo et al., 2013; Simonsen et al., 2008).

1.4 Diseases of ageing a problem of an ageing population

1.4.1 Geriatric medicine: common problems of old-age

Our interest in understanding the biology of ageing cannot stem too far away from its medical implications. Prolonging the healthspan of yeast, worms or flies is per se pointless, except in the eyes of evolution. The great evolutionary conservation in these organisms has highlighted their relevance to biomedical research. Furthermore, the use of these organisms has initiated a new era for research into the biology of ageing (Partridge, 2010). As highlighted at the beginning of this chapter, lifespan extension in the form of life expectancy has been increasing continuously, without the aid of biogerontology research or interventions (Christensen et al., 2009; Oeppen and Vaupel, 2002). Therefore, it is clear that lifespan extension is not a main concern for public health or for geriatrics. As with simple organisms, human ageing is linked to reduced functionality and diminished capacities. Frailty is commonly used in medicine to refer to a syndrome that particularly highlights physical and functional decline without identifiable disease (Fulop et al., 2010). One component of frailty that ageing fruit flies recapitulate is age-related motor decline. Like in humans ageing flies have diminished capacity to fly, speed of movement and climbing capacity (Augustin and Partridge, 2009). Therefore, age-related locomotor decline appears to be a very useful ageing phenotype in flies, probably even more useful Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration than lifespan (Gargano et al., 2005; Jones et al., 2009).

One of the major problems that the continuous rise in life expectancy has brought to modern societies, and especially to public health, is the increasing prevalence of agerelated diseases. Although age-related disorders are not the main cause of mortality worldwide, they are an increasing problem, particularly in developed countries. Cardiovascular disease, diabetes and neurodegeneration are some of the disorders that are becoming a great burden (Bloom, 2011; Marrero et al., 2012). Of these diseases, I am particularly interested in neurodegeneration. However, it is worth bearing in mind that since ageing is a risk factor for a wide range of age-related illnesses similar processes are likely to be occurring in non-neuronal tissues.

1.4.2 Neurodegeneration and Alzheimer's disease

The role of ageing in age-related diseases still remains unexplained. Ageing is the greatest risk factor for neurodegenerative diseases like AD and PD, the two most prevalent forms of neurodegeneration (Bishop et al., 2010; Cummings and Cole, 2002; Lees et al., 2009). Now we know that at least two cellular metabolic pathways regulate the ageing process, allowing us to modify them either genetically or pharmacologically to positively affect lifespan (Bishop et al., 2010; Fontana et al., 2010; Partridge, 2010). Moreover, recent evidence has shown that targeting age-related cellular signalling pathways (such as the

IIS/mTOR network) increases survival rates in animal models of several neurodegenerative diseases, slowing or halting the pathogenic events and, overall, increasing their healthy lifespan (Caccamo et al., 2010; Cohen et al., 2009; Kerr et al., 2011; Killick et al., 2009; Malagelada et al., 2010; Spilman et al., 2010; Tain et al., 2009).

One of the central mechanisms of neurodegeneration in the brain is the collapse of proteostasis that leads to proteotoxicity (Cohen and Dillin, 2008; Dillin and Cohen, 2011). As with mitochondrial genes, those related to the UPS pathway are equally down-regulated during ageing (Bishop et al., 2010). This might be relevant to neurodegenerative diseases in which there is an accumulation of abnormally processed proteins such as in AD and PD (LaFerla et al., 2007; Lansbury and Lashuel, 2006; Lees et al., 2009; Querfurth and LaFerla, 2010; Wong and Cuervo, 2010). Recently it was experimentally shown that older flies are more susceptible to the toxic effects of the AD associated amyloid beta 1-42 peptide (Af31_42), as they die faster than younger flies when Af31_42 is expressed in their CNS (Rogers et al., 2012). AD is the most prevalent neurodegenerative disease. Its

aetiology is not fully understood, however its characteristic brain lesion of neurotic

plaques and the discovery that mutation in the amyloid precursor protein have made amyloid the centre of AD pathogenesis (Hardy, 2009; Hardy and Selkoe, 2002; Querfurth and LaFerla, 2010). Af3_{1_42} is the main pathological hallmark of AD (Hardy, 2009; LaFerla et al., 2007; Querfurth and LaFerla, 2010). The study by Rogers and colleagues suggested that the age-related decline in proteasomal function could be partly responsible for the susceptibility of older flies to Af31_42 (Rogers et al., 2012). Another natural cellular mechanism by which cells are able to clear damaged organelles or altered proteins is autophagy. The ageing process negatively affects the function of the AL system; hence it has been in part considered responsible for the accumulation of damaged organelles and proteins in ageing (Cuervo, 2008; Cuervo et al., 2010). As mentioned before, defects of autophagy in neurons lead to overt pathology in flies and mice (Hara et al., 2006; Juhdsz et al., 2007; Komatsu et al., 2006). Perhaps regulation of the degradative machinery could be an advantageous intervention to release neurons from the burden of damage accumulation and proteotoxicity.

The above clearly highlights the intricate relationship between the ageing process and neurodegeneration, and suggests, that anti-ageing interventions up-regulating degradation mechanisms could be of great relevance for the understanding and treatment of neurodegenerative diseases.

1.5 Treating ageing?

1.5.1 Healthy ageing: how to achieve it?

To better understand the ageing process and how to "treat" it, is fundamental to clearly define end points for research into ageing. This will include defining what physiological ageing is, when does it become pathological ageing and when overt pathology exists. For example, it has been a continuous concern for the field how to establish the differences between physiological memory decline associated with the ageing process, the establishment of mild cognitive impairment as a prodromal for dementia, and overt Alzheimer's disease. Complicating matters, the burden of disease in old age affects multiple tissues and organs at the same time, which translates into multiple diseases or comorbidities. For example an obese patient with type 2 diabetes mellitus, hypertension, dyslipidemia (triglyceridemia, low HDL and high VLDL) is at increased risk for a coronary and atheroembolic embolic event, renal failure (and other complications inherent

of diabetes and the metabolic syndrome) and even at increased risk of developing a mood disorder like depression, memory loss, and dementia. Patients like this are becoming more and more prevalent particularly in developing economies. Healthcare for patients with multiple co-morbidities should include a multidisciplinary approach and targets for interventions should be carefully considered by the entire medical team. In such an approach a geriatrician (a specialist in diseases of old-age) should also be consulted. However, it is rather clear that a longevity phenotype should be free of disease, but then what does one need to measure when considering end points for ageing research. It cannot be expected for an 85 year old to maintain the cardiac and renal function of a healthy 18 year old. Or should we? Up to now we have not tested anti-ageing interventions in people (except for DR). A careful examination for function of multiple systems during life in different populations but particularly for each individual will help to determine when the decline starts, when and which compensating mechanisms the system take place and what would be the best approach for a particular patient. General practitioners and family doctors will be instrumental here. When a patient gets a consultation with a geriatrician it means that they are in overt pathology, as this is what currently happens around the world. However, a person attending regular check ups will only visit the general or family practitioner. This will entail regular and programmed visits to assess multisystem functionality. Appropriate electronic record keeping will be indispensable. As a person grows old functional decline creeps in, but this will certainly vary between individuals. Preventative ageing interventions will require a clear medical history. However, it is likely that by considering the general population, an average optimal time-to-intervene could be derived for the majority of the population. For example we know now that when there is increased risk of developing prostatic cancer, regular check ups should start earlier than in the general population. A similar list of risk factors could be drawn for interventions in ageing. Once functional decline for each system is set, check ups for that system will have to become regular, and if at higher risk than for the general population, these tests should occur earlier. Defining a longevity phenotype will be fundamental (Slagboom et al., 2000).

1.5.2 In pursuit of the DR mimetic

The widespread health benefits of DR have encouraged the search for drugs that can mimic the effects of DR, i.e., DR mimetics (Cabreiro and Gems, 2010; de Cabo et al., 2014; Ingram et al., 2004; Lane et al., 2004). The concept of a DR mimetic was put

forward by Lane, Ingram and Roth when trying to identify pharmacological agents capable of reproducing the beneficial lifespan-extending effects of DR, without reducing food intake (Lane et al., 1998). In pharmacology a drug mimetic (from the Greek for imitative) is an agent capable of eliciting or inhibiting a process without the need of its natural activator or inhibitor. In cardiovascular medicine, sympathomimetic drugs are those that elicit similar effects as the catecholamines epinephrine (adrenaline) and norepinephrine (noradrenaline) These drugs can act either by directly stimulating a- or I3-adrenergic receptors (an example of a direct (32-adrenergic receptor agonist would be salbutamol or albuterol used for asthma control), but also those that indirectly act by increasing the availability of endogenous catecholamines at the site of action, for example by inhibiting is transport (hence clearance) from the extracellular space back into the cell (examples would be amphetamines and cocaine). In the case of a DR mimetic, the molecular target would be less clear (given the pleiotropic effects of DR). However, this pharmacologic agent should be able to extend lifespan and resemble some of the beneficial health effects of food restriction. Though not usually considered, a DR mimetic could also be a drug that mimics the action of food restriction, this could probably be achieved with the use of anti-obesity drugs (Bray and Ryan, 2014; Rodgers et al., 2012). However, it should be noted that such agents have not been tested for lifespan extension in humans nor model organisms. This approach could be tested in model organisms like worms and flies where screens for drugs reducing food intake can be easily performed. Moreover, the use of these organisms can facilitate determination of whether such compounds reduce food intake by mechanisms localised in the gut, brain and/or other metabolic tissues (Gasque et al., 2013). However, the classical interpretation of a DR mimetic is the ability to confer all or some of the effects of DR (lifespan and healthspan) without reducing food intake. DR is already practised by people, for example Okinawans in Japan are thought to be a natural DR population (Gavrilova and Gavrilov, 2012; Willcox et al., 2009). Other groups, like the members of the Caloric Restriction Society also self-restrict their food consumption under the impression that reducing their food intake will protect them against the diseases of old age and slow the ageing process (Holloszy and Fontana, 2007). This is an unlikely behaviour to be adopted by the majority of the population even when the promise of a healthy increased lifespan is on offer. Dietary interventions have been at the core of the first line of treatment for many chronic degenerative diseases, yet though they have proven to be effective in reducing symptoms and improving quality of life, the adherence is rather short term in comparison to drug interventions (Delamater, 2006; Kwan et al., 2013).

Thus, identifying drugs with anti-ageing or pro-longevity properties has become critical for the ageing field.

Perhaps the most important property of a DR mimetic should be its inability to extend lifespan beyond conditions maximised for DR, they should be epistatic. In model organisms, multiple protocols to extend lifespan have been developed; this makes it ever more challenging to perform epistatic experiments between potential DR mimetics and DR *per se.* I consider that these experiments should be performed with the protocol capable of extending lifespan the most, as this DR intervention is likely to recapitulate the ceiling effect for lifespan extension under food restriction.

1.5.3 Drugs to improve ageing

1.5.3.1 Rapamycin and the rapalogs

The hopes for identifying drugs with anti-ageing properties was boosted in 2009 when a report showed that the drug rapamycin was able to extend the lifespan of mice even when fed late in life (Harrison et al., 2009). Ever since, others have replicated this result using different rapamycin protocols (Delamater, 2006; Kwan et al., 2013). Rapamycin is a drug approved for human consumption as an immunosuppressant and chemotherapeutic agent (Guertin and Sabatini, 2009). It has a specific pharmacological target; rapamycin inhibits mTORC1 (Wullschleger et al., 2006; Zoncu et al., 2011). As discussed previously, mTORC1 controls protein translation and autophagy. When rapamycin is administered to cells, or multicellular organisms, it reduces translation and increases autophagy (Bjedov and Partridge, 2011). Although these mechanisms were not shown to be responsible for the lifespan extension in mice per se, inhibition (by lower phosphorylation) of the downstream effector p70-S6K was shown as proof for mTORC1 inhibition (Harrison et al., 2009). Moreover, research in *Drosophila* showed that rapamycin treatment reduced translation and increased autophagy in vivo (Bjedov et al., 2010). These processes were shown to be required for the lifespan extending properties of rapamycin as over-expression of a constitutively active form of p70-S6K or preventing the increase of autophagy (by RNAimediated knockdown of Atg5), were sufficient to block the lifespan extending effects of rapamycin (Bjedov et al., 2010). Rapamycin has also been shown to extend lifespan of yeast and worms (Powers et al., 2006; Rallis et al., 2013; Robida-Stubbs et al., 2012). The fact that a drug approved for human consumption can extend the lifespan of evolutionary

distant organisms has sparked interest for the identification of other drugs, already labelled for disease treatment, having anti-ageing properties.

In addition to extending lifespan across evolutionary distant organisms, rapamycin treatment conferred resistance to the redox cycler paraguat and to starvation (Bjedov et al., 2010). Whether resistance to oxidative stress requires the up-regulation of autophagy and/or reduction of translation is still unclear. Resistance to starvation by rapamycin treatment did not seem to require 4E-BP, S6K inhibition or autophagy up-regulation, suggesting that the starvation phenotype is likely to be mTORC1 independent. Alternatively, other downstream targets of mTORC1 could be involved in the response to starvation (Bjedov et al., 2010). The effects of rapamycin have also been shown to modulate disease progression. For example, rapamycin treatment is protective in fly and mouse models of neurodegenerative diseases like Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease (Majumder et al., 2011; Malagelada et al., 2010; Spilman et al., 2010; Tain et al., 2009). It also rescues the cardiac and skeletal muscle defects associated with lamin A/C deficiency in mice (Ramos et al., 2012), age-related macular degeneration in rats (Kolosova et al., 2012), some forms of cancer (Johnson et al., 2013), amongst other age-related (and not) diseases. However, in spite of extending lifespan and protecting against age-related pathologies, rapamycin associates with some complex side effects. For example, immunosupression, eodema, impaired wound healing, dermatologic alterations and metabolic changes like hypertriglyceridemia, glucose intolerance, and reduced insulin sensitivity (Lamming et al., 2013). Indeed, rapamycin also lead to increased triglyceride levels in Drosophila (Bjedov et al., 2010), which probably accounts for the starvation resistance effect associated with rapamycin (Bjedov et al., 2010; Emran et al., 2014). A recent study using mice showed that the metabolic side-effects of rapamycin are likely to be secondary to mTORC2 inhibition, particularly in liver (Lamming et al., 2012). In spite of the side effects, the success of rapamycin for promoting healthy ageing has generated interest in rapalogs, drugs with similar structure and/or function to rapamycin. Perhaps more selective inhibitors of mTORC1 could indeed have more beneficial effects to promote true healthy ageing (Blagosklonny, 2012a; Lamming et al., 2013).

When flies are fed with the mTOR inhibitor rapamycin and tested over a wide range of yeast concentrations, a similar scenario is observed. The degree of lifespan extension is attenuated under the lower DR-range of yeast concentrations, but increases as the yeast concentration is increased towards fully fed conditions (Bjedov et al., 2010). Interestingly, rapamycin is also more effective at extending lifespan in undernourished

conditions, which might be involved in the starvation-resistance effect induced by rapamycin (Bjedov et al., 2010; Emran et al., 2014). These experiments suggest that genetic down-regulation of mTOR or rapamycin in *Drosophila* share overlapping mechanisms, but might also have independent effects. In *C. elegans* where TOR-RNAi increases lifespan of wild type worms by over 25%, the same RNAi treatment to the eat2(ad1116) mutant worm did not further extend lifespan (Hansen et al., 2007), which suggests that TOR down-regulation and DR act in the same molecular pathway. Methionine restriction, a nutrient-specific form of DR, induces autophagy in yeast cells and is epistatic to mTOR inhibition for lifespan extension. Furthermore, deletion of several of the atg genes (5, 7 and 8) or reduction of the function of the vacuole (the yeast organelle closely related to the lysosome), block the lifespan benefits of methionine restriction (Ruckenstuhl et al., 2014).

1.5.3.2 Metformin and the microbiota

The antidiabetic drug metformin has shown to extend lifespan in *C. elegans* and mice, but not in *Drosophila* (Anisimov, 2013). Metformin supplementation late in life to mice increases median and maximum lifespan. The lifespan extension was associated with reduced cholesterol levels (total cholesterol and LDL), improved glucose tolerance and locomotor ability, increased antioxidant defence, and reduced markers of inflammation. Lifespan extension by metformin in mice was not associated with altered mitochondria' respiratory complex function, but with AMPK activation. Interestingly the transcriptional profile of animals treated with metformin showed similarities to the transcriptomic response of animals under DR (Martin-Montalvo et al., 2013).

The first study to show lifespan extension by metformin was performed in *C. elegans.* Metformin was shown to extend median lifespan by approximately 40%. The lifespan extension associated with prolonged locomotor healthspan. Lifespan extension by metformin required the presence of AMPK, the LKB 1 homolog PAR-4 and the transcriptional activator SKN-1 (Onken and Driscoll, 2010). A second independent group elegantly showed that AMPK and SKN-1 mediated protection against metformin- (or biguanides as phenformin, another biguanide, was also used) induced toxicity, rather than lifespan extension. The authors showed that for lifespan extension to occur, metformin altered folate metabolism in the *Escherichia coli* in which worms are co-cultured (Cabreiro et al., 2013). *E. coli is* to worms not only a nutritional source, but also its microbiota

(Cabreiro and Gems, 2013). This study has led to the interesting hypothesis that the regulation of the microbiome can potentially affect lifespan across evolution (Cabreiro and Gems, 2013; Heintz and Mair, 2014; Ottaviani et al., 2011).

It is increasingly recognised that cardiovascular diseases and metabolic dysfunction in diabetes and obesity lead to dysbiosis, i.e., microbial imbalance inside the body (Riley et al., 2013; Tilg and Moschen, 2014). As metformin is associated with gastrointestinal side effects (Fowler, 2007), it is not entirely surprising that metformin could alter the composition of the microbiome. There is some evidence to suggest that metformin alters the microbiome in rats and mice (Lee and Ko, 2014; Pyra et al., 2012), which suggests evolutionary conservation and relevance for human health, but in-depth characterisation is further required. The mechanisms by which the microbiome regulate healthspan are still poorly understood, but evidence suggests a complex interaction between the immune system and other cytoprotective mechanisms, and also metabolic changes (Clemente et al., 2012; Tilg and Moschen, 2014). Indeed, a recent study provided evidence of the complex metatranscriptomic response of the gut microbiome to a host of xenobiotic compounds (Maurice et al., 2013). As we are in constant interaction with the environment and its toxins the relevance of the microbiome as a first line of defence against them should be further explored. I have mentioned that xenobiotics and toxins have been reported to extend lifespan in invertebrates (Calabrese et al., 2011; Goldberg et al., 2010), however whether an interaction between these compounds and the microbiome influences longevity awaits exploration. A recent study in mice showed that DR positively alters the gut microbiota leading to reduced antigen load, which suggest that the changes in the microbiota induced by DR modify the gut microarchitecture protecting against infection (Zhang et al., 2013). The gut microbiota in humans changes with age (Biagi et al., 2010) and exploration into the interaction of these changes with healthspan and lifespan should bring rather exciting scientific advances.

Metformin was shown to extend lifespan independent of daft 6 and further extend the lifespan of the long-lived IIS mutant age-1. However, most importantly metformin was unable to extend the lifespan of the eat-2 mutants. As this genetic intervention is used as a DR protocol, this suggest that metformin is a true DR mimetic as it is unable to extend lifespan under conditions maximised for lifespan under diet restriction (Onken and Driscoll, 2010). Similarly, an independent group showed that metformin becomes detrimental for lifespan when supplemented without the presence of *E. coli* (Cabreiro et al., 2013). Removal of the bacteria is a common DR protocol employed in *C. elegans* research (Mair and Dillin, 2008). Whether this approach suggests that metformin is a true DR-mimetic, or only highlights the nature of the symbiotic interaction of the worms and the bacteria (Cabreiro and Gems, 2013) should be considered carefully.

1.6 Thesis Outline

In the following sections I will describe the rationale of the work presented in the following chapters. During my work researching for DR mimetics I had the privilege of testing the potential beneficial effects of several drugs for promoting longevity and healthspan (Figure 1.13). Most of them did not show robust enough effects, though some like the pro-diabetic alloxan, the anti-convulsive valproic acid and the antibiotic rifampicin were the ones that I would pursue after lithium. Interestingly valproic acid has already been shown to extend lifespan in *C. elegans* (Evason et al., 2008). However, the drug that I decided to focus on was lithium. I have had experience with this drugs during my medical training, not precisely in the clinic as anyone would assume, but for treating streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. In previous work I showed that induction of diabetes in male rats increased immobility time in the Porsolt's forced-swimming test, a paradigm for learned helplessness used to screen for antidepressants. Diabetic patients are at increased risk of depression and by inducing insulin-dependent diabetes I was able to show increased learned helplessness (Castillo-Quan et al., 2010). Furthermore, the immobility time was restored to control levels after lithium was administered.

Lithium has been shown to extend lifespan in three independent *C. elegans* studies. Yet no molecular mechanism has been identified (McColl et al., 2008; Tam et al., 2014; Zarse et al., 2011). A study has also shown that low doses of lithium can reduce mortality in *Drosophila*, while high doses increase mortality (Matsagas et al., 2009). Moreover, a recent study correlating lithium concentrations in drinking water in Japanese counties reported that higher doses of lithium associated with reduced mortality for all causes (Zarse et al., 2011). I sought to further explore the role of lithium as a pro-longevity drug using the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster*.


Figure 1.13 Compounds tested in *Drosophila* for lifespan and healthspan. Some of the drugs and compounds tested during the course of the work presented in this dissertation. Data obtained from the use of rapamycin, myo-inositol and morin will be presented during the course of this work. Of the drugs I tested and showed promising results to improve parameters of health (either in control flies or in an $A(3_{1_{42}})$ neurodegeneration model) were valproic acid, rifampicin and alloxan.

1.6.1 Is lithium a DR mimetic (Chapter 3)?

The use of compounds to extend lifespan and healthspan in *Drosophila* is very limited. Much more work has been done in *C. elegans* (Alavez and Lithgow, 2011, 2012). The amenable manipulation of the fly genome in correlation with the number of behavioural and phenotypical measurements that can be obtained make *Drosophila* an invaluable tool to explore not only lifespan, but also healthspan benefits. In Chapter 3 I sought to assess whether lithium was able to extend lifespan when supplemented in the food medium in flies of more than one genetic background. Previous work in the laboratory has shown that lithium improved the locomotor ability of a neurodegeneration model (Sofola et al., 2010). Additionally, Dr. Ivana Bjedov had shown that lifespan extension in control flies could be achieved at certain doses (unpublished data; see Figure 3.2). I corroborated these experiments and decided to analyse what was the correlation between the lifespan extension induced by lithium and DR. To explore the potential DR mimetic properties of lithium several explorations should be performed. The first one is whether lithium reduces feeding behaviour by taste aversion, for example. If flies stop eating or reduce their food intake this would be a way of self-imposing DR. I therefore explored this possibility. Second, can lithium extend lifespan beyond that maximised by DR. To explore this possibility I conducted a 4-condition DR tent (previously described) to assess whether lithium shifted the DR tent or extend lifespan under most conditions tested. Lastly I analysed potential changes in the nutrient sensing-network IIS/mTOR.

Besides lifespan I explored the possibility that lithium could be extending lifespan by a trade-off mechanism by which lifespan is extended at the expense of reduced fecundity. Interventions down-regulating the nutrient-sensing network, including DR, reduce fecundity. These interventions also correlate with altered metabolism, therefore I explored potential changes in carbohydrate and lipid parameters.

Finally, I also assessed some pharmacological aspects of lithium that could have relevance for therapeutic approaches. For most of the experiments described I supplemented lithium chronically after two days post-eclosion (adulthood). However, I wondered whether lithium would modulate longevity when administered late in life. Additionally I assessed the "molecular memory" of lithium, i.e., whether effects in longevity and stress resistance are maintained after the drug is removed. I also evaluated the interaction lithium and rapamycin have on longevity, stress-resistance and metabolism.

1.6.2 What are the mechanisms of lithium to promote healthy ageing (Chapter 4)?

Lithium is considered a dirty drug. Although it is often used as a GSK-3 inhibitor, it can act on several signalling pathways. In Chapter 4 I used a genome-wide unbiased approach to interrogate the transcriptome and translatome in aids of understanding the molecular mechanisms behind the lifespan extension by lithium. For this I performed microarray transcriptional analyses and polysome-profile microarrays. I will describe several approaches taken to analyse the changes observed. Additionally, I was also able to analyse how the transcriptional response of lithium correlates with other interventions that promote lifespan extension in *Drosophila*.

1.6.3 Is GSK-3 involved in lithium's ability to extend lifespan (Chapter 5)?

The most widely recognised target of lithium is GSK-3. Mammals express two GSK-3 isoforms, GSK-3a and GSK-313. *Drosophila* only possess one homolog called shaggy (*sgg*). In chapter 5 I explore the role of *sgg* in modulating lifespan and healthspan. No previous study has carried out such investigations in any organism. Additionally I explored the role of *sgg* as a downstream target of lithium's action Finally given the tools available I explored the possibility that different tissues might respond differently to *sgg* modulation. Using the arsenal of tissue-specific drivers I was able to determine that not all tissues respond in the same way, perhaps revealing different basal levels required for maintaining cellular function.

1.6.4 What drives neurodegeneration in *Drosophila* neurons expressing $AI3_{1-42}$ (Chapter 6)?

In the final results chapter (6) I explore non-traditional phenotypes in an Af31_42 model of Alzheimer's disease. So far it has been characterised that flies expressing A131_42 in adult neurons show reduced lifespan, acceleration of age-related locomotor decline and electrophysiological dysfunction. Therefore, I decided to analyse whether other parameters could also be deregulated in these flies. I sought to analyse the response to several forms of stress including oxidative, xenobiotic and starvation. During the course of these experiments I found that these phenotypes were altered by what seemed to be the earliest sign of neurodegeneration reported so far. This phenotype had a great impact on lifespan and metabolism, which revealed that expression of Af31_42 in neurons affect the general physiology of the flies.

Chapter 2 General methodology

2.1 Drosophila melanogaster: strains and genetics

One of the major advantages of working with the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster* is the vast amount of laboratory strains. The Partridge laboratory has a generous inventory of genetic stocks allowing appropriate use and generation of different crosses. All stocks were kept at 18°C, while experimental crosses and transgene flies were kept at 25°C and 65% humidity on a 12:12 light : dark cycle using standard sugar/yeast (SY) medium (see 2.2.1). Flies were reared at standard larval density (-300 flies per 200mL bottles) and eclosing adults were collected over a 2 hour period after which they were mated for 48 hours before collecting females for experimental treatments (Bass et al., 2007).

2.1.1 White Dahome^{y (WDah)}

The control white *Dahomey* (w^{pah}) stock has been maintained in large population cages with overlapping generations since 1970. The w^{pah} stock was derived by incorporation of the ^{w1118} mutation into the outbred *Dahomey* background by backcrossing (Bass et al., 2007). The w^{pah} strain is naturally infected by the intracytoplasmic bacterium *Wolbachia*, which modulates lifespan effects of the IIS pathway (Griinke et al., 2010; Ikeya et al., 2009; Negri, 2012).

2.1.2 White 1118 (w1118)

The ^{w1118} Drosophila stock is an inbred and isogenic strain vastly used for neurodegeneration studies. This strain is often used as a control in ageing studies to demonstrate that pro-longevity effects found in the w^{pah} strain are independent of genetic background (Bjedov et al., 2010; Slack et al., 2010).

2.1.3 Backcrossing

Backcrossing transgenic lines is necessary to ensure that any differences seen between mutant and control flies are due to the expression of the transgene alone, and not due to confounding mutations or insertional mutagenic effects (Partridge and Gems, 2007). Some studies have shown that insufficient standardization of the genetic background and inappropriate backcrossing or use of inappropriate controls can produce artificial lifespan extension (Burnett et al., 2011; Toivonen et al., 2007). For this reason, before the transgenic stocks could be used for experimentation, they had to be prepared so that their genetic backgrounds were uniform, differing only at the locus where the transgene was integrated. This was achieved by a series of backcrossings. In the first cross, transgenic males were mated with wild type females. In this way, the cytoplasmic content (including mitochondrial genome) is passed to the offspring, which is selected either by visible phenotype (eye colour for example) or by PCR following specific mutation. After this initial cross virgin females were collected and crossed to wild type males, and this cross was repeated at least another five times until six backcrossing events were completed. Transgenic lines were then made homozygous or balanced and kept as a stock for experimentation.

2.1.4 GAL4-UAS system

The GAL4-UAS system is considered one of the most powerful biochemical tools in the fly world (Brand and Perrimon, 1993). Its major advantage is that it can restrict the expression of genes of interest in a tissue or cellular specific manner using native gene promoters. The GALA gene encodes for the yeast *Saccaromyces cerivisiae* Ga14, a transcriptional activator protein. For example, the elav-GAL4 *Drosophila* line will expresses the Ga14 protein under the elav promoter. Elav encodes for embryonic lethal abnormal vision, a pan-neuronal protein, therefore elav-GAL4 is a neuronal driver. On the other hand, the upstream activation sequence (UAS) is an enhancer to which Ga14 binds to activate gene transcription. UAS controls the expression of the gene of interest only allowing transcription in cells expressing Ga14. In the case where the green fluorescent protein (GFP) is under UAS control, i.e., UAS-GFP, and this line is crossed with an elav-GAL4 line, the final genotype elavGAL4/+ > UAS-GFP/+ will express GFP only in neurons (Osterwalder et al., 2001).

2.1.5 Gene-switch system

The gene-switch (GS) system uses the GAL4/UAS system with the restriction that the transcriptional activity depends on the presence of steroid hormones or chemically related compounds (Ford et al., 2007; Osterwalder et al., 2001; Roman et al., 2001a). In the GAL4/UAS system the binding of the transcription factor GAL4 to an upstream activating sequence (UAS), results in the transcription of the UAS-linked transgene (Brand and Perrimon, 1993). In the GS system GAL4 is fused with the regulatory domain of the human progesterone receptor (Ford et al., 2007; Osterwalder et al., 2001; Poirier et al., 2008; Roman et al., 2001b). In the absence of the activator mifepristone (RU486), the Ga14 protein and UAS transgene can coexist in the fly without expression of the transgene under the control of UAS. When flies expressing the GS driver and the UAS line are fed RU486, the Ga14-gene-switch is able to bind to the UAS and therefore the transgene is expressed (Figure 2.1) (Osterwalder et al., 2001; Roman et al., 2001; Roman



Figure 2.1 GeneSwitch expression system. This diagram illustrates the cross between a gene-switch driver (act-GeneSwitch, actGS) and a UAS line (UAS-sgg) to obtain a line carrying both the driver and UAS line, which results in the following line: actGS/+;UAS-*sgg*/+. Transcription only occurs when flies ingest medium supplemented with RU486 (RU). Flies with the same genotype but not given RU are used as perfect genetic controls.

2.2 Drosophila food medium

2.2.1 Sugar-yeast medium (SY)

Our standard laboratory medium (SY) was used for the development and maintenance of all flies, unless otherwise stated. SY medium was made in the following way: 15 g of agar were dissolved in 700 mL distilled water by heating until boiling. After this 100 g of autolysed yeast powder and 50 g of sugar were added until boiling. 170 mL of distilled water were added and left to cool down. When temperature was between 50-60 °C, 30 mL of nipagin (100 g/L) and 3 mL propionic acid (both anti-fungal preservatives) were added.

Food was then dispensed (4 mL per vial) into plastic vials. Food was allowed to set at room temperature before storing at $4^{\circ}C$ (Bass et al., 2007).

2.2.2 Grape juice medium

Grape plates were used as a surface for egg laying and collection. Collected eggs were subsequently dispensed into bottles containing SY medium. Grape plates were made as follows: 25 g agar were dissolved in 500 mL distilled water and brought to the boil. To this 300 mL of red grape juice were added and brought to the boil again. After adding an additional 50 mL of distilled water the medium was allowed to cool to below 60° C. As with the SY medium 21 mL of nipagin (100 g/L) were added. The medium was dispensed into plastic petri dishes and allowed to set at room temperature before storing at 4°C.

2.2.3 Starvation medium

Starvation medium was prepared by adding 15 g of agar to 700 mL of distilled water. This was brought to boil and cooled down before dispensing into vials. No additional ingredients (including anti-fungals) were added to avoid any potential source of nutrients.

2.2.4 Dietary restriction (DR) regime

For DR experiments a yeast dilution protocol was established using as a reference the SY medium previously described. For details of the precise recipe see Appendix 7.

2.3 Fly husbandry and culturing

2.3.1 Male and female separation

Some anti-ageing interventions that extend lifespan are not able to do so in male flies (Clancy et al., 2001), or even in mice (Selman et al., 2009); in other cases the response shows some dimorphism, where the response is attenuated in males (Bjedov et al., 2010; Miller et al., 2013). Therefore, it is a common practice in ageing studies to test males and females separately (Partridge and Gems, 2007). Additionally, continuous mating can impact several physiological parameters including survival (Barnes et al., 2008; Chapman and Partridge, 1996). Female and male flies can be distinguished very easily under a

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration

microscope whilst flies are anesthetised with CO2 (Greenspan, 2004). For most experiments only female flies were used, though some phenotypes were also corroborated in males to ensure sex-independent effects. Female and male flies were sorted using a fine paintbrush while anesthetised. Flies were usually separated at day 2 post-eclosion after a 48 hours mating period.

2.3.2 Virgin collection

To obtain certain desired genotypes, it was often necessary to cross male and female flies of different genotypes. This ensured at least one copy of the chosen transgene into their progeny. This was achieved by collecting unmated female flies (or virgins). Virgin collection was carried out for backcrossing (see section 2.1.3) and to obtain desired genotypes for experiments. Female *Drosophila* flies do not respond to courting males during the first 8 hours after eclosion at 25° C (Greenspan, 2004). Therefore newly emerged female flies were collected within 6 hours after clearing rearing bottles.

2.4 Drosophila handling and survival

2.4.1 Lifespan assay

An important determinant for ageing analysis is the age at which flies initiate the assay. For this, it was necessary to ensure that the parents of the experimental flies were the same age at egg laying and reared under the same conditions. In this way, I could control for the effects of parental age on lifespan (Priest et al., 2002). 'Egg squirt' protocols were undertaken to ensure that all flies in the experiment were raised at similar larval densities (-300 eggs per bottle containing 70 mL of food), thereby avoiding the possibility that any differences in lifespan could be accredited to differences in larval density within which the flies were reared (Priest et al., 2002). Flies were allowed to lay eggs over less than 24 hours on grape medium plates, with live yeast paste to encourage mating. The eggs were collected from the plate by washing with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) solution and collected into falcon tubes. The eggs were allowed to settle to the bottom of the tube. Using a 100 ilL Gilson pipette —15-18 lit of egg suspension was dispensed into 200 mL glass bottles containing 70 mL SY medium. This equates to —300 eggs per bottle.

After 10 days of development flies emerge from their pupae and were then

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration

transferred into fresh bottles. The flies were then allowed to mate in these new bottles for 48 hours. After this flies were sorted using a paintbrush under CO_2 anaesthesia, and divided onto vials with 15-20 flies per vial.

Flies were transferred to fresh vials of food three times a week throughout life. The number of dead flies found during each transfer was recorded. Accidental deaths and escapees were distinguished from deaths and were censored from the experiment. From these data, a survivorship graph was generated, making it possible to compare survival curves over time between different genotypes or experimental conditions. Lifespan curves were analysed with log-rank test.

2.4.2 Stress assays

To determine the role of genetic, environmental and/or pharmacological interventions, survival curves obtained in a similar manner than for lifespan experiments (previous section) were carried out using different chemicals to induce cellular stress (see sections 2.6.2 and 2.6.3).

2.5 Behavioural investigations

2.5.1 Feeding assay

To explore the feeding behaviour of flies of different genetic backgrounds, environmental and/or pharmacological interventions, flies were reared and grouped as previously described. Five vials per group were included with five flies each. The feeding behaviour assay relies on the fly proboscis extension (Wong et al., 2009). To analyse their behaviour on the food and ensure that the proboscis extension was observed continuously for two hours and recorded on data sheets, later plotted and statistically analysed. To maximize the reliability of the observed effects the observer was blinded to the conditions/genotypes tested.

2.5.2 Fecundity assay

Fecundity has historically been heavily linked to longevity (Partridge et al., 2005). Although this association has been uncoupled (Grandison et al., 2009a), interventions to prolong lifespan without affecting fecundity have been limited. Such intervention would in reality be a healthy lifespan treatment. To assess fecundity female flies were let lay eggs for a period of —24 hours in vials containing standard medium. Vials containing eggs were frozen and kept at -20°C for a short time until eggs were counted. Total of number of eggs were divided between number of flies per vial and t-test was used to determine statistical value.

2.5.3 Climbing assay (negative geotaxis)

Locomotor age-related decline is an insightful screen of the functional capacity of flies that is also sensitive to some anti-ageing interventions (Gargano et al., 2005; Jones et al., 2009; Kerr et al., 2011). The paradigm called negative geotaxis consisted of a climbing assay in which 10-15 flies were placed in a 35 cm column (1.5 cm diameter) with a conic bottom end. Flies were tapped down and observed during 45 seconds. The column was separated into three areas: top, middle and bottom by two lines; one was 10 cm from top and the other was 3 cm from bottom). After 45 seconds flies located in each of these three sections were recorded into scoring sheets. Each column was evaluated three times to minimize trial error and a minimum of three vials per genotype/condition was evaluated in order to be able to perform statistical analyses. The recorded scoring showed the mean number of flies in total (ntot), at top (ntop), and at bottom (nbottom), which allowed obtaining a performance index. The performance index was plotted against time per each genotype and condition. Results were analysed with two-way ANOVA and Tukey post-hoc using JMP 7.0.

2.6 Drugs and other chemicals

2.6.1 Mifepristone (RU486)

As explained earlier the GeneSwitch system uses mifepristone (RU486) as in inducer of gene expression where GeneSwitch drivers are being used (Osterwalder et al., 2001; Poirier et al., 2008). Our laboratory has characterised that the dose used in our experiments does not impair longevity, fecundity or metabolism. RU486 (Sigma, M8046) was dissolved in 100 % ethanol and supplemented to standard SY medium before dispensing into vials. Food supplemented with RU486 was stored at 4°C until use.

2.6.2 Paraquat

Flies were kept in pre-determined conditions similar to those in lifespan assays for a fixed period of time after they were transferred in to food containing paraquat. For paraquat preparation 1M N,AP-dimethy1-4,4'-bipyridinium dichloride (paraquat, Sigma 856177) was dissolved in ddH2O after which was added to 0 SY medium (20mM final concentration; see Appendix 7). All stress assays were tested without yeast in the medium to avoid interaction between the yeast and the stressor. At least one experiment using yeast was carried out to ensure that the effect observed was not confounded by a yeast-deprivation response. The medium used in all figures shown throughout this work had all the other components of the standard medium including sucrose. Flies were typically assayed with 15 per vial. Deaths were scored every 2 hours after the detection of the initial wave of death. Data was plotted as a survival curve and analysed with log rank test.

2.6.3 Hydrogen Peroxide (11202)

For 11202 preparation 30% 11202 from Sigma was added to 0 SY at a final concentration of 5%. Flies were typically assayed with 15 per vial. Deaths were scored at least 3 times per day, plotted as a survival curve and analysed by long rank test.

2.6.4 Chloroquine

Chloroquine diphosphate salt (Sigma 6628) was prepared by directly adding the salt to 0 SY medium to obtain a final concentration of 6%.

2.6.5 Phenobarbital

Phenobarbital (Sigma P1636) was prepared by directly adding the salt to 0 SY medium to obtain a final concentration of 6%.

2.6.6 DDT

Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane was prepared by diluting in 100% ethanol and adding to 1 SY medium to obtain a final concentration of 0.03%.

2.7 Biochemistry and molecular biology methods

2.7.1 Triglyceride assay (TAG)

To quantify triaclyglyceride levels a colorimetric assay kit by Thermo Scientific was used (Broughton et al., 2005; Slack et al., 2010; Bjedov et al., 2010); 6 replicas of 5 female flies were homogenised in 0.05% Tween 20 and incubated for 5 minutes at 70°C. Samples were then centrifuged for 5 minutes at 7000 rpm. The supernatant was transferred to fresh eppendorfs and centrifuged for 10 minutes at maximum speed. For each sample, 175u1 was transferred to a fresh eppendorf. 10u1 of each sample was dispensed into a well on a 96-well plate, with each sample in triplicate. To each well, 200u1 of Thermo Infmity Triglycerides solution was added and the plate was left to incubate at 37°C for 10mins, after which time I measured absorbance in each well at 574nm. The lipid standards were treated in the same way as the samples all throughout and were prepared as 7 serial dilutions in 0.05% Tween 20. These were 2, 1, 0.5, 0.25, 0.125, 0.0625 and 0 $\mu g/\mu l$ triglyceride.

Samples were normalised to protein levels using the Thermo Scientific bicinchoninic acid protein (BCA) assay (see section 2.7.7).

2.7.2 DNA extraction and Single-Fly Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

To analyse single flies for specific mutations one fly was placed in a 1 5 mL eppendorf and squashed with a blue pestle after which 50 ilL of squish buffer (990 ilL of squish buffer (10 mM Tris-HC1 pH 8.0, 1 mM EDTA, 25 mM NaC1) + 10 ilL of proteinase K) were added. The liquid was transferred to a PCR tube and incubated for 1 hr at 37°C and then at 95°C for 10 mM. The sample was spin after which it was either stored at 4°C or prepared for PCR.

The PCR reaction consisted of (per fly) 1 ilL of extracted DNA, 2.5 ilL 10X PCR buffer (15 mM MgC1₂), 0.5 ilL dNTPs (10 mM), 0.5 ilL of each primer, 0.25 ilL TAQ polymerase and 19.75 ilL of ddH2O. All reagents were obtained from Qiagen, UK. The PCR cycles were run using a thermal cycler (Eppendorf UK limited), with the following protocol: 1 cycle of 94°C for 15 mM (initial melting step to denature the hot-start TAQ polymerase), 30 to 35 cycles of 95°C for 30 sec (for denaturing DNA), 50-60°C for 30 sec (to anneal the primers), and 72°C for 2 mM (elongation step) Finally, 1 cycle of 72°C for

7 to 10 min as a final elongation phase. Samples were then either stored at -20°C or ran on an agarose gel. Find PCR primers used for single fly PCR in Appendix 5.

2.7.3 Gel electrophoresis

1 to 2 gr of agarose (Sigma, UK) were dissolved in 98 or 99 mL of TAE (Tris base, acetic acid, EDTA) buffer and heated in a microwave, until close to boi, after which is was slowly cooled down by placing under running tap water. Once cooled 3 piL of ethidium bromide were added to the agar solution. The mixture was placed in a gel tray and a comb was added to create wells for the samples. The gel was allowed to set for 1 hr. A marker ladder and samples were added in conjunction with 6x loading dye (40% glycerol, 6x TBE buffer and 0.25% bromo blue) at a final volume of 20-25 'IL. Electrophoresis was performed between 70-100 V until samples had ran enough, and just before running out of the gel. The samples were then visualised under UV light using a UV transiluminator.

2.7.4 Quantitative Real Time PCR (qRT-PCR)

Total RNA was extracted from 15 flies using Trizol (GIBCO) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The concentration of total RNA purified for each sample was measured using an *Eppendorf biophotometer*. 1 tg of total RNA was then subjected to DNA digestion using DNAse I (Ambion), immediately followed by reverse transcription using the Superscript II system (Invitrogen) with oligo(dT) primers. Quantitative PCR was performed using the PRISM 7000 sequence-detection system (Applied Biosystems), SYBR Green (Molecular Probes), ROX Reference Dye (Invitrogen), and Hot Star Taq (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) by following manufacturer's instructions. Each sample was analysed in triplicate with both target gene and two reference genes (RP49 and Act5c) primers in parallel. Find qPCR primers used in Appendix 6.

2.7.5 Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

All SDS-PAGE for western blots was performed using the Criterion (Bio-Rad) protocol. 12% resolving gel was prepared by placing 5.03 mL ddH2O in a 50 mL falcon tube to which 3.75 mL of 1.5 M Tris-HC1 (pH 8.8), 150 piL of 10% SDS, 4.5 mL of 40% acrylamide/bis (37.5:1) were added. This mixture was vortex. To this same mixture 7.5 'IL

of TEMED and 10% of APS (freshly prepared) were added. The mixture was quickly vortex before dispensing in the Criterion cassettes and propanol added to eliminate bubbles. After 45 to 60 min, the propanol was removed and the stacking gel was added. 4% stacking gel was prepared as follow 9 5 mL of ddH2O in a 50 mL falcon tube and the following were added: 3.78 mL of 0.5 M Tris-HC1 (pH 6.8), 150 ilL 10% SDS and 1.485 mL of 40% acrylamide/bis (37.5:1). The sample was vortex before 15 ilL TEMED and 75 'IL of 10% APS were added and mixed again. The mix was added on top of the resolving gel up to the top of the cassette. A comb with the appropriate number of lanes was placed at the top of the cassette and allowed to set for at least 1 hr before immediately used or stored at 4°C for 12 hrs max before use.

2.7.6 Western blotting

For whole fly experiments 10 female flies were homogenised in 200pL 2x Laemmli loading sample buffer (100mM Tris-HC1 pH6.8, 20% glycerol, 4% SDS) containing 5% 0-mercaptoethanol. For head sample preparation, heads were split and were homogenised in the loading buffer at 21.11, per head. Samples were heated at 95°C for 5 minutes after which extracts were cleared by centrifugation. 10 'IL or approximately 4Optg of protein extract were loaded per lane on a polyacrylamide gel. After separation, proteins were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane where they were incubated overnight with a selected primary antibody and thereafter an appropriate secondary antibody.

2.7.7 Protein Quantification

Samples were dispensed into a microplate well (all samples in triplicate). BSA albumin standards were used with the same diluent as the samples (for example 0.05% Tween 20 for triglyceride assay). The following standard concentrations were prepared: 2000, 1500, 1000, 750, 500, 250, 125, 25, 0 µg/mL To each well 200 ilL of the 'working reagent' supplied in the kit was added, and the plate was left to incubate at 37 °C for 30 minutes. The absorbance was then measured at 562 nm

Chapter 3 Pharmacology of Lithium for Ageing: a DR mimetic?

"I see no limit to how long human life can be extended if scientists learn how to turn on antiaging genes in the young or how to prepare cocktails of drugs that serve the same purpose as genetic engineering." Michael R. Rose

3.1 Abstract

The pharmacology of ageing is even more recent than the genetics of ageing. Though drugs capable of extending lifespan have been reported for over a decade, it was not until rapamycin was shown to extend the lifespan of mice that this new avenue of research into ageing really took off. It has become clear now that synthesising new drugs capable of mimicking the already proven genetic interventions will not be the only way to prolong healthspan for longer. Alternatively testing the potential anti-ageing properties of known and licensed drugs could accelerate the establishment of anti-ageing medicine. In this chapter I aimed to show that the drug lithium chloride, used as a medication in the treatment of bipolar disorder, has anti-ageing properties. I found that indeed lithium is a pro-longevity drug that extended lifespan independent of sex and genetic background. Unlike IIS mutants and rapamycin treatment, lithium supplementation did not affect fecundity at doses that extended lifespan. Lithium was able to extend lifespan at all food concentrations tested, making it unlikely to be a DR mimetic. I also explored the possibility of interactions with IIS and mTOR and showed that lithium did not seem to be acting through these pathways. Therefore lithium is a novel pro-longevity drug that can act independent of the traditional nutrient-sensing pathways offering an alternative to DR mimetics for promoting healthy ageing.

3.2 Introduction

At the present time one of the most important objectives of research into ageing is to identify drugs that can enhance healthy lifespan. As discussed in Chapter 1, genetic modifications have been extremely successful in extending the lifespan of evolutionarily distant organisms. However, for these interventions to have real applicability to humans, they need to be mimicked by drugs. Therefore, a significant part of the biogerontology community is focusing on identifying drugs that can activate or inactivate pathways or processes recognised to increase healthy lifespan. Through the genetic manipulations described earlier, protein targets have been identified, therefore a natural approach would be the generation of compounds to inactivate or boost the proteins that have so far been shown to play an important role in the ageing process. This approach is likely to be successful given the strong genetic evidence. However, drug synthesis is a lengthy process that can take over a decade to have medically relevant use. Another approach is to test drugs already available and approved for human consumption for their use in extending healthspan, lifespan or both. Given that their use in humans is approved, their applicability and relevance becomes evident faster.

3.2.1 The use of drugs in the ageing-field

The hopes for identifying drugs with anti-ageing properties was boosted in 2009 when a report showed that the drug rapamycin was able to extend the lifespan of mice even when fed late in life (Harrison et al., 2009). Rapamycin is a drug approved for human consumption as an immunosuppressant and chemotherapeutic agent.

Year	Reference	Finding	Citations)
1935	(McCay et al., 1935)	Dietary restriction extends lifespan in rats.	117
1993	(Kenyon et al., 1993)	Characterization of the <i>C. elegans daf2/daf16</i> pathway to extend lifespan.	1412
1996	(Brown-Borg et al., 1996)	Altered somatotrophic axis extends lifespan in mice.	539
2001	(Clancy et al., 2001)	Loss of chico extends lifespan in Drosophila.	737
2001	(Tatar et al., 2001)	<i>dInR</i> hypomorph flies live longer.	799
2003	(Holzenberger et al., 2003)	Heterozygous loss of IGF-1R extends lifespan in female mice.	1034
2009	(Colman et al., 2009)	DR retards the onset of age-related pathologies in monkeys.	741
2009	(Harrison et al., 2009)	Rapamycin fed late in life to mice extends lifespan.	959

Table 1 Landmarks papers in the Biology of Ageing by number of citations

§ According to Scopus (only since 1996). Last visited 13th of September 2014.

Rapamycin as a pro-longevity drug has become a landmark finding in the biogerontology community (Table 1). Rapamycin is not a perfect drug, its use associates

with the establishment of altered metabolism, wound healing, immunosuppression among others. As discussed in Chapter 1, the metabolic alterations secondary to rapamycin treatment in mice have been attributed to mTORC2 inhibition. Therefore, the current effort is focused in identifying more specific mTORC 1 inhibitors, or even inhibitors for specific downstream targets of mTORC1 like S6K.

Our group has also shown that another drug approved for human use, and considered a DR mimetic, seems not to have an effect on lifespan. Metformin, a drug used in the treatment of type 2 diabetes, was unable to extend lifespan of male and female *Drosophila* (Slack et al., 2012). It is unclear why metformin is incapable of extending the lifespan of fruit flies, particularly when reports have shown that metformin can extend lifespan of *C. elegans* and mice (Cabreiro et al., 2013; Martin-Montalvo et al., 2013; Onken and Driscoll, 2010). However, Slack and colleagues only tested the effect of the drug in one genetic background and on one food concentration. Given that metformin is considered to be a DR mimetic, it is rather surprising that the effect of the drug was not evaluated on a full DR tent. If the medium used to test the drug was close to the peak of the DR tent (see Chapter 1) then no effect is to be expected of a DR mimetic at low concentrations (as observed), and the drug should become detrimental once the concentration is increased (as observed). Perhaps testing the drug in more than one genetic background and more than one food condition will be informative.

3.2.2 Lithium as a therapeutic agent

Lithium was first introduced to medical practice as a treatment for bipolar disorder (BPD). Over 60 years ago the Australian psychiatrist John Cade reported improvement of manic disorder when lithium salts were administered (Johnson, 1998; Soares and Gershon, 1998). Cade first observed that lithium supplementation to guinea pigs led to calming and lethargic effects. This discovery prompted Cade to evaluate the potential therapeutic properties in various psychiatric illnesses. Cade determined that the positive effects of lithium were specific for BPD and this drove him to propose that mania could be the result of lithium deficiency (Johnson, 1998; Lenox and Watson, 1994). Cade's hypothesis of lithium deficiency was proven false, however the therapeutic benefits of lithium in BPD are undeniable. In spite of this, the mechanisms by which this drug achieves its benefits are not yet fully understood (Lenox and Wang, 2003; Williams and Harwood, 2000).

Two proteins have taken centre stage as the effectors by which lithium may exert its therapeutic effects. Glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) is one of them and is discussed in detail in Chapter 5 (Klein and Melton, 1996; Stambolic et al., 1996). The other enzyme inhibited by lithium is the inositol monophosphatase (IMPase) (Berridge et al., 1989; Harwood, 2005; Jope and Williams, 1994). IMPase inhibition leads to reduction of inositol levels, which are required for the maintenance of inositol lipids. The second messengers inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate and diacylglycerol require inositol for their synthesis and their reduction compromises signal transduction (Berridge et al., 1989; Harwood, 2005). I will discuss the effects of inositol in Chapter 5.

3.2.3 Pharmacology of lithium

BPD is a chronic and debilitating illness characterized by periods of depression and mania (Malhi and Tanious, 2011; Malhi et al., 2012). It has been considered to be the sixth leading cause of disability in the developed world (D'Souza et al., 2011). Lithium is the first choice and the gold standard medication for the treatment of BDP, but it also has therapeutic value in the treatment of alcoholism, schizoaffective disorders and cluster headaches (Malhi and Tanious, 2011; Timmer and Sands, 1999).

Lithium is a univalent cation and must be administered with an anion. Several preparations exist, but the most widely used are lithium carbonate (capsule) and lithium citrate. Lithium chloride is not used in the clinic because of its high toxicity, but this is the preferred formulation in research given its solubility, which allows low dose administration (Timmer and Sands, 1999).

Lithium is completely absorbed in the upper gastrointestinal (GI) tract, achieving peak serum levels within a couple of hours of oral ingestion. It does not bind to proteins and is distributed in total body water (Malhi and Tanious, 2011; Timmer and Sands, 1999). However, it preferentially accumulates in certain tissues like kidneys, thyroid gland and bone, over muscle and liver for example (Timmer and Sands, 1999). Peak levels in the brain are delayed by approximately 24 hours in comparison with plasma due to lower permeability of the blood-brain barrier, and the concentration in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) is only 40% of serum due to transport out of CSF by the endothelium and arachnoid membranes. It is excreted almost entirely by the kidney without any hepatic metabolism, and its half-life will depend on several factors like age, treatment duration and renal function (Malhi and Tanious, 2011; Timmer and Sands, 1999). After a single dose the half-

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration

life of lithium will be between 12 and 27 hours, but it can increase to over double (up to 58 hours) in the elderly (Timmer and Sands, 1999).

The therapeutic window for lithium lies between 0.4 mM/L and 1 mM/L as measured in serum (Figure 3.1A). Concentrations over 1 mM/L increase the risk of adverse side effects and above 1.5 mM/L side effects like slurred speech, tremor, muscle weakness, seizure and irreversible renal damage are imminent. Even when serum concentrations are kept within the therapeutic window side effects can still occur (Malhi and Tanious, 2011; Paton et al., 2010).



0.75

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration

Figure 3.1 Concentration of lithium in humans and *Drosophila*. (A) Recommended lithium concentrations in serum as suggested by medical associations and guidelines: American Psychiatrist Association (APA), National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, UK (NICE), and Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments. The numbers indicate the recommended plasma concentrations for patient treatment. 1) represents the concentration at which it should be started (0.5 mM/L) and slowly increased up to (1.2 mM/L, the maximal recommended concentration); 2) represents the maximal concentration required for prophylaxis; 3) is the plasma concentration often used by psychiatrist; 4) plasma concentration more effective for controlling mania symptoms; 5) concentration for stabilising patients; and 6) represents the recommended plasma concentration for patients previously using lithium who have relapsed. Taken from (Malhi and Tanious, 2011). (B) Detected concentrations of lithium in flies plotted against the concentration in the medium. Taken from (Dokucu et al., 2005).



In patients over the age of 60 the average and highest dose has been documented to be reduced by almost half of that prescribed for younger adults (from 1000 mg/d to 689 mg/d and from 2400 mg/d to 1350 mg/d) (D' Souza et al., 2011). Older patients seem to be more susceptible to the toxic effect of the drug.

Lithium has also been administered to *Drosophila* for the study of its role in many behavioral traits. Interestingly these studies have highlighted that the concentrations supplied in the fly medium (Figure 3.1B) yields concentrations at least ten times lower inside the fly (Dokucu et al., 2005).



Figure 3.2 Lithium increases lifespan of w^{pfl} female flies. 150 females per condition were fed either vehicle (ddH₂O) or lithium chloride (LiC1) supplemented in the SY medium and their survivals were analysed. (A), flies fed 10 mM LiC1 showed a significant lifespan extension (p < 0.01, log-rank test). (B), flies fed 25 mM LiC1 did not show a significant difference in lifespan compared with flies fed vehicle (0 mM LiC1) (p > 0.05, log-rank test). Flies fed food supplemented with 50 mM LiC1 showed a significant lifespan reduction (p < 0.01, log-rank test). N = 150 female flies per dose condition. Lifespan experiments were performed by Dr Ivana Bjedov.

3.2.4 Is lithium a potential drug for anti-ageing interventions?

The first documented evidence that lithium could extend lifespan came from the Lithgow laboratory. McColl and colleagues showed that lithium extends lifespan of *C. elegans* at various doses before becoming toxic. Moreover, they showed that lithium was able to further extend lifespan of the long-lived *daf-2* insulin receptor mutant and that this lifespan extension was independent of the transcription factors daf-16/FOXO, since lithium was able to extend lifespan of *daf-16* mutant worms. This suggests that lithium does not act through the IIS pathway to extend lifespan (McColl et al., 2008). The lifespan-extending properties of lithium have been replicated independently in *C. elegans*, by two independent groups (Tam et al., 2014; Zarse et al., 2011). Furthermore, the Rose laboratory reported that low doses of lithium reduced the mortality rates of *Drosophila* (Matsagas et al., 2009). These findings seem promising, especially in light of the epidemiological observation that

drinking water supplemented with lithium is associated with reduced mortality in humans (Zarse et al., 2011).

Unpublished work from our laboratory has shown that lithium can indeed extend lifespan in *Drosophila* (Figure 3.2). In light of this I sought to determine whether this lifespan extension was reproducible and independent of sex and genetic background. I also investigated how lithium induced lifespan extension fits within the nutrient-sensing pathways. In the present chapter I assessed the ability of LiC1 to extend lifespan independent of DR and the nutrient sensing network. In the following chapter (Chapter 4) I explored the mechanisms by which lithium could be operating to extend healthy lifespan by means of an —omics approach. Moreover, taking advantage of the fact that the fruit fly is very amenable to genetic manipulations I attempted to verify the validity of the candidate mechanisms through epistatic interactions. In Chapter 5 I study the role of glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) in mediating the effects of lithium. I also provide evidence that supplementing lithium to a neurodegeneration fly model improves pathological features.

3.3 Methodology and experimental design

3.3.1 Drosophila strains

Drosophila strains ^{*w*1118} and *w*^{*at*} were used in the experiments described in this chapter as well as in the following chapters (see Chapter 2). The ubiquitous driver daughterless-GeneSwitch driver (daGS) was used to drive the expression of the UAS-InR^{DN} to down-regulate the IIS pathway. Flies lacking the transcription factor *dfoxo* were also used (Slack et al., 2011).

3.3.2 Dietary restriction

The specific preparation of the DR media has been described in Chapter 2. For this chapter I used the following yeast dilutions: 0.2, 0.5, 1.0 and 2.0. Lithium was supplemented as described in the following section.

3.3.3 Lithium preparation and delivery

Lithium chloride (LiCl; Sigma L0505) was dissolved in ddH2O at a concentration of 5 molar and then supplemented to 1SY medium (yeast medium, see chapter 2 section 2.2.1), unless otherwise stated. Food was then dispensed into plastic vials and stored at 4°C until used. Cold refrigerated vials were placed at 25°C for a minimum of 2 hours before flies were transferred into them.

3.3.4 Rapamycin preparation and delivery

Rapamycin (LC Laboratories #R-5000) was dissolved in 100% ethanol at a concentration of 50 mM and then added to the fly medium at the desired concentration.

3.3.5 Immunoblot analyses

Protein extraction and western blot techniques were described in Chapter 2. Primary antibodies used in this chapter were: pSer505-AKT (Cell Signaling Technologies #4054, 1:1000), total-AKT (Cell Signaling Technologies #9272, 1:1000), pThr398-S6K (Cell Signaling Technologies #9209, 1:1000), custom made total-S6K (provided by Dr. Cathy Slack, 1:1000) and I3-actin (Abcam #ab4801, 1:5000). Appropriate HRP-conjugates secondary antibodies (Abcam) were used (1:12000).

3.4 Results

in a dose-dependent manner. Doses W^{Dah} 1.0 from 1-25 mM significantly extended lifespan (P < 0.001, log-rank test). LiCI (mM) Doses ranging from 50 to 100 mM 0.8 > 0.6 significantly reduced lifespan (P <-10 040.001, log-rank test). N = 160 female 2 5 5 flies per dose condition. 0 1 $0.2 \\ 100$ 75 0.0 0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100 Time (d)

Figure 3.3. Lithium affected lifespan

- 5

3.4.1 Lithium modulated lifespan in a dose-dependent manner

As earlier described, lithium can extend the lifespan of C. elegans (McColl et al., 2008; Zarse et al., 2011), and can reduce mortality of *Drosophila* (Matsagas et al., 2009). Therefore, I sought to explore the longevity effects of lithium in Drosophila. Dr Ivana Bjedov conducted the first set of experiments in the W^{pah} strain. As shown in Figure 3.2, once mated *W*th females fed food supplemented with lithium at 10 mM showed increased median and maximum lifespan. On the contrary, 25 mM lithium was unable to extend lifespan and 50 mM lithium proved to be toxic. I decided to further characterise the lifespan effects of lithium by increasing the concentration range from 1 to 100 mM (Figure 3.3). I again used w^{pah} female flies and observed that concentrations ranging from 1 to 25 mM could extend lifespan. However, the lifespan extension at 25 mM was trial-dependent, sometimes showing a positive effect, others without difference from controls or producing a slight lifespan shortening effect. Doses from 1 to 10 mM extended median lifespan by 16% (-10 days) and maximal lifespan up to 18% (-14 days; P < 0.001, log rank test compared to the control group). In contrast, concentrations from 50 to 100 mM significantly reduced lifespan in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 3.3; P < 0.001, log rank test).

3.4.2 Lithium extended lifespan independent of sex, genetic background and fecundity

The degree of lifespan-extension by a mutant (or any other intervention) can vary with the strain genetic background (Grandison et al., 2009b; Kaeberlein et al., 2004). To further confirm the pro-longevity effects of lithium and to test whether the effects are independent of genetic background, a second (Figure 3.4) and third (Figure 3.5) set of experiments were independently set up with varying concentrations of lithium using the inbred isogenic *white1118* (*J 1 18s* genetic enetic background. Female flies were supplemented with lithium concentrations ranging from 1-10 mM (Figure 3.4A; *P* < 0.05, log-rank test). 1 mM lithium extended median lifespan by 2 days, while 5 and 10 mM extended median lifespan by 4 and 7 days respectively.



Figure 3.4 Lithium and sodium chloride are tested for longevity in the w1118 genetic background. (A) and (B) show lifespan effects of LiC1 in female and male flies, respectively. (C) and (D) show lifespan properties of NaC1 supplemented at similar concentrations as LiC1 in female and male flies, respectively. N = 150 flies per dose/gender condition. These survival experiments were performed in collaboration with Ms. Li Li.

A number of interventions that extend lifespan are to some extent sex-specific (Maklakov and Lummaa, 2013). I therefore tested whether lithium could also extend lifespan of w'''^{B} male flies, using the same doses of LiC1 previously described for w''^{B}

females (Figure 3.4B). Male flies fed medium with 1 mM lithium showed a significant (P < 0.05, log-rank test) median lifespan extension (5 days), with no maximal lifespan effect. 5 and 10 mM similarly extended median lifespan by 18% (11 days), and maximum by 4 days.

Addition of LiC1 to the fly medium could increase its osmotic properties and hence affect lifespan (Ja et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2009; Piper et al., 2010). To control for this potentially cofounding effect, I performed experiments using equivalent molar concentrations of NaCl. None of the concentrations tested significantly affected lifespan of female (Figure 3.4C) or male (Figure 3.4D) flies.







iC1 and NaC1 using w^{1118} female and male flies. (A) Female flies expose to 10, 25 and 50 mM lithium. (B) Similar concentration supplemented to male flies. (C) (D) show the lifespan response to equimolar concentrations of NaC1 in female and male flies respectively. N = 150 flies per dose.

A second set of experiments with ^{w1118}

used 10, 25 mM and 50 mM lithium. 10 and

25 mM increased median and maximum lifespan (Figure 3.5A; P < 0.001 log-rank test). 10 mM lithium resulted in a 13% (8 days) median lifespan extension and a maximum of 10% (7 days). When lithium was supplemented at 25 mM, female flies showed a similar median

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration

and maximum lifespan extension as when fed 10 mM lithium. I tested similar

concentrations in male flies (Figure 3.5B). Supplementing the fly medium with 10 mM lithium extended median lifespan of male ^{*w1118*} flies by 18.5% (-10 days) and maximum lifespan by -4% (2.5 days) (P < 0.001, log rank test) while lithium treatment using 25 mM extended median lifespan by 23% (12 days) and maximum by 13.5% (-10 days) (P < 0.001, log rank test) and 50 mM lithium did not significantly extend lifespan (P = 0.4849, log rank test). I also tested the effect of supplementing NaC1 at similar concentrations. At all doses tested, NaC1 did not replicate the lifespan extension effects of LiC1, in either male (Figure 3.5D) or females (Figure 3.5C) of the ^{*w1118*} background. Lithium could thus increase lifespan in two genetic backgrounds and in both sexes, suggesting that its effect is strain and sex independent.



Figure 3.6 Effect of lithium of female fecundity. Egg laying was tested after 15 days of lithium supplementation. Data is presented as average eggs laid per female in 24 hrs. Error bar represent SEM. N = 150 females. ** P < 0.001 (ANOVA post hoc Tukey-Kramer).



Several genetic and pharmacological interventions that extend lifespan reduce fecundity (Partridge et al., 2005; Regan and Partridge, 2013). To determine whether extension of lifespan by lithium was associated with reduced fecundity, I measured eggproduction. Lithium did not reduce egg laying at doses that extended lifespan. However, at the higher doses at which lithium reduced lifespan, it also reduced fecundity (Figure 3.6). My results, therefore, did not support the idea that lithium extended lifespan by reducing fecundity.

3.4.3 Lithium ameliorated age-related locomotor decline

Mutations in the IIS pathway that extend lifespan have been linked to improvement in several functions of health including cardiac function and locomotor ability in flies (Gargano et al., 2005; Wessells et al., 2004). I therefore sought to investigate whether lithium treatment could improve locomotor ability in female flies of the ^{w1118} genetic background (Figure 3.7A). Female flies were treated and assessed across time with either 10 or 25 mM lithium. Female flies fed 10 mM lithium were partially protected against age-

related locomotor decline (P < 0.01; two-way ANOVA post hoc Tukey Kramer). However, flies treated with 25 mM lithium performed similarly to controls (P > 0.05; twoway ANOVA). I also determined whether lithium could improve age-related locomotor dysfunction in the 14^{Dh} background over a wider range of concentrations (1-75 mM; Figure 3.7B). Surprisingly, lithium was able to partially protect against the decline at 75 mM (P < 0.05; two-way ANOVA post hoc Tukey Kramer), but not at doses that extended lifespan (P > 0.05; two-way ANOVA for doses from 1-50 mM lithium)



Figure 3.7 Lithium protected against age-related locomotor decline. (A) Negative geotaxis analyses of w''^8 female flies fed either 10 or 25 mM lithium. Experiment performed in collaboration with Ms. Li Li **(B)** Negative geotaxis analyses of W^{pah} female flies fed lithium concentrations ranging from 1-75 mM. Experiment performed in collaboration with Mr. Michael Schannack.

These results did not conclusively support a role for lithium in protecting neuromuscular function during ageing. Only 10 mM lithium showed partial protection in the w1118 genetic background, but I was unable to observe a similar effect in the le^{ah} background. Given these inconclusive results it is hard to determine whether lithium protects against age-related locomotor decline. Additionally, other tests to assess locomotor function (flight test, speed, overall daily activity or electrophysiology recording in the giant fibre system) should be performed to more conclusively determine the healthspan benefits of lithium on the function of the nervous and muscular systems (Augustin and Partridge, 2009).



3.4.4 Lithium reduced triglyceride levels and sensitised against

Figure 3.8 Metabolic effects of lithium in carbohydrate and lipid stores, and the response to starvation. Lithium did not modify (A) trehalose levels nor (B) glycogen levels, but dose-dependently reduced (C) triglyceride levels. For these experiments (A) and (B) 5 biological replicates of 2 flies were measured after 15 days of lithium treatment. No statistical significance was found (P > 0.05; ANOVA post hoc Tukey-Kramer). For experiment in (C), 5 flies per 5 biological replicates were measure after 15 days of lithium treatment. Data in (A-C) are presented as median \pm SEM. (D) Starvation was measure by transferring flies pre-treated for lithium for 15 days.

Genetic manipulations that extend lifespan by reducing signalling through the nutrientsensing, insulin/IGF-1 signalling (IIS) and mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) network, often associate with abnormalities in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism (Baker and Thummel, 2007; Tatar et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2014). Ubiquitous reduction (or knock-out) of specific components of the IIS pathway extends lifespan in mice, but can make them insulin-resistant at younger, but not older ages (Foukas et al., 2013; Selman et al., 2008a). Long-lived *Drosophila* with IIS down-regulation show increased levels of triglycerides and carbohydrate metabolites (Baker and Thummel, 2007; Broughton et al., 2005). Similarly, rapamycin treatment, which inhibits mTOR and extends fly and mouse lifespan, increases triglyceride levels in flies and in mammals compromises glucose and lipid metabolism (Bjedov et al., 2010; Harrison et al., 2009; Houde et al., 2010; Lamming et al., 2012). To assess whether the lifespan-extending effect of lithium was associated with altered carbohydrate metabolism, I measured the levels of trehalose and glycogen, two storage carbohydrates in *Drosophila*, after 15 days of lithium treatment and, over a wide range of lithium concentrations, I was unable to detect a significant change in the levels of either compound (Figure 3.8A and B). I also measured the levels of triglycerides, the main lipid storage in flies (Ballard et al., 2008; Kanlein, 2012) and, after 15 days of lithium treatment, observed a dose dependent reduction in w^{an} female flies (Figure 3.8C). Lithium thus did not affect the storage of carbohydrates, but reduced triglycerides in a dose-dependent manner

In *Drosophila*, triglyceride levels are associated with starvation resistance (Ballard et al., 2008). I aimed to analyse the response of lithium pre-treated flies to nutrient deprivation. To test starvation-resistance of lithium-treated flies, I pre-fed them with lithium for 15 days and then transferred them to vials containing only water/agar. Lithium dose-dependently reduced lifespan under starvation conditions (Figure 3.8D; P < 0.001, log rank test).

Given these results I also analysed the triglyceride levels in ^{*wl118*} lithium treated flies and observed a dose-dependent reduction (Figure 3.9A) which matched with starvation sensitivity (Figure 3.9B). Thus the effects on triglycerides and starvation are conserved in two genetic backgrounds.



A

Figure 3.9 Effect of lithium on triglyceride levels and starvation in w1118 flies. (A) Triglyceride levels were analysed in flies pre-treated for 15 days. Data are presented as average of 5 biological replicates of 5 flies per condition \pm SEM. * P < 0.01 (ANOVA, post hoc Tukey-Kramer). (B) Survival curve of flies pre-treated with lithium for 15 days and the subjected to starvation.

3.4.5 Lithium extended lifespan beyond dietary restriction

Dietary restriction (DR), a reduction in food intake short of malnourishment (Fontana et al., 2010; Levine et al., 2014; Solon-Biet et al., 2014), extends healthy lifespan in diverse

species. Lithium and DR could extend lifespan by overlapping or independent mechanisms. I therefore sought to determine whether lithium and DR extend lifespan by distinct or overlapping mechanisms. I assessed whether lithium could extend lifespan beyond the maximum achievable by DR. I varied the yeast concentration in the food in the presence of a constant concentration of sucrose as my DR protocol (Bass et al., 2007). When the yeast component of the food was reduced a typical tent-shaped response was observed, with peak lifespan at 1.0X yeast concentration (Figure 3.10 and Appendix 8 for full survival curves). If lithium acts through similar molecular mechanisms to DR, then lithium would not be able to further extend lifespan when it is maximised by DR, and DR would not be able to extend lifespan when it is maximised by lithium (Clancy et al., 2002). I used 4 yeast conditions (0.2X, 0.5X, 1.0X and 2.0X). The optimal concentration for lifespan was observed a 1.0X with a median lifespan of 70.5 days (Figure 3.10A) and maximal of 86.1 days (Figure 3.10B). Yeast dilutions of 0.5X and 0.2X were shorter lived in comparison, with median lifespans of 67.5 and 22 days respectively. On the contrary, doubling the yeast concentration (2.0X) also shortened lifespan, with a median of 62.1 days. A similar effect was observed for maximum lifespan (Figure 3.10B). In addition I supplemented lithium to all of these food conditions. The concentrations used were (in mM): 1, 2.5, 5 and 10. Interestingly, lithium was able to significantly extend median and maximum lifespan under all yeast conditions tested (P < 0.001, log rank test; Figure 3.10A and B; Appendix 8), including very low yeast content (0.2x yeast). This was surprising given that flies pre-treated with lithium were sensitive to starvation (Figure 3.9D). The optimal median lifespan extension under malnourished conditions (0.2x yeast) was obtained with 2.5 mM lithium which increased it by -30% (Appendix 8A). Doses from 1-5 mM of lithium were optimal for extending lifespan on 0.5x yeast (Appendix 8B), while all doses tested (1-10 mM LiC1) on the optimal yeast dilution extend lifespan (Appendix 8C). Interestingly the longest median lifespan (absolute value) achieved with lithium under full feeding conditions was the same as the longest median lifespan extension (absolute value) observed under maximised DR (Figure 3.10A and Appendix 8E). Under full feeding conditions median lifespan was extended by -18% (P < 0.001, log rank test).

These results suggest that the optimal concentration of lithium to extend lifespan might depend on the nutritional status of flies, or its dietary intake, but lifespan extension could be achieved in all yeast dilutions given the appropriate dose. Surprisingly median lifespan was extended more under malnourished or fully fed conditions than in the





Figure 3.10 Median and maximal lifespan effect of lithium tested on four different yeast concentrations. The effect of different lithium concentrations to extend lifespan was tested against increasing concentrations of yeast in the fly medium. (A) represents median lifespan of female flies, while (B) shows maximum lifespans. N = 160 flies per condition. * P < 0.01; ** P < 0.001 (log-rank test). For full survivals see Appendix 8.

3.4.6 Lithium did not alter mTOR activity

I therefore considered the possibility that lithium could be modulating the nutrient-sensing network. One mechanism by which lithium could be exerting lifespan benefits is through the inhibition of the nutrient-sensing mTOR pathway. Down-regulation of mTOR activity by genetic manipulation or pharmacologic inhibition is a robust intervention to extend lifespan across taxa (Bjedov and Partridge, 2011; Johnson et al., 2013). mTOR exists in

two complexes, mTORC1 and mTORC2, with different downstream effectors (Guertin and Sabatini, 2009; Wullschleger et al., 2006). The lifespan extending effects of rapamycin have been mainly attributed to down-regulation of mTORC1 (Bjedov et al., 2010; Harrison et al., 2009), though it has been shown that long-term rapamycin treatment also inhibits signalling through mTORC2 in certain cell types (Sarbassov et al., 2006). To determine whether lithium could influence activity through the mTOR pathway, I probed for phosphorylation levels of S6K, downstream of mTORC1, and phosphorylation of Akt, downstream of mTORC2. Both kinases are phosphorylated and activated when mTOR is active (Wullschleger et al., 2006). Lithium was unable to change the phosphorylation levels of S6K at any dose tested (Figure **3.11A**). I also evaluated the ability of lithium to modulate Akt phosphorylation, without observing significant evidence of change (Figure **3.11B**). Therefore it is unlikely that lithium modulates lifespan through the mTOR pathway.



Figure 3.11 Lithium modulation of mTOR activity. (A) Activity of mTORC1 was measured by analysing the phosphorylation levels of S6K against total S6K. (B) Activity of mTORC2 was analysed by substracting the phosphorylation levels of pAkt (S505) to total AKT. Data are presented as median \pm SEM.

3.4.7 Lithium did not require the transcription factor dFOXO to extend lifespan

Genetic manipulations that down-regulate signalling through the IIS pathway extend lifespan from *C. elegans* to mice. Moreover, human longevity has been associated with

genetic variants in the transcription factor FOXO (in humans specifically FOXO3A), required for lifespan extension by reduced IIS in worms and flies (Kenyon et al., 1993; Slack et al., 2011; Willcox et al., 2008). To determine whether dFOXO is required for lithium to extend lifespan, I treated *dfoxo-null* flies with two lithium doses previously shown to extend lifespan in wild-type flies (1 and 10 mM). *dfoxo-null* flies were significantly shorter lived than the controls (Figure 3.12; P < 0.001, log rank test). Lithium supplemented in the fly medium at 1 mM extended median lifespan of flies lacking *dFOXO* by 8% (4.7 days), but did not change their maximum lifespan. The survival curve was significantly different from the un-treated *dfoxo-null flies* (P < 0.02, log rank test). A similar situation was also observed with 10 mM lithium, the same median lifespan extension, without change in maximum lifespan. I also used a lower dose of lithium, 0.5 mM LiC1, observing also an 8% median lifespan extension, but also a maximum lifespan extension of 8% (-5.5 days; P < 0.02, log rank test). These results suggest that dFOXO is not required for lithium to extend lifespan.





3.4.8 Lithium further extended lifespan of an insulin mutant and has additive effects with rapamycin

Given that dFOXO is not required for lithium to confer longevity benefits, I investigated whether lithium could extend the lifespan of already long-lived flies with IIS down-regulation. To test this hypothesis, I over-expressed a dominant negative version of the *Drosophila* insulin receptor (InR^{DN}). This intervention was previously reported to extend lifespan when the InR^{DN} (*UAS- InR^{DN}*) was over-expressed throughout development or when expressed only during adulthood (Slack et al., 2011), by using a modified version of the Ga14/UAS system, the GeneSwitch System (Osterwalder et al., 2001). Over-expression

of the InR^{DN} only during adulthood significantly extended lifespan (Figure 3.13A; P < 0.001, log rank test). Median lifespan was increased by 18% (12 days) and maximum lifespan by —13.5% (10 days). When these flies were treated with lithium, median lifespan was further extended by 7% (5 days), but maximum lifespan only marginally changed by 1 day. However, the survival curves were significantly different from the lithium-untreated flies over-expressing the InR^{DN} (P < 0.05, log rank test). Overall, the combination of IIS down-regulation and lithium treatment extended median lifespan by 26.6% (18 days) and maximum lifespan by 15% (12.3 days). These results suggest that lithium and IIS down-regulation could be used in combination to achieve maximal benefits for longevity.



IIS and mTOR down-regulation for lifespan. (**A**) The effect of lithium treatment on a long-lived insulin mutant was done by over-expressing a dominant negative InR in the whole fly and then supplementing these flies with lithium. (**B**) The effect of combining lithium and rapamycin was carried out using control flies. Experiment in (B) was performed by Dr. Ivana Bjedov.

I then decided to analyse whether combining lithium and rapamycin could have beneficial effects for lifespan. I used similar doses to the ones described an evaluated the survival profile of these flies. Both lithium and rapamycin were able to significantly extend lifespan (P < 0.001 for both treatments, log rank test). The lifespan effect were comparable, 10 mM lithium extended median lifespan by 9.5%, while 50 11M rapamycin extended lifespan by 13%. They both extended maximum lifespan by 5%. A statistical comparison of the survival curves did not show significance (P = 0.9892, log rank test). When they were supplemented in combination, flies lived significantly longer than either treatment supplemented as monotherapy. The overall median lifespan extension when both lithium and rapamycin were administered was —21%, with maximum lifespan extension of 11% (Figure 3.13B). Overall, these results suggest that the combination of lithium plus rapamycin could be an advantageous poly-pharmacological approach for ageing.

Taken together my results suggest that lithium extends lifespan independently of

40
Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration

the nutrient-sensing network, including the mTOR and the IIS pathways, and that lithium

plus lower IIS or rapamycin could be additive for lifespan.

3.4.9 Lithium blocked the effect of rapamycin to increase triglycerides

Figure 3.14 Lithium and rapamycin interaction to modulate triglyceride levels and starvation response. (A) Flies pre-treated for 15 days were analysed for the effect of triglyceride levels. Each bar represents 5 biological replicates of 4 flies. Data are presented as average \pm SEM. * *P* < 0.01 (ANOVA; post



hoc Tukey-Kramer). (B) Survival curves depicting the response to starvation in flies pre-treated with lithium, rapamycin or the combination of both drugs.

As previously mentioned, one of the undesirable side-effects of rapamycin treatment is altered metabolism resembling the metabolic syndrome (Chang et al., 2009; Fraenkel et al., 2008; Houde et al., 2010). In *Drosophila*, rapamycin causes elevation of triglycerides (Bjedov et al., 2010). I have shown here that lithium has the opposite effect of rapamycin since it dose-dependently lowers triglycerides (Figure 3.8C and **Figure 3.9A)**. I therefore hypothesised that lithium might be able to block the dyslipidemia caused by rapamycin. I used a concentration of lithium that did not significantly change triglycerides (10 mM) and compared it to 50 mM rapamycin, previously shown to extend lifespan (Bjedov et al., 2010). Lithium did not change the triglyceride levels, unlike rapamycin, which significantly increased it (P < 0.01 ANOVA, post hoc Tukey-Kramer; **Figure** 3.14A). When both treatments were administered simultaneously, lithium was able to block the increase in triglyceride levels by rapamycin (P < 0.05 ANOVA, post hoc Tukey-Kramer for comparison between rapamycin vs. rapamycin plus lithium), making the combination

treatment similar to controls (P = 0.09 ANOVA, post hoc Tukey-Krammer for comparison

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration between control vs. rapamycin plus lithium).

To confirm that the modulation in lipid levels was metabolically relevant, I challenged flies pre-treated for 15 days under a similar protocol to starvation. Rapamycin treatment makes flies resistant to starvation (Bjedov et al., 2010), while I showed here that lithium sensitises against starvation. Given that triglyceride levels correlate with the response to nutrient deprivation, I speculated that the effect of lithium plus rapamycin would cancel each other. I pre-treated the flies with lithium, rapamycin or a combination of both for 15 days after which I analysed their survival under starvation. Lithium significantly reduced lifespan under nutrient deprivation (P < 0.01, log rank test), while rapamycin conferred resistance (P < 0.001, log rank test; **Figure** 3.14B). When lithium and rapamycin were administered in concert the starvation response as a monotherapy for lithium or rapamycin was blocked, as the response was not statically different from controls (P = 0.069, log rank test). These results suggest that the addition of lithium to rapamycin treatment could be advantageous to block the dyslipidemia induced by rapamycin treatment in *Drosophila*.

3.4.10 Lithium extended lifespan when supplemented late in life

Finally, I decided to investigate the effect of supplementing lithium at different periods of the adult *Drosophila* life. I first assessed whether supplementation at older ages would still show the same dose-response effect with a similar therapeutic window. I kept flies in control fly medium (0 mM LiC1) and switched them to food containing a range of doses between 1 and 75 mM. I carried out the switch after 30 days post-eclosion and analysed their survival (Figure 3.15A). 1 mM lithium extended median lifespan by 5% (4 days) and maximum by 13% (8 days; P < 0.05, log rank test). 10 and 25 mM extended lifespan by 9% (6 days), but while 10 mM extended maximum lifespan by 4.5% (3.5 days), 25 mM extended maximum lifespan by 8% or 6 days (P < 0.01, log rank test). 50 and 75 mM significantly reduced lifespan (P < 0.001, log rank test). 50 mM reduced median lifespan by 5% and maximum by 10.5%. Supplementation with 75 mM lithium after 30 days post-eclosion reduced median lifespan by 36.5% and maximum by 25.5%. Thus, when lithium is started after 30 days post-eclosion lifespan extension can be achieved with doses from 1-25 mM.

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration



Figure 3.15 Late-onset lithium treatment (A) Lithium treatment at different doses was started 30 days post-eclosion. (B) Lithium treatment was initiated after 45 days of separating into females. N = 150 per condition.

I then decided to investigate whether the supplementation of lithium could be started even later, after 45 days post-eclosion. At this point all the group of flies had a few deaths. Flies were randomly allocated to the different concentrations of lithium. Interestingly none of the doses that extended lifespan after 30 days post-eclosion were able to significantly extend lifespan (Figure 3.15B). 1 and 10 mM did not change lifespan and statistical analyses of the survival curves revealed no significant difference ($P > 0.05 \log$) rank test). Food supplemented with 25 mM lithium and started after 45 days post-eclosion significantly shortened median lifespan by 4 days (P < 0.02, log rank test), while maximum remained similar to the control group. 50 and 75 mM lithium also significantly reduced lifespan (P < 0.001, log rank test). Interestingly, the detrimental response to high doses of lithium 50 and 75 mM was very quick as median lifespan was achieved after 2 days in media supplemented with 75 mM lithium and 7 days when supplemented with 50 mM. By comparing the shape of the curves of flies supplemented 50 or 75 mM lithium after 30 or 45 days post-eclosion it is evident that some degree of age-related toxicity exists. Thus, though lifespan extension can be achieved when lithium is supplemented late in life, this will require some time to promote longevity. Also it seems that lithium toxicity is exacerbated at older ages.

3.4.11 Lithium extended lifespan when fed for a brief period

I then wondered whether short treatment periods could have long lasting effects for lifespan. Therefore, I only supplemented lithium for a brief period of time after which the

flies were switched off from lithium to control medium. I first supplemented a range of lithium concentrations from day 2 post-eclosion for 5 days before switching to medium not supplemented with lithium (Figure 3.16A). Interestingly none of the concentrations significantly changed lifespan (P > 0.05 log rank test). This was particularly surprising for the higher concentrations, which are quite toxic when supplemented continuously (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.16. Switchoff lithium experiments. Lithium was supplemented only for 5 days (A) or 15 days (B) after which all groups received fly medium not containing lithium. N = 150 per condition.

I decided to explore the possibility that lithium required to be supplemented for longer periods to promote long lasting effects. I followed a similar protocol and fed flies different concentration of lithium for 15 days after which they were switched off the drug to control medium (Figure 3.16B). Both 1 and 10 mM lithium extended median lifespan by 8% (5 days), while only extended maximum lifespan by 1 day (P < 0.05 log rank test). Once more none of the concentrations between 25 and 75 mM changed lifespan significantly (P > 0.05 log rank test). Thus, lifespan extension can be achieved when lithium is supplemented only during a brief period early in adulthood, yet the drug has to be supplemented for more than five days before switch off.

3.5 Discussion

3.5.1 Lithium is a pro-longevity drug

I showed here that lithium extended lifespan of male and female flies independent of genetic background. Lithium modulated lifespan in a dose-dependent manner It extended lifespan at low concentrations (1-25 mM) while it reduced lifespan at higher doses (50-100 mM). McColl et al., showed that lithium was able to extend lifespan of *C. elegans* at doses ranging from 5-50 mM, the optimal concentration being 10 mM which extended lifespan on average 36% (McColl et al., 2008). An independent study by Tam et al., showed that 10 mM lithium only mildly extended median lifespan of *C. elegans* without changing maximum lifespan, but they showed that lithium improved locomotor function (Tam et al., 2014). Moreover, Zarse et al., only reported lifespan extension in *C. elegans* after administration of 10 11M lithium (Zarse et al., 2011). These dose differences are not entirely surprising as I observed a considerable variation between experiments using the same genetic background over three years of experimentation. Moreover, as I will discuss later, the optimal concentration for lifespan extension varied according to the yeast concentration in the fly medium.

Several interventions are modulated by genetic background. For example, in yeast cells some genetic manipulations that mimic DR and extend lifespan are strain-dependent (Kaeberlein et al., 2004). In *Drosophila* triple knockout of dILPs 2,3 and 5 increased median lifespan by 29% in the w^{pah} background, but failed to regulate longevity in the w^{1118} background (Griinke et al., 2010). I was able to show that lithium extended lifespan in two genetic backgrounds, making the intervention likely to be strain-independent. Lithium treatment of female flies of the w^{pah} background resulted in median lifespan extension by as much as 18%, and 13% in w^{1118} females. Furthermore, I was able to show that the lifespan effect is sex-independent as lithium also extended the median and maximum lifespan of male w^{1118} flies.

Interventions that promote longevity in *C. elegans* and *Drosophila* often do so at the cost of reproductive fitness. For example, DR in female flies leads to a significant reduction in egg-laying (Barnes et al., 2008; Bass et al., 2007; Metaxakis and Partridge, 2013). Similarly, mutations in the IIS pathway or rapamycin treatment also reduce number of eggs laid (Bjedov et al., 2010; Clancy et al., 2001; Griinke et al., 2010; Slack et al., 2010). The effect on reproductive fitness in long-lived organisms is explained by the disposable soma theory of ageing that assumes that given an increase in damage

accumulation with age the organism has to decide to invest energy either in reproduction or somatic maintenance. When somatic maintenance is favoured, lifespan extension is ensured at the cost of low or no reproductive capacity (Kirkwood, 2005; Kirkwood and Austad, 2000). I was unable to observe an effect on female egg-laying at doses that extended lifespan. However, as lithium became toxic female fecundity was significantly reduced. This result is contrasting with the observation in C. elegans in which the optimal dose for lifespan extension was associated with an acceleration of the age-related loss of fecundity (McColl et al., 2008). It would be interesting to know whether lithium can regulate lifespan of C. elegans independent of the germ-line. Perhaps the processes by which lithium modulates ageing in C. elegans and Drosophila are considerably overlapping, yet differ in other traits like reproduction. This is not the only discrepancy detected between our results and those obtained in C. elegans. As previously mentioned Tam and colleagues observed that longevity in C. elegans is associated with improvements in locomotor ability (Tam et al., 2014). I tested the effect of lithium treatment on agerelated locomotor decline in two genetic backgrounds and only observed that lithium retarded the locomotor dysfunction at doses that shortened lifespan in the -wpah background, but at a relevant dose for longevity in w^{1118} flies. Our group has previously shown that low doses of lithium can improve locomotor function in an AP1_42 Drosophila model of Alzheimer's disease (Sofola-Adesakin et al., 2014; Sofola et al., 2010). It is unclear why doses that promote longevity in Drosophila would not protect against agerelated locomotor decline, while doses that shorten lifespan would. I consider that this should be further explored as it might reveal divergent mechanisms to regulate longevity and neuromuscular function during ageing.

In conclusion, lithium can extend lifespan in yeast, worms and flies suggesting that lithium is an evolutionary conserved pro-longevity drug. Moreover, lithium concentrations in drinking water have been associated with reduced mortality for all causes in a Japanese population raising the possibility that lithium could modulate ageing in mammals.

3.5.2 Lithium extends lifespan when administered late in life or briefly in early adulthood

As anti-ageing therapies become widely used there will be a debate as to when should they be initiated to promote longevity. Though long-term use (even if started early in adulthood) of a drug that slows down ageing does not seem too much to ask when the

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration

broad-spectrum benefits are considered, it will certainly require changes in behaviour. In practice, a drug with potential anti-ageing properties should be able to extend lifespan when administered late in life. This is in part for practical considerations. If this drug was impacting in reproductive fitness, treatment initiation should only be considered in the post-reproductive stage, particularly in females. Additionally, long-term exposure to drugs can lead to unforeseen side effects. Rapamycin, for example, has been shown to extend lifespan when administered late in life making it, from this point of view, an ideal anti-ageing medication (Harrison et al., 2009). In *C. elegans* metformin was shown to modestly increase mean lifespan when administered from middle age, though the optimal dose was lower than when administered earlier on (Cabreiro et al., 2013).

To analyse whether lithium would be able to increase lifespan when administered late in life I considered two ages for treatment initiation. First I analysed the pro-longevity effects of lithium after 32 days post eclosion (48 hours of mating after eclosion were not considered in the lifespan curves). Interestingly, all doses (1, 10 and 25 mM) that extended lifespan when treatment was initiated early on in adulthood were still able to increase median lifespan if started 30 days later (Figure 3.15A). This differs from the effect of metformin previously mentioned (Cabreiro et al., 2013). However, when lithium treatment started after 45 days (when the first few flies had started dying) it was unable to increase lifespan, and indeed showed accelerated lithium toxicity at older ages (Figure 3.15B). While flies under 75 mM lithium initiated at 30 days took approximately 7 days to reach median lifespan, this same concentration started after 45 days achieved median lifespan in just 2 days.

Alternatively I also analysed the effect of "switching off lithium treatment, i.e., stopping the treatment after a brief period of supplementation. For these experiments I analysed the effect of feeding lithium to flies for two periods, either 5 or 15 days after they were switched off. After 5 days of supplementation of doses ranging from 1-75 mM no effect on lifespan was observed. Though the lack of effect for lower doses was not completely unexpected I found very surprising that the higher concentrations did not reduce lifespan. On the other hand, when lithium was supplemented for 15 days median lifespan was significantly extended at doses of 1 and 10 mM (thought the effect on maximum lifespan was minimal) and again no lifespan effect was observed at doses from 25-75 mM (Figure 3.16B). To the best of my knowledge these types of experiments have never been reported before and can provide novel insights into the pharmacology and therapeutics of lithium treatment.

These experiments reveal several important features of lithium. First, lithium is able to extend Drosophila lifespan when administered late in life as rapamycin in mice and metformin in C. elegans and mice (Cabreiro et al., 2013; Harrison et al., 2009; Martin-Montalvo et al., 2013). Second, there is a threshold period or therapeutic time frame during the ageing process at which lithium is able to successfully exert its longevity effects. After this point low doses of lithium will be unable to change the course of ageing and lifespan (also meaning they will not be toxic), but as the concentration increases lifespan will be shortened even quicker than at younger ages. Lithium toxicity during human ageing has been well documented (Malhi et al., 2012; Timmer and Sands, 1999). Even though targeted therapeutic concentrations are considered to be narrow (0.5-0.8 mM/L), at older ages the recommended concentrations are suggested to be at the lower end (0.5-0.6 mM/L) of the therapeutic window (Wijeratne and Draper, 2011). Similar serum concentrations are achieved in patients over 60 years old with lower drug doses than in younger patients. Furthermore, lithium is less prescribed for the treatment of BPD in older patients potentially due to increased risk of toxicity (Paton et al., 2010). Several physiological changes in kidney function, total water and extracellular volume, comorbidities, and drugdrug interactions due to polypharmacy in the elderly are considered to contribute to the increased age-related toxicity (D'Souza et al., 2011).

My results showed that lithium might be unable to extend lifespan of flies when administered very late in life (45 days). At least two points should be considered here, first at this age flies barely eat (Wong et al., 2009), hence circulating concentrations of the drug inside the fly obtained (when supplemented at the lower end of the range of concentrations tested) might be suboptimal. Secondly, as with humans, it might be tricky to find the optimal range to extend lifespan in flies as going beyond the narrow range might increase toxicity. To test this, it will be necessary to develop a standardized protocol, allowing measuring the concentration of the drug inside the flies and to be able to monitor it *in vivo* across their lifespan. Additionally, the drug might require some time to induce or repress the molecular targets required for lifespan extension. Thus, if the treatment is initiated too late, the organism might be unable to mount a strong enough molecular response that would allow longer survivals. In humans and mammalian models lithium has been proposed to act by two possibly unrelated mechanisms for the treatment of mania and depression. For example, it has been documented that anti-manic properties can take up to 6-10 days to develop, while its anti-depressive effects take up 6-8 weeks to come into effect (Malhi and Tanious, 2011). It is possible that the mechanisms for anti-manic and

anti-depressive effects are different, and the one(s) regulating longevity in flies might be more similar to the anti-depressive ones in humans, hence they might require more time to be elicited.

Third, the "switch off' experiments reveal that lithium has "molecular memory" as the pro-longevity effect is kept even after the drug is removed for a long period of time. Fourth, the toxic effects of lithium on lifespan require continuous treatment or long-term exposure (longer than 15 days) when initiated early on in adulthood. The latter was made evident by the fact that neither 5 nor 15 days of lithium treatment started after 2 days posteclosion were sufficient to shorten lifespan at the highest dose tested (75 mM) which would dramatically shorten median lifespan to approximately 30 days when administered continuously. The fact that long-term treatment was not necessary to achieve lifespan extension in flies suggests that short-term treatments could be as effective as long-term treatments. In humans, long-term treatment with lithium is associated with progressive and permanent renal damage, which is the most dreaded toxic side-effect of lithium (Malhi and Tanious, 2011). Dosing for the treatment of BPD is often broken down in several doses per day. However, single doses and alternate day regimes have also been considered to be efficient in maintaining brain concentration levels within the therapeutic window (Malhi and Tanious, 2011; Wijeratne and Draper, 2011). When testing lithium as a pro-longevity drug in mammals alternate day dosing or just brief periods of time should be considered to reduce undesirable side effects and maximise the potential health benefits.

Taken together my results suggest that several dose regimes can be used to extend lifespan in *Drosophila*. As these treatment protocols have never been tested before in any other organism they should be used as a starting point for the analyses of lithium in ageing, particularly in mammals. My results suggest that either late-life treatment initiation or brief treatment protocols are sufficient to promote longevity.

3.5.3 Lithium regulates metabolism and the response to starvation

Metabolic pathways are at the heart of the ageing process (Barzilai et al., 2012). Changes in major pathways and metabolites can contribute to the healthy ageing phenotype or even accelerate ageing through metabolic dysfunction and disease (Bartke and Westbrook, 2012; Houtkooper et al., 2010; Perrone et al., 2012; Soltow et al., 2010; Tomds-Loba et al., 2013). I explored potential metabolic shifts associated with lithium in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism without detecting changes in trehalose and glycogen levels. However,

lithium dose-dependently reduced triglyceride levels. Alterations in metabolism often associate with lifespan extension in Drosophila. Unsurprisingly, reduced IIS leads to overt gluco-metabolic alterations. Long-lived flies show increased levels of trehalose and glycogen, and elevated circulating glucose (Alic et al., 2011a; Broughton et al., 2005; Griinke et al., 2010; Slack et al., 2010). Furthermore long-lived flies with reduced IIS or rapamycin treatment, or flies subjected to DR show increased levels of triglycerides (Bjedov et al., 2010; Burger et al., 2007; Emran et al., 2014; Slack et al., 2010). Though the relevance of these alterations for longevity is not clear, they have become longevityassociated traits in flies given their constant reports in ageing studies in Drosophila. This is not the case for mammals in which DR, IIS mutants, S6K1 deletion or metformin treatment are associated with improved metabolic profiles during ageing, i.e., increased insulin sensitivity, lower lipids and glucose levels (Bliiher et al., 2003; Colman et al., 2009; Selman et al., 2008a, 2009). In a way lithium seems to regulate Drosophila metabolism in a different way to the classic anti-ageing interventions in the nutrient sensing network. An exception to this statement would be metformin treatment, which also reduces triglyceride levels in flies, but without a longevity phenotype (Slack et al., 2012). In mammals lithium produces nephrogenic diabetes insipidus, several electrolyte alterations and weight gain, though these phenotypes are probably secondary to the effect of lithium on kidneys, parathyroid gland and bone, and thyroid gland, respectively (Jefferson, 2010; Timmer and Sands, 1999). In a study where lithium was supplemented to rats, increasing concentrations of lithium associated in a dose-dependent manner with reductions in total lipids, cholesterol, triglycerides and nonesterified fatty acids (Fleischman et al., 1974). I did not measure the effects on such specific lipid metabolites, but the effect on triglycerides seems to be conserved in evolution from flies to rats.

I observed that concomitant with altered lipid metabolism, lithium treatment led to a dose-dependent sensitivity to starvation. Most insulin mutant flies are resistant to starvation. However, they also have high triglyceride levels (Broughton et al., 2005; Slack et al., 2010; Griinke et al., 2010; Alic et al., 2011). Rapamycin treatment in flies also leads to starvation resistance, but is associated with increased triglyceride levels as well (Bjedov et al., 2010; Emran et al., 2014). Triglycerides are the main fat storage of flies and have been shown to predict the response to starvation (Ballard et al., 2008). Though starvation resistance has been viewed as a desired phenotype in long-lived organisms, I will show in Chapter 7 that short-lived *Drosophila* with increased triglyceride levels are resistant to starvation, suggesting that these traits can be uncoupled. Taken together, these observations suggest that starvation resistance and longevity are independent and that resistance to nutrient depletion in flies is indeed the result of accumulated energy stores which help to cope when no food in supplied.

In conclusion lithium spares carbohydrate energy stores in *Drosophila* but dosedependently reduces triglycerides levels making flies sensitive to starvation.

3.5.4 Lithium is unlikely to be a DR mimetic

I carried out a set of experiments to determine whether lithium promoted longevity through DR or the nutrient sensing network. In *Drosophila*, the ingredient in the medium with the biggest effect on lifespan is the yeast (Bass et al., 2007; Mair et al., 2005; Piper et al., 2010). Varying the concentration of yeast leads to a typical DR tent where the optimal concentration for lifespan extension is somewhere in the middle of the yeast dilution. Further dilution leads to lifespan shortening due to malnourishment, while increases in the yeast concentration also shorten lifespan, probably due to the deleterious effect of over feeding (Bass et al., 2007; Piper and Partridge, 2007).

I supplemented a range of lithium concentrations (1, 2.5, 5 and 10 mM) in the fly medium containing different concentrations of yeast (0.2, 0.5, 1 and 2X yeast; X = 100g/L) and assessed survival under these conditions. Lifespan peaked at 1X when lithium was not present in the medium. The lifespan obtained with this concentration of yeast was therefore the optimal one for lifespan under DR. Lithium supplemented in all yeast conditions was able to extend median lifespan. In 0.2X the best concentration to extend lifespan was 2.5 mM, while the best in 2X was 10 mM lithium. Interestingly at 0.5X 10 mM lithium significantly reduced lifespan. Several conclusions can be drawn from these experiments. First, lithium could extend lifespan in all yeast concentrations tested. Given that it further extended lifespan under conditions maximised for diet it is unlikely that lithium acts as a DR mimetic. A DR mimetic would have led to a right-shifted tent, where lithium would have not changed (or reduced) lifespan at the optimal yeast concentration for lifespan, and reduced lifespan at all concentrations below that. The lifespan extension would have only been observable under full feeding or over nourished conditions (Clancy et al., 2002; Mair and Dillin, 2008). Second, I was able to document that the optimal concentration of lithium to extend lifespan changed under different yeast dilutions. This suggests some interaction between DR and lithium, i.e., they share some overlapping mechanisms. I therefore decided to test whether lithium affected the IIS and mTOR

nutrient sensing network. I did not detect changes in mTOR activity as evaluated by immunoblot analyses. Lithium was able to extend lifespan of flies lacking *dFOXO* and further extend lifespan of long-lived flies with IIS down-regulation. Taken together these results did not support a role for the nutrient sensing network in the lifespan extension provided by lithium.

McColl and colleagues also investigated the interaction of lithium with DR and the IIS pathway. Using the *eat2* mutant, a genetic model of DR in *C. elegans*, they were able to show a further lifespan extension when lithium was supplemented. They also observed lifespan extension in a *daf16* mutant and further lifespan extension in a long-lived *daf2* mutant (McColl et al., 2008). My results in *Drosophila* are in accordance to the published data in *C. elegans* suggesting that lithium can indeed extend lifespan beyond DR and the IIS pathway. Unfortunately, the analyses of McColl and colleagues (also Zarse et al., and Tam et al.,) did not include epistasis with mTOR mutants or rapamycin treatment limiting a comparative analyses of the involvement of the mTOR pathway in lithium's longevity phenotype between *C. elegans* and *Drosophila*.

3.5.5 Lithium and Rapamycin: a polypill?

As previously mentioned lithium can interact with many drugs increasing its toxicity. Drugs that alter renal function can either increase or decrease lithium concentrations. For example, while thiazides (a group of diuretics used in hypertension and other cardiovascular diseases that increase diuresis through inhibiting the reabsorption of sodium and chloride ion in the distal convoluted tubules in the kidney) increase it, loop diuretics (which act on the Na⁺-K⁺2C1⁻ symporter in the loop of Henle decreasing the hypertonic renal medulla hence reducing the reabsorption capacity and promoting diuresis) decrease it. Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors used for the treatment of hypertension and heart failure and the non-steroidal anti-inflammatory ibuprofen increase lithium concentrations (Timmer and Sands, 1999). As the older population is likely to be taking multiple medications (polypharmacy) it will be of great interest to analyze the interaction of the pro-longevity effect of lithium in the context of other drugs.

Additionally, it has been proposed that given that ageing affects multiple pathways, affecting these pathways simultaneously could be advantageous for healthy ageing (Le Couteur et al., 2012; Ingram et al., 2006). I decided to explore the possibility of combining lithium and rapamycin for three reasons. First, lithium and rapamycin seem to act on

different pathways in *Drosophila*. Second, while lithium reduces triglyceride levels, rapamycin increases it. Third, a combination of lithium and rapamycin has been shown to be more beneficial than either treatment on its own for ameliorating neurodegeneration (Sarkar et al., 2008). I explored the possibility that lithium could block the increase in triglycerides promoted by rapamycin treatment. For this I used a concentration of lithium that was unable to significantly reduce triglycerides, but that extended lifespan. I chose to use 10 mM lithium. When lithium and rapamycin were simultaneously fed to flies lithium was able to block the hypertriglyceridemia produced by rapamycin, in spite of having no detectable effect when supplemented as monotherapy. I documented that rapamycin and lithium cancelled each other's response to starvation, which validated the finding in lipid levels.

Amongst the undesirable side effects of rapamycin treatment the metabolic alterations have generated particular interest (Lamming et al., 2012, 2013). A drug that promotes healthy ageing should not increase the prevalence of insulin resistance and diabetes. I have shown here that simultaneous administration of lithium and rapamycin can limit this undesirable effect of rapamycin on metabolism in flies.

Blocking the effect of rapamycin on lipids might not be enough therapeutic reason for combination treatment in ageing. Although the combination provided some metabolic benefits, this did not neccesarily translates in improved lifespan. The combination of both drugs could have led to cancelling each other effect on longevity or even becoming toxic hence shortening lifespan. I therefore analyzed the effect of combining the drugs on survival. Flies that received rapamycin and lithium in combination outlived those that only received either treatment as monotherapy. This result shows that the combination of both drugs can be advantageous for lifespan extension.

Combining drugs in a polypill has been proposed as a future direction in biogerontology (Le Couteur et al., 2012; Gems, 2014). The concept of the polypill was proposed by Wald and Law for the prevention of ischaemic heart disease (IHD) and stroke. Wald and Law proposed that the combination of a cholesterol lowering drug (statin), three drugs for the treatment of blood pressure (each at half-standard dose), folic acid and aspirin, which they called the polypill, would reduce IHD events by 88% and stroke by 80%. People taking this formulation would benefit from an average of 11 years free of these conditions (Wald and Law, 2003). Several clinical trials are on their way to document the benefits of long-term treatment with fixed-dose combination (FDC) strategies (Sanz and Fuster, 2013). In light of the findings of these trials and my findings

121

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration

with lithium and rapamycin combination, I propose that a polypill approach could be advantageous in ageing for the following reasons:

- Polypharmacy has become synonymous of drug treatments in the elderly. Increased prevalence of multiple pathologies (comorbidity) will more than often require the use of multiple medications to control symptomatology (Capobianco and Lio', 2013; Sitar, 2012).
- 2. As the number of drugs required for disease treatment rise, the complexity of the therapeutic intervention follows. Undesired drug-drug interactions might occur. This is not considering that the elderly population has been documented to have the highest rate of self-medication, which could complicate the polypharmacy approach when not reported to the team of physicians (Sitar, 2012).
- Adherence to a large number of drugs decreases over time. This has been one of the major advantages of FDC strategies over multiple single medications found in clinical trials.
- 4. The appropriate combination of drugs can be therapeutic but also preventative. In the case of FDC strategies, the drugs being combined can be of great benefit in patients over the age of 55 years if provided at very low concentrations. Reducing the risk of coronary events and strokes could prove to be a major public health intervention.
- Combining drugs that act on independent pathways to promote health can be beneficial, especially if they are able to block feedback loops and adaption mechanisms that lead to undesirable side effects.

It is too early to predict whether lithium and rapamycin could ever become a viable polypill treatment for ageing. I consider that perhaps adding aspirin and metformin could provide further enhancements. The road to the polypill in ageing is still long and narrow, but my findings are interesting enough to start speculating about it.

Chapter 4

Genome-wide -OMICS of lithium for ageing: identifying a molecular mechanism

"Nothing in life is to be feared, it is only to be understood. Now is the time to understand more, so that we may fear less." Marie Curie

4.1 Abstract

In spite of its widespread use for the treatment of BPD, lithium's mechanisms of action in this disease are unknown. Several proteins and signalling pathways have been proposed, but evidence is conflicting. In this chapter I aimed to characterise the transcriptional response of Drosophila (heads and thoraces) to lithium chloride. Transcriptional microarrays and also polysome profile arrays were conducted to detect changes in the transcriptome and translatome. We found transcriptomic data to support that lithium and HS down-regulation act by non-overlapping mechanisms as their transcriptional signatures were not shared. This is in accordance with the data presented in the previous chapter showing that lithium does not require the transcription factor dFOXO and can extend the lifespan of already long-lived insulin receptor mutant flies. However, the transcriptional response of lithium treated flies significantly overlapped with that of flies over-expressing the transcription factor cap 'n' collar C (CncC) and of flies treated with the xenobiotic phenobarbital. Indeed, the genes up-regulated by lithium mapped to the three phases of detoxification. I confirmed that lithium indeed protects against toxins as it protected against several chemical stressors. Moreover, I also found that lithium down-regulated components of mitochondrial complex 1 both at the transcriptional and translational level. These correlated with reduced respiratory control ratio by mitochondrial respiratory complex I from isolated mitochondria of lithium treated flies. My genome-wide OMICS approach has uncovered two potential mechanisms by which lithium could be conferring its beneficial effects.

4.2 Introduction: pharmacogenetics and pharmacogenomics

Over the last 15 years and with the advent of technology capable of surveying the entire genome, ageing research has adopted tools in aid of understanding the molecular processes behind interventions that promote longevity. In the beginning most of these observations were purely correlative. With the development of appropriate bioinformatics tools, processes, networks and interaction maps have been described. In invertebrates, in particular, these observations have been taken a step forward by directly manipulating the genes found by these genome-wide approaches. For example, when mRNA expression changes of one or more genes were found to be up-regulated, RNAi technology was used to determine whether that increased expression was correlative, necessary or indispensable for the longevity phenotype. Such methods had been taken before genome-wide approach. The latter when associated with a drug has been called pharmacogenetics. On the other hand, pharmacogenomics refers to the use of genetic epistasis experiments coupled with genome-wide technology in response to drugs (Alavez and Lithgow, 2011, 2012).

4.2.1 The molecular targets of lithium: the use of microarrays

Lithium's track record in the clinic is quite peculiar. It is the most prescribed drug for the treatment of BPD, yet we do not understand how it acts to control the disease. It is true that we do not know the molecular targets for all drugs used in Medicine. However, given the simple molecular architecture of lithium it is quite surprising that a therapeutic target has not been identified. In part we are still unsure what to look for in mood disorders. The aethiopathogenesis of BDP is still unclear. Therefore, identifying a specific protein or enzyme, or even a pathway has been challenging.

To understand both the molecular processes driving BPD and the effect of lithium several lines of study have been taken and should be regarded as complementary.

- Not every patient or group of patients respond to lithium treatment. There is evidence that good/poor response to lithium has a genetic component as it runs in families. Therefore, understanding the genetic makeup of BPD patients has therapeutic value. This allows tailoring of treatment, but aids at characterising genetic subsets of the disease (Serretti and Drago, 2010; Severino et al., 2013).
- 2. Understanding gene expression changes in brain or periphery of patients with BPD and the response of these same genes to lithium could narrow the molecular targets.

For example, Sun et al., characterised the transcriptional response of post-mortem prefrontal cortex of patients with BPD. They identified changes in mitochondria' respiratory chain complexes, phosphatidylinositol signalling, and glycolysis and gluconeogenesis. Among the changes in the respiratory complexes they found that when patients where stratified by use or not of lithium, those not using lithium (but other mood stabilisers) showed down-regulation of subunits of complexes I and IV particularly, while patients treated with lithium showed up-regulated levels of these same genes (Sun et al., 2006).

- Genome-wide responses to lithium in cellular and animal models. Seelan and 3. colleagues treated human neuronal cells with lithium for 33 days before analysing the transcriptional response. They found that TRB3 which encodes for tribbles homolog 3, a pro-apoptotic protein was the most down-regulated transcript, while PRDX2, encoding peroxiredoxin 2, an antioxidant enzyme, was the most upregulated mRNA. Given that several genes showed differential expression they built a protein interactome that revealed that the MAPK pathway was the most regulated by lithium (Seelan et al., 2008). Chetcuti treated male mice with lithium for 7 days and analysed the transcriptional response in whole brain. They only found a small subset of genes differentially expressed over four-fold. Of these genes they were only able to corroborate (by qPCR) the changes in a handful of genes including (but not limited to) transcription elongation factor B (GO: regulation of transcription), metallothioenin 3 (GO: metal ion homeostasis), and proteasome subunit, 13 type 5 (GO: ubiquitin dependent protein) (Chetcuti et al., 2008).
- 4. Genome-wide responses to lithium in healthy subjects. Watanabe and colleagues treated healthy subjects with therapeutic doses of lithium for 2 weeks and assessed transcriptomic changes in leukocytes after 1 and 2 weeks of lithium treatment and also 2 weeks after treatment had stopped. The top five GO categories for up-regulated genes were: response to stimulus, cellular response to stimulus, response to stress, immune system process, and cell surface receptor signalling pathway. The top five GO categories for down-regulated genes were response to bacterium, modification of morphology or physiology of other organisms involved in symbiotic interactions, cell killing, response to fungus, and killing of cell of other organisms. This study has provided evidence for stress response and the regulation

of immune function as potential mediator of lithium therapeutic action (Watanabe et al., 2014).

All of these approaches have potential value for identifying the pathogenic drivers of BPD, but also the molecular targets of lithium. However, the genomic data for these studies has been poorly analysed. This is the particular case of transcriptomic analyses in cell models and rodents. Though the genome-wide approach is unbiased, researchers tend to make arbitrary cut-off points and focus just on a subset of genes, rather than analysing the entire genome response. Taking only the most up-regulated and down-regulated genes severely narrows the unbiased potential approach.

4.2.2 The use of transcriptomics in ageing

Research into ageing has also benefited from the incorporation of microarray and other OMICS methods for the complementation of lifespan analyses and phenotyping. In mice studies the analyses has been more correlative. For example, Dhahbi and colleagues proposed that transcriptional signatures obtained by microarrays could be used as predictive biomarkers of DR mimetics. They identified that of five treatments tested in mice, metformin was the one that most closely resembled the transcriptional response of chronic DR (Dhahbi et al., 2005). Another exciting application has been the comparison of transcriptional responses in different species. For example, McElwee, Schuster, Blanc and colleagues compared the transcriptional profile of four long-lived organisms across a significant evolutionary distance. They analysed C. elegans daf-2 mutants (daf-2 vs daf-16; daf2), Drosophila CHICO heterozygous mutants (chico FF vs +I+), Ames dwarf mice (Prop-1 dm vs + I+) and Little mutant mice (Ghrhr^{lielit} vs + I+) (McElwee et al., 2007). They found that although there was little conservation at the level of individual genes, functional categories did reveal shared processes. The three species showed up-regulation of categories involved in cellular detoxification, carbohydrate metabolism and oxidoreductase activity. They also shared down-regulation of macromolecular biosynthesis and protein biosynthesis (McElwee et al., 2007). They identified these processes as evolutionary conserved mechanisms that could potentially mediate lifespan extension and healthy ageing.

In *Drosophila* one of the first attempts to elucidate changes during the ageing process and their relationship with DR showed that transcriptional changes during ageing

are slowed down by DR (Pletcher et al., 2002). Microarrays have also been used in Drosophila to test whether transcriptional changes during ageing and oxidative stress share common transcriptional signatures. As mentioned before, the ageing community was for a long time driven by the mistaken hypothesis that ROS caused ageing (Blagosklonny, 2008; Gems and Partridge, 2013). Hence, though the two experimental examples I will mention here were perhaps misconceived, they do offer insights into the dynamic and complex nature of the transcriptional changes during ageing. Landis et al., compared the RNA abundance of young (10 days) vs. old (61 days representing approximately median lifespan) flies, and also 3-day old flies subjected to 100% oxygen as a surrogate for oxidative stress. They found that 38% of gene expression changes that occurred in the aged flies overlapped with the hyperoxia treatment. Amongst the genes that shared a transcriptional response were those involved in the response to heat shock (hsp genes), antioxidants and immune-response genes all being up-regulated. Similarly, ageing and hyperoxia shared the down-regulation of preoteases, alkaline phosphatases and triglyceride lipases (Landis et al., 2004). Zou et al., also compared the genome-wide transcriptional changes during ageing and the response to the redox cycler paraquat in Drosophila and found 33% correlation between changes induced by the oxidative stressor and the ageing process. In contrast to the study by Lund et al., Zou and colleagues observed that while some genes involved in cytoprotective mechanisms were up-regulated during ageing like Hsp26, others were down-regulated like glutathione S-transferase D1 (Zou et al., 2000). The complicated nature of the transcriptional changes during the ageing process is magnified by the fact that some of these studies evaluate whole flies, while we know now that different tissues will age at different rates, and their requirements for specific transcript are very different.

Transcriptional response to interventions that extend lifespan in *C. elegans* have also been pioneering (Golden et al., 2006; Pincus and Slack, 2008). DAF-16 is known to be required for the lifespan extension by IIS down-regulation. Thus, effort in identifying the downstream effectors has been a priority in biogerontology (Murphy, 2006; Tullet, 2014). Murphy and colleagues used microarray analysis to identify gene expression changes in several IIS worm mutants, allowing them to obtain a common transcriptional signature. By contrasting these changes with the transcriptional response elicited when *daf-16* is blocked (by RNAi for example) uncovered two sets of genes, one with the potential to increase lifespan (were up-regulated in IIS long-lived worms, but repressed by lack of daf-16), and a second set with potential lifespan shortening effects (opposite direction) (Murphy et al., 2003). Amongst the up-regulated genes by IIS down-regulation were several involved in stress response including genes with cytochrome P450 activity, Hsp's, metallothionenin-1, catalase, SODs. They were able to show that knocking down several of these genes by RNAi shortened the lifespan of the daf-2 long-lived worms, but none to the extent of daf-16 RNAi. These results suggested that there is no sole effector of lifespan extension downstream of DAF16, but rather is the concerted transcriptional response which makes the worms live longer and be healthier (Murphy et al., 2003). Moreover, DAF16 is unlikely to act on its own. Using DNA adenine methyltransferase identification Shuster et al., assessed genes bound by DAF-16 and correlated them with expression change in daf-2 vs daf-16; daf-2 mutant worms. They identified that some of the genes regulated by daf-2 are not direct targets of daf-16, but that daf-16 regulates their expression by activating other transcription factors. This was particularly true for genes involved in repair and detoxification (Schuster et al., 2010). In Drosophila a similar scenario seems to be true, Alic and colleagues assessed dFOXO targets using chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) coupled with microarrays (ChIP-chip) and found that only a fraction of the transcriptional response of IIS is directly mediated by dFOXO. They pointed towards additional factors like GATA, other forkheads and dHR96 as potential regulators downstream of dFOXO (Alic et al., 2011b).

4.2.3 Transcriptional response to lithium in yeast, C. *elegans* and *Drosophila*

To the best of our knowledge only three studies (one per organism) reporting genome-wide approaches in these organisms have been performed. I will described them here as they might be of relevance for the analyses of our own data.

By using an integrated transcriptomic, proteomic and metabolomic approach Bro and colleagues studied the effect of lithium on galactose-grown yeast cells. Among the most prominent changes at the transcriptional level was the down-regulation of categories related to transcription, translation (including ribosomal proteins and proteins involved in ribosomal biogenesis) and nucleotide metabolism, while up-regulated categories involved energy reserve and monosaccharide metabolism and stress response genes (Bro et al., 2003). Lithium increased glycogen and trehalose content and this was reflected at the transcriptional level. Interestingly genes with at least two stress-related elements in their promoter regions accounted for almost a third of the transcriptional response elicited by lithium. Several proteins with predicted molecular heat shock function were identified by proteomics (Bro et al., 2003).

In C. elegans, the only study so far reported analysing the transcriptional response to lithium was carried out by McColl and colleagues. They identified 5 gene ontology (GO) categories enriched in worms treated with 10 mM lithium (the optimal dose for lifespan extension they identified) after only 48 hours of treatment. These categories included nucleosome, nucleosome assembly, acyltransferase activity, endoplasmic reticulum and chromosome organization and biogenesis. Unfortunately they only focused in one gene, a histone demethylase for the remainder of their analyses and did not perform epistasis experiments. They however showed that RNAi against this histone demethylase extended lifespan in C. elegans (McColl et al., 2008).

Kasuya and colleagues interrogated the genome of *Drosophila* heads by using microarrays in the hope of identifying genes and processes regulated by lithium in the nervous system with potential therapeutic applications. Flies were treated with 50 mM LiC1 for 24 hrs before analysed for mRNA abundance. Interestingly they identified and corroborated (by RT-PCR) the up-regulation of three genes within the detoxification pathway: Gst-D2, Cyp309a1 and CG5999 (encoding a UDP-glucoronosyltransferase). Analyses of GO revealed several categories involved in stress-response and oxidoreductase activity (Kasuya et al., 2009).

Table 2. Functional categories enriched in lithium treated Drosophila heads according to DAVID. Taken from (Kasuya et al., 2009)

	Term	p Value'	Fold enrichment'
1	Branched chain family amino acid metabolic process (GO:0009081)	7.57E-04	69.1
2	Stress response (SP PIR keywords)	923E-05	43.8
3	Valine, leucine and isoleucine degradation (KEGG pathway: dme00280)	1.69E-05	15.9
4	Organic acid metabolic process' (GO:0006082)	820E-06	5.99
5	Carboxylic acid metabolic process' (GO:0019752)	820E-06	5.99
6	Oxidoreductase (SP PIR keywords)	3.18E-05	5.83
7	Mitochondrion (GO:0005739)	9.09E-05	4.29
8	Amino acid metabolic process (G0(0006520)	8.05E-04	6.11
9	Oxidoreductase activity (GO:0016491)	9.69E-04	3.16
10	Hydrolase (SP PIR keywords)	4.03E-04	3.15
11	Cytoplasmic part (GO:0044444)	1.66E-04	2.25
12	Cytoplasm (GO:0005737)	8.09E-04	1.92
13	Catalytic activity (GO:0003824)	3.48E-05	1.71

[^] Modified fisher exact p-value (EASE score).
^b Enrichment factor for the lithium-responsive genes (told change > 1.2; FDR < 0.05).

The identical genes arc assigned to these terms for Drosophila genome

Overall the transcriptional response to lithium in these three organisms suggests that functional categories involved in metabolic pathways, translation, oxidoreductase and mitochondria could be relevant for lithium's effect.

4.2.4 Stress and ageing: longevity and resilience

The ability of organisms to respond to stress is amongst the most primal and evolutionary conserved mechanisms ensuring survival. Cells are equipped with genes and proteins that orchestrate adaptive responses that modify their internal milieu to match their new environmental conditions (Leopold and Perrimon, 2007; McEwen, 1998). These responses have aided organisms in the wild to survive periods of famine, drought, etc. during their evolutionary history. Such adaptations not only control cellular and organismal survival, but also maintenance and repair (Gems and Partridge, 2008; Lithgow, 2006; Shore and Ruvkun, 2013). Therefore, it is not surprising that stress response mechanisms have become central to the regulation of longevity and the retardation of the ageing process (Gems and Partridge, 2013; Shore and Ruvkun, 2013).

Genetic manipulations that increase lifespan in organisms ranging from the roundworm *C. elegans* to mammals are more than often associated with a myriad of biochemical and physiological adaptations that confer resistance to several forms of stress (Clancy et al., 2001; Holzenberger et al., 2003; Migliaccio et al., 1999; Tullet et al., 2008). Amongst the stressful situations that pro-longevity interventions are often associated with, are the ability to cope with oxidative stress and the detoxification of foreign chemical substances (xenobiotics) (Gems and Partridge, 2008, 2013).

Genes involved in defence and detoxification are necessary and therefore upregulated in response to stress, while others that are dispensable and energetically costly to maintain are down-regulated. Thus, it has become increasingly relevant to understand the transcriptional signatures of ageing and stress response (Alic et al., 2011b; Bai et al., 2013; Melo and Ruvkun, 2012; Murphy, 2006; Shore et al., 2012). Successful attempts have shown that indeed gene expression changes between long-lived *C. elegans, Drosophila* and mice share up-regulated genes involved in xenobiotic metabolism (McElwee et al., 2007). Moreover, up-regulation of these genes is a shared transcriptional signature between dietary restricted mice and long-lived mice with mutations in the somatotrophic axis (Steinbaugh et al., 2012). Interestingly, rapamycin, the drug that has opened the field of pharmacologic modulation of ageing and longevity (Bjedov and Partridge, 2011; Harrison et al., 2009), does not seem to regulate the expression of xenobiotic metabolising enzymes (Steinbaugh et al., 2012).

The expression of these proteins is known to be under the control of the transcription factor SKN-1/NRF-2, which also modulates lifespan (Sykiotis and Bohmann, 2008; Tullet et al., 2008). Another factor involved in xenobiotic metabolism is the

hormone nuclear receptor dHR96, which is presumed to act downstream of dFOXO and is a possible regulator of the transcriptional response to IIS down-regulation (Alic et al., 2011b; King-Jones et al., 2006). In *Drosophila* dHR96 regulates the transcriptional response to xenobiotics. Flies lacking dHR96 are sensitive to the barbiturate phenobarbital and the pesticide DDT (King-Jones et al., 2006). In *C. elegans,* the nuclear receptor NHR8 is required for resistance to colchicine and chloroquine, both xenobiotics (Lindblom et al., 2001).

Given that direct manipulation of the transcription factors regulating stress response seems to be an evolutionary conserved intervention to promote healthy ageing, chemical inducers of such pathways have the potential to promote longevity and retard the ageing process. Such compounds have been called `hormetins' for their ability to induce a hormetic response (Gems and Partridge, 2008; Lithgow, 2006; Rattan, 2008).

4.2.5 Hormesis: from toxicology to longevity

Originally from the field of toxicology hormesis refers to a dose-response phenomenon characterised by a low dose stimulation and a high dose inhibition, usually represented as an inverted U or J shaped curve (Calabrese and Baldwin, 2003; Calabrese et al., 2007). In biogerontology, hormesis refers to the lifespan extension observed with low grade stress, while higher doses of the same compound (or stronger stimulation of the biochemical pathways that modulate the stress response) would limit longevity (Calabrese et al., 2011; Gems and Partridge, 2008; Rattan, 2001). Hormesis also consists of a priming event. C. elegans subjected to a mild increase in temperature are subsequently protected against heat stress. This suggests that activation of the defence mechanisms involved in heat response allows primed worms to better cope with a heat challenge (Lithgow, 2001). A similar scenario has been proposed with the effects of oxidative stress. External chemicals can also induce hormesis. Recent reports of chemical inducers (including known poisons) of a hormesis-like response have shown that lifespan extension can be achieved at lower doses even when lifespan is compromised with higher doses (Frankowski et al., 2013; Schmeisser et al., 2013a, 2013b). The dose response for the promotion of longevity also fits an inverted U or J-shaped curve with a hormetic zone, i.e. the zone spanning the drug concentrations that increase lifespan (Calabrese, 2013; Gems and Partridge, 2008).

Interestingly lithium has already been included in a catalogue of hormetins (Calabrese, 2005a; Calabrese and Baldwin, 2000) for its capacity to induce chemical

hormesis for growth in plants (Allender et al., 1997), cellular survival (Suganthi et al., 2012) and its effects on cell morphology and signal transduction (Gao et al., 1993).

4.3 Methodology and experimental design

4.3.1 Gene-expression microarrays

Once-mated ^{w1118} female flies were pre-treated for 10 days with 10 mM lithium and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen, after which heads and thoraces were separated and analyzed for differential gene expression by Affymetrix microarrays. The experimental set up was performed by Dr. Luke TaM.

4.3.2 Polysome-profile microarrays

w118 female flies were treated with 10 mM LiC1 or vehicle (ddH2O) for 10 days. After being snap frozen in liquid nitrogen, heads and thoraces were separated from the abdomen/ovaries to remove confounding differences associated with fecundity. Polysome profiles were generated as previously described with minor modifications (Dinkova et al., 2005). Heads and thoraces were homogenized on ice in 300 mL polysome extraction buffer (300 mM NaC1, 50 mM Tris-HCL (pH 8.0), 10 mM MgC1₂, 1 mM EGTA, 200 mg heparin/mL, 400 U RNAsin/mL, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 0.2 mg cycloheximide/mL, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1% sodium deoxycholate). 800 mL additional polysome extraction buffer was added and mixed gently and placed on ice for 10 mM. Debris was the removed by spinning at 20,000g (4°C) for 10 mM and the supernatant was layered onto a 10-50% sucrose gradient in high salt resolving buffer (140 mM NaC1, 25 mM Tris-HCL (pH 8.0), 10 mM MgC1₂). Using a Beckman SW41Ti rotor (38,000 rpm at 90 mM, 4°C) polysomes and ribosomal subunits were separated before the gradients were fractionated. Fractions were collected using a Teledyne density gradient fractionator with continuous monitoring absorbance (252 nm), which was also digitally recorded. Fractions containing 1-3 and > 4, ribosomes per transcript were collected as low and high fractions respectively, directly into ice cold EtOH and precipitated overnight at -20°C along with GlycoBlue. RNA was then pelleted, washed and resuspended in RNase free H2O, to then be isolated using Trizol-LS as per manufacturer's instructions. To estimate the level of translation, ratios of intensities were calculated by dividing high fraction intensities by low

fraction intensities to give a translation ratio value for each transcript. Experiments were carried out in 3 independent replicates (80 heads/thoraces per replicate). Dr. Luke Tain carried out the polysome profiles and microarrays.

4.3.3 Gene-Ontology (Catmap analysis)

For functional analysis using all expressed genes, we used the Wilcoxon rank sum test implemented in Catmap (Breslin et al., 2004). Ranks of genes were based on the Bayes t-statistic for differential expression and, for a given functional category. The significance of the rank sum for all genes in the category was calculated analytically based on a random gene-rank distribution. Catmap analysis was performed by Dr. Dobril Ivanov.

4.3.4 Mitochondrial Isolation

Drosophila mitochondria were isolated as previously described (Miwa et al., 2003). Briefly, adult flies (n = 400 for each time point) were chilled on ice and gently pressed using a pre-chilled pestle and mortar. The pestle was moved in a vertical motion (with no horizontal motion) until the shape of the flies was no longer visible. The flies were then washed in STE + BSA buffer (250 mM sucrose, 5 mM Tris, 2 mM EGTA, pH 7.4 (4°C), 1 % BSA). The flies were then pressed further in 5 mL of STE + BSA buffer. The squashed flies were then passed through double-layered muslin cloth. The collected pulp was then spun for 3 mins at 4°C at 1,500 rpm to remove debris. The supernatant was then passed through a single layer of muslin into a clean centrifuge tube and spun for 10 mins at 4°C and 10,000 rpm to collect the mitochondria. The mitochondrial pellet was then suspended in 250 ill STE + BSA buffer and stored on ice. A BCA assay (Sigma) was used to determine the protein concentration of the mitochondrial preparations. The isolated mitochondria were used immediately after preparation for experiments.

4.3.5 Mitochondrial Physiology Measurements

Oxygen consumption was measured using a Clark-type oxygen electrode thermostatically maintained at 25°C. Glutamate (5 mM) and malate (5 mM) or 5 mM pyruvate were added to measure Complex I-linked respiration, succinate (5 mM) with rotenone (5 1.1M) were added to measure Complex II-linked respiration. All data were obtained using an Oxygraph Plus system with Chart recording software.

4.3.6 Immunoblotting

To detect the Gst-D-eGFP reported antiGFP (2955 Cell Signaling Technologies, 1:1000) was used. The rest of the protocol was as described in Chapter 2.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Lithium and IIS/FOXO do not share a transcriptional response

Lithium is known to be a complex drug that interacts with many cellular pathways and many candidate proteins have been put forward as its mechanism of action (Lenox and Wang, 2003; Phiel and Klein, 2001). In order to determine the molecular mechanism(s) associated with the longevity effects of lithium, we undertook a genome-wide approach by analysing the transcription profile of lithium treated flies. The bioinformatics analyses was performed in collaboration with Dr. Dobril Ivanov. Flies treated with 10 mM lithium for 10 days were subjected to microarray analysis and compared to un-treated control flies. Lithium up-regulated several genes involved in the detoxification pathway, namely enzymes with cytochrome P450 or glutathione transferase activity (Kasuya et al., 2009). These enzymes are at the core of the detoxification pathway, important for xenobiotic metabolism (Mattson, 2008b; Motohashi and Yamamoto, 2004). Up-regulation of similar enzymes has been reported to be a common transcriptional response of IIS downregulation in worms and flies (McElwee et al., 2007). We first decided to investigate whether the transcriptional response differentially expressed by lithium was similar to that observed when IIS is genetically down-regulated. We used a recently published microarray analysis where the InR^{DN} was over-expressed as a means of reducing IIS (Alic et al., 2011b). We compared the overlap of genes elicited by both interventions without detecting statistical significance over the Bonferroni corrected P-value threshold of 0.0001 for upregulated (P = 1.0; Fisher's exact test) or down-regulated (P = 0.00657; Fisher's exact test) genes (McElwee et al., 2007). The only significant overlap (P = 1.48e-08) was between genes down-regulated by lower IIS and those up-regulated by lithium treatment, which suggested that the transcriptional responses changed in opposite directions.

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration



Figure 4.1 Comparative analyses of the transcriptional response of IIS down-regulation and lithium treatment. (A) Venn diagrams showing overlaps between genes regulated by IIS down-regulation by the over-expression of a dominant negative version of InR and the transcriptional response to lithium. Significance P < 0.001. (B) Heat map that shows genes that overlapped between the two treatments. Bioinformatics analyses performed by Dr. Dobril Ivanov.

Some of the phenotypes observed in flies with IIS down-regulation do not require the transcription factor dFOXO, including resistance to oxidative stress (Slack et al., 2011). We have also detected that the longevity effect of lithium is dFOXO-independent. To dissect whether the differentially expressed genes after lithium treatment were similar to that of IIS that do not require dFOXO, we compared them with those where the InR^{DN} was over-expressed in a *dfoxo* null background (Alic et al., 2011b). We were unable to detect a significant overlap in all possible comparisons (P > 0.0001, Fisher's exact test; Figure 4.2). Taken together our results suggest that the transcriptional signature of lithium does not resemble that of IIS down-regulation induced or not by dFOXO. Interestingly, the transcriptional data corroborated that IIS down-regulation and lithium were molecularly different, consistent with these treatments being additive (Figure 3.13).



Figure 4.2 Comparative analyses of genes regulated by low IIS in a *dfoxo* null background and lithium. (A) Venn diagrams showing overlaps between genes regulated by IIS down-regulation in a dfoxo null background and the transcriptional response to lithium. Significance P < 0.001. (B) Heat map that shows genes that overlapped between the two treatments. Bioinformatics analyses performed by Dr. Dobril Ivanov.

4.4.2 Transcriptional response from lithium did not overlap with the transcriptional response of flies overexpressing HR96

The nuclear hormone receptor HR96, the single *Drosophila* orthologue of the mammalian pregnane X receptor and constitutive androstane receptor, has been implicated in the protection against oxidative stress and xenobiotics, which require the transcriptional induction of antioxidants and detoxification enzymes (King-Jones et al., 2006). Moreover, HR96 has also been implicated in the regulation of lipid metabolism, especially triglycerides (Sieber and Thummel, 2009). We decided to compare the transcriptional response elicited by over-expression of HR96 from a previously published microarray study (King-Jones et al., 2006) with our lithium data set (Figure 4.3). Genes differentially expressed by the two interventions significantly overlapped (P = 2.62e-11, Fisher's exact test). However, the transcriptional signature did not share the same directionality as the overlaps did not pass the Bonferroni P-value threshold for significance (P > 0.0001) when only genes up-regulated or down-regulated by both interventions were analysed (Figure

A

4.3). Moreover, a significant overlap going in opposite directions was detected (P = 2.34e10, Fisher's exact test) for genes down-regulated by the over-expression of HR96, but upregulated in response to lithium. Therefore, our results do not support that HR96 overexpression and lithium treatment share a similar transcriptional signature, suggesting that lithium does not activate HR96.



(A) Venn diagrams showing overlaps between genes regulated by HR96 over-expression and the transcriptional response to lithium. Significance P < 0.001. (B) Heat map that shows genes that overlapped between the two treatments. Bioinformatics analyses performed by Dr. Dobril Ivanov.

4.4.3 The transcriptional response of cncC/NRF-2 over-expression

overlaps with that from lithium



Figure 4.4 Comparative analyses of the transcriptional signature of cncC overexpression and lithium. (A) Venn diagrams showing overlaps between genes regulated by cncC overexpression and the transcriptional response to lithium. (B) Venn diagrams showing the overlap between genes regulated by the xenobiotic phenobarbital and lithium. Significance P < 0.001. (C) Heat map that shows genes that overlapped between the three interventions. (D) The common transcriptional signature of cncC overexpression, phenobarbital and lithium treatments map to the xenobiotic detoxification pathway. Bioinformatics analyses performed by Dr. Dobril Ivanov.

In C. elegans, stress resistance is dependent on two transcription factors SKN-1/NRF-2 and daf16/FOXO, and over-expression of either extends lifespan and regulates stress resistance (Kwon et al., 2010; Libina et al., 2003; Tullet et al., 2008). In Drosophila, dFOXO plays a role in protecting against some forms of stress like xenobiotic, but not oxidative stress, while it is required for lifespan extension under IIS down-regulation (Slack et al., 2011). Protection against oxidative and xenobiotic stress is presumed to be the result of up-regulating enzymes in the xenobiotic detoxification pathway (Alic et al., 2011b; Kaletsky and Murphy, 2010; Schuster et al., 2010). The response to both xenobiotics and oxidative stress in Drosophila has been reported to be regulated by the fly homologue of NRF-2, cap'n'collar (CncC) (Sykiotis and Bohmann, 2010). Moreover, activation of CncC by heterozygous loss of its natural repressor Kelch-like ECHassociated protein 1 (Keapl), extends lifespan of male flies (Sykiotis and Bohmann, 2008). The control of the transcriptional signature by CncC has been assessed both pharmacologically and genetically (Misra et al., 2011). We first assessed whether lithium induced a transcriptional response similar to the one obtained when CncC was overexpressed (Misra et al., 2011). When the differentially expressed genes were compared, we found a significant overlap (Figure 4.4A; P = 5.08e-09, Fisher's exact test). This overlap was only significant at the up-regulated level, since it was not significant among genes down-regulated by both treatments (Figure 4.4A; P = 0.342, Fisher's exact test), but they did share a significant overlap of up-regulated genes (Figure 4.4A; P = 1.57e-07, Fisher's exact test).

It was previously reported that the barbiturate anticonvulsive phenobarbital can induce a similar transcriptional response as CncC over-expression (Misra et al., 2011). We therefore explored the possibility that lithium could also induce a similar transcriptional profile as phenobarbital treatment. We therefore analysed the overlap between differentially expressed genes by lithium with those previously reported to change expression upon phenobarbital treatment (Misra et al., 2011). We found that treatment with either lithium or phenobarbital elicited a transcriptional response that significantly overlapped (Figure 4.4B; P = 9.8e-16, Fisher's exact test). The overlap was once more only significant at the up-regulated (P = 1.2e-24), but not at the down-regulated level (Figure 4.4B; P = 0.0196, Fisher's exact test).

We then compared the differentially expressed genes that significantly overlapped with lithium when compared to CncC over-expression or phenobarbital treatment (Figure 4.4C). It was interesting to note that the genes with significant overlap participated in the three phases of xenobiotic metabolism (Figure 4.4C and D).

4.4.4 Lithium activates the cncC/NRF-2 pathway

I also used a GFP reporter to confirm that lithium is indeed activating CncC. For this I used a previously generated GstD-GFP reporter that responds both to chemical inducers of CncC, or to genetic manipulations activating the pathway (Sykiotis and Bohmann, 2008). I treated flies carrying the GstD-GFP reporter with increasing concentrations of lithium. I observed a dose-dependent increase in the levels of GFP as assessed by immunoblot analysis (Figure 4.5; P < 0.05, ANOVA post hoc Tukey-Kramer). Taken together, our results suggest that lithium elicits a transcriptional response similar to that of CncC over-expression, which would indicate that lithium activates CncC to up-regulate genes in the detoxification pathway.



Figure 4.5 Lithium activated the detoxification transcription factor CncC. The activation of the detoxification pathway was determined by treating flies expressing the reporter GstD-eGFP with lithium for 15 days and analysing the expression of GFP by immunoblot analyses. * P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01 (ANOVA post hoc Tukey Kramer). N = 3 biological replicates of 10 flies each.

4.4.5 Lithium modifies survival in the presence of different stressors

To further confirm that the induction of the xenobiotic metabolising pathway was functional, I challenged flies pre-treated with lithium to pro-oxidants and xenobiotics. Given that phenobarbital has already been described transcriptionally as a xenobiotic, I used a similar concentration as the one used to asses gene regulation (Misra et al., 2011). Flies pre-treated with increasing concentrations of lithium ranging from 1 to 100 mM were significantly resistant to phenobarbital (Figure 4.6A). Doses ranging from 1 to 75 mM LiC1 almost doubled their median lifespan (-80% lifespan extension), and completely doubled their maximum lifespan (P < 0.001, log rank test). Even 100 mM of lithium significantly

protected against phenobarbital stress, though its effect was modest in comparison to the other doses of lithium tested (P < 0.01, log rank test). These results suggest that even lower doses of lithium are sufficient to induce a robust transcriptional response downstream of CncC to protect against xenobiotics. I also tested a second xenobiotic, the anti-malarial drug chloroquine (Lindblom et al., 2001). Using this xenobiotic, I only observed protection with lower doses of lithium (Figure 4.6B; 1-10 mM P < 0.05, log rank test) and 100 mM lithium significantly made the flies sensitive to chloroquine (Figure 4.6B; P < 0.05, log rank test).



Figure 4.6 Lithium pre-treatment protected against xenobiotic and oxidative stress. For all experiments flies were pre-treated for 15 days before challenged with (A) 6% phenobarbital, (B) 100 mM chloroquine, and (C) 20 mM paraquat.

I also assessed whether lithium could protect against the redox-cycler paraquat. Paraquat gets converted into superoxide in the mitochondria, mostly by acting on complex I of the respiratory chain (Cocheme and Murphy, 2008). Paraquat also requires the detoxification pathway for metabolism as RNAi-mediated down-regulation of CncC makes flies more sensitive to it (Sykiotis and Bohmann, 2008). When flies pre-treated with lithium (1-100 mM) for 15 days were transferred to sucrose/agar vials containing 20 mM paraquat flies showed a dose-dependent response (Figure 4.6C). Increasing the -75- 100 concentration of lithium from 1 to 50 mM significantly improved survival in a dosedependent manner (P < 0.001, log rank test for all doses compared to control). 75 or 100 mM LiC1 were slightly less beneficial than 50 mM lithium, yet protected significantly more than 25 mM (P < 0.05, log rank test). Overall, my experiments show that lithium treatment protected against xenobiotic and oxidative stress, but that the response could vary depending on the dose of lithium tested and also the xenobiotic used.



Figure 4.7 Comparison of genes and functional categories regulated by lithium at the transcription and translational level. (A) Venn diagrams showing the overlap between changes elicited by lithium at the translational and transcriptional level (B-E) Top ten Gene Ontology (GO) categories enriched in lithium treated flies at the transcriptional (B and C) and the translational (D and E) level. Bioinformatics analyses performed by Dr. Dobril Ivanov.
4.4.6 Transcriptomic and translatomic response of lithium showed enrichment for mitochondrial complex-1

We recently showed that lithium reduces translation in yeast and flies (Sofola-Adesakin et al., 2014). This is an additional potential mechanism by which lithium could confer longevity benefits, as down-regulation of translation has been shown to extend lifespan (Hansen et al., 2007; Syntichaki et al., 2007). However, the specific genes regulated by translation to extend lifespan have been poorly studied. Our previous analysis of lithium treatment suggested that lithium possibly down-regulated a specific subset of genes rather than globally affecting protein synthesis (Sofola-Adesakin et al., 2014). In order to determine the differential regulation of translated genes we combined polysome profiling with microarray analysis. This allowed us to identify changes in the translational evel not obtaining statistical significance (Figure 4.8A). This highlighted that the translational read-out was not a mere representation of the transcriptional response.

We next performed catmap analysis to determine gene-ontology (GO) enrichment and assess functionally relevant changes in expression (Breslin et al., 2004) (Figure 4.8A). We then assessed whether transcriptional and translational responses to lithium could yield expression changes in similar functional categories in spite of not regulating the same genes. To our surprise we observed a significant overlap of GO categories that changed transcriptionally and translationally in the same direction (P < 0.0001, Fisher's exact test; Figure 4.8A). Interestingly, there was a clear enrichment of categories involving mitochondrial complex I. The overlap between GO categories down-regulated at the transcriptional and translational level resulted in a significant overlap that only showed functional categories representing complex I of the mitochondrial respiratory chain (Figure 4.8B).



Figure 4.8 Overlapping functional GO categories modulated by lithium at the transcriptional and translational level. (A) Venn diagrams showing overlaps between GO categories changes by lithium. (B) Heatmap showing the overlapped categories. Bioinformatics analyses performed by Dr. Dobril Ivanov.

4.4.7 Lithium uncouples mitochondrial complex-1, but does not alter its oxygen consumption

To assess the physiological relevance of this observation, we analysed mitochondria' respiration. Whole-fly mitochondria were isolated after 15 days of lithium treatment and age-matched untreated control flies. Mitochondria from lithium treated flies showed a reduced RCR by mitochondrial complex I (P < 0.05, t-test), but not complex II (P > 0.05,

t-test; Figure 4.9A). Lithium had no effect on basal oxygen consumption by either complex I or complex II (P > 0.05, t-test; Figure 4.9B).



Figure 4.9 Lithium reduced the respiration control ratio (RCR) of mitochondrial complex 1. (A) RCR measurements for complex I and II of the mitochondria' respiratory chain of mitochondria isolated from flies treated with lithium for 15 days. (B) Measurements of 02 consumption from the same mitochondrias. * P < 0.05. N = 400 (pooled) flies per condition. Mitochondria' physiology measurements were done by Dr. Fernando Bartolome-Robledo.

4.5 Discussion

4.5.1 Lithium elicits a transcriptional signature of detoxification

We have found here that lithium elicits a transcriptional response that does not resemble that of IIS down-regulation. This was not entirely surprising given that we previously showed that lithium did not require dFOXO to extend lifespan and that lithium could further extend lifespan of already long-lived IIS mutant flies. Indeed our results suggest that the transcriptional response to lithium and IIS down-regulation go in opposite directions, which might indicate molecularly why these interventions were additive.

Surprisingly, lithium also elicited a transcriptional response dissimilar to that of dHR96 over-expression. This was in spite of overlapping at genes like GstD4 and GstDS both involved in phase 2 of the detoxification pathway. However, we were able to identify that the transcriptional response of lithium treated flies significantly overlapped with flies over-expressing the transcription factor CncC. Interestingly the overlap was only significant at the up-regulated level, which is in agreement with CncC/NRF-2 being a transcriptional activator. Moreover, we were able to show that lithium up-regulated the

expression of GstD-eGFP by immunoblot analyses further confirming that lithium activates CncC/NRF-2. Our results showing that lithium activates CncC/NRF-2 are in agreement with a recently published report showing that lithium increases the nuclear fraction of NRF-2 after chronic (5 days) but not acute (6 hrs) treatment in rat pheochromocytoma PC12 cells (Rizak et al., 2014). Lithium has been reported to directly activate NRF-2 in rat astrocytes (Correa et al., 2011) and human hepatocytes (Jiang et al., 2014).

NRF-2 is considered to be mainly an activator of phase 2 of the detoxification pathway (Hayes and Dinkova-Kostova, 2014; Oliveira et al., 2009). However, comparison of our data with previously published microarray data showed that some enzymes of phase 1 and phase 3 are also up-regulated by both CncC over-expression and the treatment of xenobiotics like phenobarbital and lithium. This is not entirely surprising as the detoxification should require enzymes from the three phases to be able to metabolise foreign toxins. We considered that the molecular characterisation showing similarity between lithium and phenobarbital should allow reconsideration of lithium as a xenobiotic.

Interestingly lithium was able to protect flies from the deleterious effect of paraquat, phenobarbital and chloroquine. All of these compounds can be catalogued as xenobiotics, given that they are foreign to Drosophila's internal milieu. The mechanism behind a xenobiotic being effective at protecting against another xenobiotic might be trough the "priming" or adaptive mechanism described for hormesis (Rattan, 2008; Yun and Finkel, 2014). For example worms or flies exposed to low-doses of a stressor are subsequently able to cope better to the exposure of the same stressor at higher lethal doses (Khazaeli et al., 1997; Lithgow, 2001; Sarup et al., 2013). It would be interesting to test whether low non-lethal doses of paraquat, phenobarbital or chloroquine would be able to protect flies against very high doses of lithium. For example, we have documented that flies exposed to lithium at 200 mM reach median lifespan within a day or 2 of exposure. Perhaps pre-treatment with low doses of these other compounds could elicit a xenobiotic response capable of instantaneously dealing with the subsequent lethal concentrations of lithium (Sarup et al., 2013). Additionally, testing whether lithium is able of protecting against itself could also prove to be valuable for establish the "priming" mechanism of hormesis for lithium.

An interesting point to raise here is the fact that IIS down-regulation has been shown to up-regulate genes in the detoxification pathway (McElwee et al., 2007), Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration

particularly those with glutathione-S transferase activity. These enzymes are both

regulated by CncC and HR96 (King-Jones et al., 2006; Misra et al., 2011). This could potentially suggest that IIS down-regulation and lithium activate the xenobiotic pathway through different mechanisms, and perhaps therefore elicit a non-overlapping transcriptional response. Moreover, when we overlapped the genes of IIS down-regulation via over-expression of a dominant negative version of the *dInR* (Alic et al., 2011b) we did not detect any similarity between any of the enzymes in the detoxification pathway elicited by lithium. The association of the detoxification pathway and IIS down-regulation was done using heterozygous loss of the insulin receptor substrate CHICO. Perhaps testing whether lithium treatment and loss of CHICO (and also CHICO with CncC and HR96 over-expression) overlap at the transcriptional level could unveil differences between different IIS mutants.

4.5.2 Mitochondrial respiratory chain complex I was down-regulated in flies treated with lithium

Additional to the up-regulation of enzymes in the xenobiotic pathway, we also observed that lithium treatment was enriched for GO categories involving mitochondrial complex I of the respiratory chain. Interestingly, these changes were at the down-regulated level for both the transcriptional and translational response. Given that this effect was not uncovered at the single gene level, suggest that this is rather a concerted response influenced by at least a few genes.

Further examination of the transcriptional and translational arrays revealed that CG9172 and CG9762, genes with NADH dehydrogenase (ubiquinone) activity that encode for *Drosophila* subunits of mitochondrial Complex I, were down-regulated in response to lithium. Individual ubiquitous RNAi knockdown of CG9172 and CG9762 extend *Drosophila* lifespan while also protect against PQ (Copeland et al., 2009). Additionally, reduced levels or reduced activity of complex I associate with healthy ageing in *C. elegans, Drosophila* and mice (Copeland et al., 2009; Dillin et al., 2002; Lapointe and Hekimi, 2008; Lee et al., 2003; Rea et al., 2007).

We tested the significance of the transcriptional and translational response to lithium by analysing the activity of mitochondria isolated from flies that had been treated with 10 mM lithium for 15 days. Interestingly we observed that while lithium did not affect at all the activity of complex II, it reduced the respiratory control ratio of complex I

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration

without affecting its oxygen consumption. We are unable to predict the implication of this

response, but we will further explore it. It will be interesting to test whether this response is capable of producing ROS, for example. If lithium was increasing ROS through complex I inhibition this could suggest that lithium is inducing a mitohormetic effect (Ristow, 2014; Ristow and Zarse, 2010; Yun and Finkel, 2014). Among the responses that cells would elicit to protect themselves against ROS production would be the activation of NRF-2 (Ristow, 2014), which would then provide a mechanistic insight as to how is lithium activating CncC/NRF-2. Mixed results have been reported as to the role of lithium for ROS generation and defense. For example, Eskandari and colleagues showed that lithium increased ROS production in rat hepatocytes, which led to mitochondria' membrane potential collapse and release of cytochrome c with subsequent cytotoxicity (Eskandari et al., 2012). On the other hand, it has been shown that lithium protects against H202-induced cell death in a neuroblastoma cell line (Arraf et al., 2012). Most of these studies are carried out in cell lines where the effects reported could be cell-line specific. We will have to carefully assess the role of lithium for ROS generation and clearance as the response to lithium might be cell type-specific.

Additionally, paraquat is not an oxidative stressor *per se.* Paraquat needs to be converted in the mitochondrial matrix to superoxide. One major site of superoxide production by paraquat is complex I (Cocheme and Murphy, 2008). Given that lithium might be inhibiting complex I, it is also possible that lithium prevents the formation of superoxide by paraquat and other toxins that increase ROS through complex I of the respiratory chain.

4.5.3 Does lithium induce a hormesis response? Is it a hormetin?

One of the big challenges with lithium treatment is its toxicity. Only small doses are recognised to have disease impact before side effects like renal failure and thyroid abnormalities develop. This has forced close monitoring of circulating levels in patients with lithium prescriptions (Freeman and Freeman, 2006; Severus et al., 2008). The biphasic response with lower dose promoting health benefits, while higher doses being toxic, is the signature of a hormetin. Interestingly such a biphasic response for survival was recently reported in a mammalian cell line (Suganthi et al., 2012). I have also discussed that lithium is potentially eliciting an adaptive response to stress and it activates the CncC/NRF-2 pathway which is at the heart of the hormesis response (Calabrese and Mattson, 2011; Mattson, 2008a; Ristow, 2014). Additionally our preliminary data on the —

omics response to lithium and our mitochondrial measurements could suggest that lithium acts also through ROS generation and mitohormesis. Further experiments will be required before lithium can be categorically categorised as a hormetin. However, suggestions that lithium is indeed a hormetin have been provided by others (Allender et al., 1997; Gao et al., 1993; Suganthi et al., 2012), leading to its inclusion in catalogs of chemical inducers of hormesis (Calabrese, 2005b; Calabrese and Baldwin, 2001).

Chapter 5 <u>GSK-3 in ageing and neurodegeneration</u>

"There is nothing more exciting in science than a completely new twist to an area that everyone thought had been solved many years earlier". Phillip Cohen and Sheelagh Frame

5.1 Abstract

It has been known for the past 20 years that GSK-3 is the main target of lithium. Both GSK-3 and lithium seem to converge in similar cellular pathways, translating into a myriad of potential downstream targets. Additionally non-convergent points have also been described, the most prominent being the regulation of inositol recycling. Lithium seems to regulate myo-inositol levels, which led to the inositol depletion hypothesis as mechanistic insight into its therapeutic value for BPD. Interestingly neither GSK-3 nor inositol monophosphatase (IMPase) have been evaluated for their role in the regulation of the ageing process. In this chapter I aimed to characterize their role in ageing, with particular emphasis on GSK-3. I tested the ubiquitous and tissue-specific effects of GSK-3 by genetic manipulation. Additionally I was able to test the interaction of lithium treatment and GSK-3 in the whole fly and also in specific sub-systems. I observed that at the whole fly level GSK-3 down-regulation extended lifespan and this effect was epistatic with lithium treatment. The converse was also true, i.e., increased ubiquitous expression of GSK-3 shortened lifespan and lithium was able to rescue this effect. However, over-expression of GSK-3 only in neuron extended lifespan and this was additive with lithium treatment. Interestingly the gut and fat body, highly implicated in the regulation of lifespan through HS down-regulation, did not respond to increased expression of GSK-3, suggesting that indeed GSK-3 acts in a tissue-specific manner to regulate the rate of ageing and control longevity. I also analysed the role of GSK-3 and lithium in a Drosophila model of Alzheimer's disease by expression of 4_{1-42} . Lithium and GSK-3 seem to act in different pathways to modulate lifespan of flies expressing 4_{1-42} , though both interventions seem to regulate neurodegeneration. Thus, I have uncovered a complicated relationship by which lithium and GSK3 modulate ageing in different tissues and neurodegeneration.

5.2 Introduction

5.2.1 GSK-3 in cellular signalling

Glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) is a protein serine/threonine kinase involved in a wide range of physiological actions that regulate development, cell cycle, oncogenesis, gene expression, metabolism, circadian clocks, apoptosis, and neuroprotection, among others. It has been described to participate in two cellular pathways, IIS and the wnt/I3-catenin pathway (Frame and Cohen, 2001; Jope and Johnson, 2004; Rayasam et al., 2009)

The insulin signalling pathway is responsible for cellular glucose uptake providing cells with this substrate to generate adenosine triphosphate, the principal cellular energy source. GSK-3 is downstream of Akt and immediately upstream of GS. GSK-3 functions to supress GS. Therefore, when insulin activates the pathway AKT inhibits GSK-3 allowing GS to synthesise glycogen (Cross et al., 1995, 1997). A detailed description of the role of GSK-3 in the insulin signalling pathway was provided in Chapter 1.

The other cellular pathway in which GSK-3 is involved is the Wnt/I3-catenin pathway (Figure 5.1). f3-catenin acts as a transcription factor. In the absence of stimuli the binding protein axin joins the *adenomatous polyposis colt* (APC) protein along with GSK3 and I3-catenin to form a complex that, after a sequence of phosphorylations, promotes the degradation of I3-catenin. In the presence of a positive stimulus Wnt binds to the transmembrane receptor frizzled activating the protein disheveled by direct binding to frizzled that along with the GSK-3-binding protein frat, allows the disruption of the complex formed by APC, axin and GSK-3. This in turn lowers the phosphorylation rate of I3-catenin allowing it to escape from the degradation complex. Instead, I3-catenin translocates to the nucleus and interacts with LEF-1/TCF family of transcription factors that regulate important proteins for cellular development during embryogenesis (Cohen and Frame, 2001; Jope and Johnson, 2004).



Oturd ROviCekli I Drilg DISCOVErrV

Figure 5.1 Schematic representation of the wnt/P-catenin pathway. GSK-3 plays a major role in this cellular pathway since it controls the rate of transcription by negatively regulating 13-catenin. When Wnt is activated, GSK-3 is inactive allowing translocation of13-catenin to the nucleus. Image taken from (Cohen and Goedert, 2004).

There are two mammalian isoforms of GSK-3, GSK-3a and GSK-30, the former is inactivated by phosphorylation at serine 21, and the latter at serine 9 (Cohen and Frame, 2001; Jope and Johnson, 2004; Rayasam et al., 2009). As mentioned earlier, the phosphorylation and hence inactivation of GSK-3 is primary for the regulation of glycogen synthesis. However, phosphorylation of GSK-3 does not seem to be a fundamental mechanism for inactivation of GSK-3 in the wnt/I3-catenin pathway, and there is evidence to support that the kinase activity of GSK-3 is not affected by Wnt activation (Cohen and Frame, 2001; Cross et al., 1997; Ding et al., 2000; McManus et al., 2005). This is consistent with the fmding that insulin activation and phosphorylation of GSK-3 does not increase I3-catenin levels. On the other hand, GSK-3 assembled with axin, APC and 13-catenin in the degradation complex is inaccessible to Akt (Ding et al., 2000). Therefore, although GSK-3 is common to both signalling pathways, their pools should be different or may function differently, however interaction between these pathways has been reported (Cohen and Frame, 2001; Frame and Cohen, 2001).

GSK-3I3 inactivation is the major cause for GS activity in the muscle, although this has been suggested to be partly due to increased levels (4-fold) of this isoforms compared to GSK-3a. However, inactivation of neither GSK-3 isoform appears to be relevant for GS

activity in the liver and in exercise-induced muscle GS dephosphorylation (McManus et al., 2005).

5.2.2 Regulation of GSK-3 and its inhibition by lithium

GSK-3 exerts its effects through a unique substrate specificity in which most of its substrates need prior phosphorylation (or 'priming phosphorylation') in a consensus recognition sequence (Ser/Thr-[X-X-X]-pSer/pThr). As mentioned earlier, GSK-3 in its constitutively active state, maintains GS inactivated through phosphorylation. However, in order for GSK-3 to phosphorylate GS at Ser652, the latter needs to be phosphorylated by casein kinase 2 (Ser656, the priming phosphorylation site). The initial phosphorylation by GSK-3 may induce phosphorylation of further residues, hence generating 'multiple phosphorylation domains'; in the case of GS a total of 5 (Cohen and Goedert, 2004; Frame and Cohen, 2001; Rayasam et al., 2009). GSK-3 phosphorylates tau and this has been implicated in the generation of neurofibrillary tangles in AD (Cohen and Goedert, 2004).



Figure 5.2 Sites of GSK-3 inhibition. GSK-313 is activated by phosphorylation at Tyr216 and inhibited by phosphorylation at Ser9 and also by competing for ATP at the ATP-binding site. Lihium ibhibits GSK-3 by increasing the phosphorylation at Ser9 and also by competing with ATP. Taken from (Meijer et al., 2004)

Lithium is the only available drug recognized to inhibit GSK-3 (Figure 5.2). It is widely prescribed for the treatment of BPD (Freeman and Freeman, 2006; Soares and Gershon, 1998). And although it has been in use for more than fifty years, there is still interest in its pharmacological properties and new therapeutic applications are found

constantly (Chuang et al., 2002; Phiel and Klein, 2001). The first indications that GSK-3 was a direct target of lithium came over a decade ago. Klein and Melton showed, by a peptide substrate assay, that LiC1, within therapeutic concentrations, was able to block GSK-3I3 mediated phosphorylation of protein phosphatase inhibitor-2 and tau. They proposed that lithium mimicked the effect of insulin signalling through inactivation of GSK-3I3 (Klein and Melton, 1996). Stambolic *et al.*, observed a similar substrate phosphorylation effect in *Drosophila* cells where lithium treatment mimicked the effect of Wnt/f3-catenin (*wingless/Armadillo* in *Drosophila*) activation (Stambolic et al., 1996). Nowadays, we know that lithium has a direct and indirect mechanism to inhibit GSK-3. Lithium directly inhibits GSK-3 by increasing its phosphorylation. Although, the later mechanisms is not fully understood, it is accepted that the indirect effect might be through inactivation of a phosphatase that normally removes phosphate residues from GSK-3 thus allowing its activation (Jope, 2003; Ryves and Harwood, 2001).

Since GSK-3 has been found to be implicated in several neuronal physiological processes, as well as in the pathogenesis of a diverse range of brain-related diseases, lithium is currently studied as a potential treatment option for diseases such as AD and other tauopathies (corticobasal degeneration, Pick's disease), HD, schizophrenia, among others (Cohen and Goedert, 2004; Hooper et al., 2008; Jope and Johnson, 2004; Lovestone et al., 2007).

5.2.3 The role of GSK-3 in ageing

There is no direct evidence of the role of GSK-3 in ageing. However, there are some indirect observations that suggest that GSK-3 function may be of great relevance for lifespan and ageing. The closest observation to date of the role of GSK-3 in ageing comes from a pharmacogenetic study of the effects of lithium in *C. elegans* (McColl et al., 2008). Lithium is the most potent drug, medically available, known to inhibit GSK-3 (Jope, 2003; Phiel and Klein, 2001). They observed that lithium treatment extended lifespan, and when this was correlated with gene-transcripts response to lithium and RNA interference knockdown experiments, they concluded that the effects of lithium could be by modulation of histone methylation and chromatin structure. However, when they expressed a maternally rescued null *gsk-3I3*, they observed a 36% reduction in *C. elegans* lifespan.

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration

Additionally, treatment of *gsk-3I3* null worms with lithium, further decreased lifespan (McColl et al., 2008).

Work in the *klotho* mice has shown that regulation of the Wnt/I3-catenin pathway is relevant for lifespan (Liu et al., 2007). The *klotho* mice were generated serendipitously as a result of an insertional mutation that disrupted the promoter region of an, until then, unknown gene, now named *klotho* (Kuro-o et al., 1997). The *klotho* gene encodes a type-I single-pass transmembrane protein that is an obligatory co-receptor of the fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23). As FGF23 regulates phosphate metabolism and it is also related with a premature ageing phenotype, this has unveiled a potential link between ageing and phosphate metabolism (Kuro-o, 2009, 2010). The *klotho* mice developed normally but presented with an early ageing phenotype and extremely reduced lifespan (Kuro-o, 2009; Kuro-o et al., 1997). It was reported an average lifespan of 60.7 days with no mice living longer than 100 days. Moreover, the *klotho* deficient mice developed age-related changes and diseases such as arteriosclerosis, osteoporosis, emphysema, skin atrophy and infertility (Kuro-o et al., 1997). On the other hand, mice overexpressing *klotho* significantly outlived their littermates by 18 to 30% (Kurosu et al., 2005).

The above illustrates that klotho is an important protein involved in the regulation of lifespan and ageing. Its relevance for GSK-3 was established later when Liu and colleagues showed that klotho physically interacts with Wnt, as co-immunoprecipitation experiments evidenced that klotho immunoprecipitates with several Wnt isoforms. Even more, this biophysical interaction was shown to negatively regulate the Wnt/I3-catenin pathway. *Klotho* mice show either reduced (when obtained by insertional mutation) or no (generated by conventional gene targeting) activity, resulting in increased Wnt pathway activity in several tissues. Additionally, *in vitro* studies where primary mouse embryonic fibroblasts were grown in a Wnt3a-conditioned medium, and analyses of skin follicles of mice overexpressing Wntl (increasing in both the activity of the Wnt/(3-catenin pathway), showed a significant augmentation of senescence when compared against controls (Liu et al., 2007). Since increased Wnt/f3-catenin pathway activity would maintain GSK-3 in an inactive state, it is possible to hypothesize that a persistent inactive GSK-3 could be in part responsible for the pro-ageing phenotype of the *Klotho* deficient mice. This is also consistent with the lifespan effect of null *gsk-3/3* mutants in *C. elegans*.

Additional evidence of the role of GSK-3 in ageing has come from the overexpression of the Wnt/I3-catenin pathway in *Drosophila*. Shen *et al.*, over-expressed *wingless*, the fly homolog of Wnt, using the Act-GS conditional expression system

(allowing limited life-cycle expression). Overexpression of *wingless* was lethal to both male and female larvae, but when *wingless* was over-expressed during adulthood, it reduced lifespan up to 42% (Shen et al., 2009).

The available data does not give direct evidence as to what is the role of GSK-3 in ageing. Lithium is recognized as a GSK-3 inhibitor however, the results from McColl are contradictory to some extent to what one would expect from GSK-3 inhibition and lithium treatment (McColl et al., 2008). As mentioned earlier, they found that although lithium treatment increased the lifespan of worms, a null *gsk-3I3* had detrimental survival effects. Moreover, the indirect evidence presented from modulation of the Wnt signalling pathway better supports that inhibition of shaggy/GSK-3 has a pro-ageing effect.

5.2.4 Lithium and the inositol depletion hypothesis

Inositol



Figure 5.3 Inositol phosphate pathway. Lithium and other mood-stabilising drugs are thought to act by inhibiting specific components of the inositol phosphate pathway. Besides inhibiting recycling of inositol via IPP and IMPase inhibition, lithium also inhibits *de novo* synthesis of inositol through IMPase inhibition. However, valproic acid (VPA) most directly inhibits synthesis through inhibition of inositol synthase (ino-1). Additionally lithium, VPA and carbamazepine (CBZ) also inhibit transport across the membrane via the sodium/myo-inositol transporter (SMIT) Taken from (Harwood, 2005).

The inositol depletion hypothesis of lithium proposed by Berridge, Downes and Manley suggests that lithium acts to stabilize mood via inhibition of the recycling of inositol and interfering with inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP3)-mediated cell signalling (Figure 5.3) (Berridge et al., 1989). This followed from the observation of Allison and Stewart who described that lithium-treated rats showed a 30% reduction of myo-inositol levels in cerebral cortex. Importantly they showed that this effect was not reproducible by NaC1 (Allison and Stewart, 1971). However, other studies have called these results into question (Phiel and Klein, 2001). Lithium is presumed to inhibit the recycling of inositol for the re-

synthesis of inositol phospholipids via negatively acting at least on two enzymes, inositol-1,4 biphosphate 1-phosphatase (IPP) and inositol-1(or 4)-monophastase (IMPase) (Berridge, 1985; Chiu and Chuang, 2010; Harwood, 2005).

Myo-inositol is the substrate for the formation of the lipid membrane phosphatidylinositol (PtdIns). Phosphorylation in its inositol carbon ring results in the formation of mono-, bis- and tris- PtdIns phosphate (PtdInsP). Stimulus activation, for example of G protein coupled receptors, activates the enzyme phospholipase C (PLC) which hydrolyzes PtdIns(4,5)P2 (or PIP2) to release soluble inositol tris-phosphate (IP₃). This is particularly relevant for calcium homeostasis. Additionally, PLC releases diacyl glycerol (DAG) which activates protein kinase C (PKC) and its downstream targets (Can et al., 2014; Harwood, 2005).

IP3 dephosphorylation by subsequent action of IPP and IMPase recycles inositol (mostly present as the stereoisomer myo-inositol). Lithium inhibits IPP and IMPase within the therapeutic range (0.5 to 1.5 mM) (Can et al., 2014; Phiel and Klein, 2001). Inositol depletion by these and other enzymes has been proposed as a common mechanism of action for lithium, valproic acid and carbamazepine (Figure 5.3) (Williams et al., 2002). Lithium is a non-competitive inhibitor of IMPase, which means that the degree of inhibition is dependent (or more effective) on both the inhibitor and the substrate; the more inositol phosphate, the more inhibition (Phiel and Klein, 2001; Williams and Harwood, 2000). This has often been taken as an explanation why lithium stabilises mood in disease patients but not in non-affected subjects (Phiel and Klein, 2001). It is presumed that patients with BPD and other mood disorders have and increased pool of inositol or signalling through the IP₃ signalling pathway, though evidence for this is scarce (Can et al., 2014). Interestingly, myo-inositol supplementation is capable of blocking the effect on inositol depletion (Williams and Harwood, 2000; Williams et al., 2002).

5.2.5 Alzheimer's disease: clinical and pathological principles

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common neurodegenerative disease; it contributes 60 to 70% of all causes of neurodegeneration (Holtzman et al., 2011). It has been estimated to affect over 35 million people worldwide (Selkoe, 2012). While the contribution to overall mortality from other chronic degenerative diseases has been declining over time (the so called morbidity compression), AD is increasingly becoming a dominant contributor to death (Figure 5.4) (Alzheimer's Association, 2014).



Figure 5.4 Percentage changes in mortality for the major killer diseases between 2000 and 2010 from

data from the National Center for Health Statistics, USA. Taken from (Alzheimer's Association, 2014).

The major risk factor for AD is ageing, as the incidence of the disease increases with age (Mayeux and Stern, 2012). Other important risk factors are family history, APOE status, cardiovascular health, education and traumatic brain injury, amongst others (Alzheimer's Association, 2012, 2014). Indeed there is great evidence that altered metabolism of glucose and cholesterol increase the risk of AD, though this connection seem to go in both directions (Castillo-Quan et al., 2008; Luchsinger, 2010). Family history is relevant since AD has a strong genetic component. Most cases of AD develop later in life (LOAD, late onset AD), after the 7th decade, and are thought to be sporadic (with unknown cause, or multigenic in aetiology). However, less than 1% can develop the disease as early as there forties (EOAD, early onset AD). EAOD or familial AD arises secondary to mutations in genes that increase the production of amyloid beta (A(3). AD is characterised by the presence of two pathological hallmarks, extracellular senile plaques consisting of insoluble aggregated Af31_42 (A(3 and Af31_42 [or Af342] can be used interchangeably to denote the full length of the amyloidogenic peptide) and intracellular neurofibrillary tangles composed of a hyperphosphorylated form of the microtubule associated protein tau (George-Hyslop, 2000; Hardy, 2004; Selkoe, 1991; Tanzi, 2012). These pathological hallmarks were recognised early in the 1900's by the German psychiatrist Alois Alzheimer in Auguste D. This was a 51-year-old woman who presented with an atypical form of dementia that included auditory hallucinations, delusions,

paranoia and aggression along with short-term memory loss and language deficits. Alois Alzheimer's description of the pathological features of the disease, later named after him by his mentor Emil Kraeplin, remain to be one of the landmark breakthroughs of the disease (Goate and Hardy, 2012; Ramirez-Bermudez, 2012).



Figure 5.5 Amyloid precursor processing and the formation of 4_{1_42}. For detail description see main text. Taken from (Querfurth and LaFerla, 2010).

AI31_42 derives from the `abnormal' processing of the ubiquitous type I transmembrane protein amyloid precursor protein (APP). APP695, the major neuronal form of APP (other forms like APP751 and APP770 are expressed elsewhere), is cleaved by two metabolic routes, the amyloidogenic or non-amyloidogenic paths (Figure 5.5). In the non-amyloidogenic route APP is sequentially cleaved by a- and y-secretase. Cleavage by a-secretase results in the release of a large N-terminal ectodomain (sAPPa) to the extracellular space, while the remaining C83 fragment is digested by y-secretase to release to the extracellular space a fragment called p3 and the amyloid intracellular domain (AICD) released in the cytoplasm. On the other hand, amyloidogenic processing initiates with processing by (3-secretase (3-site APP-cleaving enzyme 1 (BACE-1) realising a shorter sAPP called sAPP(3. The remaining C99 fragment is processed then by y-secretase liberating A(3 of different lengths, including A(31_38, **A**)

A(31_42 and A(31_43 (Cummings

and Cole, 2002; LaFerla et al., 2007; Mann et al., 1996; Querfurth and LaFerla, 2010; Welander et al., 2009). A(31_42 is the most common and pathogenic form of A(3 present in plaques, though recently the pathogenicity of $A13_{1_{43}}$ has also been described (Saito et al., 2011).

There is always been debate as to which one, Al3 or tau, drive the disease. The amyloid cascade hypothesis offers a conceptual framework for the study of AD (Figure 5.6). This hypothesis proposes that increased Al3 production is an early event of the disease that drives in an almost sequential manner the pathology that leads to neurodegeneration and clinical AD (Goate and Hardy, 2012; Hardy, 2009; Hardy and Selkoe, 2002; Selkoe, 2006). The greatest support for this theory comes from the fact that mutations in APP that increase the production of Af31_42, alter the ratio of Af31_40 to A131-42, or increase the aggregation propensity of A131_42 all lead to familial EOAD (Bertram et al., 2010; Goate et al., 1991; Guerreiro et al., 2013; Hardy, 2004; Nilsberth et al., 2001; Tanzi, 2012). However, mutations in tau do not cause AD and have been linked to other forms of neurodegeneration like fronto-temporal dementia and some forms of parkinsonism (Goedert, 2005; Spillantini and Goedert, 2013; Wolfe, 2009).

	Amyloid cascade hypothesis
40	Missense mutations in APP, PS1 or PS2 genes
-	Increased A1342 production and accumulation AII42 oligomerization and deposition as diffuse
•	plaques Subtle effects of AR oligomers on synapses
	Microglial and astrocytic activation (complement <u>factors, cytokines, e</u> tc
	Progressive synaptic and neuritic injury
	Altered neuronal ionic homeostasis; oxidative injury 1
	Altered kinase/phosphatase activities \succ tangles
	Widespread neuronal/neuritic dysfunction and cell death with transmitter deficits
	Dementia

Figure 5.6 Amyloid cascade hypothesis as proposed by John Hardy and Denis Selkoe. In familial EAOD mutations in APP and the presenilin proteins presenilin 1 (PS1 encoded by PSEN1) or presenilin 2 (PS2 encoded by PSEN2) that increase the activity of ysecretase, augmenting the A13_{1_42} load (Hardy, 2010; Hardy and Selkoe, 2002) initiate a sequence of events that culminate in dementia. Taken from (Goate and Hardy, 2012).

Clinically, the disease has an insidious presentation that often starts with minor short-term memory loss (often dismissed by patients and those surrounding them) and orientation difficulties. Remote or long-term memory is only lost later in the disease. After many years other symptoms like loss of verbal and motor control, judgement and reasoning can also accompany. Less common symptoms include depression, hallucinations and psychosis; sleep disturbances, agitation, anxiety, etc. (Blennow et al., 2006; Cummings and Cole, 2002; Holtzman et al., 2011; Mayeux, 2003).

Even though we have understood a great deal of the disease, there is very little the community can offer patients in terms of treatments. Pharma and academia have embarked in huge and costly clinical trials just to end up with disappointing outcomes and no therapeutic approach with clinical value. Where are we failing? All therapeutic interventions that have entered clinical trials have done so with a great deal of preclinical data backing them up. Certainly, the effort is being done, yet the fruits are long overdue. This has made several to reconsider the approach. For example, the amyloid cascade hypothesis has been partly blamed for being the main focus of most academics. Yet, clinical data still supports that Af31_42 as an early pathogenic event. Moreover, mutations that increase Af31_42 production translate clinically in AD, which cannot be said by mutations arising in tau. Others have also considered that the use of mouse models that do not recapitulate the disease are also to blame. Although fmger pointing will not bring solutions, serious considerations need to be taken so that we can bring the community to a consensus and efficient approach to tackle this horrible disease (Guerreiro and Hardy, 2011; Hardy, 2009; Lansbury and Lashuel, 2006; Selkoe, 2012).

5.2.6 Drosophila models of Alzheimer's disease

Although *Drosophila* possesses an APP like protein, *Appl* (Luo et al., 1992; Rosen et al., 1989), it is contested whether it possess a functional I3-secretase responsible for the cleaving of the amyloidogenic portion, though the fly does possess a functional y-secretase (Carmine-Simmen et al., 2009; Fossgreen et al., 1998). Moreover the amylogogenicity of *Appl* has been shown to be poorly conserved in evolution (Rosen et al., 1989). A viable option for modelling AD in *Drosophila* has been the reconstitution of the system, i.e., inserting in the fly all the components of the amyloidogenic processing pathway that lead to the generation of Af31_42. This has proven to be effective at showing that the processing can indeed happen when these genes are inserted in the fly. Through incorporation of human APP695, a- and y-secretase, the fly has been used to determine toxicity of A131-42 and also to screen for modifiers of Af31_42 production. However, given that the processing is happening because of the artificial introduction of human components, this approach has been regarded as less revealing (Bonner and Boulianne, 2011; Iijima and Iijima-Ando, 2008).

An alternative has been to introduce full length Al3 instead to study the downstream effects that lead to neurodegeneration. By using the Ga14/UAS system (described in Chapter 2) Iijima and colleagues studied behavioural and survival of flies expressing A(31_ ao or A(31_42. They observed that expression of A(31_42 in the fly brain lead to the formation of amyloid deposits, age-dependent learning defects, locomotor defects and neuronal loss. Additionally these flies also showed reduced survival. In contrast, expression of A131_40 did not lead to neurodegeneration, locomotor defects nor reduced survival, though it associated with learning defects (Iijima et al., 2004). Crowther and colleagues used a similar strategy but also expressed A(31_42 carrying the Arctic mutation, a Glu22Gly amino acid substitution that accelerates aggregate formation (Nilsberth et al., 2001). They showed that the Arctic mutation showed more accelerated and severe phenotypes than expressing wild type A(31-42 (Crowther et al., 2005; Kinghorn et al., 2006).

Recently our group used another fly genetic tool, the Gene Switch system (described in Chapter 2) (Osterwalder et al., 2001), to show that the effects of A131_42 are not produced by disrupting the developmental programme of neurons as the expression of the transgenes is only started once the fly was matured. Sofola and colleagues expressed A(31_40 or A(31_42 (with the Arctic mutation) only in adult neurons. While expression of Arctic-A(31_42 reduced survival and accelerated age-related locomotor decline, expression of A(31_40 did not. They also show that the expression of Arctic-A(31_42 lead to the progressive deterioration of the synaptic capacity of the giant fibre system, an escape system in Drosophila. Interestingly, they did not observe neuronal cell loss (Sofola et al., 2010). This model can be used to tease out early pathogenic event given that $A(31_42)$ is expressed only when the experimenter provides fly medium supplemented with the GeneSwitch inducer (mifepristone or RU486). Additionally, Rogers and colleagues used it to determine whether older neurons are more susceptible to the toxic effects of Arctic-A(31_ 42. They found that older flies die faster than younger flies when Arctic-A(31_42 is expressed, even when the mRNA or peptide levels are controlled to be similar in the young and old (Rogers et al., 2012). The GeneSwitch system model for the expression of Arctic-A(31_42 has also been used to determine that Drosophila tau is downstream of A131_42 in the pathogenic cascade (Sofola et al., 2010), and that drugs that modify Arctic-A(31_42 levels improve the phenotypes observed in this model (Sofola-Adesakin et al., 2014).

5.3 Methodology and experimental design

5.3.1 Drosophila strains

All shaggy lines for ageing experiments were crossed into the ^{-14,Dah} background. Experiments for neurodegeneration were carried out in the ^{w1118} background. UAS-sgg, UAS-sgg(S9E) and UAS-sgg(S9A) were obtained from Dr. Oyinkan Sofola-Adesakin. UAS-sgg-RNAi and UAS-IMPase-RNAi lines were obtained from Vienna *Drosophila* RNAi Center and UAS-sgg-RNAi(1) and UAS-sgg(KD) were obtained from the Bloomington Stock Center. S1106 driver was obtained from Dr. Ivana Bjedov. UAS-Arctic-A01-42 was a generous gift from Damian Crowther (Cambridge, UK) and UAS-0N4Rtau was obtained from Dr. Fiona Kerr.

5.3.2 Immunoblotting

The following primary antibodies were used: phospho(Ser9)-GSK-3 (#9331 Cell Signaling Technologies: 1:500), total-GSK-3 (#G8170-40 US Biologicals; 1:1000), total human tau (#A0024 Dako; 1:1000), CP13 (phospho(Ser202)-human tau; a generous gift of Dr. Peter Davies to Dr. Fiona Kerr; 1:100), PHF-1 (phospho(Ser396/Ser404)-human tau; a generous gift of Dr. Peter Davies to Dr. Fiona Kerr; 1:100).

5.3.3 Myo-Inositol supplementation

Myo-inositol (15125 Sigma) was prepared as 20 mM before supplemented to fly medium at the appropriate concentration.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Lithium inhibited shaggy across a wide range of concentrations

GSK-3 is a well-documented target of lithium (Jope, 2003). I therefore decided to investigate whether the concentrations used in my experiments were able to inhibit GSK-3. I treated flies for 15 days before testing by immunoblot analyses. Lithium increased the inhibitory phosphorylation (Serine 9 or S9) of shaggy (*sgg*) in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 5.7; P < 0.05, ANOVA post hoc Tukey- Kramer). Thus, the concentrations used in my experiments, including the ones that extend lifespan, significantly inhibited *sgg*.



Figure 5.7 Lithium increased the inhibitory Ser9 phosphorylation of shaggy/GSK-3. Female flies were treated with lithium for 15 days after which they were analysed by immunoblot analyses. * P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01(ANOVA, post hoc Tukey-Kramer). Bar represents 3 biological replicates of 10 flies each \pm SEM.

5.4.2 Different shaggy transgenes modified tau phosphorylation levels

I decided to investigate the role of GSK-3 in *Drosophila* ageing and to evaluate how it interacts with lithium. I first assessed the kinase activity of over-expressing *sgg*, an RNAi line against *sgg* and several mutants that differentially regulate its kinase activity. Given the lack of reagents to test the ability of *sgg* to phosphorylate downstream targets, I evaluated the ability of *sgg* (or mutants) to phosphorylate the human version of the microtubule associated protein tau (hTau, specifically ON4R tau). Tau is a *bona fide* downstream target of GSK-3, which has made it a relevant pharmacological target for the treatment of AD and other relevant diseases where tau is hyperphosphorylated (Hooper et al., 2008; Querfurth and LaFerla, 2010). Moreover, *sgg* has previously been shown to be

able to phosphorylate hTau, which correlated with neurodegeneration in flies (Chatterjee et al., 2009; Mudher et al., 2004). I first made a double mutant fly carrying the ubiquitous actGS driver and the UAS-0N4Rtau. I then crossed this double mutant with control flies or other UAS lines making it possible to have flies carrying a driver and two UAS lines simultaneously. I observed that while over-expression of wild-type sgg or the S9A and S9E mutants increased tau phosphorylation (P < 0.05, ANOVA post hoc Tukey-Kramer), RNAi-mediated knockdown of sgg significantly reduced phosphorylation levels (Figure 5.8; P < 0.05, ANOVA post hoc Tukey-Kramer). The S9A sgg mutant carries an alanine instead of a serine in position nine, while the S9E mutations carries a glutamic acid substitution in the same position (Bourouis, 2002; Papadopoulou et al., 2004). The S9A mutation should render the enzyme activity constitutively active, while the S9E mutation should act as a phosphomimic, hence acting as a dominant negative. As it will become evident from experiments presented later, none of my experiments suggest that the S9E and S9A mutation are phenotypically different (see discussion). I sequenced the mutations in my fly stocks to corroborate that my flies carried the appropriate mutations, finding that they indeed were S9A or S9E mutants (data not shown).

Over-expression of a kinase dead (sgg-KD) mutant did not significantly modify tau phosphorylation levels (P > 0.05, ANOVA post hoc Tukey-Kramer). Thus, I identified *sgg* transgenes with the ability to reduce tau phosphorylation and to increase it.



Figure 5.8 *In vivo* phosphorylation of tau by several transgenes of shaggy. Flies expressing tau and one of five UAS-sgg lines were assessed for their ability to phosphorylate human tau by using two antibodies against tau sites known to be phosphorylated by GSK-3 (Ser202 and Ser404). * P < 0.05 (ANOVA, post hoc Tukey Kramer). N= 4 replicates of 10 flies each ± SEM.

5.4.3 Shaggy transgenes that increased tau phosphorylation reduced lifespan

I first analysed how *sgg* transgenes that increased tau phosphorylation modulate lifespan. For this purpose I over-expressed wild type *sgg*, the S9A or S9E mutant using the actGS driver and fed them the inducer RU486 from day 2 post-eclosion. Over-expression of either of these transgenes shortened lifespan significantly (Figure 5.9; P > 0.001, ANOVA post hoc Tukey-Kramer for the induced lines in comparison to their respective control).



increased tau phosphorylation. (A) Over-expression of wild type sgg shortened lifespan. (B) Over-expression of the S9A sgg mutant or the (C) S9E sgg mutant reduced lifespan. N= 150 female flies per condition. A set of these experiments was performed in collaboration with Dr. Ivana Bjedov.

Over-expression of wild type *sgg* shortened lifespan by about 30%. Median and maximum lifespan of flies over-expressing *sgg* were 33.7 and 54.5 days respectively. In contrast their uninduced controls showed a median and maximum of 54.5 and 73.1 days, respectively. Flies over-expressing the *sgg* S9A mutant had a median lifespan of 25, while their non-induced counterpart showed a median lifespan of 53 days. Interestingly, both the induced and uninduced lines showed a maximum lifespan of 63 days. In a similar vein, flies over-expressing the S9E mutation showed a median and maximum lifespan of 27 and

56 days, respectively; in contrast to a median and maximum lifespan of 58 and 70 days of the un-induced controls. Thus, *sgg* transgenes that increased tau phosphorylation reduced lifespan when over-expressed in adulthood from 2 days post-eclosion.

5.4.4 Early or late-onset over-expression of shaggy reduced lifespan

I just showed that over-expression of sgg increased phosphorylation of human tau in vivo. This evidence of increased GSK-3 activity correlated with a significant reduction in lifespan. Interestingly, the survival curves for the S9A and S9E mutants showed an early accelerated death rate, after which the curves plateau making it seem that flies expressing either of these sgg mutants could survive as long as the last 10% of the un-induced controls (Figure 5.9B). The plateau effect in the survival curve after the initial high mortality could suggest that over-expression of sgg mutants with increased kinase activity has deleterious effects at younger, but not older ages. Therefore, I evaluated the possibility that late-onset expression could have favourable effects in comparison to early onset overexpression. I tested the effect of over-expressing the S9E or S9A sgg mutants after 2 days post-eclosion (as in previous experiments) and after 15 or 30 days. For these experiments flies were reared at the same time and randomly separated into 4 groups, one of which started RU treatment at day 2, one at day 15 and another one after 30 days of eclosion. The remaining group was labelled as the un-induced control. Flies that were switched on at later stages (after 2 days) were kept in the same fly medium as the control group until the time of switch. I observed that lifespan was significantly reduced independent of the age at which the over-expression was started (Figure 5.10). When the S9A mutant was induced 2 days post-eclosion the median lifespan was 21.6 days, while median lifespan when induction was started later, 15 and 30 days, was 35.6 and 52 days, respectively (P for all comparisons < 0.001, log-rank test; Figure 5.10A). The time required from induction (when RU was supplemented for the first time) to reach median lifespan was very similar being 19.6, 20.6 and 22 days, respectively for inductions starting 2, 15 and 30 days posteclosion. A similar scenario was observed when the S9E mutant was expressed in a similar time frame (Figure 5.10B). The median lifespan of flies over-expressing the S9E mutant was 21.6, 41 and 50.5 days for initiating gene expression at days 2, 15 and 30 posteclosion, respectively (P for all comparisons < 0.001, log-rank test). The time required for reaching median lifespan from the moment of switching to fly medium supplemented with RU was 19.6, 26 and 20.5 days, respectively.

I also tested the effect of over-expressing these *sgg* mutants under lower (25 piM RU; Figure 5.10C and D) RU concentrations of the inducer observing a consistent and similar result than when induced with 200 piM of the inducer. My results thus suggest that ubiquitous over-expression of wild type *sgg* or *sgg* mutants that increased the phosphorylation of human tau *in vivo* reduced lifespan whether expressed early in adulthood or late in life.



Figure 5.10 Late-onset over-expression of shaggy shortens lifespan. A and B show the over-expression of the (A) S9A or **(B)** S9E mutant induced by 200 11M RU, while C and **D** show over-expression with 25 jiM RU, respectively. Arrows represent time to switch ON expression by supplementing RU. N= 150 female flies per condition.

5.4.5 Shaggy-RNAi extended lifespan and protected against paraquat

Having established that *sgg* mutants that increase tau phosphorylation reduce lifespan I sought out to investigate the role of the line that reduced phospho-tau levels. Hence, I turned my attention to the *sgg* RNAi fly line and tested its role in longevity. Down-regulation of *sgg* significantly increased lifespan (P < 0.01, log rank test; Figure 5.11A). I also tested an independent *sgg* RNAi line also observing lifespan extension when induced

(Figure 5.11B; P < 0.01, log rank test). Thus, RNAi-mediated knockdown of *sgg* increased lifespan

Given that lithium treatment protects against oxidative stress I explored the possibility that genetic down-regulation of sgg could also protect against paraquat. I induced the expression of the RNAi against shaggy for 15 days before transferring flies to medium containing paraquat. Interestingly, RNAi-mediated knockdown of sgg significantly protected against paraquat (P < 0.01, log rank test; Figure 5.11C). Thus, lifespan extension and paraquat resistance are two features of sgg down-regulation.



Figure 5.11 RNAi-mediated knockdown extended lifespan and protected against paraquat. A and B show survival curves of two independent *sgg* RNAi lines. N=160 female flies per conditions. (C) shows the response of knockdown of *sgg* to paraquat. N = 90 flies per condition.

5.4.6 Genetic manipulations of shaggy did not consistently alter hypoxia, armadillo and the IIS pathways

In an attempt to understand the molecular mechanisms behind GSK-3 regulation of lifespan I assessed the expression of genes transcriptionally regulated when certain pathways change. For this I hypothesised that changes having a meaningful impact in the regulation of lifespan due to *sgg* modulation would happen in opposing directions when *sgg* is down-regulated and when *sgg* or the S9A mutant are over-expressed.

One pathway that responds in opposite directions when GSK-3 is manipulated is the hypoxia response pathway. When GSK-3 is down-regulated, genes downstream of the transcription hypoxia-inducible factor-la (HIF-1a) are induced. On the contrary, overexpression of GSK-3 reduces HIF- 1 a (Fliigel et al., 2007). I therefore decided to characterise the mRNA levels of the two most characterised gene targets of HIF-la in *Drosophila, scylla* and *charybdis* (Brugarolas et al., 2004). Surprisingly, I only observed down-regulation of these two genes in the flies over-expressing wild type *sgg* (Figure 5.12A and B; P < 0.05; Student's t-test), but not when *sgg* was down-regulated or in the S9A mutant over-expression (P > 0.05; Student's t-test). As these changes did not follow my genetic manipulations and particularly did not change in flies with sgg-RNAi I consider that the hypoxia response pathway is unlikely to be a major player in the regulation of lifespan due to changes in *sgg* levels.

GSK-3 is known to modulate the arniadillo/13-catenin pathway by targeting armadillo for degradation. This inhibition would reduce signalling to the nucleus, hence lowering the expression of known transcripts (Gordon et al., 2005). I therefore decided to explore two gene targets of the armadillo pathway, namely Fz3 (which encodes for the receptor frizzled 3) and *naked*. Fz3 mRNA levels were significantly lower (Figure 5.12C; P < 0.05, Student's t-test) in flies expressing sgg-RNAi and wild type *sgg*, while no detectable change was observed in flies over-expressing the S9A mutant. mRNA levels of naked only significantly changed in flies over-expressing the S9A mutant (Figure 5.12D; P < 0.01, Student's t-test) while no change was detected when *sgg* was down-regulated or over-expressed (P > 0.05, Student's t-test). Thus, it is unlikely that the armadillo/f3-catenin pathway plays a significant role in the modulation of lifespan through *sgg*, given the inconsistent results between the two gene targets and the genetic manipulations.

I also assessed gene targets of the IIS pathway. Sgg is known to modulate this pathway by targeting IRS-1/chico for degradation, hence down-regulating the pathway (Eldar-Finkelman and Krebs, 1997). I therefore analysed the expression of three known targets of dFOXO, *dlnR, chico* and *4E-BP* (Alic et al., 2011b). Once more the results were inconsistent with alterations in the IIS pathway regulating lifespan downstream of *sgg. dlnR* and *chico* mRNA levels were down-regulated with expression of sgg-RNAi and over-expression of *sgg* wild type (Figure 5.12E and F; P < 0.05; Student's t-test) while no changes were detected in the S9A mutant. In the case of *4E-BP* the only detectable change was observed when wild type *sgg* was over-expressed (Figure 5.12G; P < 0.05, Student's t-test), in which it was down-regulated.



Figure 5.12 mRNA expression levels of gene targets of pathways reported to interact with GSK-3. Expression levels of several genes were quantified by RT-qPCR. Darker shade indicates induction of transgene. These genes are downstream of pathways known to be modulated by GSK-3, namely the hypoxia pathway (A and B), the armadillo/I3-catenin (C and D) pathway and the IIS pathway (E and G). For this experiments mRNA was quantified from quadruplicates of 10 whole flies. * P < 0.05. These experiments were performed in collaboration with Dr. Ivana Bjedov.

In summary, these results do not support a role for the hypoxia, armadillo or ITS pathways in the regulation of lifespan by *sgg* modulation.

5.4.7 Lithium partially rescued from the detrimental effects of shaggy over-expression

Next I examined the interaction of different *sgg* transgene lines and lithium for lifespan. First, I over-expressed wild type shaggy and again observed a —30% reduction in median lifespan (P < 0.01, log rank test). Interestingly, lithium treatment supplemented in the fly medium at 10 or 25 mM almost completely restored the detrimental lifespan effects of *sgg* over-expression (Figure 5.13A; P < 0.01, log rank test). I also assessed the interaction of lithium with the over-expression of the S9A mutant. Over-expression of the constitutively active S9A mutant significantly reduced lifespan by 50% and lithium almost completely rescued the survival detrimental effect (P < 0.001, log rank test; Figure 5.13B). These results indicate that lithium treatment can overcome the detrimental lifespan effects of over-expressing forms of *sgg* that increase tau phosphorylation.



Figure 5.13 Lithium rescued from the lifespan shortening effect of sgg over-expression. (A) Lithium 10 or 25 mM rescued from the effects of wild type sgg over-expression. (B) Lithium almost completely rescued the detrimental effects from over-expressing the sgg S9A mutant. N= 150 female flies per condition. Experiment in B was performed in collaboration with Dr. Ivana Bjedov.

5.4.8 Lithium treatment and shaggy-RNAi were epistatic for lifespan



Figure 5.14 Lithium and RNAi against shaggy were epistatic for lifespan extension. Lithium is unable to further extend the lifespan extension conferred by RNAi against *sgg*. N = 150 flies per condition.

I then decided to perform a similar experiment when sgg was genetically down-regulated. I was interested to evaluate whether lithium treatment and genetic manipulation of sgg were additive or epistatic. Sgg-RNAi-mediated knockdown increased median lifespan by —14% (10 days) and maximum lifespan by —7% (6 days). When lithium was added in the fly medium at a dose of 5 mM, no further lifespan extension was observed (Figure 5.14; P > 0.05, log rank test) as the survival curves of flies with down-regulated sgg treated \pm 5 mM lithium overlapped. Importantly, doubling the dose of lithium (from 5 to 10 mM) restored the lifespan of the induced sgg-RNAi line to control levels (similar to increasing the concentration of lithium under maximised conditions for longevity; Figure 3.3).

To the best of my knowledge this is the first time an epistatic interaction between GSK-3 genetic down-regulation and lithium has been tested in *Drosophila*. The epistatic effect of the pharmacologic and genetic interventions suggests that inhibition of *sgg* and lithium treatment modulate lifespan by acting on the same pathway. The inhibitory effect of lithium is only partial as shown in Figure 5.7, as is the effect of sgg down-regulation (Figure 5.8), hence when combined a stronger inhibition is achieved. Strong inhibition of sgg obtained with high doses of lithium is detrimental for longevity (Figure 3.3). Hence, though 5 mM LiC1 and sgg-RNAi were epistatic, addition of 10 mM (that would otherwise still be able to extend lifespan) to a fly with optimal down-regulation of *sgg*, restored survival to control levels.

5.4.9 Lithium and myo-inositol were epistatic for lifespan

The inositol depletion hypothesis is an alternative to GSK-3 inhibition for the mechanism of lithium (Harwood, 2005). I therefore tested whether addition of myo-inositol would block the lifespan extension effect of lithium (Figure 5.15A). I observed that supplementation of my-inositol at 10 11M extended lifespan, while 100 ptM shortened lifespan (Figure 5.15B). To my surprise the combination of 1011M myo-inositol and lithium at either 0.5 mM (Figure 5.15C) or 1 mM (Figure 5.15E) were epistatic. However, lithium protected against the detrimental effect of 100 11M myo-inositol supplementation (Figure 5.15D and F). These results do not support that inositol depletion is a mechanism by which lithium promotes longevity, but lithium can protect against increased detrimental effects of myo-inositol.



Figure 5.15 Lithium and myo-inositol treatment were epistatic for lifespan. (A) Lithium concentrations from 0.5 to 10 mM extended lifespan. (B). Supplementation of myo-inositol at a concentration of 10 RM extended lifespan, while 100 RM shortened lifespan. (C) Combination of lithium 0.5 mM and myo-inositol at 10 11M were epistatic for lifespan. (D) Lithium 0.5 mM can rescue from the detrimental effects of 100 RM myo-inositol. (E) 1 mM lithium and 10 11M myo-inositol were epistatic for lifespan. (F) Lithium 1 mM can rescue from the lifespan shortening of effect of 100 RM myo-inositol.

Activation of autophagy is the proposed mechanism by which inhibition of inositol recycling exerts its effects (Sarkar et al., 2005). I therefore analysed LiCI-induction of autophagy by measuring LC3-I/LC3-II (Atg8 in *Drosophila*) levels, but was not able to detect changes (Figure 5.16A). I indeed observed a trend towards lower levels of both bands yet this did not reach statistical significance (P > 0.05, ANOVA, post hoc Tukey Kramer). To further analyse the interaction of autophagy and lithium I treated

heterozygous null *atgl* flies (Lee et al., 2007; Scott et al., 2007) and detected that lithium was still able to extend their lifespan (Figure 5.16B; P < 0.05 log rank test). Together my results do not support a role of inositol depletion and autophagy activation as the mediators of the longevity effects of lithium.



Figure 5.16 Lithium did not induce autophagy and extended lifespan of an autophagy-deficient mutant. (A) I measured the induction of autophagy through measurement of Atg8 (LC3) levels. There was a slight but non-significant reduction in the levels of atg8, not supporting a role for autophagy induction as a mechanism for lifespan extension. Bar represent average detected from triplicates of 10 flies each \pm SEM. (B) Lithium extended lifespan of flies with heterozygous loss of atgl. N= 120 flies per condition.

5.4.10 IMPase-RNAi extended lifespan

Drosophila possesses approximately eight uncharacterised genes with predicted IMPase activity. To test whether genetic manipulation of IMPase modulates lifespan I took two of the genes and down-regulated them by RNAi. Interestingly, RNAi-mediated knockdown increased lifespan for both genes (Figure 5.17; P < 0.01 log rank test). Thus, IMPase positively regulates lifespan when down-regulated. However, I would require to perform the epistasis experiment to determine how lithium treatment and IMPase down-regulation interact to regulate lifespan.



Figure 5.17 RNAi against two putative genes with IMPase activity extended lifespan. Survival was measured from two RNAi lines against two different genes with putative IMPase activity. Both showed lifespan extension. N= 150 flies per condition.

5.4.11 IIS or mTOR down-regulation rescued the deleterious lifespan

effects of shaggy over-expression

GSK-3 activity or expression levels are increased in patients suffering from diabetes mellitus and AD (Henriksen and Dokken, 2006; Hooper et al., 2008). Both of these diseases are associated with IIS down-regulation (Boucher et al., 2014; De Felice, 2013). A genetic manipulation that has shown to be evolutionary conserved to extend healthy lifespan is the knockout of the chico or IRS-1 in Drosophila and mice, respectively (Clancy et al., 2001; Selman et al., 2011). GSK-3 is constitutively active and gets inhibited by insulin stimulation through phosphorylation of its serine-9 by Akt (Doble and Woodgett, 2003; White, 2003). Given that sgg/GSK-3 is downstream of chico/IRS-1 (Figure 5.18A), I speculated that the long-lived $chico^{i}$ mutants had either increased expression levels or increased activity (lower phosphorylation of S9) of GSK-3. I analysed the activity and expression levels of sgg by immunoblot analyses. To my surprise, I did not identify alterations in expression or activity of sgg as measured by total-GSK-3 antibody or for activity levels as measured by the inhibitory phosphorylation site (S9) (Figure 5.18B; P > 0.05 ANOVA post-hoc Tukey Kramer). I found interesting that neither GSK-3 activity or levels were differentially regulated under a manipulation upstream of GSK-3. However, others in our group have encountered similar difficulties reproducing in vitro data, and only uncovered phosphorylation differences when specific tissues are challenged. For example, loss of CHICO, upstream of Akt, seems to have minimal effects on Akt phosphorylation when the tissue examined is not stimulated with insulin ex vivo (Ikeya et al., 2009; and unpublished results from the lab). With this in mind, it would be appropriate
to repeat these experiments with insulin stimulation *ex vivo* to assess whether loss of CHICO has effects on sgg/GSK-3 phosphorylation.



Figure 5.18 Interaction of shaggy and the nutrient sensing network IIS and mTOR. (A) Schematic representation of IIS and mTOR and the role of *sgg* at the centre of the network. (B) Immunoblot analyses for the levels of phospho-GSK-3 and total GSK-3 in *chico* null flies. (C) Survival effects of over-expressing the S9A mutant in flies lacking CHICO. N = 180 flies per condition. (D) mTORC1 activity was analysed in flies over-expressing the S9A mutation. (E) I supplemented flies over-expressing the *sgg* S9A mutant with 50 rapamycin and evaluated the survival effects. Experiments in C and E were performed in collaboration with Dr. Ivana Bjedov.

Next I sought to determine whether IIS down-regulation by homozygous loss of *chico* would be protective against *sgg* over-expression. I therefore used similar

experimental conditions to over-express the S9A *sgg* mutant in a *chico* null background (Figure 5.18C). The induction of *sgg* S9A in the control background reduced median lifespan from 53 to 25 days, without changing the maximum lifespan of 62.5 days in the un-induced controls (P < 0.001, log-rank test). In agreement with published data, loss of *chico* extended median lifespan by 9 days (-14%) and maximum lifespan by 16.5 days (-21%) (P < 0.001, log-rank test) (Clancy et al., 2001; Yamamoto and Tatar, 2011). Loss of *chico* almost completely rescued the deleterious effect of the *sgg* S9A mutation (Figure 5.18C). When compared to the induction of the S9A mutation in the control background, the loss of *chico* extend median lifespan by 52% (from 25 to 48.5 days; P < 0.001, log-rank test).

Taken together these results suggest that although GSK-3 is downstream of *chico* (or the dilps), the activity or expression levels are not changed when IIS is down-regulated, probably secondary to compensatory mechanisms. This has previously been reported for Akt phosphorylation downstream of CHICO (Ikeya et al., 2009). These unknown compensatory mechanisms might allow for the fly to survive longer than controls. Flies over-expressing an active version of *sgg* were not long-lived, suggesting that alterations in GSK-3 (as in mammals) are detrimental in light of IIS down-regulation. Moreover, IIS down-regulation by loss of the only IRS in the fly rescued the survival of flies over-expressing the *sgg* S9A mutant.

I previously showed that lithium, an inhibitor of GSK-3, rescued the deleterious effects of wild type *sgg* or the *sgg* S9A mutant. Lithium did not modify the activity of mTOR (Figure 3.11). However, it has been shown in mammalian cells that GSK-30 (carrying the S9A mutation) directly phosphorylates and activates the tuberous sclerosis complex-2 (TSC2), which leads to inhibition of mTOR. The S9A mutant therefore reduces the phosphorylation of S6 kinase (S6K) *in vitro* (Inoki et al., 2006). In turn, S6K is a negative regulator of GSK-3 (Frame and Cohen, 2001). Rapamycin, an mTOR inhibitor, extends lifespan in evolutionary distant organism ranging from yeast to mice (Johnson et al., 2013). A previous report from our group showed that flies fed rapamycin have reduced levels of S6K phosphorylation, but do not show changes in the expression or activity of *sgg* (Bjedov et al., 2010). I aimed to determine whether the converse is true, i.e., if increased GSK-3 alters the phosphorylation of S6K, downstream of mTOR. I did not identify changes in S6K phosphorylation (Figure 5.18D; P > 0.05 ANOVA post hoc Tukey Kramer).

I then decided to evaluate whether rapamycin treatment to inhibit mTOR could also rescue the lifespan shortening effect of the S9A mutation (Figure 5.18E). I treated control flies with fly medium containing 50 ptM rapamycin and observed a significant lifespan extension (Figure 5.18E; P < 0.001, log-rank test), comparable to published data (Bjedov et al., 2010). When rapamycin was supplemented to flies over-expressing the *sgg* S9A mutation their median and maximum lifespan was significantly extended by —28% and —8%, respectively (P < 0.001, log-rank test).

My results showed that down-regulation of the nutrient-sensing network (IIS and mTOR) can protect against GSK-3 over-expression, potentially opening an avenue for these interventions in diseases where GSK-3 is up-regulated.

5.4.12 Genetic manipulation of shaggy did not modulate age-related locomotor decline

More than often short-lived mutants show organismal signs of illness, like reduced fecundity, acceleration of age-related anorexia and/or locomotor decline. I aimed to characterise these phenotypes in flies over-expressing wild type *sgg*, the S9A mutation or down-regulation of *sgg* by RNAi to possibly determine toxicity linked to specific tissues.

First I evaluated the organismal effect of modulating *sgg* for age-related locomotor decline using the negative geotaxis paradigm (Gargano et al., 2005; Jones et al., 2009). I first documented that although *sgg* down-regulation extended lifespan (Figure 5.11), it did not protect against locomotor decline (Figure 5.19A). Moreover, over-expression of either the wild type *sgg* or the S9A *sgg* mutant did not show a significant acceleration of age-related locomotor ability before onset of death in comparison to their respective controls (Figure 5.19B and C). A significant reduction on climbing ability (P < 0.01, t-test) was only detected after 25% of the induced cohort had died in the case of over-expressing wild type *sgg* (Figure 5.19B), and only shortly before the induced cohort expressing the S9A *sgg* mutant reached median lifespan (Figure 5.19C).

These results were surprising given that flies over-expressing either *sgg* or the S9A mutant showed a significant decline in survival early on during the experiment. Thus, my results did not support a role for *sgg* in the regulation of age-related locomotor decline.



Figure 5.19 Modulation of shaggy levels did not impact age-related locomotor decline. The locomotor ability of flies expressing an RNAi against sgg (A), wild type sgg (B) and the S9A sgg mutant. The overexpression of sgg (B and C) only accelerated locomotor decline once flies were on the steep slope of the survival curve. These experiments were performed in collaboration with Ms. Li Li.

5.4.13 Over-expression of shaggy did not alter feeding behaviour or fecundity

Given the rather surprising result that over-expression of sgg did not accelerate age-related locomotor decline in the face of very short lifespans, I aimed to determine whether other phenotypes of generalized health would change when sgg is over-expressed.

I first characterized the feeding behaviour of flies over-expressing either wild type or the S9 mutant. Flies show a characteristic decline in feeding behaviour with age (agerelated anorexia) (Wong et al., 2009). To determine this behaviour flies are observed during a fixed period of time and the number of flies with their proboscis on the food are counted. As this phenotype changes over time I assessed this phenotype at three different time points, 1, 5 and 15 days after the induction of the transgene. To my surprise feeding frequency did not consistently change in either flies over-expressing wild type sgg (Figure 5.20A) or the S9A mutant (Figure 5.20B). At day 5 flies over-expressing wild type sgg showed a significant reduction in feeding behaviour (P < 0.01, t-test), but this was restored by day 15. Overall, these results did not indicate that flies over-expressing sgg transgenes with increased kinase activity show age-related anorexia.



Figure 5.20 Feeding behaviour in flies over-expressing shaggy. Feeding behaviour was analysed by assessing the frequency of proboscis extension in flies expressing wild type sgg (A) and the S9A mutant (**B**). * P < 0.05. N= 50 flies per condition. These experiments were performed in collaboration with Mr. Michael Shannack.

Next I examined the role of sgg on fecundity. I measured the number of eggs laid per female in 24 hours after 5 days of induction. While there was a slight trend towards reduced fecundity in flies over-expressing either the wild type sgg (Figure 5.21A) or the S9A mutant (Figure 5.21B) after 10 days of induction, the results were not statistically significant (P > 0.05, t-test).

These results suggest that over-expression of GSK-3 did not affect general parameters of health as it did not change the locomotor ability, feeding behavior or fecundity of flies even when it shortened lifespan dramatically. I therefore considered the possibility that *sgg* regulated lifespan by influencing specific tissues, or even having tissue specific effects in opposite directions.



Figure 5.21 Fecundity in short-lived flies overexpressing shaggy. Short-lived flies over-expressing wild type sgg (A) or the S9A mutation (**B**) do not show alteration in fecundity. N= 70 flies per condition. These experiments were performed in collaboration with Mr. Michael Shannack.

5.4.14 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons, but not in gut/fat body extended lifespan

I was interested to evaluate the possibility of sgg over-expression having different effects in different tissues. Two fly tissues previously involved in the regulation of ageing are the gut/fat body and neurons (Alic et al., 2014b; Hwangbo et al., 2004). Ubiquitous downregulation of IIS by genetic loss of different components of the IIS pathway extends lifespan in Drosophila (Kannan and Fridell, 2013; Partridge et al., 2011; Tatar et al., 2014). This lifespan extension is dependent of the transcription factor dFOXO (Slack et al., 2011; Yamamoto and Tatar, 2011), yet over-expression of dFOXO has only been reported to extend lifespan in the gut/fat body and neurons (Alic et al., 2014b; Giannakou et al., 2004; Hwangbo et al., 2004). First I decided to explore the possibility that sgg overexpression could have milder negative lifespan effects or even be beneficial, when driven in the gut/fat body in comparison to ubiquitous over-expression. I used the Si106 driver to only express sgg during adulthood (from day-2 post-eclosion). I over-expressed wild type sgg in the gut and fat body using two RU concentrations 50 and 20011M without observing significant differences between the induced and uninduced survival curves (Figure 5.22A; P > 0.05, log rank test). When the S9A sgg mutant was over-expressed in the gut and fat body (Figure 5.22B), the 50 11M RU induction reduced median lifespan by 4.5 days (from 48 days in the un-induced control to 43.5; P < 0.01, log rank test) and maximum lifespan by -2 days (from 62 to 59.7 days). However, the induction with 200 11M RU was not significantly different from the un-induced control (P > 0.05, log rank test). I also overexpressed the S9E mutant and did not observe any effect on median or maximum lifespan in either of the RU concentrations used (Figure 5.22C; P > 0.05, log rank test).

Collectively these results suggest that the deleterious effects of ubiquitous *sgg* over-expression on lifespan are unlikely mediated by the gut and/or fat body.



Figure 5.22 Survival of flies over-expressing shaggy transgenes with increased kinase activity in gut/fat body and neurons. Survival effect of the wild type *sgg*, the S9A and S9E mutants was assessed in the gut/fat body (A-C, respectively) or neurons (D-F, respectively). N= 180 females per condition. Experiments were performed in collaboration with Dr. Ivana Bjedov.

I then decided to test the effect of over-expressing *sgg* in neurons. I used the panneuronal elavGS driver and the same two RU concentrations used to over-express in the gut and fat body. When wild type *sgg* was over-expressed only in neurons it extended median lifespan by 5 days (-9%) and maximum lifespan by 9 days (-12.5%), but only when induced with 200 11M RU (Figure 5.22D; P < 0.001, log-rank test). No effect was detected when 50 11M RU was supplemented in the fly medium to over-express wild type *sgg* (P > 0.05, log rank test). In contrast, 50 11M RU was sufficient to significantly extend median (from 49.9 to 52.3 days) and maximum (from 62 to 68.4 days) lifespan when the S9A mutation was over-expressed pan-neuronally (Figure 5.22B; P < 0.001, log-rank test). Induction of the S9A mutant further extended lifespan when 200 11M of the inducer was used. At this concentration the S9A mutant extended median lifespan by —5 days, and maximum by 9 days (P < 0.001, log-rank test). When the survival curves of the two RU concentrations were statistically analysed a significant difference was detected (P =0.0109, log-rank test), which suggested a dose-dependent induction effect. I observed a similar effect to the S9A over-expression when the S9E mutant was over-expressed in all neurons (Figure 5.22F). 50 11M RU was sufficient to extend median (by 5 days) and maximum (by 7 days) lifespan (P < 0.001, log-rank test). Induction of the S9E mutant with 200 11M RU further extended median (by 7.5 days) and maximum (by 11.6 days) lifespan (P < 0.001, log-rank test). A comparison between the survival curves obtained at the two different concentrations of RU also resulted significant (P = 0.0122, log-rank test), once more suggesting a dose-dependent effect.

My results showed that *sgg* over-expression could have tissue-specific effects to regulate lifespan. While ubiquitous over-expression of *sgg* or *sgg* mutants reduced lifespan, over-expression in neurons extended lifespan.

5.4.15 Over-expression of shaggy in neurons protected against agerelated locomotor decline





Figure 5.23 Climbing ability of flies over-expressing shaggy in neurons. Age-related locomotor decline was assessed in flies over-expressing the wild type sgg (A) or the S9A mutant (B) in neurons. N= 60 flies per condition. These experiments were performed in collaboration with Mr. Michael Shannack

I previously showed that over-expression of *sgg* mutants with increased kinase activity did not have effects in the modulation of age-related locomotor decline, in spite of shortening lifespan by almost half (Figure 5.19). As I observed that over-expression of *sgg* in neurons extended lifespan I wondered whether this genetic manipulation would confer protection against age-related locomotor decline. Over-expression of wild type *sgg* pan-neuronally significantly protected against age-related locomotor decline (Figure 5.23A; P < 0.001, two-way ANOVA, post hoc Tukey Kramer). Similarly, over-expression of the S9A mutant significantly improved the locomotor ability of flies during ageing (Figure 5.23B; P < 0.05, two-way ANOVA, post hoc Tukey Kramer). In contrast to the over-expression of wild type *sgg*, the S9A mutant did not protect as much, though this effect was rather significant. Thus, over-expression of either the wild type *sgg* of the S9A mutant protected against agerelated locomotor decline.

5.4.16 Lithium treatment and neuronal over-expression of shaggy were additive for lifespan

I previously showed that *sgg* down-regulation is epistatic with lithium treatment, suggesting that both interventions modulate ageing by acting on the same pathway (Figure 5.14). Given that over-expression of *sgg* in neurons extended lifespan, I was interested to test whether this genetic manipulation would block the lifespan extension conferred by lithium, or would be additive.



Figure 5.24 Survival analyses of flies overexpressing shaggy in neurons and lithium treatment. I analysed the interaction of over-expressing the wild type (A) or the *sgg* S9A mutant (B) only in neurons and lithium treatment. N= 160 flies per condition.

I over-expressed wild type *sgg* or the S9A mutant in the neuronal tissue (using the elavGS driver), fed them lithium at two concentrations (10 and 25 mM) and evaluated their survival. Over-expression of wild type *sgg* significantly extended median (by 10 days or — 15%) and maximum (5.6 days or —7%) lifespan (Figure 5.24A; P < 0.001, log-rank test). Lithium supplementation with either dose further extended median lifespan by 6 days and

maximum by 7.5 days (P < 0.001, log-rank test). The survival curves of the two lithium concentrations were not statistically different (P > 0.05, log rank test). The combination of wild type sgg over-expression in neurons and lithium treatment extend median lifespan by 16.2 days (-21.5% from 59.4 days in the un-induced control to 75.6 days in the induced + either lithium treatment) and maximum lifespan by 13.1 days (-15% from 75.6 days in the un-induced control to 88.7 days in the induced + either lithium treatment). I also tested the effect of combining neuronal over-expression of the S9A sgg mutant with lithium (Figure 5.24B). The induction of the S9A mutant in neurons significantly extended median lifespan by 11 days (or 15%) and maximum lifespan by 8.4 days (or 10%) (P < 0.001, log-rank test). Addition of 10 mM lithium to the fly medium further extended median (by 8.4 days) and maximum (12.5 days) lifespan (P < 0.001, log-rank test). The combination of overexpressing the S9A mutant in neurons and supplementation of 10 mM lithium extended median lifespan by 19.4 day or -24% (from 61.8 days in the un-induced control to 81.2 days in the induced + 10 mM lithium) and maximum lifespan by 20.9 days or -22% (from 72.8 days in the un-induced control to 93.7 days in the induced + 10 mM lithium. Supplementation of 25 mM LiC1 to the S9A neuronally over-expressing flies was also additive though the combination was slightly less beneficial, yet the comparison of the two survival curves (+10 mM vs. +25 mM LiC1) was not statistically significant (P = 0.0734, log-rank test). The combination of S9A over-expression in neurons and 25 mM lithium extended median lifespan by 22.75% and maximum lifespan by -20% (P < 0.001, log-rank test).

Although the effect of over-expressing sgg/GSK-3 in neurons while in parallel inhibiting the kinase activity by lithium supplementation seems counterintuitive, I consider that the key to understand this additive lifespan extension lies in the degree of GSK-3 inhibition achieved by lithium supplementation. I previously showed that lithium dose-dependently increases the inhibitory phosphorylation of GSK-3 (Figure 5.7). However, the degree of inhibition was not maximised by the concentrations of lithium used in the epistasis experiments (Figure 5.24), hence the dose of lithium provided was not enough to inhibit the activity of GSK-3 when over-expressed. This hypothesis should be further explored through combination of western blot analyses comparing GSK-3 and htau phosphorylation in brains (where GSK-3 is over-expressed) to that in the remaining body (where only endogenous sgg/GSK-3 is expressed).

In conclusion over-expression of *sgg* in *Drosophila* neurons is beneficial for lifespan and the combination with lithium treatment can further extend lifespan. These results

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration

suggest that, at least in neurons, lithium and GSK-3 independently control the rate of ageing.

5.4.17 Over-expression of a kinase dead shaggy did not affect lifespan when expressed ubiquitously or in neurons.

My previous result can lead to the interpretation that while lithium inhibits the kinase activity of shaggy this kinase activity is not required for lifespan extension in neurons, as the combination of over-expressing *sgg* in neurons and lithium treatment were additive for lifespan. Thus, offering a conflicting interpretation as to the role of the kinase activity of *sgg* for the regulation of lifespan. I therefore decided to evaluate the role of the kinase dead (KD) mutant that when over-expressed together with hTAU, did not modify tau phosphorylation levels. I ubiquitously over-expressed the KD mutant *sgg* by using the actGS driver (Figure 5.25A), and pan-neuronally by using the elavGS driver (Figure 5.25B). As expected I was unable to obtain a lifespan effect with either intervention P > 0.05, logrank test).



Figure 5.25 Survival analyses of flies expressing a kinase dead mutant of shaggy. Expression of a kinase dead mutant did not modify lifespan when expressed ubiquitously (A) or in neurons (B). N = 150 flies per condition.

Taken together these results suggest that the kinase activity of *sgg* over-expression is required to shorten lifespan when expressed ubiquitously, and to extend lifespan when expressed just in neurons. Hence, additional interactions (perhaps in different tissues) should be acting in concert to allow the additive effect of lithium treatment when the kinase activity of *sgg* is increased in neurons.

5.4.18 Lithium and shaggy over-expression additively extended lifespan of flies expressing AP1_42



Figure 5.26 Over-expression of the S9A mutant in flies expressing 4_{1_42} improves lifespan and climbing and is additive to lithium treatment. (A) Survival analyses. N= 150 flies per condition. (B) Negative geotaxis. N = 60 flies per condition. Experiment performed in collaboration with Ms. Li Li.

Our group recently characterised a late-onset model of AD in flies by using the GeneSwitch system and the over-expression of Af31_42 with the pro-aggregation Arctic mutation (Sofola et al., 2010). Flies expressing Arctic-Af31_42 have a significantly reduced lifespan, accelerated age-related locomotor decline and synaptic defects (Rogers et al., 2012; Sofola et al., 2010). Previous results from our group have shown that lithium treatment can improve the locomotor ability (Sofola et al., 2010) and lifespan (Sofola-Adesakin et al., 2014) of these flies. Interestingly, over-expression of the S9E *sgg* mutant also improved the locomotor ability and lifespan of flies expressing Arctic-Af31_42 (Sofola et al., 2010). The S9E was used as dominant negative *sgg* mutant, hence the interpretation of these results was that inhibition of pan-neuronal *sgg* and lithium have similar effects. However, their interaction was not tested. Given that I have shown in multiple assays that

over-expression of wild-type *sgg*, the S9E and S9A mutants behave similarly and that the S9E increases tau phosphorylation (Figure 5.8), I do not consider that the S9E mutant acts as a dominant negative. To eliminate conflicting interpretation I did not use the S9E mutant, but used the S9A mutant and combined the genetic manipulation with lithium treatment.

As previously shown, lithium treatment at either 10 or 25 mM extended the lifespan of flies expressing Af31_42 (Figure 5.26A; P < 0.001, log-rank test). Over-expression of sgg(S9A) in flies expressing A131_42 significantly extended lifespan (Figure 5.26A; P < 0.001, log-rank test). To control for dilution of Ga14 I also co-expressed Af31_42 in the presence of GFP only detecting a mild but significant (P < 0.05, log-rank test) lifespan shortening effect. Moreover, addition of either 10 or 25 mM lithium further extended lifespan of flies over-expressing the S9A mutant *sgg* and Af31_42 in neurons (Figure 5.26A).

Taken together our results indicate that lithium and *sgg* act in an additive manner to extend lifespan in flies expressing A01-42.

5.4.19 Lithium and shaggy over-expression additively improved locomotor function of flies expressing AP1_42

Next I analysed whether the additive effects of lithium and *sgg* over-expression also impacted locomotor activity. I over-expressed the S9A *sgg* mutant in flies expressing A131_42 in neurons and observed that indeed over-expression of sgg(S9A) significantly improved the locomotor ability of flies expressing AP1_42 (P < 0.01, two-way ANOVA; Figure 5.26B). Once more, co-expression of AP1_42 with GFP was performed ruling out any confounding effect of Ga14 dilution (P > 0.05, two-way ANOVA). When lithium was supplemented in the media at either 10 or 25 mM, there was a further protection to that conferred by the S9A mutation on its own (P < 0.05, two-way ANOVA; Figure 5.26B). Thus, the effects of over-expressing *sgg* and lithium were additive to improve the altered locomotor ability of flies expressing Af31_42.

5.5 Discussion

5.5.1 Shaggy/GSK-3 regulates ageing in Drosophila

The first interesting result was that modulation of the kinase activity of shaggy is achievable with different transgenes and mutants. I was able to confirm that downregulation of shaggy by RNAi reduces the phosphorylation of human tau at two phosphosites known to be phosphorylated by GSK-3 (Querfurth and LaFerla, 2010). I was also able to show that the overexpression of wild type shaggy increases the phosphorylation of tau. This is in agreement with a previous report that demonstrated that wild-type sgg/GSK3 is able to increase the phosphorylation of human tau (Chatterjee et al., 2009). Unexpectedly, I consistently observed that the dominant negative GSK-3 mutant S9E hyperphosphorylates tau. The S9E mutant carries a single point mutation in the highly regulated serine 9. Serine 9 phosphorylation inactivates the enzyme. In the S9E mutants, the serine at position 9 has been changed to a glutamic acid (hence the S9E) that should act as a phosphomic not allowing activation of the kinase activity. However, I have consistently seen that the S9E behaves in a similar fashion to that seen when wild type shaggy is over-expressed in the fly, or when the constitutively active shaggy mutant is expressed. The constitutively active mutant S9A carries a substitution of serine for alanine at position 9. This change should prevent phosphorylation at this site and therefore should render the protein enzymatically active. The discrepancy between the theoretical function of S9E (considered a dominant negative mutant) and its kinase activity has been documented with mammalian GSK-3. Eldar-Finkelman et al showed in an in vitro kinase assay that the S9E and S9A mutants were able to either autophosphorylate or to phosphorylate inhibitor 2 to a similar extent (Eldar-Finkelman et al., 1996). This is, therefore, in agreement with the results of my in vivo kinase activity experiments. Since the S9E and S9A mutants behave similarly and also phenocopy the over-expression of wild type shaggy, it is very unlikely that the S9E is a real dominant negative mutant fly line and it should be considered instead as an active mutant.

My observation that three of the transgenic lines (S9E, S9A and wild type *sgg*) were able to hyperphosphorylate tau when expressed ubiquitously in the adult fly highly suggests that they would produce similar effects in the lifespan of flies. Indeed both of the shaggy mutant transgenes (S9E and S9A) and the wild type *sgg* transgene dramatically reduced lifespan when they were ubiquitously expressed. Furthermore, the lifespan reductions seen in flies expressing either the S9E or S9A mutant transgenes lifespan were

of similar magnitude, suggesting that these mutants have comparable enzymatic activities. Moreover, the effects seen with these mutants were greater than that produced by the over-expression of wild type *sgg*.

The finding that shaggy mutants are able to hyperphosphorylate tau (and hence have increased kinase activity) in association with a reduction in lifespan is novel and has not been previously reported. Hyperactivity of GSK-3 has been found in several diseases such as diabetes mellitus, AD, HD, and schizophrenia among others (Cohen and Goedert, 2004; Jope and Johnson, 2004; Lovestone et al., 2007; Hooper et al., 2008). As several of these diseases are age-related, it is not entirely surprising that hyperactivation of *sgg* is involved in a pro-ageing phenotype. However, to the best of my knowledge, this is the first time that constitutively active *sgg* mutants have shown to lead to lifespan shortening when expressed throughout the fly.

Conversely, and in agreement with the *in vivo* kinase activity measurements, ubiquitous down-regulation of GSK-3 by RNAi significantly increased lifespan in the fly. This result also supports my previous conclusion that the S9E mutant does not behave in a dominant negative manner If the S9E was inhibiting the function of the endogenous *sgg*, or reducing its kinase activity, it would behave similarly to the GSK-3 RNAi line.

To the best of my knowledge this is the first time that lifespan extension has been achieved by down-regulation of sgg. The positive effects of GSK-3 inhibition have been extensively documented in a diverse range of diseases (Lovestone et al., 2007; Hooper et al., 2008), including age-related disorders such as AD and PD, diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease (Cohen and Goedert, 2004; Jope and Johnson, 2004; Lovestone et al., 2007; Hooper et al., 2008). However, its involvement in ageing had remained unexplored until recently. A recent paper showing that global knockout of GSK-3a in mice shortens lifespan and drives the development of broad-spectrum abnormalities, complicates the interpretation of my results (Zhou et al., 2013). However, given that complete knockout of GSK-3I3 is lethal (Hooper et al., 2008), together these results might suggest that complete inhibition (or in these cases knockout) is detrimental. Interestingly, the global GSK-3a model showed activation of mTORC1, which is in disagreement with my data of the interaction of GSK-3 and mTOR. It would be worth exploring what are the mechanisms that lead to increased mTORC1 activation. I have been unable to detect alterations in mTORC1 either by lithium treatment or sgg down-regulation (or inhibition). Moreover, though increased GSK-3 should inhibit mTORC1, as it activates TSC2 (Inoki et al., 2006), I have been unable to detect changes in flies over-expressing the S9A mutant 195

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration

(or wild type *sgg*). Moreover, I was able to show that mTOR inhibition by rapamycin treatment was able to partially rescue from the deleterious effect of *sgg* over-expression. It would be worth exploring whether the interaction of mTOR and GSK-3 is cell or tissue-specific.

Additionally I was able to show that loss of *chico* does not lead to alterations in *sgg* as neither the total protein nor the phosphorylation levels were changed. Diabetes, which is characterized by reduced insulin signaling, is associated with increased levels and/or activity of GSK-3. Given that flies lacking CHICO have reduced insulin signaling, I was expecting for some change in *sgg*. This could potentially suggest that compensatory mechanisms might be acting to prevent this dysfunction in the long-lived *chico* null flies. Moreover, over-expression of the S9A mutant in the loss of *chico* background significantly restored lifespan. However, an alternative explanation can be proposed. Loss of *chico* in the context of increased GSK-3 activity does not allow for lifespan extension. Perhaps a fly model with reduced IIS and increased GSK-3 would more closely resemble a diabetes model than a healthy ageing intervention. These speculations should be approached experimentally to gain insight into the biology of GSK-3 as a modulator of the ageing process.

In conclusion I have shown that over-expression of wild type *sgg* or mutants with increased kinase activity reduce lifespan while down-regulation of shaggy extends lifespan in the fly.

5.5.2 Shaggy/GSK-3 and lithium act in the same molecular pathway

As mentioned before lithium is known to inhibit GSK-3 and I was able to show here that lithium indeed inhibited *sgg* as it increased the inhibitory phosphorylation at relevant doses. Moreover, my genetic data strongly supports that GSK-3 regulates ageing as ubiquitous over-expression shortened lifespan, while RNAi-mediated knockdown extend lifespan. The epistasis experiments combining the genetic manipulation and lithium treatment showed that while lithium can rescue from the deleterious effects of *sgg* over-expression, it is unable to further extend the lifespan when *sgg* is knocked down. This result strongly suggest that lithium and *sgg* down-regulation act in the same molecular pathway.

5.5.3 Shaggy regulates ageing in a tissue-specific manner

Lithium exerts positive effects in the brain (Eldar-Finkelman, 2002; Hooper et al., 2008). Sofola and colleagues have shown that lithium reduces AP1_42 levels in an AD fly model (Sofola et al., 2010). Therefore, I performed experiments to analyse whether inhibition of *sgg* specifically within the neural tissue could be partially responsible for the lifespan extending effects of ubiquitous down-regulation of *sgg* in the fly. Unfortunately, *sgg* down-regulation in the brain was unable to extend lifespan (not shown). I also tested whether over-expression of *sgg* in the brain would shorten lifespan. Unexpectedly, I found that over-expression of wild type *sgg* or either the S9E or S9A *sgg* mutants in the fly brain were able to extend lifespan. This result was rather surprising, especially in the light that none of these interventions showed changes in lifespan when performed only in the gut/fat body. I have preliminary data to suggest that some of the negative effects of *sgg* over-expression are mediated in the heart tissue. Taken together these results strongly suggest that *sgg* regulates the ageing process in a tissue-specific manner

I additionally showed that lithium treatment of neuronal over-expression of *sgg* and lithium treatment are additive for lifespan. Even when my other data suggest that *sgg* down-regulation and lithium treatment act in the same molecular pathway, these results strongly suggest that lithium does not extend lifespan via the inhibition of neuronal *sgg*.

These results have interesting implications for biomedical research. For a long time pharma and academia have been interested in developing GSK-3 inhibitors for the treatment of a wide range of pathological conditions including, neurodegeneration and altered metabolism (Avrahami et al., 2013; Kramer et al., 2012; Meijer et al., 2004; Takahashi-Yanaga, 2013). However, we are still far from understanding how GSK-3 modulates metabolism, stress response and ageing in different tissues and cell populations. Although my data suggests that global inhibition of GSK-3 would be beneficial for stress-response and ageing, the combination of active GSK-3 in neurons and inhibition elsewhere could be even more effective for extending healthy lifespan. Perhaps teasing out the specific tissues that require active GSK-3 during ageing, will contribute in understanding how relevant would systemic GSK-3 inhibition be for the prolongation of life and the recovery of a youthful state.

197

5.5.4 Shaggy and lithium modulate neurodegeneration: overlapping mechanisms?

As mentioned earlier, lithium reduces A131_42 levels in the brain. Furthermore, Sofola et al. showed that the active S9E mutant was able to mimic lithium's Al3 lowering effect (Sofola et al., 2010). Since my work suggests that the S9E construct is an active *sgg* mutant I decided to over-express wild type *sgg* and the S9A *sgg* mutant in the neuronal tissue of the AD fly model. In agreement with S9E being an active mutant, I was able to show that neuronal over-expression of either wild type shaggy or the S9A mutant extended the lifespan of the AD fly model.

My results demonstrate unexplained discrepancies between the effects of lithium and over-expression of shaggy in the fly. Lithium is known to inhibit sgg and although lithium reduces the activity of shaggy in the AD model (Sofola et al., 2010), overexpression of sgg can mimic the protective effects of lithium. These results suggest that although lithium can inhibit sgg in the brain, the mechanism by which it confers protection to the AD fly model is independent of sgg inhibition. Sarkar and colleagues have shown that indeed lithium and activation of GSK-3 can have mimicking effects without acting through the same pathway (Sarkar et al., 2005). Since the AD fly model used in my experiments does not involve the production of Af31_42, as it expresses A131_42 and bypasses the processing of APP, it is unlikely that the mechanism of lowering Al3 levels is mediated by APP processing as has been reported (Phiel et al., 2003). However, it is very likely this effect is mediated by a degradation mechanism. Lithium has been considered an autophagy inducer (Heiseke et al., 2009; Sarkar et al., 2005) and this could potentially contribute to the lowering effects of AP1_42. However, I was unable to show up-regulation of autophagy in the previous Chapter. Yet, it is still possible that the up-regulation of autophagy is tissue-specific. The next step will be to test whether lithium does indeed activate autophagy in Drosophila brains and to show if its Af31_42 lowering effects can be blocked by autophagy inhibition. Alternatively, GSK-3 has also been shown to reduce translation (Shin et al., 2014). It would be appropriate to study whether the effects of lowering GSK-3 are through lowering protein synthesis.



5.5.5 GSK-3/NRF2 pathway: is there a connection?

Figure 5.27 Proposed mechanism of action for lithium in ageing and stress-resistance. This is similar to Figure 4.4D with the addition of GSK-3. Lithium inhibits GSK-3 to de-repress CncCNRF-2 which then activates a transcriptional response of detoxification and protection against stress.

In the previous chapter I showed that lithium up-regulates a transcriptional response mediated by the transcription factor CncC/NRF-2. How do my finding that sgg/GSK-3 and lithium act in the same molecular pathway fit into one story? Interestingly, NRF-2 is regulated by two complementary, but independent pathways, one mediated by the Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 (Keap 1), and the other by GSK-3 (Hayes and Dinkova-Kostova, 2014; Ma, 2013; Motohashi and Yamamoto, 2004). Both repress the activity of NRF-2 by sequestering it in the cytosolic compartment. Data in *C. elegans* and mammalian cells have shown that GSK-3 directly represses NRF-2 (An et al., 2005; Rada et al., 2012; Salazar et al., 2006). This would favour a model whereby lithium inhibition of GSK-3 would allow the activation of CncC and the regulation of the transcriptional signature of this transcription factor (Sykiotis and Bohmann, 2008; Tullet et al., 2008), my data would suggest that indeed GSK-3 inhibition and the subsequent activation of CncC could be mediating the pro-longevity and stress-resistant effects of lithium (Figure 5.27).

5.5.6 Circadian clocks in ageing: the role of lithium and GSK-3

An interesting and understudied mechanism to regulate longevity and metabolism is the alteration of the circadian rhythms. Circadian rhythms control many physiological processes including feeding behaviour (which will become relevant in Chapter 6), metabolic regulation of hormonal status, xenobiotic metabolism, amongst others (Beaver et al., 2010, 2012; Takahashi et al., 2008; Xu et al., 2008). These particular traits have a great influence in longevity and some of the phenotypes I have presented could be a direct consequence of their regulation by circadian clocks. In Drosophila, where clock genes were first identified (Konopka and Benzer, 1971), sgg plays an important role in the regulation of nuclear shuttling of two important proteins involved in the regulation of the length of circadian periods (Stanewsky, 2003). The molecular components of the circadian clock include a cell-autonomous transcription-translation feedback loop encoded by a set of core genes (Reppert and Weaver, 2002; Takahashi et al., 2008). The transcription factors Clock and cycle induce the expression of period and timeless. Nuclear accumulation of PERIOD and TIMELESS inhibit the transcriptional activity of the CLOCK-CYCLE dimer. Phosphorylation of PERIOD and TIMELESS delays the cystoplasmic accumulation and nuclear translocation of these proteins, allowing CLOCK and CYCLE to continuously activate transcription. PERIOD is phosphorylated by DOUBLE-TIME, while TIMELESS is phosphorylated by sgg (Harms et al., 2003; Stanewsky, 2003). Flies over-expressing sgg in TIMELESS-expressing neurons show increased entry of PERIOD and TIMELESS to the nucleus and shorter free-running periods (Stanewsky, 2003). Although the role of GSK-3 in mammalian clocks has not been fully elucidated (Takahashi et al., 2008), recent evidence suggests that it plays a similar role in the regulation of circadian rhythms as in flies. Paul and colleagues showed that double transgenic knock-in mice for constitutively active versions of both isoforms of GSK-3 showed increased free-running periods with fragmentation of their wheel-running rhythms (increased activity bouts), decreased amplitude in circadian behaviour, and longer activity period (Paul et al., 2012). As they analysed the master clock in mammals, the suprachiasmatic nucelus (Takahashi et al., 2008), they found that the typical day/night variation in neuronal activity was lost as evidenced by higher spike rates during the night (Paul et al., 2012). The role of sgg/GSK-3 still needs clarification, as evidenced by the contradiction between the fly and mammalian data (i.e., opposite effects on period-length after GSK-3 over-expression). However, the manipulations of sgg/GSK-3 were not similar in both model organisms. Perhaps a detailed examination of circadian rhythms in flies

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration

over-expressing sgg pan-neuronally ((only during adulthood to avoid developmental effects) vs. only in clock neurons (this could be done in subset of neurons) vs. a ubiquitous (adult-only) over-expression, could be informative to more clearly define the role of sgg/GSK-3 in the regulation of central and peripheral clocks. Additionally, the interaction of these genetic manipulations could be analysed in the context of lithium treatment.

The effect of lithium in the regulation of circadian clocks has been known for decades (Klemfuss, 1992). Lithium is known to lengthen the circadian period. For example, mice treated with lithium chronically (approximately for a month) and achieving brain concentrations of 1 mM showed a mild but significant increase in the locomotor activity period (Li et al., 2012). Concomitantly, lithium was also shown to lengthen the period of Period-2 oscillation at the protein level in the suprachiasmatic nucleus and lung tissue, by up-regulating its protein expression. Interestingly, a more potent GSK-3 inhibitor shortened the circadian period in lung fibroblasts, though it also up-regulated the transcription of Period-2 (Li et al., 2012). These rather contradicting results could be more easily resolved by the combination of genetic manipulations to down-regulate GSK-3 and the addition of lithium. As with my previous suggestion, the genetic intervention could be done in a tissue and cell type specific manner, allowing for a more comprehensive understanding of the role of GSK-3 and lithium.

An additional challenge will be to determine the level at which circadian clock regulation integrates with my model of GSK-3 modulation of CncC/NRF-2 (Figure 5.27). A recent report suggests that modulation of the clock might be downstream of sgg/GSK-3, but upstream of CncC/NRF-2 (Pekovic-Vaughan et al., 2014). Pekovic-Vaughan and colleagues found that NRF-2 transcriptional activity is regulated by clock genes, and that arrhythmic mice show poor levels of transcriptional regulation downstream of NRF-2, suggesting that the clock is an upstream regulator of NRF-2 (Pekovic-Vaughan et al., 2014). In a revised model I would place lithium at the top inhibiting GSK-3, which would then directly modulate CncC/NRF-2 (An et al., 2005; Rada et al., 2011; Rojo et al., 2008), and additionally GSK-3 could regulate the circadian clock proteins to modulate the transcriptional activity of CncC/NRF-2 (Pekovic-Vaughan et al., 2014). This would suggest that circadian clock regulation by lithium and sgg/GSK-3 would be at the heart of the regulation of perhaps the longevity, metabolic and stress-responses observed in this work. In the next chapter (Chapter 6) I show how flies expressing A131_42 show reduced feeding behaviour, altered metabolism and stress response. This could indeed all be consequence of a dysfunctional clock. I have data to show that altered GSK-3 activity

(serine-9 phosphorylation) occurs as early as the feeding alterations (data not shown), maybe pointing toward a molecular link between altered behaviour and abnormal clock function. This is especially relevant as flies expressing $A13_{1_{42}}$ were recently reported to show abnormal circadian behaviours (Chen et al., 2014). Exploring the role of altered rhythmic behaviour in the context of these phenotypes could resolve the role of the clock alterations in flies expressing $A13_{1_{42}}$, however these hypothesis will require extensive exploration.

Chapter 6 <u>The anorexic and stressed fly: neurodegeneration in an</u> Alzheimer's *Drosophila* model

"How slight a thing will disturb the equanimity of our frail minds" Charles Dickens, Oliver Twist

6.1 Abstract

AD has been successfully modelled in Drosophila through the neuronal expression of the Al 140 and Afl 1-42 peptides, which accumulate in AD brains. Several studies have shown that when the $4_{1_{42}}$ peptide is expressed in the neuronal tissue of the fruit fly they die earlier than controls and show abnormalities in locomotor activity and synaptic dysfunction. Although these phenotypes are useful for genetic and pharmacological screens, I attempted to characterise earlier phenotypic events. *My results evidenced that flies expressing* $4_{1_{42}}$ *show reduced feeding behaviour at a very early age,* before the well-characterised locomotor phenotypes are observed. This feeding alteration modified the response to toxins delivered in the food. However, when flies were subjected to sources of stress that do not depend on food intake, they were, as expected, more sensitive than control flies. I also observed that flies expressing 4_{1-42} display a significant resistance to starvation stress, which was unexpected given their reduced feeding behaviour. They appeared to compensate for the reduction in food intake by increasing their levels of lipid storage, which correlated with their starvation resistance. I hypothesise that the reduced feeding of Afl 1-42 expressing flies renders them into a starvation-like state that switches on a storing phenotype. Nutrient supplementation (particularly essential amino acids) restored the altered metabolism, the response to starvation, and even extended the lifespan of flies expressing 4_{1-42} . Thus, insufficient nutritional intake secondary to reduced feeding behaviour leads to altered stress-responses and changes in metabolism in flies expressing Afl 1-42.

6.2 Introduction

Protein aggregation is a key feature of the most common forms of neurodegeneration including AD, PD and HD, which are all characterized by deposits of abnormally aggregated forms of specific proteins. Although their role in the pathogenesis of the disease is not completely understood, it is well established that they play major roles in

altered neuronal function and cell death, what is overall considered as neurodegeneration (Cohen and Dillin, 2008; Labbadia and Morimoto, 2014; Taylor et al., 2014; Walker et al.,

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration 2013).

Neurons, and in general eukaryotic cells, are armed with a wide range of response mechanisms to extrinsic and intrinsic stressors. Most of these mechanisms deteriorate with age, which would explain why ageing is such a major risk factor for diseases of protein aggregation, proteinopathies. However, even old postmitotic cells are able to respond to stressors by activating and/or inactivating processes that enable their viability (Cuervo, 2008; Labbadia and Morimoto, 2014; Morimoto and Cuervo, 2014). In the case of proteinopathies, the defence mechanisms most commonly studied are those responsible of clearing damaged organelles and insoluble aggregates. As mentioned in Chapter 1 these mechanisms include the UPS and AL system. However, other response pathways also aid cells during proteotoxic stress and have been shown to ameliorate disease progression in cases of proteostasis collapse.

6.2.1 The role of oxidative stress in Alzheimer's disease

Diseases are often associated with abnormal responses to stress with inappropriate activation of homeostatic responses. This can be because the tissue (or organism) cannot up-regulate the appropriate response, or because there is over activation and/or loss of the ability to self-regulate to end the response (McEwen, 1998). AD has been associated with oxidative stress (Kondo et al., 2013; Moreira et al., 2006). Indeed increased oxidative stress has been shown to be an early sign of disease progression (Nunomura et al., 2001). This has made oxidative stress and pathological hallmark of AD (PraticO, 2013).

Amyloid pathology associates with oxidative stress in three forms. First, amyloid has been shown to increase the production of 11202 and lipid peroxidation, both in cell culture and in transgenic mouse models that produce $Af3_{1_42}$. It is not entirely understood how $Af31_42$ increases oxidative stress. One possibility is altered mitochondrial function. $A0_{1_42}$ inhibits mitochondrial complex I (Hauptmann et al., 2006; Querfurth and LaFerla, 2010; Reddy and Beal, 2008; Zhao and Zhao, 2013). As discussed in Chapter 1, altered mitochondrial function can be both a driver and protective mechanism against ageing. Second, increased oxidative stress can drive disease progression as it increases A131-42 deposition. One mechanism described has been increased expression of enzymes that promote APP cleave into the amyloidogenic pathway (Chen et al., 2008; Oda et al., 2010;

Quiroz-Baez et al., 2009). Third, amyloid production is a response to oxidative stress, which has led to the suggestion that amyloid can act as an antioxidant (Nunomura et al.,

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration

2010; Perry et al., 2002). This last point is less clear, but it would propose that Af31_42 could act as a hormetic molecule. Interestingly, NRF-2, a transcription factor potentially involved in the hormetic response, has been reported to be expressed at lower levels in brains of patients with AD (Ramsey et al., 2007). Moreover, expression of NRF-2 and its target genes have been reported to be lower in transgenic mouse models of AD (Kanninen et al., 2008). When NRF-2 levels are increased in these models they show improvement in memory tasks (Kanninen et al., 2009).

6.2.2 Age-related anorexia in flies and humans

Reduced feeding or anorexia is a common problem of old age. It has been estimated that 5-12% of homebound patients, 15% of community-dwelling older people, 65% of hospitalised patients, and 5-85% of institutionalised elderly patients present protein-energy malnutrition. Though this was often considered to only be a problem in nursing homes and hospitalised patients, it has become increasingly evident that anorexia of ageing or agerelated anorexia with the subsequent malnourishment is common in older people in the community (Mir et al., 2013; Morley, 1997).

The drive to eat is primal; it allows the continuation of the species. During the first part of the life cycle of most species feeding and appropriate nutrition allows sexual maturation and reproduction. From birth until mid adulthood there is a steady increase in feeding and biomass accumulation (Morely and Silver, 1998; Morley, 1997). However, it is well documented that food intake declines with age. It is assumed that most of the decrease in energy intake derives from the decline on energy expenditure. Estimates have considered than between the age of 20 and 90 there is a 20% decrease in food intake in females and 43% in males (Mir et al., 2013). The decrease in energy intake has been observed to be greater than the decrease in energy expenditure, which translates into weight loss. This has indeed been documented; lean subjects are more prone to loose weight (Chapman, 2004).

Decreased food intake and the ensuing weight loss are associated with a plethora of health problems like impaired muscle function, altered immune response, cognitive decline, loss of bone mass, anaemia, altered wound healing, delayed recovery from surgery and ultimately death (Chapman, 2004; Macintosh et al., 2000). In a longitudinal observational cohort study in the US, it was documented that weight loss was more common than weight gain in the older population (those over 65 years of age). Interestingly, weight loss of 5% or more increased the risk of mortality by 65%, and those with initial lower body mass had the highest crude mortality rate (Newman et al., 2001). This of course poses an interesting question as to the benefits of DR late in life. Recently the involvement of protein intake and healthspan was analysed in a cross sectional study involving 6,381 adults (83,308 person-years over 18 years) over the age of 50 years from the United States. Moderate to high protein consumption was associated with higher diabetes-related mortality at all ages. High protein intake (animal fat, not plant fat) at ages between 50 and 65 years was associated with a 74% increase in overall mortality, and these individuals were four times more likely to die of cancer in comparisson to low protein consumers (Levine et al., 2014). Moderate protein intake was also associated with a 3-fold higher cancer mortality. Interestingly, these associations were not significant when analysed against caloric intake. However, higher protein intake amongst individuals above 66 years of age was associated with a 21-28% reduction in mortality for all causes, and a 60% reduction in cancer mortality (Levine et al., 2014). Taken together these studies suggest that at older ages reduced food intake (or protein inatke specifically) is detrimental for health.

Interestingly, *Drosophila* also show age-realted anorexia, actually food intake decreases sharply early in life and remains low throughout the rest of the adult life of the fly (Wong et al., 2009). However, flies seem to respond positively to reduced nutrients as flies switched from full feeding to DR change mortality trajectories withing 2 days to adopt a similar mortality trajectory as flies under DR (Mair et al., 2003). The switches however, were performed very early on in comparisson to the lifespan showed here. It would be interesting to analyse wether increased concentration of food supplemented late in life adds benefits to lifespan and mortality.

6.3 Methodology and experimental design

6.3.1 ATP measurement

ATP concentrations were determined according to the Roche ATP Bioluminesence Assay Kit HS II (Roche, West Sussex, UK). For headless bodies 2 live flies were decapitated and homogenized in 100 ilL ice-cold lysis buffer (provided in the kit) for 1 min using a Kontes pellet pestle. A similar procedure was adjusted using 10 heads per sample. The lysate was then boiled for 5 min and centrifuged at 20,000 g for 1 min. 2.5 ilL of cleared lysate was added to 187.5 ilL dilution buffer and 10 ilL luciferase, and the luminescence was immediately measured using a Tecan Infinite M2000 microplate reader and Magellan V6.5 software. Each reading was converted to the amount of ATP per fly based on the standard curve generated with ATP standards.

6.3.2 Paraquat injections

Paraquat (Sigma 856177) was delivered at a dose of 50 ng/mg according to previously described (Bjedov et al., 2010). To deliver the compound injection pipettes were prepared out of 10 mm glass capillaries. We used the Flaming-Brown micropipette puller (Programme 2). A home-built microinjection machine was used for injections. In parallel flies were also injected with control Ringer's solution. Both injected solutions contained blue dye for visualization of injections (FD&C Blue No.1). Paraquat injections were performed by Dr. Helena Cocheme.

6.3.3 Essential amino acids supplementation

Essential amino acids were prepared according to (Grandison et al., 2009). A 50 mL solution (see Appendix 9) was prepared and then added to 1 L of 1 SY. To control for the extra solution, all other conditions were supplemented with 50 mL of ddH_2O .

6.3.4 Holidic medium

Chemically-defined medium was prepared according to (Piper et al., 2014). Briefly, for 1 L of holidic medium ingredients and amounts described in Appendix 10 were mixed in a 1

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration

L glass bottle in a total volume of 883.7 mL (topped with ddH2O). The mix was autoclaved and kept between 50 and 55 °C after autoclaving. The second set of ingredients in Appendix 10 were added and mixed (an essential amino acid (EAA) stock solution, and non-EAA stock solution are shown in Appendix 11) after which the medium was ready for dispensing (or for adding additional ingredients) into vials.

6.3.5 Immunoblotting

Immunoblot analyses was performed according to protocol described in chapter 2. Primary antibodies used were Cu/Zn SOD (#ab13498 Abcam; 1:1000), Mn SOD (#ab13534 Abcam; 1:1000), catalase (#ab16731 Abcam; 1:2500).

6.4 Results

6.4.1 AI3₁₋₄₂ elicited a transcriptionally response enriched for oxidative stress and metabolism

To guide my search for other phenotypes to explore, I interrogated the transcriptional profile of fly heads expressing Af31_42. For this we took a recently published data set of microarrays that explored the transcriptional response to Af31_42 (Favrin et al., 2013) and performed catmap analyses (Breslin et al., 2004) to determine functional categories enriched in the data set. Amongst the ten most enriched categories, we identified processes involved with oxidation-reduction and metabolism, which appeared at least twice (Table 3).

GO ID	Functional Category	P value
GO:0016491	Oxidoreductase activity	1.63E-17
GO:0005811	Lipid particle	4.14E-16
GO:0044444	Cytoplasmic part	8.71E-12
GO:0055114	Oxidation-reduction process	2.57E-11
GO:0048037	Cofactor binding	8.38E-10
GO:0003824	Catalytic activity	5.46E-09
GO:0009055	Electron carrier activity	6.09E-09
GO:0016769	Transferase activity, transferring nitrogenous groups	1.40E-08
GO:0008483	Transaminase activity	2.64E-08
GO:0008152	Metabolic process	2.07E-07

Table 3. Enriched GO categories³ in fly heads expressing $4_{1_{42}4}$.

Thus, the transcriptional response to A131_42 showed that the most enriched category was oxidoreductase activity. Interestingly, also lipid particle and metabolism seemed to be enriched amongst the top ten GO categories. I therefore decided to investigate the response of flies expressing Af31_42 to different forms of oxidative stressors.

³ Data reanalysed from Favrin et al., 2013.

⁴ The analysis was performed by Dr. Dobril Ivanov.



6.4.2 AP1_42 protected against H202 and paraquat when delivered orally

Figure 6.1 Response of 4_{L42} -expressing flies to 11_20_2 and PQ. (A-C) Response of flies expressing A13_{1_42} to H₂0₂ at different periods of A13_{1_42} induction: (A) 2 days, (B) 15 days, and (C) 30 days. (D-F) Response of flies expressing A13_{1_42} to PQ at different periods of A13_{1_42} induction: (D) 2 days, (E) 15 days, and (F) 30 days. Experimental analyses of survivals was performed simultaneously for the three induction periods. N = 90 flies per condition.

In vitro studies have shown that the presence of Af31_42 leads to free radical formation with subsequent cellular and tissue damage (Hensley et al., 1994; Varadarajan et al., 2000). Moreover this is considered an important mediator of neurodegeneration. To analyse the response of flies expressing A131_42 to oxidative stressors I analysed their response to $11_{2}0_{2}$

and paraquat (PQ). A cohort of flies expressing Af31_42 carrying the familial Arctic mutation (Nilsberth et al., 2001) in the adult nervous tissue using the UAS/Ga14-GeneSwitch system (UAS-Arctic-Abi_42/+;elav-GS/+) (Osterwalder et al., 2001), were randomly allocated to fly media supplemented with either the GeneSwitch inducer mifepristone (RU486) or vehicle (100% ethanol) (Brand and Perrimon, 1993; Crowther et al., 2005; Osterwalder et al., 2001; Sofola et al., 2010). Given that the GALA protein carries a modification that only allows binding to UAS and expression of the AP1_42 in the presence of RU486, the control and study groups have the same genetic background (Rogers et al., 2012; Sofola et al., 2010). I evaluated the response to I-1202 following 2, 15 or 30 days of Af31_42 expression. The survival response to I-1202 was not significantly different from controls after only 2 days of AP1_42 expression (Figure 6.1A; P > 0.05, log rank test), but flies became resistant to I-1202 after 15 and 30 days of induction (Figure 6.1B and C; P < 0.01, log rank test). I performed a similar experiment using PQ and observed that flies expressing A131_42 for 30 days were resistant to PQ (Figure 6.1F; P <0.01, log rank test), but their response to PQ was indistinguishable from controls following only 2 or 15 days of Af31_42 expression (Figure 6.1D and E; P > 0.05, log rank test). Although the response to I-1₂0₂ was consistent and reproducible, I found that the response to PQ was less consistent and in some trials A131_42-expressing flies were sensitive to PQ. Resistance to PQ was more evident and significant when the stress assays were performed using medium containing yeast (see section 2.6.2), perhaps indicating an interaction between the dietary components and the response to PQ. The results, however, support a trend towards resistance to PQ exposure in aged Af31_42 expressing flies, but highlights the variability of stress responses in Alzheimer's flies using this assay.

6.4.3 Flies expressing A131-42 showed acceleration of age-related anorexia

These assays require or assume equal amount of food intake. To address the bioavailability of toxic stress-activating compounds under our experimental conditions I studied the feeding behaviour of flies expressing A131_42 in their neural tissue. Flies in either group were followed over a 30-day period with regular feeding behaviour recordings (Figure 6.2A). Control flies (fed vehicle) displayed the previously described age-dependent deterioration in feeding behaviour (Wong et al., 2009). To my surprise, however, flies fed with the genetic inducer RU486 expressing the A131_42 peptide, showed a dramatic reduction in feeding behaviour that worsened over time. Furthermore the reduction in

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration

feeding was apparent after only 4 days of A131_42 expression (Figure 6.2A; *P* < 0.01, t-test).

Indeed these flies barely made any attempt to feed after 15 days.



Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration						
4	6	10	15	20		
Induction of Arctic-A13			()			

Figure 6.2 Feeding behaviour and fecundity of flies expressing 41_42. (A) The proboscis extension assay was performed over time to analyse feeding behaviour of flies expressing or not A131_42. (B) Fecundity was assessed in the same group of flies as in (A). N = 100 flies followed over time. * P < 0.05, ** P < 0.001.

A measurable outcome of reduced nutrient supply is the subsequent reduction in the egg-laying ability of *Drosophila* (Chapman and Partridge, 1996; Terashima and Bownes, 2004). I therefore evaluated the number of eggs laid per female fly over 24 hours at similar time points as the feeding behaviour was assessed. Control flies displayed an early increase in egg-laying behaviour that mirrored the increase in feeding, after which the number of eggs laid declined with age. Flies expressing A131_42 however did not show this early rise in egg-laying, rather a dramatic reduction after 4 days of Af31-42 expression



that remained unchanged for the rest of the trial period (Figure 6.2B; P < 0.05 for all points after 4 days of induction, t-test).

6.4.4 AI3_{1_42} sensitized flies against injected PQ

To eliminate the cofounding effects of altered feeding and to further explore the *in vivo* response to oxidative stress I exposed Alzheimer's flies to PQ by means of a single intrathoracic injection (Cocheme et al., 2011, 2012). Flies expressing $Af3_{1_{42}}$ were more sensitive than controls to injected PQ (P < 0.001, log rank test). Furthermore there was a positive correlation between longer A131_42 expression periods and sensitivity to PQ exposure, as flies induced for 15 days were shorted lived than flies induced only for 7 days (Figure 6.3; P < 0.01, log rank test). To rule out any mortality due to the injection or increased intrathoracic pressure, we injected Ringer's solution to either expressing or non-expressing Af31_42 flies and noted no difference in their survival times (P > 0.05, log rank test). Thus, Af31_42 expression increases the vulnerability to the redox cycler PQ. The vulnerability to PQ is evident after only 7 days of induction.



Figure 6.3 Response of flies expressing 4_{1_42} to injected PQ. Flies were induced for either 7 or 15 days and then injected with 2 mM PQ or control Ringer's solution. Survival was analysed. N= 100 flies per condition. Injections were performed by Dr. Helena Cocheme.

6.4.5 Apt-42-induced anorexia did not modify sensitivity to xenobiotics

In light of my observation that flies expressing AP1_42 show reduced food intake, I cautiously assessed whether this would modify the response to xenobiotics. Several compounds are used to determine resistance to xenobiotics in model organisms (Lindblom et al., 2001; Misra et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2007). I examined whether the A(31-42-expressing flies were non-responsive or resistant to xenobiotic compounds administered in the fly medium. Surprisingly, flies expressing A131_42 were consistently sensitive to the

organochlorine insecticide dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT; Figure 6.4A; P < 0.05, log rank test). To determine whether this effect was specific to DDT, I also evaluated the response to another xenobiotic, chloroquine (Figure 6.4B). Flies expressing Af3_{1_42} were significantly more sensitive to exposure with chloroquine compared to non-expressing control flies (Figure 6.4B; P < 0.05, log rank test).



Figure 6.4 Flies expressing $4_{L_{42}}$ were sensitive to orally-delivered xenobiotics. (A) Survival response to **DDT** was analysed after 15 days of induction. Experiment performed by Dr. Kerni Kinghorn. (B) Response to chloroquine was assessed after 15 days of induction. N = 90 flies per condition.

In view of the fact that flies expressing A131_42 have significantly (2 to 4 fold) reduced feeding intake at day 15 (when these stress assays were performed; see Figure 6.2A), I hypothesised that neuronal expression of A131_42 renders flies sensitive to xenobiotics despite a reduction in food intake. Ingestion of small amounts of these compounds must therefore be sufficient for toxicity to occur.

Given the mixed results when oxidative stressors are supplemented in the fly medium, I conclude that the reduction in food intake, secondary to Af31_42 expression, modifies sensitivity to orally delivered oxidative stressors. This has obvious implications for the use of Af31_42 expressing models in screening for efficacy of orally delivered potential therapeutic compounds.

6.4.6 Ap1-42 repressed genes involved in oxidative and xenobiotic stress

To better understand the changes that might yield cells more sensitive to oxidative and xenobiotic stress when exposed to A131_42, I tested expression levels of different proteins involved in the detoxification of free radicals. I immunoblotted against superoxide dismutase 1 (Cu/Zn SOD), superoxide dismutase 2 (Mn SOD), and catalase after several induction periods. The expression levels of these proteins were not significantly altered in

Pharmacogenetics of ageing and neurodegeneration

the heads of flies expressing Af31_42 compared to control flies at any of the induction periods tested (Figure 6.5A; P > 0.05, log rank test).

Genes responsible for xenobiotic detoxification have been studied at the transcriptional level, revealing a genetic signature in Drosophila (King-Jones et al., 2006; Misra et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2007). Interestingly a transcriptional signature of detoxification has also been implicated in lifespan extension (McElwee et al., 2007; Steinbaugh et al., 2012). To investigate whether Af31_42 alters gene expression of enzymes important for detoxification I interrogated a transcriptional data set recently published (Favrin et al., 2013). Importantly, several genes with cytochrome P450 activity showed altered expression in this dataset, six of these genes were down-regulated, while two were up-regulated. These genes have been implicated in oxidative and xenobiotic metabolism (Daborn et al., 2001; Festucci-Buselli et al., 2005; Pedra et al., 2004). To gain insight into the nature of the particular sensitivity to orally-delivered xenobiotics we assessed the overlap of the transcriptional response to Af31_42 (Favrin et al., 2013) and that of the over-expression of CncC (Misra et al., 2011). Differentially expressed genes by Af31_42 or CncC over-expression significantly overlapped over the Bonferroni corrected P-value threshold of 0.0001 (A; P = 8.59-07; Fisher's exact test). However, analyses of the directionality of the differentially expressed genes did not yield significance in any direction. Just above the required threshold were genes downregulated by A131_42 that were up-regulated by CncC (P = 0.000595). Interestingly, several genes with potential detoxification properties like Cyp6a8, GstD9 and GstD3 were upregulated by AP1_42 (Figure 6.5C), but not in the common transcriptional signature we previously established between cncC, phenobarbital and lithium (Figure 4.4C). One GST enzymes that was up-regulated by these three interventions was GstD2, therefore we analysed the expression levels of this gene in flies expressing Af31_42 without detecting significant changes (Figure 6.5D: P > 0.05, t-test). However, when we analysed whether the expression of this gene changed in the rest of the body (where Af31_42 is not expressed), we found that it was significantly up-regulated. (Figure 6.5D; P < 0.05, t-test).


Figure 6.5 Regulation of detoxification enzymes in flies expressing 4_{1_42} . (A) Enzymes involved in protection against oxidative stress were analysed by immunoblot analyses without detecting significant alterations in protein expression levels. These images are representative of 5 repeats (2 of which were performed by Ms. Michelle Briffa) of 10 fly heads per repeat. (B) Comparative analyses of the transcriptional responses to $A13_{1_42}$ and cncC over-expression. (C) Heat map depicting the differentially expressed genes that overlapped in (B). Analysis in (B and C) was done by Dr. Dobril Ivanov. (D) mRNA quantification of Gst-D2 by RT-qPCR using 4 repeats of 10 heads or 5 bodies per repeat. Experiment performed in collaboration with Ms. Li Li. * P < 0.05, t-test.

These results highlight the complicated nature of the xenobiotic response in flies expressing Af31_42. It seems that the transcriptional response is similar to that regulated by CncC, yet genes that have been correlated with protection from stress are not precisely the

ones changing. Even more, though we did not find significant difference in the directionality of the response, it could be suggested that the transcriptional profiles go in opposing directions, and that the head and the rest of the body might be coping differently with A(31_42 toxicity.



6.4.7 Chronic expression of AI31_42 correlated with starvation resistance

Figure 6.6 Starvation response and regular survival of flies expressing $4_{1_{42}}$. Response to starvation of flies expressing $A13_{1_{42}}$ after different periods of induction: 2 days (A), 15 days (B) and 30 days (C). N = 90 flies per condition. All lifespan were recorded simultaneously. (D) Lifespan under basal conditions of flies expressing $A13_{1_{42}}$. N = 150 flies per condition.

Given the reduced feeding in flies expressing A131_42, I tested their response to starvation stress. I hypothesised that their reduced food intake would render them susceptible to starvation, especially at later ages, when food intake is almost non-existent. Older control flies were significantly more susceptible to starvation than young flies, as previously

reported (Burger et al., 2007). Contrary to expectation, flies expressing Af31_42 were found to be significantly resistant to starvation after 15 and 30 days of Af31_42 induction (Figure

6.6B and C; P < 0.001, log rank test), but not after 2 days (P > 0.05, log rank test; Figure 6.6A). Interestingly, the survival response to starvation doubled after 30 days of induction in comparison to 15 days (P < 0.001, log rank test; Figure 6.6B and C), which suggest either a chronicity or ageing-related effect. It is interesting to notice that the lifespan of Af31_42 expressing flies under starvation conditions at 30 days of age matches the lifespan of flies expressing AP1_42 under optimal nutritional conditions (Figure 6.6D). This suggests that Af31_42-expressing flies aged for 30 days eat so few nutrients that the food they are housed on in old age does not affect survival and they probably die in a starvation-like state.

6.4.8 Ap1_42- induced starvation resistance was secondary to a nutrition deficiency

My data suggested that the expression of Af31_42 leads to an opposite response to starvation stress to that observed in aging control flies; with Af31_42-expressing flies becoming increasingly resistant to starvation stress with age. Dietary restriction, as well as pharmacological and genetic down-regulation of the nutrient sensing pathways, makes flies resistant to starvation (Bjedov et al., 2010; Broughton et al., 2005; Burger et al., 2007). I therefore hypothesized that the starvation resistance observed in Af31_42 expressing flies is likely dependent on nutrition. I decided to explore three complementary possibilities that could explain this starvation resistance. Firstly, I varied the yeast concentration (the major source of nutrients in the media) from none to 50% more its regular content in our media (Bass et al., 2007; Mair et al., 2005). Secondly, I tested the effect of EAA supplementation, since it is the nutritional component with the biggest effect on *Drosophila* survival (Grandison et al., 2009a). Third, I assessed the induction of the starvation phenotype in a holidic medium (Piper et al., 2014), avoiding any cofounding effect of the yeast in our medium.

I first induced the expression of Af31_42 in flies for a brief initial period of time (5 days; to exclude any chronicity effects of Af31_42 expression) under varying yeast concentrations, as previously described (Bass et al., 2007; Grandison et al., 2009b; Mair et al., 2005) and then transferred them to food lacking any sugar or yeast (starvation conditions). As expected, flies expressing A131_42 responded differently under different yeast concentrations compared to control flies (Figure 6.7A). Flies expressing A01-42 peptide were more sensitive to starvation than non-induced control flies when yeast was

absent from the initial fly medium (P < 0.01, log rank test). As the yeast concentration increased the response of A131_42-expressing flies to starvation became first indistinguishable from their controls (P > 0.05, log rank test for 0.02X and 0.5X) after which they became resistant to starvation (P < 0.05, log rank test). Interestingly, the resistance to starvation was blunted when the yeast concentration was increased by 50% compared to standard fly media (Figure 6.7A; P > 0.05, log rank test). These results suggest that the resistance to starvation that Alzheimer's flies acquire over time is dependent on their nutritional status (especially a non-sugar component of the yeast), since they appear to require a yeast component to develop the resistance to starvation.

Secondly, I compared the response to starvation of Af31_42-expressing flies that had been induced in our standard medium to those where EAA had been supplemented in the food. This supplementation has been shown to mimic the effect of full feeding (Grandison et al., 2009a). I evaluated the survival response to starvation after 15 and 30 days of A131-42 induction. Under starvation conditions flies expressing Af31_42 for 15 days were significantly longer lived than non-expressing control flies (P < 0.01, log rank test), as shown earlier. When flies expressing A131_42 were supplemented with EAA, the resistance to starvation was significantly reduced by approximately 50% (Figure 6.7B; P < 0.001, log rank test). In a similar experiment, the resistance to starvation of flies expressing Af31_42 for 30 days was compared to those where EAA had been supplemented. Interestingly, though supplementation did indeed significantly reduce the starvation resistance after 30 days (P < 0.05, log rank test), the effect seemed minimal in light of the starvation phenotype of A(31_42-expressing flies at this point (Figure 6.7C).

Third, to determine whether the starvation phenotype was dependent on our yeast laboratory conditions I evaluated the phenotype under non-yeast conditions by using a holidic medium where the concentrations of nutrients can be easily manipulated (Piper et al., 2014). Flies were reared regularly and then induced either in the defined medium or in our regular SY medium for 15 days before switching the flies to the starvation conditions. After 15 days flies induced to express A131_42 on the defined diet showed a slight resistance to starvation that did not reach statistical significance (Figure 6.7D; P > 0.05, log rank test). However, when the induction was prolonged to 30 days, flies expressing A131_42 were significantly more resistant than their non-induced controls (Figure 6.7E; P < 0.01, log rank test). Thus, the starvation phenotype is unlikely to require the presence of yeast in the medium for its induction and is more likely to be related to the anorexia induced by A01-42. Interestingly, flies that were maintained in the defined medium were significantly more

sensitive to starvation (P < 0.001, log rank test) than those kept in the SY medium. This effect was independent of the induction of A131-42.



Figure 6.7 The starvation-resistance response of flies expressing At₁₄₂ depends on a nutrition deficiency developed over time. (A) A13_{1_42} expression was induced for five days on five yeast dilutions ranging from no yeast to 1.5 the standard yeast concentration in our medium (100 g/L) after which all nutrients were removed and survival analysed. (B) A13_{1_42} expression was induced for 15 days on medium supplemented or not with EAA and their response to starvation was evaluated. (C) Similar to (B), but flies were induced for 30 days. (D) A13_{1_42} expression was induced for in either a defined diet or our standard SY medium for 15 days before analysing the response to starvation. (E) Similar to (D), but flies were induced for 30 days. For all of these experiments N = 90 flies per condition.

Take together these results suggest that the starvation-like phenotype induced by Af31_42 switches on a metabolic programme that allows flies to cope when nutrient intake is poor (low yeast or reduced feeding behaviour), but is restored as nutrients are supplied in optimal conditions (as when the yeast content in the media is increased or EAA are

A

supplemented). However, the switch that modulates the response to starvation seems to be dependent on the balance of nutrients provided by the yeast/EAA and not by carbohydrates. Interestingly, the phenotype is clearly time dependent.



6.4.9 Reduced feeding behaviour lead to impaired lipid metabolism

Figure 6.8 ATP and triglyceride levels of flies expressing $4_{1_{42}}$ and its modification by starvation and EAA supplementation. (A) ATP measurements in fresh flies after 15 days of induction N= 10 flies per three biological repeats. Protocol performed by Dr. Kerni Kinghorn. (B) Measurement triglycerides after flies had been induced for 15 or 30 days. (C) Measurement of triglycerides after 15 and 30 days of induction under basal conditions and after 48 hrs of starvation. (D). Triglycerides measurements after 15 or 30 days of induction in medium supplemented or not with EAA. For all triglyceride measurements 5 biological replicates of 5 flies each were measured per condition tested. * P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01, t-test or ANOVA post hoc Tukey-Kramer.

223

To further investigate the nature of the resistance to starvation I first analysed the ATP levels in flies expressing A131_42. ATP levels have been reported to be affected in fly models of neurodegeneration (Chang et al., 2011; Clark et al., 2006). To my surprise flies expressing Af31_42 did not show significant differences in ATP levels when measured in heads and rest of the fly separately (Figure 6.8A; P > 0.05, t-test). This suggests that changes in ATP levels are not playing an important role in the stress responses of A131-42 flies.

Flies expressing A131_42 are feeding less and therefore eating fewer nutrients, which would be expected to translate into an imbalance in energy levels. Since ATP levels were indistinguishable from controls, I hypothesised that flies must be maintaining their ATP levels through energy storage despite their poor feeding, in order to survive under starvation conditions. To test this I analysed the levels of triglycerides, the main energy store in Drosophila (Baker and Thummel, 2007; Kiihnlein, 2012). Non-expressing control flies showed a slight increase in whole body triglyceride levels after 15 days of feeding with standard fly media and a significant decrease in triglyceride levels after 30 days (Figure 6.8B). Conversely Af31_42-expressing flies displayed a significant age-dependent increase in levels of triglycerides (P < 0.05, t-test). These results suggest that flies expressing Af31_42 switch on a metabolic programme to accumulate energy in the form of triglycerides. This reconfiguration of their metabolism would allow for a robust coping mechanism when nutrients are limited in the wild. Indeed flies expressing Af31_42 use triglycerides to a similar extent as control flies when challenged by starvation conditions (Figure 6.8C). Thus, A131_42 leads to the accumulation of triglycerides, as the lipid content is higher in flies expressing A01 42 allowing them to cope for longer under no nutrient supply.

6.4.10 Supplementation of EAA partially restored the lipid profile

My previous results suggest that the modified responses to starvation are dependent on limited nutrient availability. Therefore I tested whether increased nutrient availability could restore triglyceride levels. Flies expressing A131_42 for 15 days were compared to flies that in addition had been supplemented with EAA. I previously observed that 15 days of EAA supplementation was sufficient to partially suppress the protection against starvation (Figure 6.7B and C). As expected this effect correlated with a complete restoration of the triglyceride levels. Flies expressing A131_42 and supplemented with EAA were not

statistically different from non-expressing control flies after 15 days of induction (Figure 6.8D; P > 0.05, ANOVA post hoc Tukey Kramer). However, when the measurements were done after 30 days of AP1_42 expression, the supplementation with EAA was insufficient to significantly lower the increased triglyceride levels, as they remained similarly high as the induced non-supplemented flies (Figure 6.8D; P > 0.05, ANOVA post hoc Tukey Kramer).

Taken together my results suggest that the acceleration of age-related anorexia induced by AP1_42 reduces nutrient intake that leads to a starvation-like state. Low nutrient availability in turn seems to promote a switch in metabolism to store energy, whereby flies increase triglyceride levels to help cope with starvation conditions.

6.4.11 Supplementation of EAA increased the lifespan of flies expressing AN-42•

Figure 6.9 Survival analyses of flies supplemented with EAA at different time points during 41_42 induction. Flies were induced to express A131-42 in medium supplemented or not with EAA. From the group of flies induced without EAA supplementation, groups of flies were switched to the supplemented medium after 5, 10 or 20 days of the initial induction. N = 150 flies per condition.



EAA supplementation to A131_42-expressing flies was able to restore triglyceride and the response to starvation (Figure 6.8D and Figure 6.7B). Therefore, I explored the possibility that supplementation of EAA would extend the lifespan of flies expressing A13_{1_42} in spite of the fact that the normal effect of this intervention is to reduce lifespan (Grandison et al., 2009a). To explore whether EAA supplementation was able to prevent or rescue the lifespan, I either started the induction of A131_42 expression in food supplemented with EAA or vehicle alone. In addition, I switched flies that had been initially induced in our standard medium (SY) to one in which EAA had been added. I did the latter at different time points (Figure 6.9). Induction on media supplemented with EAA showed a significant median lifespan extension of 5 days (11%) in comparison to flies induced on regular media (P <

0.01, log rank test). When flies were first induced in our standard media and transferred to food supplemented with EAA after 5 days of induction (when feeding alterations are evident, Figure 6.2A), I observed a median lifespan extension of 7.6 days (17% in comparison to controls; Figure 6.9; P < 0.001, log rank test). When the change from regular to supplemented medium was done after 10 days of AP1_42 expression, EAA supplementation was still able to extend median lifespan, though to a lesser extent (only 2.6 days or 6%; P < 0.05, log rank test). However, after 20 days of induction the supplementation of EAA had no effect on lifespan (P > 0.05, log rank test).

These results highlight firstly that flies expressing $Af3_{1_{42}}$ are indeed malnourished, and that macronutrient supplementation is necessary to compensate for their poor food intake. Secondly, as the starvation-like state accentuates over time (with $Af31_{42}$ chronicity) the nutritional requirements are likely to increase correspondingly, and therefore the same supplementation is unable to rescue their survival and to restores their lipid and starvation response.

6.4.12 AP1_42 and starvation share a common transcriptional response

Finally, we decided to explore whether the transcriptional profile of flies expressing Af31_42 shared similarities with the transcriptional response of flies that had been starved. For this we used a head transcriptional dataset of flies starved for 24 hrs (Farhadian et al., 2012) and an Af31_42 dataset (Favrin et al., 2013). When both transcriptional responses were overlapped we observed that there was significant overlap between differentially expressed genes elicited by A131_42 and starved heads (Figure 6.10A; P < 0.0001; Fisher's exact test). Further analyses revealed that the overlap of these transcriptional datasets was also significant at the down-regulated levels (P = 1.39e-05; Fisher's exact test), which suggests that a similar set of genes are regulated by starvation and Af31_42. However, a strong correlation was also detected between genes up-regulated by A131_42 and down-regulated by starvation (P = 1.8E-09), which suggest that Af31_42 differentially regulates them in the opposite direction (Figure 6.10B). These results suggest that part of the transcriptional response elicited by A131_42 is similarly modified by starvation, but most of the response went in opposite directions. Perhaps Af31_42 and starvation have common molecular mechanisms that are regulated accordingly to ensure survival. Careful examinations of the genes involved in the transcriptional response by both interventions could enrich our

understanding of why flies expressing AP1_42 reduced their feeding behaviour and are

resistant to starvation.



Figure 6.10 Transcriptional overlap between flies expressing $4_{1_{42}}$ and flies that had been starved for 24 hrs. (A) Overlap of genes regulated by $A_{13_{1_{42}}}$ or starvation. (B) Heat map of the differentially expressed genes that overlapped. Analyses for these experiments were done by Dr. Dobril Ivanov.

6.5 Discussion

6.5.1 Anorexia is the earliest sign of neurodegeneration due to AP1_42

Adaptations to stress are amongst the most evolutionary conserved mechanisms to ensure survival (Fulda et al., 2010; Kroemer et al., 2010). As a result of evolutionary development, multicellular organisms have acquired endocrinological messengers that enable communication between distant organs, allowing a systemic response that would ensure either a quick restoration of homeostasis, a chronic adaptation (with or without increased survival) or death (Coburn et al., 2013; Durieux et al., 2011; Leopold and Perrimon, 2007). In trying to decipher the response to chemically induced forms of stress in Drosophila expressing the Af31_42 peptide in neurons, I observed that the earliest sign of neurodegeneration is reduced feeding behaviour. Reduced feeding with elderly age is a common feature between flies and humans (Morley, 2001; Payette and Gray-Donald, 1995; Wong et al., 2009). Therefore, the reduction in feeding secondary to the presence of the Af31_42 peptide can be considered an accelerated ageing phenotype, as is the effect of A131_42 on Drosophila's locomotor ability (Gargano et al., 2005; Kerr et al., 2011; Sofola et al., 2010). However, the reduced feeding behaviour precedes the locomotor decline in both control flies and in the AD fly model. Feeding alterations have also been reported in a mouse model of AD (Adebakin et al., 2012), although this model shows increased feeding behaviour possibly because of a gut-brain signalling malfunction. Reduced feeding behaviour or caloric intake have been observed in patients with AD, commonly in advanced stages of the disease, though reduced caloric intake early in the disease has also been reported (Shatenstein et al., 2007).

6.5.2 AP142-expressing flies are nutritionally deprived and lived longer when supplemented with EAA

Lowering food intake extends lifespan across evolutionary distant organisms (Fontana et al., 2010; Piper and Bartke, 2008). Lowering food intake in the context of impaired proteostasis would allow the organism to reduce the rate of protein translation, thereby reducing the cellular burden of toxic proteins, and to increase the degradation of damaged proteins and organelles through autophagy (Bjedov and Partridge, 2011; Taylor and Dillin, 2011). Lowering the activity of the IIS or mTOR pathways have been shown to improve several phenotypes in AD models (Cohen et al., 2009; Killick et al., 2009; Majumder et al., 2011; Spilman et al., 2010). This is complementary to the reports showing that DR improves Af31_42 pathology (Patel et al., 2005; Qin et al., 2006). On the other hand, increased nutrient intake, which limits lifespan, is associated with increased risk of developing AD (Fontana et al., 2010; Luchsinger et al., 2002). Therefore my results showing that EAA supplementation extended the lifespan of flies expressing A131_42 was somehow unexpected. However, there is a limit to the degree of DR beyond which malnourishment is established (Fontana et al., 2010; Piper and Bartke, 2008). I consider that the reduced feeding behaviour and secondary nutrient deprivation have tipped the AD flies to the malnourishment side of the DR tent (shift to the left; see Chapter 1). As nutrients are restored lifespan is extended. Thus, my results support that flies expressing Af31_42 are nutritionally deprived and this compromises their survival.

6.5.3 Ap₁₄₂-induced anorexia altered the response to orally-delivered toxins: implications for drug studies

A secondary consequence of the reduced feeding behaviour observed in flies expressing A131_42 was that toxins delivered through the fly media were less bioavailable to the flies. This translated in inconsistent results when flies were assessed for their response to the pro-oxidant PQ (sometimes showing sensitivity, but most commonly resistance to PQ). Similarly, flies expressing A131_42 were resistant to H202 when delivered through the fly medium. When PQ was administered to the flies as a single intrathoracic injection, they showed an age-dependent sensitivity. Thus, Af31_42 increases vulnerability to oxidative stressors and this phenotype is also present before the onset of locomotor alterations.

These results also have significant implications for using this model to test potential therapeutic compounds that are delivered in the fly medium. Higher

concentrations of drugs may be required to gain therapeutic concentrations and potentially beneficial compounds may have been previously missed as a result of their poor oral uptake in Af31_42-expressing flies.

6.5.4 Ap_{1-42} induced starvation resistance through alterations in lipid metabolism

A significant result observed in this study was that flies expressing Af31_42 were extremely resistant to starvation (doubling the lifespan of control flies). This was unexpected given that they barely eat and therefore would be expected to be very sensitive to starvation conditions. However, flies are equipped to sense low nutrient availability and switch on a programme to store energy, primarily in the form of triglycerides. I showed here that although indeed the Alzheimer's flies seem to be starving, they do have higher levels of triglycerides, the main energy store in *Drosophila*. Since they have higher energy stores, they are able to cope for longer when completely deprived of nutrients (Ballard et al., 2008). I established that this effect is likely dependent on protein/EAA. Flies that were induced to express Af31_42 in medium without yeast (but containing sucrose) were sensitive to starvation. As the yeast content increased to our standard medium levels the flies gradually developed the resistance to starvation phenotype. This effect was restored to control fly levels by adding 50% more yeast to the medium. Similarly, adding EAA to the medium blunted the starvation resistance phenotype induced by Af31_42 and restored the lower levels of triglycerides typical for wild-type flies. Such a switch has not been identified in humans, though lower meal frequency has been associated with higher circulating lipid levels (Farshchi et al., 2005). Higher circulating lipid levels have been associated with increased Af31_42 deposition load in AD patients (Reed et al., 2013). Moreover, elevated circulating levels of triglycerides have also been reported in two mouse models of AD. In these models the increase in triglycerides preceded A131-42 deposition (Burgess et al., 2006). Though the latter effect is likely mediated by high levels of circulating amyloid, which could interfere with enzyme(s) important in lipid metabolism, these results highlight the fact that Af31_42 pathology can directly and indirectly impair lipid metabolism.

6.5.5 What underlies the behavioural and metabolic alterations induced by AP1-42?

Food intake is controlled by a sophisticated set of behaviours regulated by a number of specialised genes and is aimed at maintaining nutritional homeostasis (Itskov and Ribeiro, 2013). I further explored the microarray data set used throughout the results for potential transcriptional changes that could suggest a mechanism for altered feeding (Favrin et al., 2013). To my surprise I found that at least two neuropeptides involved in the regulation of feeding were altered. Though I have not confirmed these results, I would like to speculate about their potential relevance. Little is known about their involvement in the adult fly, but larval studies are very informative. Over-expression of hugin suppresses feeding in larvae. Interestingly, reduction of hugin in adult flies translates into early initiation of feeding behaviour (Melcher and Pankratz, 2005). The transcriptional data set by Favrin et al., (2013) suggested that Af31_42 increases the expression of hugin. Hugin is the fly ortholog of Neuromedin U (NMU) in mammals. NMU has limited expression in the brain, but high levels are present in the hypothalamus, anterior pituitary, nucleus accumbens, globus pallidus, septum, amygdala and medulla oblongata (Budhiraja and Chugh, 2009). Its limited distribution in the brain highlights its role in the regulation of energy balance. When NMU is administered intracerebroventricularly (i.c.v.) reduces food intake in several species including rats and chicks. Contrary, when anti-NMU antisera is delivered i.c.v. it increases feeding in rats (Budhiraja and Chugh, 2009; Mitchell et al., 2009). Elegant genetic mouse models have shown that NMU knockout animals are hyperphagic and obese, while its over-expression reduces food intake and makes animals leaner (Hanada et al., 2004; Kowalski et al., 2005). NMU is therefore an anorexigenic neuropeptide and is gaining renewed interest as it has potential as an anti-obesity target (Mitchell et al., 2009).

Another neuropeptide seemingly regulated by A131_42 is neuropeptide F (NPF), the ortholog of neuropeptide Y (NPY) in mammals (Itskov and Ribeiro, 2013; Wu et al., 2003). NPF seems to have similar function as NPY in promoting feeding behaviour (Wu et al., 2003, 2005). NPY GABAergic neurons control feeding behaviour by inhibiting the inhibitory function of pro-opiomelanocortin and are therefore anorexigenic. Centrally delivered NPY (i.c.v.) promotes a robust feeding behaviour in different mammalian models (Beck, 2006; Chee and Colmers, 2008). Of importance to my results is the fact that adult-only ablation of NPY-producing neurons reduces feeding and promotes weight loss in mice (Luquet et al., 2005). The microarray data set suggested that the anorexigenic 232

signal from *hugin* was increased while the orexigenic (feeding promoting) effect was reduced in Af31_42-expressing flies (Favrin et al., 2013).

The findings suggested by the microarray data are suggestive, yet I need to corroborate them at the mRNA and/or protein level. However, they would potentially point towards a particular sensitivity that these neurons would have to the expression of A131-42. They might even suggest that expressing A01_42 only in these neurons could be sufficient to produce relevant phenotypes in *Drosophila*. I will be looking at these neurons with particular interest in the next coming months.

Chapter 7 Final thoughts: drugs in ageing and age-related diseases

"To him who devotes his life to science, nothing can give more happiness than increasing the number of discoveries, but his cup of joy is full when the results of his studies immediately find practical applications." Louis Pasteur

7.1 General conclusions: treating ageing

Ageing is undeniably an intriguing area of study in biology. The challenges are two tiers. First, the quest for the preservation of the youthful state has inspired scientists and conquerors to speculate not only of the existence of a magic remedy to preserve it, or to reverse to it once lost, but also as to how science can provide answers. Secondly, ageing remains to be an enigmatic area in evolutionary biology. Why has evolution maintained a process that leads to an unfit state? Evolutionary biologists have wondered hard and long about this. The jury is still out there. We are still far from understanding the processes that have led to the existence of the ageing process. While some have considered it a misfortunate trait that allows fitness early on in life, others have proposed that mutations accumulate leading to an increase burden of molecular damage that the organisms' repair mechanisms are unable to cope with it.

Furthermore, ageing has become an attractive area of study in the biomedical field because of its implication to public health. Ageing is the major risk factor for the most prevalent killer diseases of modern times. Estimations have made evident that the contribution of curing these diseases (dementia, cardiovascular and cancer), individually or collective, to life expectancy are minimal in comparison to eradicating the ageing process. Life expectancy is not expected to cap at any time soon, in spite of the twin epidemic of obesity and diabetes. As our populations live longer, age-related diseases become more prevalent. This is in spite of the compression of morbidity that is allowing the rise in life expectancy. So how is research into ageing going to contribute to alleviate this problem? Over the last 30 years, biogerontology has really taken off as an important part of biomedicine. The first observations that ageing could be retarded by genetic manipulations came from studies in the nematode *C. elegans* and soon after these same interventions

were shown to be evolutionary conserved in fruit flies and mice. This period in biogerontology has often been termed as the "new science of ageing" given that it showed the revolutionary principle that ageing is plastic and amenable to genetic manipulations. It is not a surprise that ever since the field has exploded. Nowadays, manipulations to single genes are very often reported to affect lifespan and healthspan in model organisms. The challenge now has become to find ways to translate these fmdings from comforts of basic research into the clinic to have a real impact in public health. The most obvious way is to synthesise drugs that can act on the pathways already identified by genetics. However, this approach has many pitfalls. First, drug development is a very lengthy process that often requires over a decade (in most cases longer) to reach pharmacies shelves. This applies to the fortunate case in which a drug passes the complicated steps of Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials. Second, ageing is not a disease, therefore agencies regulating the safety and efficacy of drugs would not allow the compound to be tested for the required experimentation for human use. Indeed, anti-ageing compounds are regularly found in shops specialised in nutraceuticals and supplements, as they are not licensed for disease treatment. An alternative is to test the pro-longevity effect of compounds already licensed for human use and to repurpose them. This is a strategy that has been gaining popularity in the pharmaceutical industry as measure of optimising the huge investments they often make to take compounds to market. Finding a new application for a drug that is already approved accelerates the process required for the drug to be approved for an alternative disease as it is very likely that the drug has already complied with the earlier phases of clinical experimentation.

Rapamycin and metformin have now become the pillars of this new wave of drug repurposing. Rapamycin is licensed as an immunosuppressant and chemotherapeutic agent, while metformin in anti-diabetic drug. Both these drugs can extend lifespan, and most importantly healthspan in evolutionary distant organisms, which makes them ideal drugs to be considered for the treatment of ageing. Rapamycin is often dismissed as a real antiageing compound given its side effects. For example, rapamycin leads to glucose and lipid abnormalities which could negatively impact human health in the long run. Additionally as rapamycin is licensed as an immunosuppressant there is concern that its use could lead to deadly infections, particularly at older ages, when the immune system is not at its fullest capacity and infections like pneumonia are particularly dangerous.

Metformin is one of the most prescribed drugs in the world and its potential to improve healthspan is greater, in spite of its side effects often confined to the gastrointestinal system. However, the only report to have shown that metformin extends lifespan in mammals showed that the effect was rather small, which begs the question as to whether metformin acts to modify longevity or to improve health by acting on diseases. Recently David Gems made the argument that even compounds acting on specific diseases rather than on the ageing process should be considered anti-ageing as they are likely to contribute to some aspects of the ageing process. According to Gems anti-ageing medications could be of three classes:

- 1. Drugs that act on the ageing process by promoting lifespan extension without necessarily increasing healthspan.
- 2. Drugs that promote healthspan and lifespan by acting on the ageing process.
- Drugs that act on disease, which could be viewed as a minor branch of the ageing process.

Drugs acting by any of these mechanisms are likely to contribute to public health, but drugs that act both in healthspan and lifespan are the most likely to show broad spectrum benefits for disease and thus impact public health.

7.2 Lithium and GSK-3 in ageing and neurodegeneration: an integrative perspective

My results showed that lithium is a pro-longevity drug that can extend lifespan independent of sex and genetic background. Importantly, the lifespan extension conferred by lithium did not reduce fecundity and improved metabolism by lowering triglyceride levels. Reduced fecundity and altered metabolism (increases levels of carbohydrate and lipid metabolites) are among the features of DR, IIS down-regulation and rapamycin treatment. Lithium seems to be different to these interventions. The lipid-lowering ability of lithium proved to be very effective at blocking the hypertriglyceridemia produced by rapamycin treatment. Moreover, the combination of lithium plus rapamycin proved to be more effective than either treatment on its own for lifespan extension. I discussed in a previous Chapter that these could be relevant for the establishment of a polypill for ageing. These findings make lithium an exciting and interesting drug for future work.

In Chapter 6 I described how flies expressing A131_42 show altered metabolism secondary to poor food intake. We have previously shown that lithium is able to improve

the locomotor capacity and lifespan of these flies (Sofola et al., 2010; Adesakin-Sofola et al., 2014). However, in light of the new phenotypes described here it would be relevant to assess the potential added benefits of supplementing flies expressing Af31_42 with lithium. Expression of Af31_42 leads to reduced feeding, starvation resistance and high lipid content. Given that lithium reduces triglyceride levels, this could potentially be tackled by supplementing these flies with lithium. Another potential added benefit would be stressresistance. I showed in Chapter 4 that lithium increases stress resistance by allowing a transcriptional response capable of mounting detoxification and protection against oxidative stress. Moreover, I showed in Chapter 6 that flies expressing A131_42 show altered stress response and potentially this is because of poor regulation of CncC. Therefore, lithium could be beneficial at regulating the response to stress in flies expressing Af31_42. A confounding effect of lithium treatment in flies is that it reduced the synthesis of $Af31_42$ as it impacts on translation initiation (Adesakin-Sofola et al., 2014). Reducing translation would lower the level of the peptide being induced before it causes damage, this intervention would be as effective as lowering (or even eliminating) the inducer from the medium. However, if the treatment was applied after Af31_42 has already accumulated in neurons I should be able to see rescue of the effects in CncC and stress resistance. I have preliminary data to suggest that this could be overcome by supplementing lithium only after the production of AP1_42 has been stopped. Rogers and colleagues showed that even when the induction of AP1_42 is stopped, the peptide remains in the fly head until it dies, and only brief periods of induction are enough to elicit the survival and locomotor phenotypes (Rogers et al., 2012). I have expanded this to the new phenotypes I described here. Additionally my preliminary data suggest that lithium could impact on all phenotypes even when AP1_42 is not being lowered. In a way this is not surprising given that lithium can improve many features in control flies.

What would be the next step for lithium? First a mechanism of action would need to be consolidated in *Drosophila*. Second, evolutionary conservation will need to be proved. In Chapter 3 I discussed some strategies as to when and how to evaluate the effects of lithium treatment in rodents. These considerations might be useful in moving the drug forward. Third, as with rapamycin, once clear mechanisms of action are established, testing for more selective compounds would be appropriate. Lithium is a very dirty drug; perhaps this is its best feature at the same time that it has been my worst nightmare. Though it would be incredibly satisfying to find one mechanism of action to explain all of the positive features of lithium, I think this is rather unrealistic. This is not only because

lithium is known to interact with many biological pathways, but also because it is very complicated to dissect complex organismal traits with one drug. Assuming that all cells will react in the same way to a particular stimulus would be denying the beauty and complexity of multicellularity. As muticellular organisms respond in concert rather than as isolated cells, cell-specific responses can be easily masked by the overall organismal response. Moreover, because some cells and tissues are to some extent more vital than others, it is likely that they will be spared for longer at the expense of 'less' vital tissues. All of these responses need to be considered when evaluating complex traits like ageing, stress-response and metabolism. My data showing that *sgg* expression has tissue specific effects clearly highlight that different cell types respond differently to stressors. Understanding the contribution of specific cells to the overall organismal struggle for survival should be amongst the concerted efforts of the biomedical community as a whole.

7.3 Are drugs the way forward in the ageing field?

DR is the most studied intervention to promote healthy ageing. DR has been shown to increase lifespan, to promote health, and to ameliorate a host of age-related diseases in almost all organisms tested. It is very unlikely that DR will become the cure for ageing. The benefits of DR have long been known and nothing has changed so far. The ageing filed does require the aid of pharmacology to drive the field forward. As discussed before, I considered that it is unlikely we will find the one drug that will cure ageing. Instead we will need to find cocktails of drugs. My data on the combination of lithium and rapamycin is encouraging, but if it was up to me I would immediately add aspirin, a statin and metformin to the mix. Studying the interaction of drugs will be an essential requirement for the new era of interventional biogerontology.

References

- Ables, G.P., Perrone, C.E., Orentreich, D., and Orentreich, N. (2012). Methionine-restricted C57BL/6J mice are resistant to diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance but have low bone density. PLoS One 7, e51357.
- Accili, D., Drago, J., Lee, E., and Johnson, M. (1996). Early neonatal death in mice homozygous for a null allele of the insulin receptor gene. Nat. Genet. *12*, 106-109.
- Adams, M., Celniker, S., Holt, R., Evans, C., Gocayne, J., Amanatides, P., Scherer, S., Li, P., Hoskins, R., Galle, R., et al. (2000). The Genome Sequence of Drosophila melanogaster. Science 287, 2185-2195.
- Adebakin, A., Bradley, J., GiimilsgOz, S., Waters, E.J., and Lawrence, C.B. (2012). Impaired satiation and increased feeding behaviour in the triple-transgenic Alzheimer's disease mouse model. PLoS One 7, e45179.
- Alavez, S., and Lithgow, G.J. (2011). A new look at old compounds. Aging (Albany. NY). 3,338-339.
- Alavez, S., and Lithgow, G.J. (2012). Pharmacological maintenance of protein homeostasis could postpone age-related disease. Aging Cell *11*, 187-191.
- Alic, N., and Partridge, L. (2011). Death and dessert: nutrient signalling pathways and ageing. Cum Opin. Cell Biol. 23, 738-743.
- Alic, N., Hoddinott, M.P., Vinti, G., and Partridge, L. (2011a). Lifespan extension by increased expression of the Drosophila homologue of the IGFBP7 tumour suppressor. Aging Cell 10, 137-147.
- Alic, N., Andrews, T.D., Giannakou, M.E., Papatheodorou, I., Slack, C., Hoddinott, M.P., Cocheme, H.M., Schuster, E.F., Thornton, J.M., and Partridge, L. (2011b). Genome-wide dFOXO targets and topology of the transcriptomic response to stress and insulin signalling. Mol. Syst. Biol. 7,502.
- Alic, N., Giannakou, M.E., Papatheodorou, I., Hoddinott, M.P., Andrews, T.D., Bolukbasi, E., and Partridge, L. (2014a). Interplay of dFOXO and Two ETS-Family Transcription Factors Determines Lifespan in Drosophila melanogaster. PLoS Genet. 10, e1004619.
- Alic, N., Tullet, J.M., Niccoli, T., Broughton, S., Hoddinott, M.P., Slack, C., Gems, D., and Partridge, L. (2014b). Cell-Nonautonomous Effects of dFOXO/DAF-16 in Aging. Cell Rep. 1-9.
- Allender, W.J., Cresswell, G.C., Kaldor, J., and Kennedy, I.R. (1997). Effect of lithium and lanthanum on herbicide induced hormesis in hydroponically-grown cotton and corn. J. Plant Nutr. 20, 81-95.
- Allison, J., and Stewart, M. (1971). Reduced brain inositol in lithium treated rats. Nature 233, 267-268.
- Alzheimer's Association (2012). 2012 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimer's Dement. 8,131-168.
- Alzheimer's Association (2014). 2014 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimer's Dement. 10, e47-e92.
- An, J.H., Vranas, K., Lucke, M., Inoue, H., Hisamoto, N., Matsumoto, K., and Blackwell, T.K. (2005). Regulation of the Caenorhabditis elegans oxidative stress defense protein SKN-1 by glycogen synthase kinase-3. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *102*, 16275-16280.
- Anisimov, V.N. (2013). Meformin. Do we finally have an anti-aging drug? Cell Cycle 12, 1-7.
- Anthony, P., Ausseil, J., Bechler, B., Benguria, A., Blackhall, N., Marty, L.G., Cogoli, A., Davey, M.R., Garesse, R., Hager, R., et al. (1996). Preservation of viable biological samples for experiments in space laboratories. J. Biotechnol. 47, 377-393.
- Augustin, H., and Partridge, L. (2009). Invertebrate models of age-related muscle degeneration. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1790, 1084-1094.
- Austad, S.N. (2004). Is aging programed? Aging Cell 3,249-251.

- Avrahami, L., Licht-Murava, A., Eisenstein, M., and Eldar-Finkelman, H. (2013). GSK-3 inhibition: Achieving moderate efficacy with high selectivity. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1-5.
- Bai, H., Kang, P., and Tatar, M. (2012). Drosophila insulin-like peptide-6 (dilp6) expression from fat body extends lifespan and represses secretion of Drosophila insulin-like peptide-2 from the brain. Aging Cell 11, 978-985.
- Bai, H., Kang, P., Hernandez, A.M., and Tatar, M. (2013). Activin Signaling Targeted by Insulin/dFOXO Regulates Aging and Muscle Proteostasis in Drosophila. PLoS Genet. 9, e1003941.
- Baker, K.D., and Thummel, C.S. (2007). Diabetic larvae and obese flies-emerging studies of metabolism in Drosophila. Cell Metab. *6*, 257-266.
- Baker, D.J., Dawlaty, M.M., Wijshake, T., Jeganathan, K.B., Malureanu, L., van Ree, J.H., Crespo-Diaz, R., Reyes, S., Seaburg, L., Shapiro, V., et al. (2013). Increased expression of BubR1 protects against aneuploidy and cancer and extends healthy lifespan. Nat. Cell Biol. 14, 96-102.
- Ballard, J.W.O., Melvin, R.G., and Simpson, S.J. (2008). Starvation resistance is positively correlated with body lipid proportion in five wild caught Drosophila simulans populations. J. Insect Physiol. *54*, 1371-1376.
- Barnes, A.I., Wigby, S., Boone, J.M., Partridge, L., and Chapman, T. (2008). Feeding, fecundity and lifespan in female Drosophila melanogaster. Proc. Biol. Sci. 275, 1675-1683.
- Bartke, A. (2008). Growth hormone and aging: a challenging controversy. Clin. Interv. Aging 3, 659-665.
- Bartke, A., and Westbrook, R. (2012). Metabolic characteristics of long-lived mice. Front. Genet. 3,288.
- Bartke, A., Sun, L.Y., and Longo, V. (2013). Somatotropic signaling: trade-offs between growth, reproductive development, and longevity. Physiol. Rev. 93, 571-598.
- Barzilai, N., Huffman, D.M., Muzumdar, R.H., and Bartke, A. (2012). The critical role of metabolic pathways in aging. Diabetes *61*, 1315-1322.
- Bass, T.M., Grandison, R.C., Wong, R., Martinez, P., Partridge, L., and Piper, M.D.W. (2007). Optimization of dietary restriction protocols in Drosophila. J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 62, 1071-1081.
- Bayersdorfer, F., Voigt, A., Schneuwly, S., and Botella, J. a (2010). Dopamine-dependent neurodegeneration in Drosophila models of familial and sporadic Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol. Dis. 40, 113-119.
- Beaver, L.M., Hooven, L.A., Butcher, S.M., Krishnan, N., Sherman, K.A., Chow, E.S.-Y., and Giebultowicz, J.M. (2010). Circadian clock regulates response to pesticides in Drosophila via conserved Pdpl pathway. Toxicol. Sci. *115*, 513-520.
- Beaver, L.M., Klichko, V.I., Chow, E.S., Kotwica-Rolinska, J., Williamson, M., On, W.C., Radyuk, S.N., and Giebultowicz, J.M. (2012). Circadian regulation of glutathione levels and biosynthesis in Drosophila melanogaster. PLoS One 7, e50454.
- Beck, B. (2006). Neuropeptide Y in normal eating and in genetic and dietary-induced obesity. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. *361*, 1159-1185.
- Ben-Gedalya, T., and Cohen, E. (2012). Quality control compartments coming of age. Traffic *13*, 635-642.
- Bergamini, E., Cavallini, G., Donati, A, and Gori, Z. (2003). The anti-ageing effects of caloric restriction may involve stimulation of macroautophagy and lysosomal degradation, and can be intensified pharmacologically. Biomed. Pharmacother. 57,203-208.
- Berridge, M.J. (1985). The molecular basis of communication within the cell. Sci. Am. 253, 142-152.
- Berridge, M.J., Downes, C.P., and Hanley, M.R. (1989). Neural and developmental actions of lithium: a unifying hypothesis. Cell *59*, 411-419.
- Bertram, L., Lill, C.M., and Tanzi, R.E. (2010). The genetics of Alzheimer disease: back to the future. Neuron 68, 270-281.
- Biagi, E., Nylund, L., Candela, M., Ostan, R., Bucci, L., Pini, E., Nikkila, J., Monti, D., Satokari, R., Franceschi, C., et al. (2010). Through ageing, and beyond: gut microbiota and inflammatory status in seniors and centenarians. PLoS One 5, e10667.

- Bishop, N.A., Lu, T., and Yankner, B.A. (2010). Neural mechanisms of ageing and cognitive decline. Nature 464, 529-535.
- Bjedov, I., and Partridge, L. (2011). A longer and healthier life with TOR down-regulation: genetics and drugs. Biochem. Soc. Trans. *39*, 460-465.
- Bjedov, I., Toivonen, J.M., Kerr, F., Slack, C., Jacobson, J., Foley, A., and Partridge, L. (2010). Mechanisms of life span extension by rapamycin in the fruit fly Drosophila melanogaster. Cell Metab. 11, 35-46.
- Blagosklonny, M. (2013a). Aging is not programmed: Genetic pseudo-program is a shadow of developmental growth. Cell Cycle *12*, 3736-3742.
- Blagosklonny, M. V (2008). Aging: ROS or TOR. Cell Cycle 7,3344-3354.
- Blagosklonny, M. V (2012a). Rapalogs in cancer prevention: anti-aging or anticancer? Cancer Biol. Ther. *13*, 1349-1354.
- Blagosklonny, M. V (2013b). M(o)TOR of aging: MTOR as a universal molecular hypothalamus. Aging (Albany. NY). 5,490-494.
- Blagosklonny, M. V (2013c). TOR-centric view on insulin resistance and diabetic complications: perspective for endocrinologists and gerontologists. Cell Death Dis. *4*, e964.
- Blagosklonny, M. V. (2012b). Answering the ultimate question "What is the Proximal Cause of Aging?" Aging (Albany. NY). *4*, 861-877.
- Blagosklonny, M., and Hall, M. (2009). Growth and aging: a common molecular mechanism. Aging (Albany. NY). *1*, 357-362.
- Blennow, K., de Leon, M.J., and Zetterberg, H. (2006). Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 368, 387-403. Blesa, J., Phani, S., Jackson-Lewis, V., and Przedborski, S. (2012). Classic and new animal models of Parkinson's disease. J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2012, 845618.
- Bloom, D.E. (2011). 7 Billion and Counting. Science (80-.). 333,562-569.
- Bliiher, M., Kahn, B.B., and Kahn, C.R. (2003). Extended longevity in mice lacking the insulin receptor in adipose tissue. Science (80-.). 299, 572-574.
- Bokov, A.F., Garg, N., Ikeno, Y., Thakur, S., Musi, N., DeFronzo, R. a, Zhang, N., Erickson, R.C., Gelfond, J., Hubbard, G.B., et al. (2011). Does reduced IGF-1R signaling in Igflr+/- mice alter aging? PLoS One *6*, e26891.
- Bonner, J.M., and Boulianne, G.L. (2011). Drosophila as a model to study age-related neurodegenerative disorders: Alzheimer's disease. Exp. Gerontol. *46*, 335-339.
- Boucher, J., Kleinridders, A., and Kahn, C.R. (2014). Insulin receptor signaling in normal and insulin-resistant states. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 6.
- Le Bourg, E. (2000). Gerontologists and the media in a time of gerontology expansion. Biogerontology *1*, 89-92.
- Bourouis, M. (2002). Targeted increase in shaggy activity levels blocks wingless signaling. Genesis *34*, 99-102.
- Brand, A.H., and Perrimon, N. (1993). Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes. Development *118*, 401-415.
- Bray, G. A, and Ryan, D.H. (2014). Update on obesity pharmacotherapy. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. *1311*, 1-13.
- Breslin, T., Eden, P., and Krogh, M. (2004). Comparing functional annotation analyses with Catmap. BMC Bioinformatics 5,193.
- Bro, C., Regenberg, B., Lagniel, G., Labarre, J., Montero-Lomeli, M., and Nielsen, J. (2003). Transcriptional, proteomic, and metabolic responses to lithium in galactose-grown yeast cells. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 32141-32149.
- Broughton, S., Alic, N., Slack, C., Bass, T., Ikeya, T., Vinti, G., Tommasi, A.M., Driege, Y., Hafen, E., and Partridge, L. (2008). Reduction of DILP2 in Drosophila triages a metabolic phenotype from lifespan revealing redundancy and compensation among DILPs. PLoS One 3, e3721.
- Broughton, S.J., Piper, M.D.W., Ikeya, T., Bass, T.M., Jacobson, J., Driege, Y., Martinez, P., Hafen, E., Withers, D.J., Leevers, S.J., et al. (2005). Longer lifespan, altered metabolism, and stress resistance in Drosophila from ablation of cells making insulin-like ligands. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102,3105-3110.

- Brown-Borg, H.M., Borg, K.E., Meliska, C.J., and Bartke, A. (1996). Dwarf mice and the ageing process. Nature *384*, 33.
- Browne, G.J., and Proud, C.G. (2002). Regulation of peptide-chain elongation in mammalian cells. Eur. J. Biochem. *269*, 5360-5368.
- Brugarolas, J., Lei, K., Hurley, R.L., Manning, B.D., Reiling, J.H., Hafen, E., Witters, L. a, Ellisen, L.W., and Kaelin, W.G. (2004). Regulation of mTOR function in response to hypoxia by REDD1 and the TSC1/TSC2 tumor suppressor complex. Genes Dev. 18, 2893-2904.
- Bruning, J.C. (2000). Role of Brain Insulin Receptor in Control of Body Weight and Reproduction. Science (80-.). 289, 2122-2125.
- Bruning, J.C., Michael, M.D., Winnay, J.N., Hayashi, T., HOrsch, D., Accili, D., Goodyear, L.J., and Kahn, C.R. (1998). A muscle-specific insulin receptor knockout exhibits features of the metabolic syndrome of NIDDM without altering glucose tolerance. Mol. Cell 2, 559-569.
- Buck, E., and Mulvihill, M. (2011). Small molecule inhibitors of the IGF-1R/IR axis for the treatment of cancer. Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs 20, 605-621.
- Budhiraja, S., and Chugh, A. (2009). Neuromedin U: physiology, pharmacology and therapeutic potential. Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol. 23, 149-157.
- Burger, J.M.S., Hwangbo, D.S., Corby-Harris, V., and Promislow, D.E.L. (2007). The functional costs and benefits of dietary restriction in Drosophila. Aging Cell 6, 63-71.
- Burgess, B.L., McIsaac, S. a, Naus, K.E., Chan, J Y, Tansley, G.H.K., Yang, J., Miao, F., Ross, C.J.D., van Eck, M., Hayden, M.R., et al. (2006). Elevated plasma triglyceride levels precede amyloid deposition in Alzheimer's disease mouse models with abundant Abeta in plasma. Neurobiol. Dis. 24, 114-127.
- Burnett, C., Valentini, S., Cabreiro, F., Goss, M., SomogyvAri, M., Piper, M.D., Hoddinott, M., Sutphin, G.L., Leko, V., McElwee, J.J., et al. (2011). Absence of effects of Sir2 overexpression on lifespan in C. elegans and Drosophila. Nature 477, 482-485.
- Burtner, C.R., and Kennedy, B.K. (2010). Progeria syndromes and ageing: what is the connection? Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 11, 567-578.
- Cabreiro, F., and Gems, D. (2010). Treating aging: progress toward dietary restriction mimetics. F 1000 Biol. Rep. 2, 76.
- Cabreiro, F., and Gems, D. (2013). Worms need microbes too: microbiota, health and aging in Caenorhabditis elegans. EMBO Mol. Med. 1-11.
- Cabreiro, F., Ackerman, D., Doonan, R., Araiz, C., Back, P., Papp, D., Braeckman, B.P., and Gems, D. (2011). Increased life span from overexpression of superoxide dismutase in Caenorhabditis elegans is not caused by decreased oxidative damage. Free Radic. Biol. Med. *51*, 1575-1582.
- Cabreiro, F., Au, C., Leung, K.-Y., Vergara-Irigaray, N., Cocheme, H.M.M., Noori, T., Weinkove, D., Schuster, E., Greene, N.D.E.D.E., and Gems, D. (2013). Metformin Retards Aging in C. elegans by Altering Microbial Folate and Methionine Metabolism. Cell 153, 228-239.
- Caccamo, A., Majumder, S., Richardson, A., Strong, R., and Oddo, S. (2010). Molecular interplay between mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), amyloid-beta, and Tau: effects on cognitive impairments. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 13107-13120.
- Calabrese, E.J. (2005a). Paradigm lost, paradigm found: the re-emergence of hormesis as a fundamental dose response model in the toxicological sciences. Environ. Pollut. 138, 379-411.
- Calabrese, E.J. (2005b). Toxicological awakenings: the rebirth of hormesis as a central pillar of toxicology. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 204, 1-8.
- Calabrese, E.J. (2013). Hormesis: Toxicological foundations and role in aging research. Exp. Gerontol. 48, 99-102.
- Calabrese, E.J., and Baldwin, L. a (2000). Chemical hormesis: its historical foundations as a biological hypothesis. Hum. Exp. Toxicol. 19, 2-31.
- Calabrese, E.J., and Baldwin, L. A (2001). Hormesis: a generalizable and unifying hypothesis. Crit. Rev. Toxicol. *31*, 353-424.
- Calabrese, E.J., and Baldwin, L.A. (2003). Hormesis: the dose-response revolution. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 43, 175-197.

- Calabrese, E.J., and Mattson, M.P. (2011). Hormesis provides a generalized quantitative estimate of biological plasticity. J. Cell Commun. Signal. 5,25-38.
- Calabrese, E.J., Bachmann, K.A., Bailer, A.J., Bolger, P.M., Borak, J., Cai, L., Cedergreen, N., Cherian, M.G., Chiueh, C.C., Clarkson, T.W., et al. (2007). Biological stress response terminology: Integrating the concepts of adaptive response and preconditioning stress within a hormetic dose-response framework. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 222, 122-128.
- Calabrese, V., Cornelius, C., Cuzzocrea, S., Iavicoli, I., Rizzarelli, E., and Calabrese, E.J. (2011). Hormesis, cellular stress response and vitagenes as critical determinants in aging and longevity. Mol. Aspects Med. *32*, 279-304.
- Can, A., Schulze, T.G., and Gould, T.D. (2014). Molecular actions and clinical pharmacogenetics of lithium therapy. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behay. *123*, 3-16.
- Capobianco, E., and Lio', P. (2013). Comorbidity: a multidimensional approach. Trends Mol. Med. 19, 515-521.
- Carmine-Simmen, K., Proctor, T., Tschape, J., Poeck, B., Triphan, T., Strauss, R., and Kretzschmar, D. (2009). Neurotoxic effects induced by the Drosophila amyloid-beta peptide suggest a conserved toxic function. Neurobiol. Dis. 33,274-281.
- Carrano, A.C., Liu, Z., Dillin, A., and Hunter, T. (2009). A conserved ubiquitination pathway determines longevity in response to diet restriction. Nature *460*, 396-399.
- Carriere, A., Romeo, Y., Acosta-Jaquez, H. A, Moreau, J., Bonneil, E., Thibault, P., Fingar, D.C., and Roux, P.P. (2011). ERK1/2 phosphorylate Raptor to promote Ras-dependent activation of mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1). J. Biol. Chem. 286, 567-577.
- Castillo-Quan, J.I. (2011). Parkin' control: regulation of PGC-1 a through PARIS in Parkinson's disease. Dis. Model. Mech. 4,427-429.
- Castillo-Quan, J.I. (2012). From white to brown fat through the PGC-la-dependent myokine irisin: implications for diabetes and obesity. Dis. Model. Mech. 5,293-295.
- Castillo-Quan, J.I., Barrera-Buenfil, D.J., and Perez-Osorio, J.M. (2008). The role of insulin and cortisol on memory and Alzheimer's disease pathology: implications for Diabetes mellitus. Cambridge Med. *22*, 31-35.
- Castillo-Quan, J.I., Barrera-Buenfil, D.J., Perez-Osorio, J.M., and Alvarez-Cervera, F.J. (2010). Depression and diabetes: from epidemiology to neurobiology. Rev. Neurol. *51*, 347-359.
- Cavallini, G., Donati, A., Gori, Z., Pollera, M., and Bergamini, E. (2001). The protection of rat liver autophagic proteolysis from the age-related decline co-varies with the duration of antiageing food restriction. Exp. Gerontol. *36*, 497-506.
- Cerqueira, F.M., and Kowaltowski, A.J. (2010). Commonly adopted caloric restriction protocols often involve malnutrition. Ageing Res. Rev. *9*, 424-430.
- Chang, Y.-C., Hung, W.-T., Chang, Y.-C., Chang, H.C., Wu, C.-L., Chiang, A.-S., Jackson, G.R., and Sang, T.-K. (2011). Pathogenic VCP/TER94 alleles are dominant actives and contribute to neurodegeneration by altering cellular ATP level in a Drosophila IBMPFD model. PLoS Genet. 7, e 1001288.
- Chang, Y.-Y., Juhdsz, G., Goraksha-Hicks, P., Arsham, A.M., Mallin, D.R., Muller, L.K., and Neufeld, T.P. (2009). Nutrient-dependent regulation of autophagy through the target of rapamycin pathway. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 37,232-236.
- Chapman, I.M. (2004). Endocrinology of anorexia of ageing. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 18, 437-452.
- Chapman, T., and Partridge, L. (1996). Female Fitness in Drosophila melanogaster: An Interaction between the Effect of Nutrition and of Encounter Rate with Males. Proc. Biol. Sci. *263*, 755-759.
- Chen, K.-F., Possidente, B., Lomas, D. A, and Crowther, D.C. (2014). The central molecular clock is robust in the face of behavioural arrhythmia in a Drosophila model of Alzheimer's disease. Dis. Model. Mech. 445-458.
- Chatterjee, S., Sang, T.-K., Lawless, G.M., and Jackson, G.R. (2009). Dissociation of tau toxicity and phosphorylation: role of GSK-3beta, MARK and CdkS in a Drosophila model. Hum. Mol. Genet. *18*, 164-177.

- Chauvin, C., Koka, V., Nouschi, a, Mieulet, V., Hoareau-Aveilla, C., Dreazen, a, Cagnard, N., Carpentier, W., Kiss, T., Meyuhas, O., et al. (2014). Ribosomal protein S6 kinase activity controls the ribosome biogenesis transcriptional program. Oncogene 33,474-483.
- Chee, M.J.S., and Colmers, W.F. (2008). Y eat? Nutrition 24, 869-877.
- Chen, L., Na, R., Gu, M., Richardson, A., and Ran, Q. (2008). Lipid peroxidation up-regulates BACE1 expression in vivo: a possible early event of amyloidogenesis in Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurochem. 107, 197-207.
- Chetcuti, A., Adams, L.J., Mitchell, P.B., and Schofield, P.R. (2008). Microarray gene expression profiling of mouse brain mRNA in a model of lithium treatment. Psychiatr. Genet. *18*, 64-72.
- Chien, S., Reiter, L.T., Bier, E., and Gribskov, M. (2002). Homophila: human disease gene cognates in Drosophila. Nucleic Acids Res. *30*, 149-151.
- Chiu, C.-T., and Chuang, D.-M. (2010). Molecular actions and therapeutic potential of lithium in preclinical and clinical studies of CNS disorders. Pharmacol. Ther. *128*, 281-304.
- Choi, A.M.K., Ryter, S.W., and Levine, B. (2013). Autophagy in human health and disease. N. Engl. J. Med. *368*, 651-662.
- Christensen, K., Doblhammer, G., Rau, R., and Vaupel, J.W. (2009). Ageing populations: the challenges ahead. Lancet *374*, 1196-1208.
- Chuang, D.-M., Chen, R.-W., Chalecka-Franaszek, E., Ren, M., Hashimoto, R., Senatorov, V., Kanai, H., Hough, C., Hiroi, T., and Leeds, P. (2002). Neuroprotective effects of lithium in cultured cells and animal models of diseases. Bipolar Disord. *4*, 129-136.
- Clancy, D.J., Gems, D., Harshman, L.G., Oldham, S., Stocker, H., Hafen, E., Leevers, S.J., and Partridge, L. (2001). Extension of life-span by loss of CHICO, a Drosophila insulin receptor substrate protein. Science 292, 104-106.
- Clancy, D.J., Gems, D., Hafen, E., Leevers, S.J., and Partridge, L. (2002). Dietary restriction in long-lived dwarf flies. Science 296, 319.
- Clark, I.E., Dodson, M.W., Jiang, C., Cao, J.H., Huh, J.R., Seol, J.H., Yoo, S.J., Hay, B.A., and Guo, M. (2006). Drosophila pinkl is required for mitochondrial function and interacts genetically with parkin. Nature 441, 1162-1166.
- Clemente, J.C., Ursell, L.K., Parfrey, L.W., and Knight, R. (2012). The impact of the gut microbiota on human health: an integrative view. Cell *148*, 1258-1270.
- Coburn, C., Allman, E., Mahanti, P., Benedetto, A., Cabreiro, F., Pincus, Z., Matthijssens, F., Araiz, C., Mandel, A., Vlachos, M., et al. (2013). Anthranilate Fluorescence Marks a Calcium-Propagated Necrotic Wave That Promotes Organismal Death in C . elegans. PLoS Biol. *11*, e1001613.
- Cocheme, H.M., and Murphy, M.P. (2008). Complex I is the major site of mitochondrial superoxide production by paraquat. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 1786-1798.
- Cocheme, H.M., Quin, C., McQuaker, S.J., Cabreiro, F., Logan, A., Prime, T. a, Abakumova, I., Patel, J. V, Fearnley, I.M., James, A.M., et al. (2011). Measurement of H202 within living Drosophila during aging using a ratiometric mass spectrometry probe targeted to the mitochondrial matrix. Cell Metab. 13, 340-350.
- Cocheme, H.M., Logan, A., Prime, T. a, Abakumova, I., Quin, C., McQuaker, S.J., Patel, J. V, Fearnley, I.M., James, A.M., Porteous, C.M., et al. (2012). Using the mitochondria-targeted ratiometric mass spectrometry probe MitoB to measure H202 in living Drosophila. Nat. Protoc. 7,946-958.
- Cohen, E., and Dillin, A. (2008). The insulin paradox: aging, proteotoxicity and neurodegeneration. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 9, 759-767.
- Cohen, P., and Frame, S. (2001). The renaissance of GSK3. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 2, 769-776. Cohen, P., and Goedert, M. (2004). GSK3 inhibitors: development and therapeutic potential. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 3,479-487.
- Cohen, E., Paulsson, J.F., Blinder, P., Burstyn-Cohen, T., Du, D., Estepa, G., Adame, A., Pham, H.M., Holzenberger, M., Kelly, J.W., et al. (2009). Reduced IGF-1 signaling delays ageassociated proteotoxicity in mice. Cell 139, 1157-1169.

- Colman, R.J., Anderson, R.M., Johnson, S.C., Kastman, E.K., Kosmatka, K.J., Beasley, T.M., Allison, D.B., Cruzen, C., Simmons, H. a, Kemnitz, J.W., et al. (2009). Caloric restriction delays disease onset and mortality in rhesus monkeys. Science 325, 201-204.
- Colman, R.J., Beasley, T.M., Kemnitz, J.W., Johnson, S.C., Weindruch, R., and Anderson, R.M. (2014). Caloric restriction reduces age-related and all-cause mortality in rhesus monkeys. Nat. Commun. 5,1-5.
- Comfort, A. (1961). The life span of animals. Sci. Am. 205, 108-119.
- Conover, C. a, and Bale, L.K. (2007). Loss of pregnancy-associated plasma protein A extends lifespan in mice. Aging Cell *6*, 727-729.
- Copeland, J.M., Cho, J., Lo, T., Hur, J.H., Bahadorani, S., Arabyan, T., Rabie, J., Soh, J., and Walker, D.W. (2009). Extension of Drosophila life span by RNAi of the mitochondrial respiratory chain. Curr. Biol. 19, 1591-1598.
- Correa, F., Mallard, C., Nilsson, M., and Sandberg, M. (2011). Activated microglia decrease histone acetylation and Nrf2-inducible anti-oxidant defence in astrocytes: restoring effects of inhibitors of HDACs, p38 MAPK and GSK3f3. Neurobiol. Dis. 44, 142-151.
- Le Couteur, D.G., McLachlan, A.J., Quinn, R.J., Simpson, S.J., and de Cabo, R. (2012). Aging biology and novel targets for drug discovery. J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 67, 168-174.
- Crino, P.B., Nathanson, K.L., and Henske, E.P. (2006). The tuberous sclerosis complex. N. Engl. J. Med. 355,1345-1356.
- Cross, D.A.E., Alessi, D.R., Cohen, P., Andjelkovich, M., and Hemmings, B.A. (1995). Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 by insulin mediated by protein kinase B. Nature *378*, 785-789.
- Cross, D.A.E., Watt, P.W., Shaw, M., van der Kaay, J., Downes, C.P., Holder, J.C., and Cohen, P. (1997). Insulin activates protein kinaseB, inhibits glycogen synthase kinase-3 and activates glycogen synthase by rapamycin-insensitive pathways in skeletal muscle and adipose tissue. FEBS Lett. *406*, 211-215.
- Crowther, D.C., Kinghorn, K.J., Miranda, E., Page, R., Curry, J.A., Duthie, F.A.I., Gubb, D.C., and Lomas, D.A. (2005). Intraneuronal Abeta, non-amyloid aggregates and neurodegeneration in a Drosophila model of Alzheimer's disease. Neuroscience 132, 123-135.
- Cuervo, A.M. (2008). Autophagy and aging: keeping that old broom working. Trends Genet. 24, 604-612.
- Cummings, J.L., and Cole, G. (2002). Alzheimer Disease. JAMA 287, 2335-2338.
- Curran, S.P., and Ruvkun, G. (2007). Lifespan regulation by evolutionarily conserved genes essential for viability. PLoS Genet. 3, e56.
- D'Souza, R., Rajji, T.K., Mulsant, B.H., and Pollock, B.G. (2011). Use of lithium in the treatment of bipolar disorder in late-life. Curr. Psychiatry Rep. *13*, 488-492.
- Daborn, P., Boundy, S., Yen, J., Pittendrigh, B., and Ffrench-Constant, R. (2001). DDT resistance in Drosophila correlates with Cyp6g1 over-expression and confers cross-resistance to the neonicotinoid imidacloprid. Mol. Genet. Genomics 266, 556-563.
- de Cabo, R., Carmona-Gutierrez, D., Bernier, M., Hall, M.N., and Madeo, F. (2014). The Search for Antiaging Interventions: From Elixirs to Fasting Regimens. Cell *157*, 1515-1526. Delamater, A.M. (2006). Improving Patient Adherence. Clin. Diabetes *24*, 71-77.
- Demetriades, C., Doumpas, N., and Teleman, A.A. (2014). Regulation of TORC1 in Response to Amino Acid Starvation via Lysosomal Recruitment of TSC2. Cell *156*, 786-799.
- Denoth Lippuner, A., Julou, T., and Barral, Y. (2014). Budding yeast as a model organism to study the effects of age. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. *38*, 300-325.
- Dhahbi, J.M., Mote, P.L., Fahy, G.M., and Spindler, S.R. (2005). Identification of potential caloric restriction mimetics by microarray profiling. Physiol. Genomics 23, 343-350.
- Dibble, C.C., and Manning, B.D. (2013). Signal integration by mTORC1 coordinates nutrient input with biosynthetic output. Nat. Cell Biol. *15*, 555-564.
- Dibble, C.C., Elis, W., Menon, S., Qin, W., Klekota, J., Asara, J.M., Finan, P M, Kwiatkowski, D.J., Murphy, L.O., and Manning, B.D. (2012). TBC1D7 is a third subunit of the TSC1-TSC2 complex upstream of mTORC1. Mol. Cell *47*, 535-546.

- Dillin, A., and Cohen, E. (2011). Ageing and protein aggregation-mediated disorders: from invertebrates to mammals. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. *366*, 94-98.
- Dillin, A., Hsu, A.-L., Arantes-Oliveira, N., Lehrer-Graiwer, J., Hsin, H., Fraser, A.G., Kamath, R.S., Ahringer, J., and Kenyon, C. (2002). Rates of behavior and aging specified by mitochondrial function during development. Science 298, 2398-2401.
- Ding, V.W., Chen, R.-H., and McCormick, F. (2000). Differential regulation of glycogen synthase kinase 3beta by insulin and Wnt signaling. J. Biol. Chem. *275*, 32475-32481.
- Dinkova, T.D., Keiper, B.D., Korneeva, N.L., Aamodt, E.J., and Rhoads, R.E. (2005). Translation of a Small Subset of Caenorhabditis elegans mRNAs Is Dependent on a Specific Eukaryotic Translation Initiation Factor 4E Isoform. Mol. Cell. Biol. *1*, 100-113.
- Doble, B.W., and Woodgett, J.R. (2003). GSK-3: tricks of the trade for a multi-tasking kinase. J. Cell Sci. *116*, 1175-1186.
- Dobson, C.M. (2004). Principles of protein folding, misfolding and aggregation. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. *15*, 3-16.
- Doonan, R, McElwee, J.J., Matthijssens, F., Walker, G.A., Houthoofd, K., Back, P., Matscheski, A., Vanfleteren, J.R., and Gems, D. (2008). Against the oxidative damage theory of aging: superoxide dismutases protect against oxidative stress but have little or no effect on life span in Caenorhabditis elegans. Genes Dev. 22, 3236-3241.
- Drummond, D.A., and Wilke, C.O. (2009). The evolutionary consequences of erroneous protein synthesis. Nat. Rev. Genet. *10*, 715-724.
- Durieux, J., Wolff, S., and Dillin, A. (2011). The Cell-Non-Autonomous Nature of Electron Transport Chain-Mediated Longevity. Cell 144, 79-91.
- Efeyan, A., Zoncu, R., Chang, S., Gumper, I., Snitkin, H., Wolfson, R.L., Kirak, O., Sabatini, D.D., and Sabatini, D.M. (2012). Regulation of mTORC1 by the Rag GTPases is necessary for neonatal autophagy and survival. Nature 1-6.
- Eldar-Finkelman, H., and Krebs, E.G. (1997). Phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate 1 by glycogen synthase kinase 3 impairs insulin action. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 94, 9660-9664.
- Eldar-Finkelman, H., Argast, G.M., Foord, O., Fischer, E.H., and Krebs, E.G. (1996). Expression and characterization of glycogen synthase kinase-3 mutants and their effect on glycogen synthase activity in intact cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 93, 10228-10233.
- Emran, S., Yang, M., He, X., Zandveld, J., and Piper, M.D.W. (2014). Target of rapamycin signalling mediates the lifespan-extending effects of dietary restriction by essential amino acid alteration. Aging (Albany. NY). *6*, 390-398.
- Epel, E.S., and Lithgow, G.J. (2014). Stress biology and aging mechanisms: toward understanding the deep connection between adaptation to stress and longevity. J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 69 Suppl 1, S10-6.
- Evason, K., Collins, J.J., Huang, C., Hughes, S., and Kornfeld, K. (2008). Valproic acid extends Caenorhabditis elegans lifespan. Aging Cell 7,305-317.
- Farhadian, S.F., Sudrez-Farifias, M., Cho, C.E., Pellegrino, M., and Vosshall, L.B. (2012). Postfasting olfactory, transcriptional, and feeding responses in Drosophila. Physiol. Behay. 105, 544-553.
- Farshchi, H.R., Taylor, M. a, and Macdonald, I. a (2005). Beneficial metabolic effects of regular meal frequency on dietary thermogenesis, insulin sensitivity, and fasting lipid profiles in healthy obese women. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 81, 16-24.
- Favrin, G., Bean, D.M., Bilsland, E., Boyer, H., Fischer, B.E., Russell, S., Crowther, D.C., Baylis, H. a, Oliver, S.G., and Giannakou, M.E. (2013). Identification of novel modifiers of Af3 toxicity by transcriptomic analysis in the fruitfly. Sci. Rep. 3,3512.
- Fayard, E., Tintignac, L. a, Baudry, A., and Hemmings, B. a (2005). Protein kinase B/Akt at a glance. J. Cell Sci. *118*, 5675-5678.
- De Felice, F.G. (2013). Alzheimer's disease and insulin resistance: translating basic science into clinical applications. J. Clin. Invest. *123*, 531-539.
- Festucci-Buselli, R. a, Carvalho-Dias, a S., de Oliveira-Andrade, M., Caixeta-Nunes, C., Li, H.-M., Stuart, J.J., Muir, W., Scharf, M.E., and Pittendrigh, B.R. (2005). Expression of Cyp6g1 and

Cyp 12d1 in DDT resistant and susceptible strains of Drosophila melanogaster. Insect Mol. Biol. 14, 69-77.

- Fillit, H.M., Rockwood, K., and Woodhouse, K. (2010). Introduction: aging, frailty and Geriatric Medicine. In Textbook of Geriatric Medicine and Gerontology, (United States of America: Saunders Elsevier), pp. 1-3.
- Finch, C.E. (2009). Update on slow aging and negligible senescence--a mini-review. Gerontology 55,307-313.
- Finch, C.E.C., and Ruvkun, G. (2001). The Genetics of Aging. Annu. Rev. Genomics Hum. Genet. 2, 435-462.
- Fire, A.Z. (2007). Gene silencing by double-stranded RNA (Nobel Lecture). Angew. Chemie 46, 6966-6984.
- Fleischman, a I., Lenz, P.H., and Bierenbaum, M.L. (1974). Effect of lithium upon lipid metabolism in rats. J. Nutr. *104*, 1242-1245.
- FlUgel, D., GOrlach, A., Michiels, C., and Kietzmann, T. (2007). Glycogen synthase kinase 3 phosphorylates hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha and mediates its destabilization in a VHLindependent manner. Mol. Cell. Biol. 27, 3253-3265.
- Fontana, L., Partridge, L., and Longo, V.D. (2010). Extending healthy life span--from yeast to humans. Science *328*, 321-326.
- Fontana, L., Kennedy, B.K., Longo, V.D., Seals, D., and Melov, S. (2014). Treat ageing. Nature *511*, 405-407.
- Ford, D., Hoe, N., Landis, G.N., Tozer, K., Luu, A., Bhole, D., Badrinath, A., and Tower, J. (2007). Alteration of Drosophila life span using conditional, tissue-specific expression of transgenes triggered by doxycyline or RU486/Mifepristone. Exp. Gerontol. 42, 483-497.
- Fossgreen, A., Bruckner, B., Czech, C., Masters, C.L., Beyreuther, K., and Paro, R. (1998). Transgenic Drosophila expressing human amyloid precursor protein show gamma-secretase activity and a blistered-wing phenotype. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95, 13703-13708.
- Foukas, L.C., Claret, M., Pearce, W., Okkenhaug, K., Meek, S., Peskett, E., Sancho, S., Smith, A.J.H., Withers, D.J., and Vanhaesebroeck, B. (2006). Critical role for the p 1 10alpha phosphoinositide-3-OH kinase in growth and metabolic regulation. Nature 441, 366-370.
- Foukas, L.C., Bilanges, B., Bettedi, L., Pearce, W., Ali, K., Sancho, S., Withers, D.J., and Vanhaesebroeck, B. (2013). Long-term p110a PI3K inactivation exerts a beneficial effect on metabolism. EMBO Mol. Med. 1-9.
- Fowler, M.J. (2007). Diabetes Treatment, Part 2: Oral Agents for Glycemic Management. Clin. Diabetes 25, 131-134.
- Fraenkel, M., Ketzinel-Gilad, M., and Ariav, Y. (2008). mTOR Inhibition by Rapamycin Prevents beta-Cell Adaptation to Hyperglycemia and Exacerbates the Metabolic State in Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes 57,945-957.
- Frame, S., and Cohen, P. (2001). GSK3 takes centre stage more than 20 years after its discovery. Biochem. J. 359, 1-16.
- Frankowski, H., Alavez, S., Spilman, P., Mark, K.A., Nelson, J.D., Mollahan, P., Rao, R. V., Chen, S.F., Lithgow, G.J., and Ellerby, H.M. (2013). Dimethyl sulfoxide and dimethyl formamide increase lifespan of C. elegans in liquid. Mech. Ageing Dev. 134, 69-78.
- Freeman, M.P., and Freeman, S A (2006). Lithium: clinical considerations in internal medicine. Am. J. Med. 119, 478-481.
- Fulda, S., Gorman, A.M., Hori, O., and Samali, A. (2010). Cellular stress responses: cell survival and cell death. Int. J. Cell Biol. 2010, 214074.
- Fulop, T., Larbi, a, Witkowski, J.M., McElhaney, J., Loeb, M., Mitnitski, a, and Pawelec, G. (2010). Aging, frailty and age-related diseases. Biogerontology 11, 547-563.
- Gao, X.M., Fukamauchi, F., and Chuang, D.M. (1993). Long-term biphasic effects of lithium treatment on phospholipase C-coupled M3-muscarinic acetylcholine receptors in cultured cerebellar granule cells. Neurochem. Int. 22, 395-403.
- Gargano, J.W., Martin, I., Bhandari, P., and Grotewiel, M.S. (2005). Rapid iterative negative geotaxis (RING): a new method for assessing age-related locomotor decline in Drosophila. Exp. Gerontol. 40, 386-395.

- Garinis, G.A., van der Horst, G.T.J., Vijg, J., and Hoeijmakers, J.H.J. (2008). DNA damage and ageing: new-age ideas for an age-old problem. Nat. Cell Biol. 10, 1241-1247.
- Garofalo, R.S. (2002). Genetic analysis of insulin signaling in Drosophila. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 13, 156-162.
- Gasque, G., Conway, S., Huang, J., Rao, Y., and Vosshall, L.B. (2013) Small molecule drug screening in Drosophila identifies the 5HT2A receptor as a feeding modulation target. Sci. Rep. 3, srep02120.
- Gavrilova, N.S., and Gavrilov, L. a (2012). Comments on dietary restriction, Okinawa diet and longevity. Gerontology 58, 221-3; discussion 224-6.
- Gems, D. (2014). What is an anti-aging treatment? Exp. Gerontol. 58C, 14-18.
- Gems, D., and De la Guardia, Y. (2013). Alternative Perspectives on Aging in Caenorhabditis elegans: Reactive Oxygen Species or Hyperfunction? Antioxid. Redox Signal. 19, 321-329.
- Gems, D., and Partridge, L. (2008). Stress-response hormesis and aging: "that which does not kill us makes us stronger". Cell Metab. 7, 200-203.
- Gems, D., and Partridge, L. (2013). Genetics of Longevity in Model Organisms: Debates and Paradigm Shifts. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 75, 25.1-25.24.
- George-Hyslop, P.S. (2000). Piecing together Alzheimer's. Sci. Am. 76-83.
- Giannakou, M.E., Goss, M., Jiinger, M.A., Hafen, E., Leevers, S.J., and Partridge, L. (2004). Longlived Drosophila with overexpressed dFOXO in adult fat body. Science 305, 2004.
- Giannakou, M.E., Goss, M., Jacobson, J., Vinti, G., Leevers, S.J., and Partridge, L. (2007). Dynamics of the action of dFOXO on adult mortality in Drosophila. Aging Cell *6*, 429-438.
- Goate, A., and Hardy, J. (2012). Twenty years of Alzheimer's disease-causing mutations. J. Neurochem. *120 Suppl*, 3-8.
- Goate, A., Chartier-Harlin, M., and Mullan, M. (1991). Segregation of a missense mutation in the amyloid precursor protein gene with familial Alzheimer's disease. Nature *349*, 704-706.
- Goedert, M. (2005). Tau gene mutations and their effects. Mov. Disord. 20 Suppl 1, S45-52.
- Goldberg, A. a, Kyryakov, P., Bourque, S.D., and Titorenko, V.I. (2010). Xenohormetic, hormetic and cytostatic selective forces driving longevity at the ecosystemic level. Aging (Albany. NY). 2, 461-470.
- Golden, T.R., Hubbard, A., and Melov, S. (2006). Microarray analysis of variation in individual aging C. elegans: approaches and challenges. Exp. Gerontol. *41*, 1040-1045.
- Gordon, M.D., Dionne, M.S., Schneider, D.S., and Nusse, R. (2005). WntD is a feedback inhibitor of Dorsal/NF-kappaB in Drosophila development and immunity. Nature 437, 746-749.
- Grandison, R.C., Piper, M.D.W., and Partridge, L. (2009a) Amino-acid imbalance explains extension of lifespan by dietary restriction in Drosophila. Nature 462, 1061-1064.
- Grandison, R.C., Wong, R., Bass, T.M., Partridge, L., and Piper, M.D.W. (2009b). Effect of a standardised dietary restriction protocol on multiple laboratory strains of Drosophila melanogaster. PLoS One 4, e4067.
- Greenspan, R.J. (2004). Fly pushing: the theory and practice of Drosophila genetics (Cold Spring Harbor, New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press).
- Griinke, S., Clarke, D.-F., Broughton, S., Andrews, T.D., and Partridge, L. (2010). Molecular evolution and functional characterization of Drosophila insulin-like peptides. PLoS Genet. 6, e 1000857.
- Guerreiro, R.J., and Hardy, J. (2011). Alzheimer's disease genetics: lessons to improve disease modelling. Biochem. Soc. Trans. *39*, 910-916.
- Guerreiro, R., Bras, J., and Hardy, J. (2013). SnapShot: Genetics of Alzheimer's Disease. Cell 155, 968-968.el.
- Guertin, D.A., and Sabatini, D.M. (2009). The pharmacology of mTOR inhibition. Sci. Signal. 2, pe24.
- Haigis, M.C., and Yankner, B. a (2010). The aging stress response. Mol. Cell 40, 333-344. Haldane, J. (1941). The relative importance of principal and modifying genes in determining some human diseases. J. Genet. 149-1257.
- Hamilton, B., Dong, Y., Shindo, M., Liu, W., Odell, I., Ruvkun, G., and Lee, S.S. (2005). A systematic RNAi screen for longevity genes in C. elegans. Genes Dev. 19, 1544-1555.
- Hanada, R., Teranishi, H., Pearson, J.T., Kurokawa, M., Hosoda, H., Fukushima, N., Fukue, Y., Serino, R., Fujihara, H., Ueta, Y., et al. (2004). Neuromedin U has a novel anorexigenic

effect independent of the leptin signaling pathway. Nat. Med. 10, 1067-1073.

- Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R. (2000). The Hallmarks of Cancer. Cell 100,57-70.
- Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R.A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 144, 646-674.
- Hansen, M., Taubert, S., Crawford, D., Libina, N., Lee, S.-J., and Kenyon, C. (2007). Lifespan extension by conditions that inhibit translation in Caenorhabditis elegans. Aging Cell *6*, 95-110.
- Hara, T., Nakamura, K., Matsui, M., Yamamoto, A., Nakahara, Y., Suzuki-Migishima, R., Yokoyama, M., Mishima, K., Saito, I., Okano, H., et al. (2006). Suppression of basal autophagy in neural cells causes neurodegenerative disease in mice. Nature 441, 885-889.
- Hardy, J. (2004). Toward Alzheimer therapies based on genetic knowledge. Annu. Rev. Med. 55, 15-25.
- Hardy, J. (2009). The amyloid hypothesis for Alzheimer's disease: a critical reappraisal. J. Neurochem. *110*, 1129-1134.
- Hardy, J., and Selkoe, D.J. (2002). The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics. Science 297, 353-356.
- Harman, D. (1956). Aging: A theory based on Free Radical and Radiation Chemistry. J. Gerontol. 2, 298-300.
- Harms, E., Young, M.W., and Saez, L. (2003). CK1 and GSK3 in the Drosophila and mammalian circadian clock. Novartis Found. Sumpos. 253, 267-280.
- Harrison, D.E., Strong, R., Sharp, Z.D., Nelson, J.F., Astle, C.M., Flurkey, K., Nadon, N.L., Wilkinson, J.E., Frenkel, K., Carter, C.S., et al. (2009). Rapamycin fed late in life extends lifespan in genetically heterogeneous mice. Nature 460, 392-395.
- Hartwell, L.H., Hood, L., Goldberg, M.L., Reynolds, A.E., and Silver, L.M. (2011). Drosophila melanogaster: Genetic Portrait of the Fruit Fly. In Genetics: From Genes to Genomes, (New York, USA: McGraw-Hill), pp. 75-107.
- Harwood, A.J. (2005). Lithium and bipolar mood disorder: the inositol-depletion hypothesis revisited. Mol. Psychiatry *10*, 117-126.
- Hauptmann, S., Keil, U., Scherping, I., Bonert, A., Eckert, A., and Milner, W.E. (2006). Mitochondrial dysfunction in sporadic and genetic Alzheimer's disease. Exp. Gerontol. 41, 668-673.
- Hawkes, K., and Smith, K.R. (2009). Brief communication: Evaluating grandmother effects. Am. J. Phys. Anthropol. *140*, 173-176.
- Hayes, J.D., and Dinkova-Kostova, A.T. (2014). The Nrf2 regulatory network provides an interface between redox and intermediary metabolism. Trends Biochem. Sci. 39, 199-218. Hayflick, L. (2000a). The future of ageing. Nature 408, 267-269.
- Hayflick, L. (2000b). New approaches to old age. Nature 403, 365.
- Heintz, C., and Mair, W. (2014). You Are What You Host: Microbiome Modulation of the Aging Process. Cell 156,408-411.
- Heiseke, A., Aguib, Y., Reimer, C., Baier, M., and Schatzl, H.M. (2009). Lithium induces clearance of protease resistant pion protein in prion-infected cells by induction of autophagy. J. Neurochem. 109, 25-34.
- Heitman, J., Movva, N.R., and Hall, M.N. (1991). Targets for cell cycle arrest by the immunosuppressant rapamycin in yeast. Science 253, 905-909.
- Hekimi, S., Lapointe, J., and Wen, Y. (2011). Taking a "good" look at free radicals in the aging process. Trends Cell Biol. 21, 569-576.
- Henderson, F. (2010). What scientist want: Robert Boyle's to-do list.
- Henriksen, E.J., and Dokken, B.B. (2006). Role of glycogen synthase kinase-3 in insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Cum Drug Targets 7,1435-1441.
- Hensley, K., Carney, J.M., Mattson, M.P., Aksenova, M., Harris, M., Wu, J.F., Floyd, R. a, and Butterfield, D. a (1994). A model for beta-amyloid aggregation and neurotoxicity based on free radical generation by the peptide: relevance to Alzheimer disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 91, 3270-3274.

Hoeijmakers, J.H.J. (2009). DNA damage, aging, and cancer. N. Engl. J. Med. *361*, 1475-1485. Holloszy, J.O., and Fontana, L. (2007). Caloric restriction in humans. Exp. Gerontol. *42*, 709-712.

Holtzman, D., John, C., and Goate, A. (2011). Alzheimer's disease: the challenge of the second century. Sci. Transl. Med. 3.

- Holzenberger, M., Dupont, J., Ducos, B., Leneuve, P., Geloen, A., Even, P.C., Cervera, P., and Le Bouc, Y. (2003). IGF-1 receptor regulates lifespan and resistance to oxidative stress in mice. Nature 421, 182-187.
- Hooper, C., Killick, R., and Lovestone, S. (2008). The GSK3 hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurochem. *104*, 1433-1439.
- Houde, V., Bride, S., and Festuccia, W. (2010). Chronic Rapamycin Treatment Causes Glucose Intolerance and Hyperlipidemia by Upregulating Hepatic Gluconeogenesis and Impairing Lipid Deposition in Adipose Tissue. Diabetes 59, 1338-1348.
- Houtkooper, R.H., Williams, R.W., and Auwerx, J. (2010). Metabolic networks of longevity. Cell *142*, 9-14.
- Houtkooper, R.H., Mouchiroud, L., Ryu, D., Moullan, N., Katsyuba, E., Knott, G., Williams, R.W., and Auwerx, J. (2013). Mitonuclear protein imbalance as a conserved longevity mechanism. Nature 497, 451-457.
- Howitz, K.T., and Sinclair, D. a (2008). Xenohormesis: sensing the chemical cues of other species. Cell *133,387-391*.
- Hsu, A.-L., Murphy, C.T., and Kenyon, C. (2003). Regulation of aging and age-related disease by DAF-16 and heat-shock factor. Science *300*, 1142-1145.
- Hull, D., and Timmons, L. (2004). Methods for delivery of double-stranded RNA into Caenorhabditis elegans. RNA Interf. Ed. Modif. *265*, 23-59.
- Hwangbo, D., Gersham, B., Tu, M.-P., Palmer, M., and Tatar, M. (2004). Drosophila dFOXO controls lifespan and regulates insulin signalling in brain and fat body. Nature 429, 562-567.
- Iijima, K., and Iijima-Ando, K. (2008). Drosophila Models of Alzheimer's Amyloidosis: The Challenge of Dissecting the Complex Mechanisms of Toxicity of. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 15, 523-540.
- Iijima, K., Liu, H., Chiang, A., Hearn, S.A., Konsolaki, M., and Zhong, Y. (2004). Dissecting the pathological effects of human Abeta40 and Abeta42 in Drosophila: A potential model for Alzheimer's disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA *101*, 6623-6628.
- Ikeya, T., Broughton, S., Alic, N., Grandison, R., and Partridge, L. (2009). The endosymbiont Wolbachia increases insulin/IGF-like signalling in Drosophila. Proc. Biol. Sci. 276, 3799-3807.
- Ingram, D.K., Anson, R.M., De Cabo, R., Mamczarz, J., Zhu, M., Mattison, J., Lane, M.A., and Roth, G.S. (2004). Deveopment of Calorie Restriction Mimetics as a Prolongevity Strategy. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1019, 412-423.
- Ingram, D.K., Zhu, M., Mamczarz, J., Zou, S., Lane, M.A., Roth, G.S., and DeCabo, R. (2006). Calorie restriction mimetics: an emerging research field. Aging Cell 5,97-108.
- Inoki, K., Ouyang, H., Zhu, T., Lindvall, C., Wang, Y., Zhang, X., Yang, Q., Bennett, C., Harada, Y., Stankunas, K., et al. (2006). TSC2 integrates Wnt and energy signals via a coordinated phosphorylation by AMPK and GSK3 to regulate cell growth. Cell *126*,955-968.
- Itskov, P.M., and Ribeiro, C. (2013). The dilemmas of the gournet fly: the molecular and neuronal mechanisms of feeding and nutrient decision making in Drosophila. Front. Neurosci. 7,12.
- Jo, W.W., Carvalho, G.B., Zid, B.M., Mak, E.M., Brummel, T., and Benzer, S. (2009). Water- and nutrient-dependent effects of dietary restriction on Drosophila lifespan. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106,18633-18637.
- Jacinto, E., and Hall, M.N. (2003). Tor signalling in bugs, brain and brawn. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 4,117-126.
- Jefferson, J.W. (2010). A clinician's guide to monitoring kidney function in lithium-treated patients. J. Clin. Psychiatry *71*, 1153-1157.
- Jensen, M., and De Meyts, P. (2009). Molecular mechanisms of differential intracellular signaling from the insulin receptor. (Elsevier Inc.).
- Jewell, J.L., and Guan, K.-L. (2013). Nutrient signaling to mTOR and cell growth. Trends Biochem. Sci. *16*, 233-242.
- Jia, K., Chen, D., and Riddle, D.L. (2004). The TOR pathway interacts with the insulin signaling pathway to regulate C. elegans larval development, metabolism and life span. Development *131*, 3897-3906.
- Jiang, Y., Bao, H., Ge, Y., Tang, W., Cheng, D., Luo, K., Gong, G., and Gong, R. (2014). Therapeutic targeting of GSK3f3 enhances the Nrf2 antioxidant response and confers hepatic

cytoprotection in hepatitis C. Gut 1-12.

- Jin, K. (2010). Modern Biological Theories of Aging. Aging Dis. 1, 72-74.
- Johnson, G. (1998). Lithium--early development, toxicity, and renal function. Neuropsychopharmacology 19, 200-205.
- Johnson, T.E. (2013). 25 years after age-1: Genes, interventions and the revolution in aging research. Exp. Gerontol. 48, 640-643.
- Johnson, J.E., and Johnson, F.B. (2014). Methionine restriction activates the retrograde response and confers both stress tolerance and lifespan extension to yeast, mouse and human cells. PLoS One 9, e97729.
- Johnson, S.C., Rabinovitch, P.S., and Kaeberlein, M. (2013). mTOR is a key modulator of ageing and age-related disease. Nature 493, 338-345.
- Jones, M.A., Gargano, J.W., Rhodenizer, D., Martin, I., Bhandari, P., and Grotewiel, M. (2009). A forward genetic screen in Drosophila implicates insulin signaling in age-related locomotor impairment. Exp. Gerontol. *44*, 532-540.
- Jope, R.S. (2003). Lithium and GSK-3: one inhibitor, two inhibitory actions, multiple outcomes. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 24, 441-443.
- Jope, R.S., and Johnson, G.V.W. (2004). The glamour and gloom of glycogen synthase kinase-3. Trends Biochem. Sci. 29, 95-102.
- Jope, R.S., and Williams, M.B. (1994). Lithium and brain signal transduction systems. Biochem. Pharmacol. *41*, 429-441.
- Juengst, E.T., Binstock, R.H., Mehlman, M., Post, S.G., and Whitehouse, P. (2003). Biogerontology, "Anti-aging Medicine" and the Challenges of Human Enhanceme. Hastings Cent. Rep. 33,21-30.
- Juhdsz, G., Erdi, B., Sass, M., and Neufeld, T.P. (2007). Atg7-dependent autophagy promotes neuronal health, stress tolerance, and longevity but is dispensable for metamorphosis in Drosophila. Genes Dev. 21, 3061-3066.
- Kaeberlein, M., Kirkland, K.T., Fields, S., and Kennedy, B.K. (2004). Sir2-independent life span extension by calorie restriction in yeast. PLoS Biol. 2, E296.
- Kaletsky, R., and Murphy, C.T. (2010). The role of insulin/IGF-like signaling in C . elegans longevity and aging. Dis. Model. Mech. 3,415-419.
- Kandel, E.R. (2006). In search of memory: the emergence of a new science of mind (United States of America: WW Norton & Company).
- Kannan, K., and Fridell, Y.-W.C. (2013). Functional implications of Drosophila insulin-like peptides in metabolism, aging, and dietary restriction. Front. Physiol. *4*, 288.
- Kanninen, K., Malm, T.M., Jyrkkanen, H.-K., Goldsteins, G., Keksa-Goldsteine, V., Tanila, H., Yamamoto, M., Yld-Herttuala, S., Levonen, A.-L., and Koistinaho, J. (2008). Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 protects against beta amyloid. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 39, 302-313.
- Kanninen, K., Heikkinen, R., Malm, T., Rolova, T., Kuhmonen, S., Leinonen, H., Yld-Herttuala, S., Tanila, H., Levonen, A.-L., Koistinaho, M., et al. (2009). Intrahippocampal injection of a lentiviral vector expressing Nrf2 improves spatial learning in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106, 16505-16510.
- Kapahi, P., Zid, B.M., Harper, T., Koslover, D., Sapin, V., and Benzer, S. (2004). Regulation of lifespan in Drosophila by modulation of genes in the TOR signaling pathway. Curr. Biol. 14, 885-890.
- Kaplan, S. A, and Cohen, P. (2007). The somatomedin hypothesis 2007: 50 years later. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 92, 4529-4535.
- Kappeler, L., De Magalhaes Filho, C., Dupont, J., Leneuve, P., Cervera, P., Perin, L., Loudes, C., Blaise, A., Klein, R., Epelbaum, J., et al. (2008). Brain IGF-1 receptors control mammalian growth and lifespan through a neuroendocrine mechanism. PLoS Biol. 6, e254.

- Kasuya, J., Kaas, G., and Kitamoto, T. (2009). Effects of lithium chloride on the gene expression profiles in Drosophila heads. Neurosci. Res. *64*, 413-420.
- Katewa, S.D., and Kapahi, P. (2010). Dietary restriction and aging, 2009. Aging Cell 9, 105-112. Kawagishi, H., and Finkel, T. (2014). Unraveling the Truth About Antioxidants: ROS and disease: finding the right balance. Nat. Med. 20, 711-713.
- Kenney, D.E., and Borisy, G.G. (2009). Thomas Hunt Morgan at the marine biological laboratory: naturalist and experimentalist. Genetics 181, 841-846.
- Kenyon, C. (2006). My adventures with genes from the fountain of youth. Harvey Lect. 100, 29-70.
- Kenyon, C. (2011). The first long-lived mutants: discovery of the insulin/IGF-1 pathway for ageing. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. *366*, 9-16.
- Kenyon, C.J. (2010). The genetics of ageing. Nature 464, 504-512.
- Kenyon, C., Chang, J., Gensch, E., Rudner, A., and Tabtiang, R. (1993). A C. elegans mutant that lives twice as long as wild type. Nature *366*, 461-464.
- Kerr, F., Augustin, H., Piper, M.D.W., Gandy, C., Allen, M.J., Lovestone, S., and Partridge, L. (2011). Dietary restriction delays aging, but not neuronal dysfunction, in Drosophila models of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol. Aging 32, 1977-1989.
- Khazaeli, A.A., Tatar, M., Pletcher, S.D., and Curtsinger, J.W. (1997). Heat-induced longevity extension in Drosophila. I. Heat treatment, mortality, and thermotolerance. J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 52, B48-52.
- Killick, R., Scales, G., Leroy, K., Causevic, M., Hooper, C., Irvine, E.E., Choudhury, A.I., Drinkwater, L., Kerr, F., Al-Qassab, H., et al. (2009). Deletion of Irs2 reduces amyloid deposition and rescues behavioural deficits in APP transgenic mice. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 386, 257-262.
- Kim, S.G., Buel, G.R., and Blenis, J. (2013). Nutrient regulation of the mTOR complex 1 signaling pathway. Mol. Cells 35,463-473.
- King-Jones, K., Horner, M.A., Lam, G., and Thummel, C.S. (2006). The DHR96 nuclear receptor regulates xenobiotic responses in Drosophila. Cell Metab. *4*, 37-48.
- Kinghorn, K.J., Crowther, D.C., Sharp, L.K., Nerelius, C., Davis, R.L., Chang, H.T., Green, C., Gubb, D.C., Johansson, J., and Lomas, D.A. (2006). Neuroserpin binds Abeta and is a neuroprotective component of amyloid plaques in Alzheimer disease. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 29268-29277.
- Kirkwood, T.B. (2000). Molecular gerontology. Bridging the simple and the complex. Ann N. Y. Acad. Sci. 908, 14-20.
- Kirkwood, T.B.L. (2005). Understanding the odd science of aging. Cell 120, 437-447.
- Kirkwood, T.B.L., and Austad, S.N. (2000). Why do we age? Nature 408, 233-238.
- Klass, M.R. (1983). A method for the isolation of longevity mutants in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans and initial results. Mech. Ageing Dev. 22, 279-286.
- Klein, J. (2000). Greater lifetime expectations. Nature 405, 744-745.
- Klein, P.S., and Melton, D.A. (1996). A molecular mechanism for the effect of lithium on development. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 93, 8455-8459.
- Klemfuss, H. (1992). Rhythms and the pharmacology of lithium. Pharmacol. Ther. 56, 53-78.
- Kohler, R. (1993). Drosophila: A life in the laboratory. J. Hist. Biol. 26, 281-310.
- Kolosova, N.G., Muraleva, N. a, Zhdankina, A. a, Stefanova, N. a, Fursova, A.Z., and Blagosklonny, M. V (2012). Prevention of age-related macular degeneration-like retinopathy by rapamycin in rats. Am. J. Pathol. *181*, 472-477.
- Komatsu, M., Waguri, S., Chiba, T., Murata, S., Iwata, J., Tanida, I., Ueno, T., Koike, M., Uchiyama, Y., Kominami, E., et al. (2006). Loss of autophagy in the central nervous system causes neurodegeneration in mice. Nature *441*, 880-884.
- Kondo, T., Asai, M., Tsukita, K., Kutoku, Y., Ohsawa, Y., Sunada, Y., Imamura, K., Egawa, N., Yahata, N., Okita, K., et al. (2013). Modeling Alzheimer's disease with iPSCs reveals stress phenotypes associated with intracellular Af3 and differential drug responsiveness. Cell Stem Cell 12,487-496.
- Konopka, R.J., and Benzer, S. (1971). Clock Mutants of Drosophila melanogaster. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 68, 2112-2116.

Kowalski, T.J., Spar, B.D., Markowitz, L., Maguire, M., Golovko, A., Yang, S., Farley, C., Cook, 252
J. A, Tetzloff, G., Hoos, L., et al. (2005). Transgenic overexpression of neuromedin U promotes leanness and hypophagia in mice. J. Endocrinol. *185*, 151-164.

- Kramer, T., Schmidt, B., and Lo Monte, F. (2012). Small-Molecule Inhibitors of GSK-3: Structural Insights and Their Application to Alzheimer's Disease Models. Int. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 2012, 381029.
- Kroemer, G., Marifio, G., and Levine, B. (2010). Autophagy and the integrated stress response. Mol. Cell 40, 280-293.
- Kruegel, U., Robison, B., Dange, T., Kahlert, G., Delaney, J.R., Kotireddy, S., Tsuchiya, M., Tsuchiyama, S., Murakami, C.J., Schleit, J., et al. (2011). Elevated proteasome capacity extends replicative lifespan in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. PLoS Genet. 7, e1002253.
- Kiihnlein, R.P. (2012). Thematic review series: Lipid droplet synthesis and metabolism: from yeast to man. Lipid droplet-based storage fat metabolism in Drosophila. J. Lipid Res. 53,1430-1436.
- Kulkarni, R.N., Bruning, J.C., Winnay, J.N., Postic, C., Magnuson, M. a, and Kahn, C.R. (1999). Tissue-specific knockout of the insulin receptor in pancreatic beta cells creates an insulin secretory defect similar to that in type 2 diabetes. Cell 96, 329-339.
- Kulkarni, R.N., Holzenberger, M., Shih, D.Q., Ozcan, U., Stoffel, M., Magnuson, M. a, and Kahn, C.R. (2002). beta-cell-specific deletion of the Igfl receptor leads to hyperinsulinemia and glucose intolerance but does not alter beta-cell mass. Nat. Genet. 31, 111-115.
- Kuro-o, M. (2009). Klotho and aging. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1790, 1049-1058.
- Kuro-o, M. (2010). A potential link between phosphate and aging--lessons from Klotho-deficient mice. Mech. Ageing Dev. 131, 270-275.
- Kuro-o, M., Matsumura, Y., Aizawa, H., Kawaguchi, H., Suga, T., Utsugi, T., Ohyama, Y., Kurabayashi, M., Kaname, T., Kume, E., et al. (1997). Mutation of the mouse klotho gene leads to a syndrome resembling ageing. Nature 390, 45-51.
- Kurosu, H., Yamamoto, M., Clark, J.D., Pastor, J. V, Nandi, A., Gurnani, P., McGuinness, 0.P., Chikuda, H., Yamaguchi, M., Kawaguchi, H., et al. (2005). Suppression of aging in mice by the hormone Klotho. Science 309, 1829-1833.
- Kwan, M.W.-M., Wong, M.C.-S., Wang, H.H.-X., Liu, K.Q.-L., Lee, C.L.-S., Yan, B.P.-Y., Yu, C.-M., and Griffiths, S.M. (2013). Compliance with the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet: a systematic review. PLoS One 8, e78412.
- Kwon, E.-S., Narasimhan, S.D., Yen, K., and Tissenbaum, H.A. (2010). A new DAF-16 isoform regulates longevity. Nature 466, 498-502.
- Labbadia, J., and Morimoto, R.I. (2014). Proteostasis and longevity: when does aging really begin? F1000Prime Rep. 6.
- LaFerla, F.M., Green, K.N., and Oddo, S. (2007). Intracellular amyloid-beta in Alzheimer's disease. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 8, 499-509.
- Landenperd, M., Lummaa, V., Helle, S., Tremblay, M., and Russell, A.F. (2004). Fitness benefits of prolonged post-reproductive lifespan in women. Nature 428, 178-181.
- Lamming, D.W., Ye, L., Katajisto, P., Goncalves, M.D., Saitoh, M., Stevens, D.M., Davis, J.G., Salmon, A.B., Richardson, A., Ahima, R.S., et al. (2012). Rapamycin-induced insulin resistance is mediated by mTORC2 loss and uncoupled from longevity. Science 335,1638-1643.
- Lamming, D.W., Ye, L., Sabatini, D.M., and Baur, J.A. (2013). Rapalogs and mTOR inhibitors as anti-aging therapeutics. J. Clin. Invest. 123, 980-989.
- Landis, G.N., Abdueva, D., Skvortsov, D., Yang, J., Rabin, B.E., Carrick, J., and Tower, J. (2004). Similar gene expression patters characterize aging and oxidative stress in Drosophila melanogaster. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101.
- Lane, M., Ingram, D., and Roth, G. (2004). The serious search for an antiaging pill. Sci. Am. 36-41.
- Lane, M.A., Ph, D., Ingram, D.K., and Roth, G.S. (1998). 2-Deoxy-D-Glucose Feeding in Rats Mimics Physiologic Effects of Calorie Restriction. J. Anti. Aging. Med. 1, 327-337.
- Lansbury, P.T., and Lashuel, H.A. (2006). A century-old debate on protein aggregation and neurodegeneration enters the clinic. Nature 443, 774-779.

Laplante, M., and Sabatini, D.M. (2012). mTOR signaling in growth control and disease. Cell *149*, 274-293.

- Lapointe, J., and Hekimi, S. (2008). Early mitochondrial dysfunction in long-lived Mclkl+/- mice. J. Biol. Chem. *283*, 26217-26227.
- Lapointe, J., Wang, Y., Bigras, E., and Hekimi, S. (2012). The submitochondrial distribution of ubiquinone affects respiration in long-lived Mclkl+/- mice. J. Cell Biol. *199*, 215-224.
- Lee, H., and Ko, G. (2014). Effect of Metformin on Metabolic Improvement and the Gut Microbiota. Appl. Environ. Microbiol.
- Lee, B.C., Kaya, A., Ma, S., Kim, G., Gerashchenko, M. V., Yim, S.H., Hu, Z., Harshman, L.G., and Gladyshev, V.N. (2014). Methionine restriction extends lifespan of Drosophila melanogaster under conditions of low amino-acid status. Nat. Commun. 5,1-12.
- Lee, S.-J., Murphy, C.T., and Kenyon, C. (2009). Glucose shortens the life span of C. elegans by downregulating DAF-16/FOXO activity and aquaporin gene expression. Cell Metab. 10, 379-391.
- Lee, S.B., Kim, S., Lee, J., Park, J., Lee, G., Kim, Y., Kim, J.-M., and Chung, J. (2007). ATG1, an autophagy regulator, inhibits cell growth by negatively regulating S6 kinase. EMBO Rep. 8, 360-365.
- Lee, S.S., Lee, R.Y.N., Fraser, A.G., Kamath, R.S., Ahringer, J., and Ruvkun, G. (2003). A systematic RNAi screen identifies a critical role for mitochondria in C. elegans longevity. Nat. Genet. 33,40-48.
- Lees, A.J., Hardy, J., and Revesz, T. (2009). Parkinson 's disease. Lancet 373,2055-2066.
- Lees, E.K., Kr61, E., Grant, L., Shearer, K., Wyse, C., Moncur, E., Bykowska, A.S., Mody, N., Gettys, T.W., and Delibegovic, M. (2014). Methionine restriction restores a younger metabolic phenotype in adult mice with alterations in fibroblast growth factor 21. Aging Cell 1-11
- Lenox, R.H., and Wang, L. (2003). Molecular basis of lithium action: integration of lithiumresponsive signaling and gene expression networks. Mol. Psychiatry *8*, 135-144.
- Lenox, R.H., and Watson, D.G. (1994). Lithium and the brain: a psychopharmacological strategy to a molecular basis for manic depressive illness. Clin. Chem. *40*, 309-314.
- Leopold, P., and Perrimon, N. (2007). Drosophila and the genetics of the internal milieu Nature *450,* 186-188.
- Lessing, D., and Bonini, N.M. (2009). Maintaining the brain: insight into human neurodegeneration from Drosophila melanogaster mutants. Nat. Rev. Genet. 10, 359-370.

Levine, B., and Kroemer, G. (2008). Autophagy in the pathogenesis of disease. Cell 132,27-42.

- Levine, M.E., Suarez, J.A., Brandhorst, S., Balasubramanian, P., Cheng, C., Madia, F., Fontana, L., Mirisola, M.G., Guevara-Aguirre, J., Wan, J., et al. (2014). Low Protein Intake Is Associated with a Major Reduction in IGF-1, Cancer, and Overall Mortality in the 65 and Younger but Not Older Population. Cell Metab. 19, 407-417.
- Li, J., Lu, W.-Q., Beesley, S., Loudon, A.S.I., and Meng, Q.-J. (2012). Lithium impacts on the amplitude and period of the molecular circadian clockwork. PLoS One 7, e33292.
- Libina, N., Berman, J.R., and Kenyon, C. (2003). Tissue-specific activities of C. elegans DAF-16 in the regulation of lifespan. Cell *115*, 489-502.
- Lin, K., Hsin, H., Libina, N., and Kenyon, C. (2001). Regulation of the Caenorhabditis elegans longevity protein DAF-16 by insulin/IGF-1 and germline signaling. Nat. Genet. 28, 139-145.
- Lindblom, T.H., Pierce, G.J., and Sluder, A.E. (2001). A C. elegans orphan nuclear receptor contributes to xenobiotic resistance. Curr. Biol. *11*, 864-868.
- Lithgow, G.J. (2001). Hormesis a new hope for ageing studies or a poor second to genetics? Hum. Exp. Toxicol. *20*, 301-303.
- Lithgow, G.J. (2006). Stress response and aging. Drug Discov. Today Dis. Mech. 3,27-31.
- Liu, G., Rogers, J., Murphy, C.T., and Rongo, C. (2011). EGF signalling activates the ubiquitin proteasome system to modulate C. elegans lifespan. EMBO J. *30*, 2990-3003.
- Liu, H., Fergusson, M.M., Castilho, R.M., Liu, J., Cao, L., Chen, J., Malide, D., Rovira, LI., Schimel, D., Kuo, C.J., et al. (2007). Augmented Wnt signaling in a mammalian model of accelerated aging. Science 317, 803-806.

- Liu, J.-P., Baker, J., Perkins, A.S., Robertson, E.J., and Efstratiadis, A. (1993). Mice carrying null mutations of the genes encoding insulin-like growth factor I (Igf-1) and type 1 IGF receptor (Igflr). Cell 75,59-72.
- Loewith, R., Jacinto, E., Wullschleger, S., Lorberg, A., Crespo, J.L., Bonenfant, D., Oppliger, W., Jenoe, P., and Hall, M.N. (2002). Two TOR complexes, only one of which is rapamycin sensitive, have distinct roles in cell growth control. Mol. Cell *10,457-468*.
- Longo, V.D., and Mattson, M.P. (2014). Fasting: Molecular Mechanisms and Clinical Applications. Cell Metab. 1-12.
- LOpez-Otin, C., Blasco, M.A., Partridge, L., Serrano, M., and Kroemer, G. (2013). The Hallmarks of Aging. Cell *153,1194-1217*.
- Lovestone, S., Killick, R., Di Forti, M., and Murray, R. (2007). Schizophrenia as a GSK-3 dysregulation disorder. Trends Neurosci. *30*, 142-149.
- Luchsinger, J.A. (2010). Insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes, and AD: cerebrovascular disease or neurodegeneration? Neurology 75,758-759.
- Luchsinger, J. a, Tang, M.-X., Shea, S., and Mayeux, R. (2002). Caloric intake and the risk of Alzheimer disease. Arch. Neurol. *59*, 1258-1263.
- Luo, L., Tully, T., and White, K. (1992). Human amyloid precursor protein ameliorates behavioral deficit of flies deleted for Appl gene. Neuron *9*, 595-605.
- Luquet, S., Perez, F. a, Hnasko, T.S., and Palmiter, R.D. (2005). NPY/AgRP neurons are essential for feeding in adult mice but can be ablated in neonates. Science *310*, 683-685.
- Ma, Q. (2013). Role of nrf2 in oxidative stress and toxicity. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 53, 401-426.
- Ma, X.M., and Blenis, J. (2009). Molecular mechanisms of mTOR-mediated translational control. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. *10*, 307-318.
- MacIntosh, C., Morley, J.E., and Chapman, I.M. (2000). The anorexia of aging. Nutrition 16(, 983-995.
- Madeo, F., Tavernarakis, N., and Kroemer, G. (2010). Can autophagy promote longevity? Nat. Cell Biol. *12*, 842-846.
- Mair, W., and Dillin, A. (2008). Aging and survival: the genetics of life span extension by dietary restriction. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 77,727-754.
- Mair, W., Goymer, P., Pletcher, S.D., and Partridge, L. (2003). Demography of dietary restriction and death in Drosophila. Science *301*, 1731-1733.
- Mair, W., Piper, M.D.W., and Partridge, L. (2005). Calories do not explain extension of life span by dietary restriction in Drosophila. PLoS Biol. 3, e223.
- Majumder, S., Richardson, A., Strong, R., and Oddo, S. (2011). Inducing autophagy by rapamycin before, but not after, the formation of plaques and tangles ameliorates cognitive deficits. PLoS One *6*, e25416.
- Maklakov, A.A., and Lummaa, V. (2013). Evolution of sex differences in lifespan and aging: causes and constraints. BioEssays 35,717-724.
- Malagelada, C., Jin, Z.H., Jackson-Lewis, V., Przedborski, S., and Greene, L.A. (2010). Rapamycin protects against neuron death in in vitro and in vivo models of Parkinson's disease. J. Neurosci. *30*, 1166-1175.
- Malhi, G.S., and Tanious, M. (2011). Optimal frequency of lithium administration in the treatment of bipolar disorder: clinical and dosing considerations. CNS Drugs 25, 289-298.
- Malhi, G.S., Tanious, M., Das, P., and Berk, M. (2012). The science and practice of lithium therapy. Aust. N. Z. J. Psychiatry 46, 192-211.
- Mann, D.M.A., Iwatsubot, T., Iharat, Y., Cairnsil, N.J., Lantosil, P.L., Bogdanovicm, N., Lannfelt, L., Winblad, B., Rossor, M.N., and Lu, L.U. (1996). Predominant Deposition of Amyloidbeta42(43) in Plaques in Cases of Alzheimer's Disease and Hereditary Cerebral Hemorrhage Associated with Mutations in the Amyloid Precursor Protein Gene. Am. J. Pathol. 148, 1257-1266.
- Manning, B.D., and Cantley, L.C. (2007). AKT/PKB signaling: navigating downstream. Cell 129, 1261-1274.
- Manton, K.G. (2010). The future of old age. In Textbook of Geriatric Medicine and Gerontology, (United States of America: Saunders Elsevier), pp. 11-17.

- Marco, R., Benguria, A., Sanchez, J., and Juan, E. de (1996). Effects of the Space Environment on Drosophila melanogaster development. Implications of the IML-2 experiment. J. Biotechnol. *1656*, 179-189.
- Marco, R., Husson, D., Herranz, R., Mateos, J., and Medina, F.J. (2003). Drosophila melanogaster and the Future of "Evo-Devo" Biology in Space. Challenges and Problems in the Path of an Eventual Colonization Project Outside the Earth. Adv. Space Biol. Med. 9, 41-81.
- Markaki, M., and Tavernarakis, N. (2010). Modeling human diseases in Caenorhabditis elegans. Biotechnol. J. 5,1261-1276.
- Marrero, S., Bloom, D., and Adashi, E. (2012). Noncommunicable diseases: a global health crisis in a new world order. JAMA *307*, 2037-2038.
- Martin-Montalvo, A., Mercken, E.M., Mitchell, S.J., Palacios, H.H., Mote, P.L., Scheibye-Knudsen, M., Gomes, A.P., Ward, T.M., Minor, R.K., Blouin, M.-J., et al. (2013). Metformin improves healthspan and lifespan in mice. Nat. Commun. *4*, 2192.
- Martinez, D.E. (1998). Mortality patterns suggest lack of senescence in hydra. Exp. Gerontol. 33, 217-225.
- Martinez-Vicente, M., Sovak, G., and Cuervo, A.M. (2005). Protein degradation and aging. Exp. Gerontol. 40, 622-633.
- Masoro, E.J. (2007). Role of hormesis in life extension by caloric restriction. Dose-Response 5, 163-173.
- Matsagas, K., Lim, D.B., Horwitz, M., Rizza, C.L., Mueller, L.D., Villeponteau, B., and Rose, M.R. (2009). Long-term functional side-effects of stimulants and sedatives in Drosophila melanogaster. PLoS One 4, e6578.
- Mattison, J. a, Roth, G.S., Beasley, T.M., Tilmont, E.M., Handy, A.M., Herbert, R.L., Longo, D.L., Allison, D.B., Young, J.E., Bryant, M., et al. (2012). Impact of caloric restriction on health and survival in rhesus monkeys from the NIA study. Nature *489*, 318-321.
- Mattson, M.P. (2008a). Hormesis defined. Ageing Res. Rev. 7,1-7.
- Mattson, M.P. (2008b). Hormesis and disease resistance: activation of cellular stress response pathways. Hum. Exp. Toxicol. 27, 155-162.
- Maurice, C.F., Haiser, H.J., and Turnbaugh, P.J. (2013). Xenobiotics Shape the Physiology and Gene Expression of the Active Human Gut Microbiome. Cell *152*, 39-50.
- Mayeux, R. (2003). Early Alzheimer's Disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 362, 2194-2201.
- Mayeux, R., and Stern, Y. (2012). Epidemiology of Alzheimer disease. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2.
- McCay, C.M., Crowell, M.F., and Maynard, L.A. (1935). The effect of retarded growth upon the length of life span and upon the ultimate body size. J. Nutr. *10*, 63-79.
- McColl, G., Killilea, D.W., Hubbard, A.E., Vantipalli, M.C., Melov, S., and Lithgow, G.J. (2008). Pharmacogenetic analysis of lithium-induced delayed aging in Caenorhabditis elegans. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 350-357.
- McElwee, J.J., Schuster, E., Blanc, E., Piper, M.D., Thomas, J.H., Patel, D.S., Selman, C., Withers, D.J., Thornton, J.M., Partridge, L., et al. (2007). Evolutionary conservation of regulated longevity assurance mechanisms. Genome Biol. 8, R132.
- McEwen, B. (1998). Stress, adaptation, and disease: allostasis and allostatic load. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 840, 33-44.
- McManus, E.J., Sakamoto, K., Armit, L.J., Ronaldson, L., Shpiro, N., Marquez, R., and Alessi, D.R. (2005). Role that phosphorylation of GSK3 plays in insulin and Wnt signalling defined by knockin analysis. EMBO J. 24, 1571-1583.
- Medawar, P.B. (1957). The Uniquess of the Individual (Basic Books, Inc.).
- Medvedev, Z.A. (1990). An attempt at a rational classification of theories of ageing. Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc. *65*, 375-398.
- Meijer, L., Flajolet, M., and Greengard, P. (2004). Pharmacological inhibitors of glycogen synthase kinase 3. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. *25*, 471-480.
- Melcher, C., and Pankratz, M.J. (2005). Candidate gustatory interneurons modulating feeding behavior in the Drosophila brain. PLoS Biol. 3, e305.
- Melo, J. a, and Ruvkun, G. (2012). Inactivation of conserved C. elegans genes engages pathogenand xenobiotic-associated defenses. Cell 149,452-466.

- Mendoza, M.C., Er, E.E., and Blenis, J. (2011). The Ras-ERK and PI3K-mTOR pathways: cross-talk and compensation. Trends Biochem. Sci. *36*, 320-328.
- Menon, S., Dibble, C.C., Talbott, G., Hoxhaj, G., Valvezan, A.J., Takahashi, H., Cantley, L.C., and Manning, B.D. (2014). Spatial Control of the TSC Complex Integrates Insulin and Nutrient Regulation of mTORC1 at the Lysosome. Cell 156,771-785.
- Metaxakis, A., and Partridge, L. (2013). Dietary Restriction Extends Lifespan in Wild-Derived Populations of Drosophila melanogaster. PLoS One *8*, e74681.
- Michael, M.D., Kulkarni, R.N., Postic, C., Previs, S.F., Shulman, G.I., Magnuson, M.A., and Kahn, C.R. (2000). Loss of insulin signaling in hepatocytes leads to severe insulin resistance and progressive hepatic dysfunction. Mol. Cell *6*, 87-97.
- Migliaccio, E., Giorgio, M., Mele, S., Pelicci, G., Reboldi, P., Pandolfi, P.P., Lanfrancone, L., and Pelicci, P.G. (1999). The p66shc adaptor protein controls oxidative stress response and life span in mammals. Nature *402*, 309-313.
- Mihaylova, V.T., Borland, C.Z., Manjarrez, L., Stern, M.J., and Sun, H. (1999). The PTEN tumor suppressor homolog in Caenorhabditis elegans regulates longevity and dauer formation in an insulin receptor-like signaling pathway. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96, 7427-7432.
- Miller, R. a, Buehner, G., Chang, Y., Harper, J.M., Sigler, R., and Smith-Wheelock, M. (2005). Methionine-deficient diet extends mouse lifespan, slows immune and lens aging, alters glucose, T4, IGF-I and insulin levels, and increases hepatocyte MIF levels and stress resistance. Aging Cell 4,119-125.
- Miller, R.A., Harrison, D.E., Astle, C.M., Fernandez, E., Flurkey, K., Han, M., Javors, M. a, Li, X., Nadon, N.L., Nelson, J.F., et al. (2013). Rapamycin-mediated lifespan increase in mice is
- dose and sex dependent and metabolically distinct from dietary restriction. Aging Cell 1-10. Min, K.-J., Yamamoto, R., Buch, S., Pankratz, M., and Tatar, M. (2008). Drosophila lifespan control by dietary restriction independent of insulin-like signaling. Aging Cell 7,199-206.
- Mir, F., Zafar, F., and Morley, J.E. (2013). Anorexia of aging: can we decrease protein energy undernutrition in the nursing home? J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc. *14*, 77-79.
- Misra, J.R., Horner, M.A., Lam, G., and Thummel, C.S. (2011). Transcriptional regulation of xenobiotic detoxification in Drosophila. Genes Dev. 25, 1796-1806.
- Mitchell, J.D., Maguire, J.J., and Davenport, a P. (2009). Emerging pharmacology and physiology of neuromedin U and the structurally related peptide neuromedin S. Br. J. Pharmacol. *158*, 87-103.
- Miwa, S., St-Pierre, J., Partridge, L., and Brand, M.D. (2003). Superoxide and hydrogen peroxide production by Drosophila mitochondria. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 35,938-948.
- Moreira, P.I., Zhu, X., Liu, Q., Honda, K., Siedlak, S.L., Harris, P.L., Smith, M. a, and Perry, G. (2006). Compensatory responses induced by oxidative stress in Alzheimer disease. Biol. Res. 39, 7-13.
- Morely, J.E., and Silver, A.J. (1998). Anorexia in the elderly. Neurobiol. Aging 9, 9-16.
- Morimoto, R.I., and Cuervo, A.M. (2014). Proteostasis and the aging proteome in health and disease. J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 69 Suppl 1, S33-8.
- Morley, J. (1997). Anorexia of aging: physiologic and pathologic. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 66, 760-773. Morley, J.E. (2001). Decreased food intake with aging. J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 56, 81-88.
- Morley, J.F., and Morimoto, R.I. (2004). Regulation of longevity in Caenorhabditis elegans by heat shock factor and molecular chaperones. Mol. Biol. Cell *15,657-664*.
- Morrow, G., Samson, M., Michaud, S., and Tanguay, R. (2004). Overexpression of the small mitochondrial Hsp22 extends Drosophila life span and increases resistance to oxidative stress. FASEB J. *18*, 598-599.
- Motohashi, H., and Yamamoto, M. (2004). Nrf2-Keap 1 defines a physiologically important stress response mechanism. Trends Mol. Med. *10*, 549-557.
- Mudher, A., Shepherd, D., Newman, T.A., Mildren, P., Jukes, J.P., Squire, A., Mears, A., Drummond, J.A., Berg, S., MacKay, D., et al. (2004). GSK-3beta inhibition reverses axonal transport defects and behavioural phenotypes in Drosophila. Mol. Psychiatry *9*, 522-530.
- Muller, F.L., Lustgarten, M.S., Jong, Y., Richardson, A., and Van Remmen, H. (2007). Trends in oxidative aging theories. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 43, 477-503.

- Muqit, M.M.K., and Feany, M.B. (2002). Modelling neurodegenerative diseases in Drosophila: a fruitful approach? Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 3,237-243.
- Murphy, C.T. (2006). The search for DAF-16/FOXO transcriptional targets: approaches and discoveries. Exp. Gerontol. *41*, 910-921.
- Murphy, C.T., McCarron, S.A., Bargmann, C.I., Fraser, A., Kamath, R.S., Ahringer, J., Li, H., and Kenyon, C. (2003). Genes that act downstream of DAF-16 to influence the lifespan of Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 424, 277-283.
- Negri, I. (2012). Wolbachia as an "infectious" extrinsic factor manipulating host signaling pathways. Front. Endocrinol. (Lausanne). 2, 115.
- Newman, A.B., Yanez, D., Harris, T., Duxbury, A., Enright, P.L., and Fried, L.P. (2001). Weight change in old age and its association with mortality. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 49, 1309-1318.
- Nilsberth, C., Westlind-Danielsson, A., Eckman, C.B., Condron, M.M., Axelman, K., Forsel, C., Stenh, C., Luhtman, J., Teplow, D., Younkin, S.G., et al. (2001). The'Arctic'APP mutation (E693G) causes Alzheimer's disease by enhanced Af3 protofibril formation. Nat. Neurosci. 4, 887-983.
- Nunomura, A., Perry, G., Aliev, G., Hirai, K., Takeda, A., Balraj, E.K., Jones, P.K., Ghanbari, H., Wataya, T., Shimohama, S., et al. (2001). Oxidative damage is the earliest event in Alzheimer disease. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 60, 759-767.
- Nunomura, A., Tamaoki, T., Tanaka, K., Motohashi, N., Nakamura, M., Hayashi, T., Yamaguchi, H., Shimohama, S., Lee, H., Zhu, X., et al. (2010). Intraneuronal amyloid beta accumulation and oxidative damage to nucleic acids in Alzheimer disease. Neurobiol. Dis. 37,731-737.
- Nussey, D.H., Froy, H., Lemaitre, J.-F., Gaillard, J.-M., and Austad, S.N. (2013). Senescence in natural populations of animals: widespread evidence and its implications for biogerontology. Ageing Res. Rev. 12, 214-225.
- Oda, A., Tamaoka, A., and Araki, W. (2010). Oxidative stress up-regulates presenilin 1 in lipid rafts in neuronal cells. J. Neurosci. Res. 88, 1137-1145.
- Oeppen, J., and Vaupel, J.W. (2002). Demography. Broken Limits to Life Expectancy. Science 296, 1029-1031.
- Ogle, J.M., and Ramakrishnan, V. (2005). Structural insights into translational fidelity. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 74, 129-177.
- Oliveira, R.P., Porter Abate, J., Dilks, K., Landis, J., Ashraf, J., Murphy, C.T., and Blackwell, T.K. (2009). Condition-adapted stress and longevity gene regulation by Caenorhabditis elegans SKN-1/Nrf. Aging Cell 8, 524-541.
- Onken, B., and Driscoll, M. (2010). Metformin induces a dietary restriction-like state and the oxidative stress response to extend C. elegans Healthspan via AMPK, LKB1, and SKN-1. PLoS One 5, e8758.
- Orentreich, N., Matias, J.R., DeFelice, A., Zimmerman, J.A., and Marias, J.R. (1993). Low methionine ingestion by rats extends life span. J. Nutr. *123*, 269-274.
- Ortega-Molina, A., Efeyan, A., Lopez-Guadamillas, E., Murioz-Martin, M., GOmez-LOpez, G., Cariamero, M., Mulero, F., Pastor, J., Martinez, S., Romanos, E., et al. (2012). Pten positively regulates brown adipose function, energy expenditure, and longevity. Cell Metab. *15*, 382-394.
- Osborne, T., Mendel, L., and Ferry, E. (1917). The Effect of Retardation of Growth upon the Breeding Period and Duration of Life of Rats. Science *45*, 294-295.
- Osterwalder, T., Yoon, K.S., White, B.H., and Keshishian, H. (2001). A conditional tissue-specific transgene expression system using inducible GAL4. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98, 12596-12601.
- Ottaviani, E., Ventura, N., Mandrioli, M., Candela, M., Franchini, a, and Franceschi, C. (2011). Gut microbiota as a candidate for lifespan extension: an ecological/evolutionary perspective targeted on living organisms as metaorganisms. Biogerontology *12*, 599-609.
- Pan, K.Z., Palter, J.E., Rogers, A.N., Olsen, A., Chen, D., Lithgow, G.J., and Kapahi, P. (2007). Inhibition of mRNA translation extends lifespan in Caenorhabditis elegans. Aging Cell 6, 111-119.

- Papadopoulou, D., Bianchi, M.W., and Bourouis, M. (2004). Functional studies of shaggy/glycogen synthase kinase 3 phosphorylation sites in Drosophila melanogaster. Mol. Cell. Biol. 24, 4909-4919.
- Parker, J. (1989). Errors and alternatives in reading the universal genetic code. Microbiol. Rev. 53, 273-298.
- Partridge, L. (2001). Evolutionary theories of ageing applied to long-lived organisms. Exp. Gerontol. *36*, 641-650.
- Partridge, L. (2010). The new biology of ageing. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 365, 147-154.
- Partridge, L., and Barton, N.H. (1993). Optimality, mutation and the evolution of ageing. Nature *362*, 305-311.
- Partridge, L., and Gems, D. (2002). Mechanisms of ageing: public or private? Nat. Rev. Genet. 3, 165-175.
- Partridge, L., and Gems, D. (2007). Benchmarks for ageing studies. Nature 450, 165-167. Partridge, L., Gems, D., and Withers, D.J. (2005). Sex and death: what is the connection? Cell 120, 461-472.
- Partridge, L., Alic, N., Bjedov, I., and Piper, M.D.W. (2011). Ageing in Drosophila: the role of the insulin/Igf and TOR signalling network. Exp. Gerontol. 46, 376-381.
- Patel, N. V, Gordon, M.N., Connor, K.E., Good, R. a, Engelman, R.W., Mason, J., Morgan, D.G., Morgan, T.E., and Finch, C.E. (2005). Caloric restriction attenuates Abeta-deposition in Alzheimer transgenic models. Neurobiol. Aging 26, 995-1000.
- Paton, C., Barnes, T.R.E., Shingleton-Smith, A., McAllister-Williams, R.H., Kirkbride, J., Jones, P.B., and McIntyre, S. (2010). Lithium in bipolar and other affective disorders: prescribing practice in the UK. J. Psychopharmacol. 24, 1739-1746.
- Paul, J.R., Johnson, R.L., Jope, R.S., and Gamble, K.L. (2012). Disruption of circadian rhythmicity and suprachiasmatic action potential frequency in a mouse model with constitutive activation of glycogen synthase kinase 3. Neuroscience 226, 1-9.
- Payette, H., and Gray-Donald, K. (1995). Predictors of Dietary Intake in a Functionally Dependent Elderly Population in the Community. Am. J. Public Health 85, 677-683.
- Pedra, J.H.F., McIntyre, L.M., Scharf, M.E., and Pittendrigh, B.R. (2004). Genome-wide transcription profile of field- and laboratory-selected dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT)-resistant Drosophila. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101, 7034-7039.
- Pekovic-Vaughan, V., Gibbs, J., Yoshitane, H., Yang, N., Pathiranage, D., Guo, B., Sagami, A., Taguchi, K., Bechtold, D., Loudon, A., et al. (2014). The circadian clock regulates rhythmic activation of the NRF2/glutathione-mediated antioxidant defense pathway to modulate pulmonary fibrosis. Genes Dev. 28, 548-560.
- Perrone, C.E., Malloy, V.L., Orentreich, D.S., and Orentreich, N. (2012). Metabolic adaptations to methionine restriction that benefit health and lifespan in rodents. Exp. Gerontol. 48, 654-660.
- Perry, G., Cash, A.D., and Smith, M. a. (2002). Alzheimer Disease and Oxidative Stress. J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2, 120-123.
- Phiel, C.J., and Klein, P.S. (2001). Molecular targets of lithium action. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 41, 789-813.
- Phiel, C.J., Wilson, C.A., Lee, V.M., and Klein, P.S. (2003). GSK-3alpha regulates production of Alzheimer's disease amyloid-beta peptides. Nature 423, 435-439.
- Pincus, Z., and Slack, F.J. (2008). Transcriptional (dys)regulation and aging in Caenorhabditis elegans. Genome Biol. 9, 233.
- Piper, M.D.W., and Bartke, A. (2008). Diet and aging. Cell Metab. 8, 99-104.
- Piper, M.D.W., and Partridge, L. (2007). Dietary restriction in Drosophila: delayed aging or experimental artefact? PLoS Genet. 3, e57.
- Piper, M.D.W., Mair, W., and Partridge, L. (2005a). Counting the calories: the role of specific nutrients in extension of life span by food restriction. J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 60, 549-555.
- Piper, M.D.W., Selman, C., McElwee, J.J., and Partridge, L. (2005b). Models of insulin signalling and longevity. Drug Discov. Today Dis. Model. 2, 249-256.

- Piper, M.D.W., Selman, C., McElwee, J.J., and Partridge, L. (2008). Separating cause from effect: how does insulin/IGF signalling control lifespan in worms, flies and mice? J. Intern. Med. 263, 179-191.
- Piper, M.D.W., Wong, R., Grandison, R.C., Bass, T.M., Martinez, P.M., and Partridge, L. (2010). Water-independent effects of dietary restriction in Drosophila. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107, E54-6; author reply E57.
- Piper, M.D.W., Partridge, L., Raubenheimer, D., and Simpson, S.J. (2011). Dietary restriction and aging: a unifying perspective. Cell Metab. 14, 154-160.
- Piper, M.D.W., Blanc, E., Leitão-Gonsalves, R., Yang, M., He, X., Linford, N.J., Hoddinott, M.P., Hopfen, C., Soultoukis, G.A., Niemeyer, C., et al. (2014). A holidic medium for Drosophila melanogaster. Nat. Methods 11, 100-105.
- Pletcher, S.D., Macdonald, S.J., Marguerie, R., Certa, U., Stearns, S.C., Goldstein, D.B., and Partridge, L. (2002). Genome-wide transcript profiles in aging and calorically restricted Drosophila melanogaster. Cum Biol. 12, 712-723.
- Poirier, L., Shane, A., Zheng, J., and Seroude, L. (2008). Characterization of the Drosophila geneswitch system in aging studies: a cautionary tale. Aging Cell 7,758-770.
- Powers, R.W., Kaeberlein, M., Caldwell, S.D., Kennedy, B.K., and Fields, S. (2006). Extension of chronological life span in yeast by decreased TOR pathway signaling. Genes Dev. 20, 174-184.
- PraticO, D. (2013). Alzheimer's disease and the quest for its biological measures J Alzheimer's Dis. 33 *Suppl 1*, S237-41.
- Priest, N.K., Mackowiak, B., and Promislow, D.E.L. (2002). The role of parental age effects on the evolution of aging. Evolution (N. Y). *56*, 927-935.
- Proud, C.G. (2002). Regulation of mammalian translation factors by nutrients. Eur. J. Biochem. 269, 5338-5349.
- Pyo, J.-O., Yoo, S.-M., Ahn, H.-H., Nah, J., Hong, S.-H., Kam, T.-I., Jung, S., and Jung, Y.-K. (2013). Overexpression of AtgS in mice activates autophagy and extends lifespan. Nat. Commun. 4, 2300.
- Pyra, K. a, Saha, D.C., and Reimer, R. a (2012). Prebiotic fiber increases hepatic acetyl CoA carboxylase phosphorylation and suppresses glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide secretion more effectively when used with metformin in obese rats. J. Nutr. *142*, 213-220.
- Qin, W., Chachich, M., Lane, M., Roth, G., Bryant, M., de Cabo, R., Ottinger, M.A., Mattison, J., Ingram, D., Gandy, S., et al. (2006). Calorie restriction attenuates Alzheimer's disease type brain amyloidosis in Squirrel monkeys (Saimiri sciureus). J. Alzheimer's Dis. 10, 417-422.
- Querfurth, H.W., and LaFerla, F.M. (2010). Alzheimer's disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 362, 329-344.
- Quiroz-Baez, R., Rojas, E., and Arias, C. (2009). Oxidative stress promotes JNK-dependent amyloidogenic processing of normally expressed human APP by differential modification of alpha-, beta- and gamma-secretase expression. Neurochem. Int. 55,662-670.
- Van Raamsdonk, J.M., and Hekimi, S. (2009). Deletion of the mitochondrial superoxide dismutase sod-2 extends lifespan in Caenorhabditis elegans. PLoS Genet. 5, el000361.
- Rada, P., Rojo, A.I., Evrard-Todeschi, N., Innamorato, N.G., Cotte, A., Jaworski, T., TobOn-Velasco, J.C., Devijver, H., Garcia-Mayoral, M.F., Van Leuven, F., et al. (2012). Structural and functional characterization of Nrf2 degradation by the glycogen synthase kinase 343-TrCP axis. Mol. Cell. Biol. *32*, 3486-3499.
- Rallis, C., Codlin, S., and Miler, J. (2013). TORC1 signaling inhibition by rapamycin and caffeine affect lifespan, global gene expression, and cell proliferation of fission yeast. Aging Cell 1-11.
- Ramirez-Bermudez, J. (2012). Alzheimer's disease: critical notes on the history of a medical concept. Arch. Med. Res. *43*, 595-599.
- Ramos, F.J., Chen, S.C., Garelick, M.G., Dai, D.-F., Liao, C.-Y., Schreiber, K.H., MacKay, V.L., An, E.H., Strong, R., Ladiges, W.C., et al. (2012). Rapamycin reverses elevated mTORC1 signaling in lamin A/C-deficient mice, rescues cardiac and skeletal muscle function, and extends survival. Sci. Transl. Med. 4, 144ra103.

- Ramsey, C.P., Glass, C. a, Montgomery, M.B., Lindl, K. a, Ritson, G.P., Chia, L. a, Hamilton, R.L., Chu, C.T., and Jordan-Sciutto, K.L. (2007). Expression of Nrf2 in neurodegenerative diseases. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 66, 75-85.
- Rattan, S.I.S. (2001). Applying hormesis in aging research and therapy. Hum. Exp. Toxicol. 20, 281-285.
- Rattan, S.I.S. (2004). Aging, anti-aging, and hormesis. Mech. Ageing Dev. 125, 285-289.
- Rattan, S.I.S. (2008). Hormesis in aging. Ageing Res. Rev. 7,63-78.
- Ravikumar, B., Sarkar, S., Davies, J.E., Futter, M., Garcia-Arencibia, M., Green-Thompson, Z.W., Jimenez-Sanchez, M., Korolchuk, V.I., Lichtenberg, M., Luo, S., et al. (2010). Regulation of mammalian autophagy in physiology and pathophysiology. Physiol. Rev. 90, 1383-1435.
- Rayasam, G.V., Tulasi, V.K., Sodhi, R., Davis, J.A., and Ray, A. (2009). Glycogen synthase kinase 3: more than a namesake. Br. J. Pharmacol. *156*, 885-898.
- Rea, S.L., Ventura, N., and Johnson, T.E. (2007). Relationship between mitochondrial electron transport chain dysfunction, development, and life extension in Caenorhabditis elegans. PLoS Biol. 5, e259.
- Reddy, P.H., and Beal, M.F. (2008). Amyloid beta, mitochondrial dysfunction and synaptic damage: implications for cognitive decline in aging and Alzheimer's disease. Trends Mol. Med. 14, 45-53.
- Reed, B., Villeneuve, S., Mack, W., Decarli, C., Chui, H.C., and Jagust, W. (2013). Associations Between Serum Cholesterol Levels and Cerebral Amyloidosis. JAMA Neurol. *95616*, 1-6.
- Regan, J.C., and Partridge, L. (2013). Gender and longevity: Why do men die earlier than women? Comparative and experimental evidence. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 27, 467-479.
- Reiter, L.T. (2005). Drosophila as a Model for Human Diseases. Encycl. Life Sci. 1-5.
- Reiter, L.T., and Bier, E. (2002). Using Drosophila melanogaster to uncover human disease gene function and potential drug target proteins. Expert Opin. Ther. Targets 6, 387-399.
- Reiter, L.T., Potocki, L., Chien, S., Gribskov, M., and Bier, E. (2001). A systematic analysis of human disease-associated gene sequences in Drosophila melanogaster. Genome Res. 11, 1114-1125.
- Reppert, S., and Weaver, D. (2002). Coordination of circadian timing in mammals. Nature 418, 935-941.
- Rera, M., Bahadorani, S., Cho, J., Koehler, C.L., Ulgherait, M., Hur, J.H., Ansari, W.S., Lo, T., Jones, D.L., and Walker, D.W. (2011). Modulation of longevity and tissue homeostasis by the Drosophila PGC-1 homolog. Cell Metab. 14, 623-634.
- Riley, L.W., Raphael, E., and Faerstein, E. (2013). Obesity in the United States dysbiosis from exposure to low-dose antibiotics? Front. Public Heal. 1, 69.
- Ristow, M. (2014). Unraveling the Truth About Antioxidants: Mitohormesis explains ROSinduced health benefits. Nat. Med. 20, 709-711.
- Ristow, M., and Schmeisser, S. (2011). Extending life span by increasing oxidative stress. Free Radic. Biol. Med. *51*, 327-336.
- Ristow, M., and Zarse, K. (2010). How increased oxidative stress promotes longevity and metabolic health: The concept of mitochondrial hormesis (mitohormesis). Exp. Gerontol. 45, 410-418.
- Rizak, J., Tan, H., Zhu, H., and Wang, J.-F. (2014). Chronic treatment with the mood stabilizing drug lithium up-regulates nuclear factor E2-related factor 2 in rat pheochromocytoma PC12 cells in vitro. Neuroscience 256, 223-229.
- Robida-Stubbs, S., Glover-Cutter, K., Lamming, D.W., Mizunuma, M., Narasimhan, S.D., Neumann-Haefelin, E., Sabatini, D.M., and Blackwell, T.K. (2012). TOR signaling and rapamycin influence longevity by regulating SKN-1/Nrf and DAF-16/FoxO. Cell Metab. 15, 713-724.
- Robinson, A., GrOsgen, S., Mett, J., Zimmer, V.C., Haupenthal, V.J., HundsdOrfer, B., P Stahlmann, C., Slobodskoy, Y., Milner, U.C., Hartmann, T., et al. (2013). Upregulation of PGC- la expression by Alzheimer's disease-associated pathway: presenilin 1/amyloid precursor protein (APP)/intracellular domain of APP. Aging Cell 1-10.

- Rodgers, R.J., TschOp, M.H., and Wilding, J.P.H. (2012). Anti-obesity drugs: past, present and future. Dis. Model. Mech. 5,621-626.
- Rogers, I., Kerr, F., Martinez, P., Hardy, J., Lovestone, S., and Partridge, L. (2012). Ageing increases vulnerability to 4342 toxicity in Drosophila. PLoS One 7, e40569.
- Roman, G., Endo, K., Zong, L., and Davis, R.L. (2001a). P[Switch], a system for spatial and temporal control of gene expression in Drosophila melanogaster. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98, 12602-12607.
- Roman, G., Endo, K., Zong, L., and Davis, R.L. (2001b). P[Switch], a system for spatial and temporal control of gene expression in Drosophila melanogaster. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98, 12602-12607.
- Rose, M.R. (1999). Can human aging be postponed? Sci. Am. 281, 106-111.
- Rosen, D.R., Martin-Morris, L., Luo, L.Q., and White, K. (1989). A Drosophila gene encoding a protein resembling the human beta-amyloid protein precursor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 86, 2478-2482.
- Roth, G.S., Mattison, J. a, Ottinger, M.A., Chachich, M.E., Lane, M. a, and Ingram, D.K. (2004). Aging in rhesus monkeys: relevance to human health interventions. Science *305*, 1423-1426.
- Rubinsztein, D.C., Marifio, G., and Kroemer, G. (2011). Autophagy and aging. Cell 146, 682-695.
- Ruckenstuhl, C., Netzberger, C., Entfellner, I., Carmona-Gutierrez, D., Kickenweiz, T., Stekovic, S., Gleixner, C., Schmid, C., Klug, L., Sorgo, A.G., et al. (2014). Lifespan extension by methionine restriction requires autophagy-dependent vacuolar acidification. PLoS Genet. 10, e1004347.
- Ruel, L., Bourouis, M., Heitzler, P., Pantesco, V., and Simpson, P. (1993). Drosophila shaggy kinase and rat glycogen synthase kinase-3 have conserved activities and act downstream of Notch. Nature 362, 557-560.
- Ryves, W.J., and Harwood, A.J. (2001). Lithium inhibits glycogen synthase kinase-3 by competition for magnesium. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. *280*, 720-725.
- Sabatini, D.M., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Lui, M., Tempst, P., and Snyder, S.H. (1994). RAFT1: a mammalian protein that binds to FKBP 12 in a rapamycin-dependent fashion and is homologous to yeast TORs. Cell 78, 35-43.
- Saito, T., Suemoto, T., Brouwers, N., Sleegers, K., Funamoto, S., Mihira, N., Matsuba, Y., Yamada, K., Nilsson, P., Takano, J., et al. (2011). Potent amyloidogenicity and pathogenicity of Af343. Nat. Neurosci. *14*, 1023-1032.
- Salazar, M., Rojo, A.I., Velasco, D., de Sagarra, R.M., and Cuadrado, A. (2006). Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta inhibits the xenobiotic and antioxidant cell response by direct phosphorylation and nuclear exclusion of the transcription factor Nrf2. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 14841-14851.
- Sancak, Y., Thoreen, C.C., Peterson, T.R., Lindquist, R. a, Kang, S. a, Spooner, E., Can, S. a, and Sabatini, D.M. (2007). PRAS40 is an insulin-regulated inhibitor of the mTORC1 protein kinase. Mol. Cell 25, 903-915.
- Sanderson, W.C., and Scherbov, S. (2005). Average remaining lifetimes can increase as human populations age. Nature 435, 811-813.
- Sanz, G., and Fuster, V. (2013). Prevention: Polypills for cardiovascular prevention: a step forward? Nat. Rev. Cardiol. *10*, 683-684.
- Sarbassov, D.D., Ali, S.M., Sengupta, S., Sheen, J.-H., Hsu, P.P., Bagley, A.F., Markhard, A.L., and Sabatini, D.M. (2006). Prolonged rapamycin treatment inhibits mTORC2 assembly and Akt/PKB. Mol. Cell 22, 159-168.
- Sarkar, S., Floto, R.A., Berger, Z., Imarisio, S., Cordenier, A., Pasco, M.M., Cook, L.J., and Rubinsztein, D.C. (2005). Lithium induces autophagy by inhibiting inositol monophosphatase. J. Cell Biol. 170, 1101-1111.
- Sarkar, S., Krishna, G., Imarisio, S., Saiki, S., O'Kane, C.J., and Rubinsztein, D.C. (2008). A rational mechanism for combination treatment of Huntington's disease using lithium and rapamycin. Hum. Mol. Genet. *17*, 170-178.

- Sarup, P., Sorensen, P., and Loeschcke, V. (2013). The long-term effects of a life-prolonging heat treatment on the Drosophila melanogaster transcriptome suggest that heat shock proteins extend lifespan. Exp. Gerontol. *50C*, 34-39.
- Schapira, a H. V (2010). Complex I: inhibitors, inhibition and neurodegeneration. Exp. Neurol. 224, 331-335.
- Schapira, A.H. V (2008). Mitochondrial dysfunction in neurodegenerative diseases. Neurochem. Res. 33,2502-2509.
- Schapira, A.H. V, and Gegg, M. (2011). Mitochondrial contribution to Parkinson's disease pathogenesis. Parkinsons. Dis. 2011, 159160.
- Scheper, G.C., Proud, C.G., and van der Knaap, M.S. (2006). Defective translation initiation causes vanishing of cerebral white matter. Trends Mol. Med. *12*, 159-166.
- Schmeisser, S., Schmeisser, K., Weimer, S., Groth, M., Priebe, S., Fazius, E., Kuhlow, D., Pick, D., Einax, J.W., Guthke, R., et al. (2013a). Mitochondrial Hormesis Links Low-Dose Arsenite Exposure to Lifespan Extension. Aging Cell 508-517.
- Schmeisser, S., Priebe, S., Groth, M., Monajembashi, S., Hemmerich, P., Guthke, R., Platzer, M., and Ristow, M. (2013b). Neuronal ROS signaling rather than AMPK/sirtuin-mediated energy sensing links dietary restriction to lifespan extension. Mol. Metab. 2, 92-102.
- SchrOdinger, E. (1967). What is life? With mind and matter and autobiographical sketches (United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press).
- Schulz, T.J., Zarse, K., Voigt, A., Urban, N., Birringer, M., and Ristow, M. (2007). Glucose restriction extends Caenorhabditis elegans life span by inducing mitochondrial respiration and increasing oxidative stress. Cell Metab. 6, 280-293.
- Schuster, E., McElwee, J.J., Tullet, J.M.A., Doonan, R , Matthijssens, F., Reece-Hoyes, J.S., Hope, I.A., Vanfleteren, J.R., Thornton, J.M., and Gems, D. (2010). DamID in C. elegans reveals longevity-associated targets of DAF-16/Fox0. Mol. Syst. Biol. 6, 399.
- Scott, R.C., Juhdsz, G., and Neufeld, T.P. (2007). Direct induction of autophagy by Atgl inhibits cell growth and induces apoptotic cell death. Curr. Biol. *17*, 1-11.
- Seelan, R.S., Khalyfa, a, Lakshmanan, J., Casanova, M.F., and Parthasarathy, R.N. (2008). Deciphering the lithium transcriptome: microarray profiling of lithium-modulated gene expression in human neuronal cells. Neuroscience 151, 1184-1197.
- Selkoe, D. (1991). Amyloid Protein and Alzheimer's Disease. Sci. Am. 68-78.
- Selkoe, D. (2006). The ups and downs of AP. Nat. Med. 12, 758-759.
- Selkoe, D.J. (2012). Preventing Alzheimer's disease. Science 337,1488-1492.
- Selman, C., Lingard, S., Choudhury, A.I., Batterham, R.L., Claret, M., Clements, M., Ramadani, F., Okkenhaug, K., Schuster, E., Blanc, E., et al. (2008a). Evidence for lifespan extension and delayed age-related biomarkers in insulin receptor substrate 1 null mice. FASEB J. 22, 807-818.
- Selman, C., Lingard, S., Gems, D., Partridge, L., and Withers, D.J. (2008b). Comment on "Brain IRK signaling coordinates life span and nutrient homeostasis". Science 320, 1012; author reply 1012.
- Selman, C., Tullet, J.M.A., Wieser, D., Irvine, E., Lingard, S.J., Choudhury, A.I., Claret, M., Al-Qassab, H., Carmignac, D., Ramadani, F., et al. (2009). Ribosomal protein S6 kinase 1 signaling regulates mammalian life span. Science 326, 140-144.
- Selman, C., Partridge, L., and Withers, D.J. (2011). Replication of extended lifespan phenotype in mice with deletion of insulin receptor substrate 1. PLoS One *6*, e 16144.
- Serretti, A., and Drago, A. (2010). Pharmacogenetics of lithium long-term treatment: focus on initiation and adaptation mechanisms. Neuropsychobiology *62*, 61-71.
- Severino, G., Squassina, A., Costa, M., Pisanu, C., Calza, S., Alda, M., Del Zompo, M., and Manchia, M. (2013). Pharmacogenomics of bipolar disorder. Pharmacogenomics 14, 655-674.
- Severus, W.E., Kleindienst, N., Seemiiller, F., Frangou, S., Miller, H.J., and Greil, W. (2008). What is the optimal serum lithium level in the long-term treatment of bipolar disorder--a review? Bipolar Disord. 10, 231-237.

- Shatenstein, B., Kergoat, M.-J., and Reid, I. (2007). Poor nutrient intakes during 1-year follow-up with community-dwelling older adults with early-stage Alzheimer dementia compared to cognitively intact matched controls. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. *107*, 2091-2099.
- Shaw, R.J., and Cantley, L.C. (2006). Ras, PI(3)K and mTOR signalling controls tumour cell growth. Nature 441, 424-430.
- Shen, J., Curtis, C., Tavare, S., and Tower, J. (2009). A screen of apoptosis and senescence regulatory genes for life span effects when over-expressed in Drosophila. Aging (Albany. NY). *1,191-211*.
- Sherman, M.Y., and Qian, S.-B. (2013). Less is more: improving proteostasis by translation slow down. Trends Biochem. Sci. *38*, 585-591.
- Shin, S., Wolgamott, L., Tcherkezian, J , Vallabhapurapu, S., Yu, Y., Roux, P.P., and Yoon, S.-O. (2014). Glycogen synthase kinase-30 positively regulates protein synthesis and cell proliferation through the regulation of translation initiation factor 4E-binding protein 1. Oncogene 33,1690-1699.
- Shore, D.E., and Ruvkun, G. (2013). A cytoprotective perspective on longevity regulation. Trends Cell Biol. *23*, 409-420.
- Shore, D.E., Can, C.E., and Ruvkun, G. (2012). Induction of cytoprotective pathways is central to the extension of lifespan conferred by multiple longevity pathways. PLoS Genet. 8, el002792.
- Sieber, M.H., and Thummel, C.S. (2009). The DHR96 nuclear receptor controls triacylglycerol homeostasis in Drosophila. Cell Metab. *10*, 481-490.
- Simonsen, A., Cumming, R.C., Brech, A., Isakson, P., Schubert, D.R., and Finley, K.D. (2008). Promoting basal levels of autophagy in the nervous system enhances longevity and oxidant resistance in adult Drosophila. Autophagy *4*, 176-184.
- Sitar, D.S. (2012). Clinical pharmacology confounders in older adults. Expert Rev. Clin. Pharmacol. 5,397-402.
- Skorupa, D.A., Dervisefendic, A., Zwiener, J., and Pletcher, S.D. (2008). Dietary composition specifies consumption, obesity, and lifespan in Drosophila melanogaster. Aging Cell 7,478-490.
- Slack, C., Werz, C., Wieser, D., Alic, N., Foley, A., Stocker, H., Withers, D., Thornton, J., Hafen, E., and Partridge, L. (2010). Regulation of lifespan, metabolism, and stress responses by the Drosophila SH2B protein, Lnk. PLoS Genet. 6, e1000881.
- Slack, C., Giannakou, M.E., Foley, A., Goss, M., and Partridge, L. (2011). dFOXO-independent effects of reduced insulin-like signaling in Drosophila. Aging Cell *10*,735-748.
- Slack, C., Foley, A., and Partridge, L. (2012). Activation of AMPK by the Putative Dietary Restriction Mimetic Metformin Is Insufficient to Extend Lifespan in Drosophila. PLoS One 7, e47699.
- Slagboom, P.E., Heijmans, B.T., Beekman, M., Westendorp, R.G., and Meulenbelt, I. (2000). Genetics of human aging. The search for genes contributing to human longevity and diseases of the old. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 908, 50-63.
- Soares, J.C., and Gershon, S. (1998). The lithium ion: a foundation for psychopharmacological specificity. Neuropsychopharmacology *19*, 167-182.
- Sofola, O., Kerr, F., Rogers, I., Killick, R., Augustin, H., Gandy, C., Allen, M.J., Hardy, J., Lovestone, S., and Partridge, L. (2010). Inhibition of GSK-3 Ameliorates Af3 Pathology in an Adult-Onset Drosophila Model of Alzheimer's Disease. PLoS Genet. 6, e1001087.
- Sofola-Adesakin, O., Castillo-Quan, J.I., Rallis, C., Tain, L.S., Bjedov, I., Rogers, I., Li, L., Martinez, P., Khericha, M., Cabecinha, M., et al. (2014). Lithium suppresses Af3 pathology by inhibiting translation in an adult Drosophila model of Alzheimer's disease. Front. Aging Neurosci. 6, 1-10.
- Solon-Biet, S.M., Mcmahon, A.C., Ballard, J.W.O., Ruohonen, K., Wu, L.E., Cogger, V.C., Warren, A., Huang, X., Pichaud, N., Melvin, R.G., et al. (2014). The Ratio of Macronutrients, Not Caloric Intake, Dictates Cardiometabolic Health, Aging, and Longevity in Ad Libitum-Fed Mice. Cell Metab. 19, 418-430.
- Soltow, Q. a, Jones, D.P., and Promislow, D.E.L. (2010). A network perspective on metabolism and aging. Integr. Comp. Biol. *50*, 844-854.

- Spiegelman, B.M. (2013). Banting Lecture 2012: Regulation of Adipogenesis: Toward New Therapeutics for Metabolic Disease. Diabetes *62*, 1774-1782.
- Spillantini, M.G., and Goedert, M. (2013). Tau pathology and neurodegeneration. Lancet Neurol. *12*, 609-622.
- Spilman, P., Podlutskaya, N., Hart, M.J., Debnath, J., Gorostiza, O., Bredesen, D., Richardson, A., Strong, R., and Galvan, V. (2010). Inhibition of mTOR by rapamycin abolishes cognitive deficits and reduces amyloid-beta levels in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. PLoS One 5, e9979.
- Stambolic, V., Ruel, L., and Woodgett, J.R. (1996). Lithium inhibits glycogen synthase kinase-3 activity and mimics wingless signalling in intact cells. Curr. Biol. 6,1664-1668.
- Stanewsky, R. (2003). Genetic analysis of the circadian system in Drosophila melanogaster and mammals. J. Neurobiol. *54*, 111-147.
- Steinbaugh, M.J., Sun, L.Y., Bartke, A., and Miller, R.A. (2012). Activation of genes involved in xenobiotic metabolism is a shared signature of mouse models with extended lifespan. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 303, E488-95.
- Stephenson, R. (2013). Drosophila melanogaster: a fly through its history and current use. J. R. Coll. Physicians Edinb. 43, 70-75.
- Stipp, D. (2012). A new path to longevity. Sci. Am. 306, 32-39.
- Stuart, J. a, Maddalena, L. a, Merilovich, M., and Robb, E.L. (2014). A midlife crisis for the mitochondrial free radical theory of aging. Longev. Heal. 3,4.
- Suganthi, M., Sangeetha, G., Gayathri, G., and Ravi Sankar, B. (2012). Biphasic dose-dependent effect of lithium chloride on survival of human hormone-dependent breast cancer cells (MCF-7). Biol. Trace Elem. Res. 150, 477-486.
- Sun, X., Wang, J.-F., Tseng, M., and Young, L.T. (2006). Downregulation in components of the mitochondrial electron transport chain in the postmortem frontal cortex of subjects with bipolar disorder. J. Psychiatry Neurosci. 31, 189-196.
- Surh, Y.-J. (2011). Xenohormesis mechanisms underlying chemopreventive effects of some dietary phytochemicals. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. *1229*, 1-6.
- Swindell, W.R. (2012). Dietary restriction in rats and mice: a meta-analysis and review of the evidence for genotype-dependent effects on lifespan. Ageing Res. Rev. *11*, 254-270.
- Sykiotis, G.P., and Bohmann, D. (2008). Keapl/Nrf2 signaling regulates oxidative stress tolerance and lifespan in Drosophila. Dev. Cell *14,76-85.*
- Sykiotis, G.P., and Bohmann, D. (2010). Stress-activated cap'n'collar transcription factors in aging and human disease. Sci. Signal. 3, re3.
- Syntichaki, P., Troulinaki, K., and Tavernarakis, N. (2007). eIF4E function in somatic cells modulates ageing in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature *445*, 922-926.
- Taguchi, A., Wartschow, L.M., and White, M.F. (2007). Brain IRS2 signaling coordinates life span and nutrient homeostasis. Science *317*, 369-372.
- Tain, L.S., Mortiboys, H., Tao, R.N., Ziviani, E., Bandmann, O., and Whitworth, A.J. (2009). Rapamycin activation of 4E-BP prevents parkinsonian dopaminergic neuron loss. Nat. Neurosci. 12, 1129-1135.
- Takahashi, J.S., Hong, H.-K., Ko, C.H., and McDearmon, E.L. (2008). The genetics of mammalian circadian order and disorder: implications for physiology and disease. Nat. Rev. Genet. 9, 764-775.
- Takahashi-Yanaga, F. (2013). Activator or Inhibitor? GSK-3 as a new drug target. Biochem. Pharmacol. *86,* 191-199.
- Tam, Z.Y., Gruber, J., Ng, L.F., Halliwell, B., and Gunawan, R. (2014). Effects of Lithium on Age-related Decline in Mitochondrial Turnover and Function in Caenorhabditis elegans. J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 1-11.
- Tanzi, R.E. (2012). The genetics of Alzheimer's disease. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.
- Tatar, M., Kopelman, A., Epstein, D., Tu, M.P., Yin, C.M., and Garofalo, R.S. (2001). A mutant Drosophila insulin receptor homolog that extends life-span and impairs neuroendocrine function. Science 292, 107-110.
- Tatar, M., Post, S., and Yu, K. (2014). Nutrient control of Drosophila longevity. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 1-9.

- Taylor, R.C., and Dillin, A. (2011). Aging as an event of proteostasis collapse. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3.
- Taylor, R.C., Berendzen, K.M., and Dillin, A. (2014). Systemic stress signalling: understanding the cell non-autonomous control of proteostasis. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. *15*, 211-217.
- Tee, A.R., and Blenis, J. (2005). mTOR, translational control and human disease. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. *16*, 29-37.
- Teleman, A.A. (2010). Molecular mechanisms of metabolic regulation by insulin in Drosophila. Biochem. J. 425, 13-26.
- Terashima, J., and Bownes, M. (2004). Translating available food into the number of eggs laid by Drosophila melanogaster. Genetics *167*, 1711-1719.
- Thoreen, C.C., Chantranupong, L., Keys, H.R., Wang, T., Gray, N.S., and Sabatini, D.M. (2012). A unifying model for mTORC1-mediated regulation of mRNA translation. Nature 485, 109-113.
- Tilg, H., and Moschen, A.R. (2014). Microbiota and diabetes: an evolving relationship. Gut 1513-1521
- Timiras, P.S. (2003). Aging as a stage of life, common terms related to aging, methods to study aging. In Physiological Basis of Aging and Geriatrics, (United States of America: CRC Press), pp. 3-10.
- Timmer, R.T., and Sands, J.M. (1999). Lithium intoxication. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. /0,666-674.
- Toivonen, J.M., Walker, G. a, Martinez-Diaz, P., Bjedov, I., Driege, Y., Jacobs, H.T., Gems, D., and Partridge, L. (2007). No influence of Indy on lifespan in Drosophila after correction for genetic and cytoplasmic background effects. PLoS Genet. 3, e95.
- Tomds-Loba, A., Bemardes de Jesus, B., Mato, J.M., and Blasco, M. a (2013). A metabolic signature predicts biological age in mice. Aging Cell *12*, 93-101.
- Tower, J. (2009). Hsps and aging. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 20, 216-222.
- Tullet, J.M.A. (2014). DAF-16 target identification in C. elegans: past, present and future. Biogerontology DOI 10.1007/s10522-014-9527-y.
- Tullet, J.M.A., Hertweck, M., An, J.H., Baker, J., Hwang, J.Y., Liu, S., Oliveira, R.P., Baumeister, R., and Blackwell, T.K. (2008). Direct inhibition of the longevity-promoting factor SKN-1 by insulin-like signaling in C. elegans. Cell *132*, 1025-1038.
- Valastyan, J.S., and Lindquist, S. (2014). Mechanisms of protein-folding diseases at a glance. Dis. Model. Mech. 7,9-14.
- Valentini, S., Cabreiro, F., Ackerman, D., Alam, M.M., Kunze, M.B. a, Kay, C.W.M., and Gems, D. (2012). Manipulation of in vivo iron levels can alter resistance to oxidative stress without affecting ageing in the nematode C. elegans. Mech. Ageing Dev. 133, 282-290.
- Vanfleteren, J.R., and Braeckman, B.P. (1999). Mechanisms of life span determination in Caenorhabditis elegans. Neurobiol. Aging 20, 487-502.
- Varadarajan, S., Yatin, S., Aksenova, M., and Butterfield, D. a (2000). Review Alzheimer's amyloid beta-peptide-associated free radical oxidative stress and neurotoxicity. J. Struct. Biol. *130*, 184-208.
- Vellai, T., Takdcs-Vellai, K., Sass, M., and Klionsky, D.J. (2009). The regulation of aging: does autophagy underlie longevity? Trends Cell Biol. *19*, 487-494.
- Van de Ven, M., Andressoo, J.-O., Holcomb, V.B., Hasty, P., Suh, Y., van Steeg, H., Garinis, G. a, Hoeijmakers, J.H.J., and Mitchell, J.R. (2007). Extended longevity mechanisms in shortlived progeroid mice: identification of a preservative stress response associated with successful aging. Mech. Ageing Dev. 128, 58-63.
- Vilchez, D., Morantte, I., Liu, Z., Douglas, P.M., Merkwirth, C., Rodrigues, A.P.C., Manning, G., and Dillin, A. (2012). RPN-6 determines C. elegans longevity under proteotoxic stress conditions. Nature 489, 263-268.
- Wald, N.J., and Law, M.R. (2003). A strategy to reduce cardiovascular disease by more than 80%. BMJ *326*, 1419.
- Walker, G., Houthoofd, K., Vanfleteren, J.R., and Gems, D. (2005). Dietary restriction in C. elegans: from rate-of-living effects to nutrient sensing pathways. Mech. Aeing Dev. 126, 929-937.

Walker, L.C., Diamond, M.I., Duff, K.E., and Hyman, B T (2013). Mechanisms of protein seeding

in neurodegenerative diseases. JAMA Neurol. 70, 304-310.

- Wang, L., Karpac, J., and Jasper, H. (2014). Promoting longevity by maintaining metabolic and proliferative homeostasis. J. Exp. Biol. 217, 109-118.
- Watanabe, S., Iga, J., Nishi, A., Numata, S., Kinoshita, M., Kikuchi, K., Nakataki, M., and Ohmori, T. (2014). Microarray analysis of global gene expression in leukocytes following lithium treatment. Hum. Psychopharmacol. 29, 190-198.
- Watson, J.D. (2000). A passion for DNA: genes, genomes and society (Great Britain: Oxford University Press).
- Wei, Y., Zhang, Y.-J., and Cai, Y. (2013). Growth or longevity: the TOR's decision on lifespan regulation. Biogerontology 14, 353-363.
- Weindruch, R., Walford, R.L., Fligiel, S., and Guthrie, D. (1986). The retardation of aging in mice by dietary restriction: longevity, cancer, immunity and lifetime energy intake. J. Nutr. 116, 641-654.
- Weinert, B.T., and Timiras, P.S. (2003). Invited review: Theories of aging. J. Appl. Physiol. 95, 1706-1716.
- Welander, H., Frânberg, J., Graff, C., SundstrOm, E., Winblad, B., and Tjernberg, L.O. (2009). Abeta43 is more frequent than Abeta40 in amyloid plaque cores from Alzheimer disease brains. J. Neurochem. 110, 697-706.
- Wessells, R.J., Fitzgerald, E., Cypser, J.R., Tatar, M., and Bodmer, R. (2004). Insulin regulation of heart function in aging fruit flies. Nat. Genet. *36*, 1275-1281.
- White, M.F. (2002). IRS proteins and the common path to diabetes. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 283, E413-22.
- White, M.F. (2003). Insulin signaling in health and disease. Science 302, 1710-1711.
- Whitworth, A., Wes, P., and Pallanck, L. (2006). Drosophila models pioneer a new approach to drug discovery for Parkinson's disease. Drug Discov. Today *11*, 119-126.
- Wijeratne, C., and Draper, B. (2011). Reformulation of current recommendations for target serum lithium concentration according to clinical indication, age and physical comorbidity. Aust. N. Z. J. Psychiatry 45,1026-1032.
- Willcox, B.J., Donlon, T.A., He, Q., Chen, R., Grove, J.S., Yano, K., Masaki, K.H., Willcox, D.C., Rodriguez, B., and Curb, J.D. (2008). FOXO3A genotype is strongly associated with human longevity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105, 13987-13992.
- Willcox, D.C., Willcox, B.J., Todoriki, H., and Suzuki, M. (2009). The Okinawan diet: health implications of a low-calorie, nutrient-dense, antioxidant-rich dietary pattern low in glycemic load. J. Am. Coll. Nutr. 28 Suppl, 500S-516S.
- Williams, G.C. (1957). Pleiotropy, natural selection, and the evolution of senescence. Evolution (N. Y). *11*, 398-411.
- Williams, R.S., and Harwood, A.J. (2000). Lithium therapy and signal transduction. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 21, 61-64.
- Williams, R.S.B., Cheng, L., Mudge, A.W., and Harwood, A.J. (2002). A common mechanism of action for three mood-stabilizing drugs. Nature 417, 292-295.
- Withers, D.J., Gutierrez, J.S., Towery, H., Burks, D.J., Ren, J.M., Previs, S., Zhang, Y., Bernal, D., Pons, S., Shulman, G.I., et al. (1998). Disruption of IRS-2 causes type 2 diabetes in mice. Nature *391*, 900-904.
- Wolfe, M.S. (2009). Tau mutations in neurodegenerative diseases. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 6021-6025. Wolff, S., Weissman, J.S., and Dillin, A. (2014). Differential Scales of Protein Quality Control. Cell /57,52-64.
- Wong, E., and Cuervo, A.M. (2010). Autophagy gone awry in neurodegenerative diseases. Nat. Neurosci. 13, 805-811.
- Wong, R., Piper, M.D.W., Wertheim, B., and Partridge, L. (2009). Quantification of food intake in Drosophila. PLoS One 4, e6063.
- Wu, Q., Wen, T., Lee, G., Park, J.H., Cai, H.N., and Shen, P. (2003). Developmental control of foraging and social behavior by the Drosophila neuropeptide Y-like system. Neuron 39, 147-161.
- Wu, Q., Zhao, Z., and Shen, P. (2005). Regulation of aversion to noxious food by Drosophila neuropeptide Y- and insulin-like systems. Nat. Neurosci. 8, 1350-1355.
- Wu, Z., Song, L., Liu, S.Q., and Huang, D. (2013). Independent and additive effects of glutamic

acid and methionine on yeast longevity. PLoS One 8, e79319.

- Wullschleger, S., Loewith, R., and Hall, M.N. (2006). TOR signaling in growth and metabolism. Cell *124*,471-484.
- Xu, K., Zheng, X., and Sehgal, A. (2008). Regulation of feeding and metabolism by neuronal and peripheral clocks in Drosophila. Cell Metab. *8*, 289-300.
- Yamamoto, R., and Tatar, M. (2011). Insulin receptor substrate chico acts with the transcription factor FOX() to extend Drosophila lifespan. Aging Cell *10*, 729-732.
- Yang, W., and Hekimi, S. (2010). A mitochondrial superoxide signal triggers increased longevity in Caenorhabditis elegans. PLoS Biol. 8, e1000556.
- Yang, J., McCart, C., Woods, D.J.D., Terhzaz, S , Greenwood, K.G., Ffrench-Constant, R.H., and Dow, J.A.T. (2007). A Drosophila systems approach to xenobiotic metabolism. Physiol. Genomics 30, 223-231.
- Yenush, L., Fernandez, R., Myers, M.G., Grammer, T.C., Sun, X.J., Blenis, J., Pierce, J., Schlessinger, J., and White, M.F. (1996). The Drosophila insulin receptor activates multiple signaling pathways but requires insulin receptor substrate proteins for DNA synthesis. Mol. Cell. Biol. 16, 2509-2517.
- Yuan, R., Peters, L.L., and Paigen, B. (2011). Mice as a mammalian model for research on the genetics of aging. ILAR J. 52, 4-15.
- Yun, J., and Finkel, T. (2014). Mitohormesis. Cell Metab. 1-10.
- Yusuf, S., Baden, T., and Prieto-Godino, L.L. (2014). Bridging the Gap: establishing the necessary infrastructure and knowledge for teaching and research in neuroscience in Africa. Metab. Brain Dis. 29, 217-220.
- Zarse, K., Terao, T., Tian, J., Iwata, N., Ishii, N., and Ristow, M. (2011). Low-dose lithium uptake promotes longevity in humans and metazoans. Eur. J. Nutr. *50*, 387-389.
- Zeng, Z., Sarbassov, D.D., Samudio, U., Yee, K.W.L., Munsell, M.F., Jackson, E., Gilles, F.J., Sabatini, D.M., Andreeff, M., and Konopleva, M. (2007). Rapamycin derivatives reduce mTORC2 signaling and inhibit AKT activation in AML. Blood *109*, 3509-3512.
- Zhang, C., Li, S., Yang, L., Huang, P., Li, W., Wang, S., Zhao, G., Zhang, M., Pang, X., Yan, Z., et al. (2013). Structural modulation of gut microbiota in life-long calorie-restricted mice. Nat. Commun. 4, 2163.
- Zhang, Y., Xie, Y., Berglund, E.D., Coate, K.C., He, T.T., Katafuchi, T., Xiao, G., Potthoff, M.J., Wei, W., Wan, Y., et al. (2012). The starvation hormone, fibroblast growth factor-21, extends lifespan in mice. Elife 1, e00065.
- Zhao, Y., and Zhao, B. (2013). Oxidative stress and the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2013, 316523.
- Zhou, J., Freeman, T., and Ahmad, F. (2013). GSK-3alpha is a central regulator of age-related pathologies in mice. J. Clin. Invest. *123*, 1821-1832.
- Zid, B.M., Rogers, A.N., Katewa, S.D., Vargas, M.A., Kolipinski, M.C., Lu, T.A., Benzer, S., and Kapahi, P. (2009). 4E-BP extends lifespan upon dietary restriction by enhancing mitochondrial activity in Drosophila. Cell 139,149-160.
- Zoncu, R., Efeyan, A., and Sabatini, D.M. (2011). mTOR: from growth signal integration to cancer, diabetes and ageing. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. *12*, 21-35.
- Zou, S., Meadows, S., Sharp, L., Jan, L.Y., and Jan, Y.N. (2000). Genome-wide study of aging and oxidative stress response in Drosophila melanogaster. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97, 13726-13731.

Appendix

Appendix 1

Castillo-Quan it Parkin' control: regulation of PGC-1 a through PARIS in Parkinson's disease. Dis Model Mech 2011; 4: 427-429.

Appendix 5 PCR primers

Gene	Sequence	
Sgg	TCACAGAGCTTCAGCACAGC	
pUAS	AACCAGCAACCAAGTAAATCAA	
dFOXO (forward)	TTGGTAGTGCCTATGATCCAG	
dFOXO (reverse)	AAGGTAGTGCCTAGATCCAG	
Chico (forward)	AGTTAATTCAAACCCCACGG	
Chico (reverse)	AAACGGCGATTGATGTTGAAG	

Appendix 6 qPCR primers

Gene	Sequence	
Scylla (forward)	GGATCAAACAAAAATAAAGATTGG	
Scylla (reverse)	TCTTGGCCTTCTTGGACATC	
Charibdys (forward)	ATCCGTCGGTATGACCACTC	
Charibdys (reverse)	CAGCACGTTGGTCATGTAGG	
Fz3 (forward)	GCTTTTTGCTCTGCTCGTCT	
Fz3 (reverse)	TCCATACACTCGCCCCTAAC	
Naked (forward)	CGACTGGAGGAATTCACCTG	
Naked (reverse)	AACTGCAGCGGCTGCGATGA	
dInR (forward)	GCGGGATACGGCGATTTCAC	
dInR (reverse)	AACGATCAGGAACGCTAGGC	
Chico (forward)	AGTTAATTCAAACCCCACCGG	
Chico (reverse)	AAACGGCGATTGATGTTG	
4E-BP (forward)	CACTCCTGGAGGCACCA	
4E-BP (reverse)	GAGTTCCCCTCAGCAAGCAA	
Actin (forward)	GAGCGCGGTTACTCTTTCAC	
Actin (reverse)	GCCATCTCCTGCTCAAAGTC	
RP49 (forward)	ATGACCATCCGCCCAGCATCAGG	
RP49 (reverse)	ATCTCGCCGCAGTAAACG	

Ingredient	0.0 SY	0.2SY	0.5 SY	1.0 SY	1.5 SY	2.0 SY
ddH2O(mL)	700	700	700	700	700	700
Agar (g)	15	15	15	15	15	15
Sucrose (g)	50	50	50	50	50	50
Yeast (g)	0	20	50	100	150	200
Additional ddH2O (mL)	223	212	196	170	144	118
Nipagin (mL)	30	30	30	30	30	30
Propionic acid (mL)	3	3	3	3	3	3

Appendix 7 Recipe for SY preparation for DR tent (for 1 L)

- Agar was added to the initial volume of water (ddH2O) just before heating. Stirring
 was continuous thought the preparation process to prevent any of the ingredients
 sticking to the saucepan.
- 2. Just after the initial boiling point sucrose was added and brought to boil.
- 3. The yeast was added and brought to boil again. The saucepan was removed from the heating source and the additional ddH2O was added to cool down the medium.
- 4. Only after the medium was below 60°C (preferentially between 50 and 58°C) nipagin and propionic acid were added.
- 5. Medium was ready for dispensing.



Appendix 8. Survival curves from DR tents showed in Figure 3.6. N= 160 females per condition.

Ingredients	Quantity [*] Catalogue Number§			
Arginine	0.425	A5131		
Histidine	0.210	118000		
Isoleucine	0.340	12752		
Leucine	0.475	L8912		
Lysine	0.515	L5626		
Methionine	0.100	M9625		
Phenylalanine	0.260	P2126		
Threonine	0.365	T8625		
Tryptophan	0.090	T0254		
Valine	0.400	V0500		

Appendix 9 Recipe for EAA solution preparation for 1 L of 1SY medium

* to add to a final volume of 50 mL of ddH2O.

§ all from Sigma.

Appendix 10 Ingredients for 1 L of holidic medium

Before auto Ingredient	claving Ammount	Notes
Agar	I 20 g	From Difco (214530).
Isoleucine Leucine	0.58 g 0.82 g	From Sigma 12752. From Sigma L8912.
Tyrosine Sucrose	0.42 g I 17.12 g	From Sigma T3754. From Sigma S1888.
Cholesterol	15 mL	20 mg/mL in 100% ethanol. From Sigma C8667.
Buffer 100	0 mL For	1 L mix (in ddH2O) 30 mL of acetic acid (Fisher, A/0400/PB15), 30 g of KH2PO4 (Sigma, P9791), 10 g of NaHCO3 (Sigma, S8875).
CaC12 MgSO4 C 11 S O 4 1 FeSO4 25 g/J M n C 1 2 1 ZnSO4	1 mL ^{250 g/} 250 g/ m L 2.5 g/I L From 1 m m L 1 g/L.	 L. From Sigma C7902. 1 mL L. From Sigma M7506. L. From Sigma C7631. L. Sigma F7002. From Sigma M3634.

TOTAL 883.7 mL 1mL

25 g/L. From Sigma Z0251.

Ingredient	Ammount	Notes
Nucleic acid / Lipid solution	8 mL	For 1 L mix the following in ddH2O: 6.25 g of choline chloride (Sigma, C1879), 0.63 g of myo-inositol (Sigma, 17508), 8.13 g of inosine (Sigma, 14125), and 7.5 g of uridine (Sigma, U3750).
EAA solution	30.255 mL	See Appendix 9.
Non EAA solution	30.255 mL	See Appendix 9.
Glutamate	9.11 mL	100 g/mL From Sigma G5889.

After autoclaving

Cysteine	2.64 mL	50 g/mL in HC1. From Sigma C 1276.			
Vitamin	14 mL	For 1 L mix (in ddH2O) the following: 0.1 g of thiamine			
solution	aneurin	(Sigma, T4625), 0.05 g of riboflavin (Sigma,			
		R4500), 0.6 g of nicotinic acid (Sigma, N4126), 0.775 g of			
	Ca pentothenate (Sigma P2250), 0.125 g of pyridoxin				
		(Sigma, P9755), and 0.01 g of biotin (Sigma, B4501).			
Folic acid	1 mL	0.5 g/L (ddH2O). From Sigma F7876.			
Propionic aci	d 16 mL	From Sigma P5561.			
Nipagin	15 mL	100 g/L methyl 4-hydroxybenzoate in 95% ethanol. From			
		Clariant Nipagin M.			

Appendix 11 Ingredients for EAA and non EAA solutions for holidic medium

Ingredient	Ammount	Notes		
Arginine	9.4 g	From Sigma A5131.		
Histidine	4.48 g	From Sigma 118000.		
Lysine	11.48 g	From Sigma L5626.		
Methionine	2.25 g	From Sigma M9625.		
Phenylalalnine	1 6.06 g	From Sigma P2126.		
Threonine		From Sigma T8625.		
8.56 g	2.91 g	From Sigma T0254.		
Tryptophan		From Sigma V0500.		
Valine 8.85 g				

Essential amino acid (EAA) stock solution (in 400 mL of ddH2O)

Non EAA stock solution (in 400 mL of ddH2O)

Ingredient	Ammount	Notes	
Alanine	¹ 10.5 g	From Sigma A7627.	T
Asparagine	5.55 g	From Sigma A0884.	
Aspartic aci	d 5.55 g	From Sigma A6383.	Ì
Glycine	7.15 g	From Sigma G7126.	
Proline	3.73 g	From Sigma P0380.	T
Serine	5.03 g	From Sigma S4500.	